
City of Wilsonville 
City Council Meeting 
December 16, 2019 



12/12/2019 1:12 PM Last Updated 

City Council Page 1 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Agenda\2019 Agendas\12.16.19 cc.docx  

AGENDA 

WILSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
DECEMBER 16, 2019 

7:30 P.M. 

CITY HALL 
29799 SW TOWN CENTER LOOP EAST 

WILSONVILLE, OREGON 

Mayor Tim Knapp 
Council President Kristin Akervall Councilor Joann Linville 
Councilor Charlotte Lehan  Councilor Ben West - Excused 

CITY COUNCIL MISSION STATEMENT 
To protect and enhance Wilsonville’s livability by providing quality service to ensure a safe, attractive, 

economically vital community while preserving our natural environment and heritage. 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Executive Session is held in the Willamette River Room, City Hall, 2nd Floor 

5:00 P.M. EXECUTIVE SESSION [25 min.] 
A. Pursuant to: ORS 192.660 (2)(e) Real Property Transactions

ORS 192.660(2)(h) Legal Counsel / Litigation 
ORS 192.660(2)(i) Performance Evaluations of Public Officers and Employees 

5:25 P.M. REVIEW OF AGENDA AND ITEMS ON CONSENT [5 min.] 

5:30 P.M. COUNCILORS’ CONCERNS  [5 min.] 

5:35 P.M. PRE-COUNCIL WORK SESSION  
A. Continued Discussion on the Water Rate Review (Rodocker) [45 min.] 
B. Willamette Falls Locks Commission Update (Ottenad) [20 min.] 
C. Adoption of Structural, Energy, Mechanical, Residential, Electrical, Plumbing,

and Fire Codes pursuant to WC 9.300-9.370 (Carlson/Guile-Hinman) [30 min.] 
D. Bylaws of the Sister City Advisory Board (Behler) [15 min.] 

7:25 P.M. ADJOURN 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
The following is a summary of the legislative and other matters to come before the Wilsonville City 
Council a regular session to be held, Monday, December 16, 2019 at City Hall. Legislative matters must 
have been filed in the office of the City Recorder by 10 a.m. on December 3, 2019. Remonstrances and 
other documents pertaining to any matters listed in said summary filed at or prior to the time of the 
meeting may be considered there with except where a time limit for filing has been fixed.



12/12/2019 1:12 PM Last Updated  

City Council   Page 2 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Agenda\2019 Agendas\12.16.19 cc.docx  

7:30 P.M. CALL TO ORDER 
A. Roll Call 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 
C. Motion to approve the following order of the agenda and to remove items from the consent 

agenda. 
 
7:35 P.M. COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Family Justice Center (Copenhaver/Wurpes) 
B. Wildlife Monitoring (Rappold) 

 
8:05 P.M. CITIZEN INPUT & COMMUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS 
This is an opportunity for visitors to address the City Council on items not on the agenda. It is also the 
time to address items that are on the agenda but not scheduled for a public hearing. Staff and the City 
Council will make every effort to respond to questions raised during citizens input before tonight's 
meeting ends or as quickly as possible thereafter. Please limit your comments to three minutes. 
 
8:10 P.M. MAYOR’S BUSINESS 

A. City Attorney Contract Renewal 
B. Upcoming Meetings 

 
8:20 P.M. COUNCILOR COMMENTS 

A. Council President Akervall 
B. Councilor Lehan  
C. Councilor West - Excused 
D. Councilor Linville 

 
8:30 P.M. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Resolution No. 2778 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing The Sole Source Selection Of The National 
Research Center For The 2020 And 2022 National Citizen Survey. (Monahan) 
 

B. Resolution No. 2781 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Acting In Its Capacity As The Local Contract Review 
Board Approving The Bid Process; Accepting The Proposal Which Will Best Serve The Interest 
Of The City; And Awarding A Contract To Green Sweep Asphalt Services, LLC., For The Project 
Known As Street Sweeping Services. (Montalvo) 

 
8:40 P.M. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Resolution No. 2775 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Adopting The Findings Of The Solid Waste Collection 
Rate Report Amended December 2019, Creating New Community Recycling Services And City 
Street-Sweeping Collection/Disposal Service And Reducing The Temporary Recycling Surcharge 
Rate. (Ottenad/Guile-Hinman) 

 
B. Resolution No. 2776 

A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing The City Manager To Execute A 
Professional Services Agreement With JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. For ‘Explore Wilsonville’ Tourism 
Promotion And Development And Destination Marketing Services. (Ottenad/Monahan)  



12/12/2019 1:12 PM Last Updated  

City Council   Page 3 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Agenda\2019 Agendas\12.16.19 cc.docx  

 
C. Resolution No. 2779 

A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Adopting Structural Specialty Code, Zero Energy Ready 
Commercial Code, Mechanical Specialty Code, Residential Specialty Code, Electrical Specialty 
Code, Plumbing Specialty Code, And Fire Code. (Carlson/Guile-Hinman) 
 

D. Resolution No. 2780 
A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Approving Building Permit Fee Schedules, Mechanical 
Permit Fee Schedules, And Plumbing Permit Fee Schedule. (Carlson/Guile-Hinman) 

 
E. Resolution No. 2783 

A Resolution Of The City Of Wilsonville Authorizing Settlement And Dismissal Of Land Use 
Board Of Appeals Case No. 2019-058. (Jacobson) 

 
9:30 P.M. CONTINUING BUSINESS 

A. Ordinance No. 839 – 2nd Reading 
An Ordinance Of The City Of Wilsonville Repealing And Replacing Wilsonville Code Chapter 9 
– Structures; And Declaring An Emergency. (Carlson/Guile-Hinman) 

 
9:40 P.M. CITY MANAGER’S BUSINESS 
 
9:45 P.M. LEGAL BUSINESS 
 
9:50 P.M. ADJOURN 
 
INFORMATION ITEMS – No Council Action Necessary. 
 
Time frames for agenda items are not time certain (i.e. Agenda items may be considered earlier than 
indicated.) Assistive Listening Devices (ALD) are available for persons with impaired hearing and can be 
scheduled for this meeting if required at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. The city will also endeavor to 
provide the following services, without cost, if requested at least 48 hours prior to the meeting: Qualified sign 
language interpreters for persons with speech or hearing impairments. Qualified bilingual interpreters. To 
obtain services, please contact the City Recorder, (503) 570-1506 or cityrecorder@ci.wilsonville.or.us. 

mailto:cityrecorder@ci.wilsonville.or.us


Continued Discussion on the Water Rate Review Staff Report Page 1 of 4 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: December 16, 2019 Subject: Continued Discussion on the Water Rate 
Review. 

Staff Member: Cathy Rodocker, Finance Director 

Department: Finance 

Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 
Recommendation  

☐ Motion ☐ Approval
☐ Public Hearing Date: ☐ Denial
☐ Ordinance 1st Reading Date: ☐ None Forwarded
☐ Ordinance 2nd Reading Date: ☒ Not Applicable
☐ Resolution Comments: N/A 
☒ Information or Direction
☐ Information Only
☐ Council Direction
☐ Consent Agenda
Staff Recommendation: N/A 

Recommended Language for Motion: N/A 

Project / Issue Relates To: 
☐Council Goals/Priorities ☐Adopted Master Plan(s) ☒Not Applicable

ISSUE BEFORE CITY COUNCIL:   
Provide City Council a briefing on updating the Water Rate and discussing optional Residential 
Rate Structure Change. 

Page 5 of 301



Continued Discussion on the Water Rate Review Staff Report  Page 2 of 4 

 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  
Staff and the consultant team met with Council on July 15, September 5, and October 21 to 
continue the discussion on the cost of service water rate analysis prepared by FCS Group. 
 
The Council will be presented with three rate structures for consideration: 
 
Rate Structure #1: 
 Original recommendation which included variable base fees by customer type 
 
Rate Structure #2: 
 Fixed base fees based on meter size 
 
Rate Structure #3: 

Fixed base fees based on meter size AND peak charges are included in the volume charge.  
 
The following is a comparison of the existing rate structures and the three rate structures that are 
being proposed. Rate Structure #3 was created since the last meeting in an effort to provide a 
structure that will promote conservation by including all peak costs in the volume charge. 
 
 

 
 
 
On the next page is a comparison of the impact on the different customer classes. The data used is 
from actual billing data and include the usage of an ‘average’ user, a ‘low’ consumption user, and 
a ‘high’ user.  
  

Existing Option #1 Option #3
Base Rate # of Meters Rates Fixed Base Residential MultiFamily Commercial Industrial Public Irrigation Peak to Volume

5/8" x 3/4" 5,533            20.45$          20.40$          19.81$          20.72$          21.70$          39.55$          28.09$          18.26$          16.59$                  
1" 370                22.58            30.20            28.34            35.36            38.67            83.52            54.78            19.83            19.18                    
1 1/2" 489                25.40            46.51            42.56            59.76            66.95            156.80          99.27            22.44            23.50                    
2" 320                33.18            66.10            -                89.03            100.88          244.74          152.66          25.58            28.68                    
3" 34                  67.14            118.31          -                167.11          191.38          479.25          295.02          33.95            42.49                    
4" 10                  111.70          177.60          -                254.94          293.19          743.08          455.18          43.37            58.03                    
6" 3                    161.21          340.24          -                498.91          -                1,475.93      900.08          -                101.19                  
8" -                217.80          536.05          -                -                -                -                1,433.95      -                152.98                  
10" 1                    269.09          764.51          -                -                -                -                2,056.80      -                213.40                  

Consumption Charge
Residential Tier 1 3.44              3.12              3.16              -                -                -                -                -                4.23                       
Residential Tier 2 5.76              5.87              6.13              -                -                -                -                -                6.13                       
Multifamily 3.70              3.28              -                2.92              -                -                -                -                3.89                       
Commercial 3.59              3.29              -                -                2.75              -                -                -                3.90                       
Industrial 3.65              3.69              -                -                -                2.73              -                -                3.89                       
Public 3.59              3.52              -                -                -                -                2.74              -                3.86                       
Irrigation 5.76              5.87              -                -                -                -                -                6.13              6.13                       

Option #2- COS Variable Base

Page 6 of 301



Continued Discussion on the Water Rate Review Staff Report  Page 3 of 4 

Rate Comparison: Current, Option 1, Option 2, and Option 3 

 
 
During the last meeting information regarding the residential winter averages over time was 
requested. The graph below depicts the system winter average since 2006. As noted, the average 
has decreased 19% since 2006 while the number of customers has increased by 54%. 
 
Residential Winter Average 2006-2019 

  

Current Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3

Unified Base*
Varied Base 

Fee by Meter*

Unified Base 
& Peak 

Charges in 
Consumption 

Charge

Unified Base*
Varied Base 

Fee by Meter*

Unified Base-
Peak to 
Volume 

Structure

Residential
Average 75.65          74.34          78.49          78.75        -2% 4% 4%
Low 20.45          20.40          16.99          16.59        0% -17% -19%
High 164.29       174.13       185.59       182.96     6% 13% 11%

Multifamily
Average 254.80       253.15       243.00       264.68     -1% -5% 4%
Low 55.00          72.75          78.30          52.22        32% 42% -5%
High 828.30       777.86       745.03       872.81     -6% -10% 5%

Commercial
Average 262.34       263.65       252.80       280.90     0% -4% 7%
Low 97.80          125.32       147.54       98.88        28% 51% 1%
High 876.23       826.24       748.70       947.80     -6% -15% 8%

Industrial
Average 628.13       667.57       689.16       662.75     6% 10% 6%
Low 33.53          41.27          86.33          30.85        23% 157% -8%
High 1,573.00    1,611.07    1,321.58    1,672.86  2% -16% 6%

Irrigation - Industrial Customers
Average 499.74       547.44       516.10       531.34     10% 3% 6%
Low 111.80       134.56       104.48       111.55     20% -7% 0%
High 1,565.34    1,627.52    1,688.92    1,659.26  4% 8% 6%
*Base Fees include 75% of Peak Charges for Commercial and Industrial Customers

% change from Current

Page 7 of 301



Continued Discussion on the Water Rate Review Staff Report  Page 4 of 4 

 
 
EXPECTED RESULTS:   
Staff is looking for direction from Council as to which residential rate structure staff should move 
forward with as well as the overall rate changes as presented. 
 
TIMELINE:  
Council adoption of new rates need to be completed during the second meeting in January 2020. 
Articles in the Boones Ferry Messenger and letters to the top 50 customers will be published and/or 
mailed in December. New rates/rate structure will be effective on March 1, 2020.  
 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS:    
Due to an increase in the number of meetings that FCS has/will be attending, a second contract 
increase has been received. The total budget for the project will be close to $90,000. Council will 
receive a request for a supplemental budget adjustment for the third adjustment that will be 
presented prior to the end of the fiscal year. 
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: CAR Date: 12/6/2019 
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: BAJ Date: 12/10/2019 
 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS:   
Prior to becoming effective, articles will be printed in the Boones Ferry Messenger, flyers included 
in the monthly utility bills and letters will be sent directly to customers that will be most affected 
by the adopted changes. 
 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS or BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY:   
The rate changes will provide the funding necessary to continue with the current and future water 
operations, debt service requirements. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:    
N/A 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT:   
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
None. 
 

Page 8 of 301



Willamette Falls Locks Commission Update Staff Report  Page 1 of 4 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: December 16, 2019 Subject: Update on the Willamette Falls Locks 
Commission: Proposed Public Corporation and 
Request for Continued City Support 

Staff Member: Mark Ottenad, Public/Government 
Affairs Director 

Department: Administration 

Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 
Recommendation  

Motion Approval 
Public Hearing Date: Denial 
Ordinance 1st Reading Date: None Forwarded 
Ordinance 2nd Reading Date: Not Applicable 
Resolution Comments: Councilor Joann Linville, the City 

Council’s appointed representative to the Commission 
confirmed by the Governor’s Office, will update 
Council on the results of the December 11 meeting of 
the Commission. 

Information or Direction 
Information Only 
Council Direction 
Consent Agenda 

Staff Recommendations: N/A 

Recommended Language for Motion: N/A 

PROJECT / ISSUE RELATES TO: 
Council Goals/Priorities Adopted Master Plan(s) Not Applicable 

ISSUE BEFORE COUNCIL: 
The Willamette Falls Locks Commission is poised on December 11, 2019, to recommend 
legislation and appropriation to the Governor and Oregon Legislative Assembly to form a Public 
Corporation to own, maintain and operate the Locks that includes proposed financial support 
from the State, Clackamas County, City and other entities.  

Does the City Council wish to continue the City’s policy of advocating for the repair and 
reopening of the Locks, and if so, to what degree — to include financial commitment, lobbying 
efforts and letters of support? 

Page 9 of 301



Willamette Falls Locks Commission Update Staff Report  Page 2 of 4 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The Willamette Falls Locks Commission, established in 2017 by Oregon Senate Bill 256, was 
tasked with identifying a non-federal transferee to assume ownership of the shuttered Willamette 
Falls Locks, and to propose a potential governance and finance plan for which to make a transfer 
successful. In 2019, the Army Corps of Engineers finalized a disposition study affirming a desire 
to transfer the facility to a non-federal owner and commit limited funding to seismic repairs on 
the upper gates of the Locks to remove flood liability of the upper-Willamette River pool—
roughly $2.6 million.  
 
The Commission’s recommendation is scheduled to include the creation of a Public Corporation 
to take ownership of the Locks and to request in the February 2020 “short” legislative session 
state funding of $14 million for capital repairs to reopen the Locks. The proposed business model 
is divided into two phases.  

• Phase 1—the issue at hand for the City Council—covers approximately the first four 
years of establishing and operating the Public Corporation, negotiating transfer of the 
facility from the US Army Corps of Engineers, and managing the capital repairs of the 
Locks. Because no existing revenue mechanism presently exists for the Locks, and 
revenue is dependent on an operational Locks facility, the proposal to fund this phase is 
primarily through ongoing local stakeholder contributions. 

• Phase 2, starting in approximately five years, begins after the transfer and construction of 
the Locks are complete, and the facility has returned to operating status. During this 
phase, the expectation is for the Locks to meet its revenue goals through a variety of 
usage fees, including commercial, tourism, and recreational uses 
 

Clackamas County has acted as the primary organizer and funder for lobbying efforts and 
staffing Locks-related work since 2015, working with Portland State University’s Oregon 
Solutions Center as facilitator that was funded through approximately $180,000 of state funding 
under SB 256. The local stakeholder contribution to date totals $773,530 (not including staff 
time from Clackamas, Metro, and West Linn), and includes funding partners from Metro, a 
variety of river users and advocates, the tourism industry, and a collection of cities, including 
Wilsonville at $14,000. Portland General Electric and Wilsonville Concrete and Marine 
Industrial LLC, each of which have strategic interests in the Locks, have been two primary 
private-sector funders of the Commission’s work. See Exhibit D for a financial accounting. 
 
The anticipated expenses of Phase 1 of the Public Corporation total $350,000 per year, over a 
period of three to five years. Commission staff believe that work to repair, transfer, and reopen 
the Locks can occur in a three-year period, but years four and five are included for consideration 
to account for the volatility in the state and federal legislative process. See Exhibit B. 
 
Commission Chair Russ Axelrod, Mayor of West Linn, is requesting that local stakeholders 
consider extending annual funding contributions at or above their historical levels, and sunset 
when Phase 2 of the business model begins. The City of Wilsonville has supported the 
Commission’s work with two (2) $7,000 annual appropriations, for a total to date of $14,000. 
The Commission Chair says, “Wilsonville has been providing $7,000 per year and the 
Commission hopes that you are willing to continue support at that level, or more, between July 
2020 and June 2025 as needed, until the Locks open and permanent funding kicks in. We are 
trying to raise $75,000 per year total from the cities.” See Exhibit A.  

Page 10 of 301



Willamette Falls Locks Commission Update Staff Report  Page 3 of 4 

Thus, the Commission seeks a contribution of $7,000 per year or more from Wilsonville starting 
with FY 2020/21 for a three- to five-year commitment totaling at least $21,000–$35,000. 
 
The Commission also seeks letters of support as part of a lobbying effort for state and federal 
support; see Exhibit E. Specifically, two letters are requested of the City: 

1. Letter from the City to the Commission supporting Commission’s recommendation for 
proposed public corporation and committing to financial support; 

2. Letter from the City to the Joint Committee on Ways and Means stating City’s support 
for the Commission’s work and recommendation, commitment to funding and advocating 
for $14 million in state funding. 

 
During the 2019 legislative session, the Co-Chairs of the Commission testified before the Joint 
Committee on Ways and Means to request $14 million in lottery bonding authority. The 
Committee, however, indicated that the request was premature and asked that the Commission 
resubmit a proposal for lottery revenue bond authorization in the February 2020 legislative short 
session. The request for state funding should include details on:  

• planned ownership of the Locks,  
• actions required to transfer ownership,  
• contributions toward renovations from the US Army Corps of Engineers,  
• availability of other funds to support project costs, and  
• a long-term sustainable business plan for continued operation and maintenance. 

 
Background Information 
The Commission has spent considerable time and effort over the past two years to examine 
various ownership/operating models and entities to receive ownership transfer of the Locks, and 
any accompanying potential liability. A number of commission members and City staff 
originally thought that the Port of Portland was the most logical state agency to take control of 
the Locks; however, the Port has been steadfast in opposing taking on responsibility for the 
Locks. 
 
Other state agencies—including Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT), Oregon Parks & 
Recreation Department (OPRD), Oregon Department of State Lands (DSL) and the Oregon State 
Marine Board—have been suggested, but none appeared quite appropriate given the agencies’ 
mission or capacity. 
 
Finally, the concept of a Public Corporation appeared to be the only model that would work in 
this instance, and provide several benefits. A Public Corporation could be more entrepreneurial 
with fewer ‘state strings’ of bureaucratic requirements to satisfy and would be able to take 
advantage of reduced-cost state services for human resource administration, legal services, 
access to state fleet vehicles and other state government-related benefits. As a corporation, the 
entity would be overseen by a board and can enter into contracts, and can sue and be sued. See 
Exhibits B and C for a more detailed explanation of the proposed Willamette Falls Locks 
Authority. 
 
Only three public corporations exist in Oregon; all three are considered highly successful in 
terms of generating positive revenues that do not require state subsidy: 

1. OHSU – Oregon Health & Science University 
2. SAIF – State Accident Insurance Fund Corporation 
3. OSF – Oregon State Fair Corporation 

Page 11 of 301



Willamette Falls Locks Commission Update Staff Report  Page 4 of 4 

 
EXPECTED RESULTS:  
N/A 
 
TIMELINE:  
N/A 
 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS:  
Funds are being requested for the next fiscal year, FY 2020/21, of at least $7,000/year over a 
three- to five-year period, totaling a minimum of $21,000 to $35,000, to support formation and 
operation of the proposed Willamette Falls Locks Authority Public Corporation.  
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: CAR Date: 12/6/2019 
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT: 
Reviewed by:  BAJ Date: 12/11/2019 
 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS:   
N/A 
 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OR BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY:   
An operational Locks would support continued operations of Wilsonville Concrete and Marine 
Industrial LLC and could provide new economic development opportunities for barging 
commodities to/from Wilsonville and Newberg, outdoor recreation, river travel, seismic 
resilience and tourism, including potential excursions by the Portland Spirit. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
N/A 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT: 
N/A 
 
EXHIBITS: 

A Letter from Russell B. Axelrod, Mayor, City of West Linn and Chair of Willamette Falls 
Locks Commission to Mayor Tim Knapp, City Council, December 5, 2019 

B Draft Business Plan for Proposed Willamette Falls Locks Public Corporation (WFL 
Capital Repair & Operational Business Plan). 

C Draft Willamette Falls Locks Authority Public Corporation Legislative Concept for 2020 
D Local Contributions toward the Willamette Falls Locks Effort. 
E Templates for Letters of Support from Wilsonville to the Willamette Falls Locks 

Commission and the Joint Ways and Means Committee. 

Page 12 of 301



EXHIBIT A - PAGE1

Page 13 of 301



EXHIBIT A - PAGE2

Page 14 of 301



Willamette Falls Locks Public Corporation Business Plan 
DISCUSSION DRAFT – November 15, 2019 
 
Updated to reflect feedback from the November 13, 2019 Meeting of the Willamette Falls Locks Commission 
 
SUMMARY OF PC ACTIVITIES AND OPERATIONS DURING PHASES I (BEFORE & DURING REPAIR) & II (POST-REPAIR) 
 

PHASE I:  Years 2020 – 2024 (from end of Commission to opening of repaired locks) 

Primary Activities: Launch the Public Corporation; negotiate and oversee transfer of the Locks; negotiate 
contracts and oversee capital improvements, administration and funding; negotiate operating agreements; 
marketing of the Locks to potential commercial/tourism users; and set the stage for the opening of the Locks. 

PC Annual Expenses: $350,000 

PC Annual Revenues: $350,000 (covered through shared allocations from multiple sources) 

 

PHASE II:  Years 2025 and Beyond (post-repair and ongoing) 

Primary Activities: Continued oversight of programming, contracts and administration, Locks operation directly 
or indirectly, ongoing fundraising and marketing. 

PC Expenses: $610,500 

PC Revenues: $610,500 (covered through a mix of user fees, direct and indirect). 

 

 

 

  

EXHIBIT B - PAGE 1

Page 15 of 301

ottenad
Highlight



WFL Public Corporation Business Plan 

PHASE I: 2020 – 2024 (I.E. FROM END OF COMMISSION TO OPENING OF REPAIRED LOCKS) 

ASSUMPTIONS: 

∙ Legislature (in 2020 Short Session) authorizes the formation of a Public Corporation to serve as the 
owner of the Locks, and have authority over its repair, upgrade and operations 

∙ Legislature (also in 2020 Short Session) authorizes sufficient bond-backed funds to proceed with the 
repair of the Locks, including design, entitlements, and repair work 

∙ Seed funding for this initial Phase I secured through IGAs with participating local and regional 
governments, as well as some mix of private funds and tourism grant funding and/or Marine Board 
grant funding  

Expected Activities (also see detailed list of tasks for Phase I in Appendix A) 

ADMINISTRATION 
∙ Negotiate and oversee transfer of the Locks from the US Army Corps of Engineers to the PC 
∙ Oversee the formation of the PC – incorporation, appointment of Board, adoption of bylaws, Board hires 

Executive Director or General Manager 
∙ Establish and maintain the ongoing administration of the Locks 
∙ Secure and oversee IGAs with entities providing funding during this Phase I; extend IGAs as necessary 

(i.e. some IGAs will be for a period of three years and may not fully cover the entire Phase I, which is 
projected to last four years) 

∙ Oversee the negotiation of an IGA or contract with an operating entity in anticipation of an opening in 
2024, unless the PC itself is the operator  

∙ Secure capital funding – per terms of legislative allocation; potential Metro OS bond funds, potential 
tourism grants, Army Corps of Engineers funds, private/foundation support, etc. 

∙ Secure Phase II permanent operational funding – negotiations with funders, legislation as necessary, etc. 
∙ Obtain liability insurance for the PC, and assure that prior to opening of the Locks, any 

contracted/certified operators likewise obtain insurance (note that insurance needs will be very modest 
prior to re-opening of the Locks) 

∙ Oversee environmental conditions (assessment and mitigation) as part of due diligence, including 
obtaining Prospective Purchaser Agreement if necessary 

∙ In preparation for opening, seek a tourism grant to develop and implement a marketing and promotion 
campaign including target markets, advertising and subsidized operating support in the early years. 

∙ Initiate private fund-raising campaign (i.e. charitable, tax-deductible private donations) for both 
operational and capital funds 

CAPITAL REPAIRS 

∙ Secure approval of permits for repair 
∙ Negotiate repair work plan with affected parties – Corps, etc. 
∙ Bid out repair project; select bidder; negotiate contracts 
∙ Oversee the repair project (construction management) (the project repair budget includes a 30% 

contingency line item plus 20% for engineering and permitting) 

 

EXHIBIT B - PAGE 2

Page 16 of 301

ottenad
Highlight



  
 

 

WILLAMETTE FALLS LOCKS:  PHASE I EXPENSES & REVENUE/FUNDING 
 

Ph
as

e 
I: 

 M
ar

ch
 2

02
0-

20
24

  
(P

re
-o

pe
ni

ng
, o

pe
ra

tin
g 

co
st

s)
 

 

 
PC Operations Before & During Capital Improvements 

 

An
nu

al
 E

xp
en

se
s 

 
$135,000 

 
 

$165,000 
 
 
 
 
 

$    5,000 
 

$  45,000 
 

$350,000 

 
PC Staffing (Director/Project Manager) 
1.0 FTE or contracted position to oversee transition. 
 
Average/year in legal and consulting fees 
Depending on the expertise of PC Staff, will need Technical 
assistance, legal, lobbying, preparation of bid  
documents, construction management, office and 
administration. 
 
Insurance 
 
Contingency 
 
Total Expenses 
 

An
nu

al
 R

ev
en

ue
/F

un
di

ng
 

 
$  125,000 

 
$150,000 

 
$75,000 

 
 
 

$TBD 
 

$350,000 

 
Annual industry funding (Tourism and Marine grants) 
 
Annual allocation from Metro, Port, Clackamas County 
 
Other annual contributions (Cities of West Linn, Oregon City, 
Wilsonville, Lake Oswego, Gladstone, Milwaukie, Newberg, 
Portland, Canby; Marion and Yamhill counties, and others)* 
 
Private fund-raising Efforts 
 
Total Revenue/Funding** 
 

Ba
la

nc
e  

$0 
 
Total Balance 
 

 

*    Other potential sources include federal funds, tribal contributions, and PGE 

** Does not include in-kind contributions that may be made available to the PC – office space, etc.  Note 
also that some funding sources may not initially commit to the entire Phase I period, and may therefore require 
renewal based on satisfactory performance.

EXHIBIT B - PAGE 3

Page 17 of 301

ottenad
Highlight

ottenad
Highlight



PHASE II: 2025 AND BEYOND (POST-REPAIR & ONGOING OPERATION) 

Expected Activities 

OPERATIONS 

∙ Continue to administer the PC – oversee adherence to any requirements of funding entities; 
maintain insurance; administer operator certification program 

∙ Operate the Locks, either directly or through IGA/contract with separate public or private entity 
o Certification program required for non-PC staff operation (commercial operators, 

State/local government staff) 
∙ Fund raise/marketing  
∙ Secure long-term operating funding as set forth in Table below – some combination of user fees 

paid by commercial entities (e.g. barge operations), tourism operators (tour boats to the wine 
country, etc.), and private recreational users.in the scenarios.   

∙ Promote commercial use of the Locks through collaboration with Economic Development 
entities, tourism entities, private industry 

∙ Ongoing maintenance directly or through contractors; major maintenance as needed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT B - PAGE 4

Page 18 of 301

ottenad
Highlight



WILLAMETTE FALLS LOCKS:  PHASE II EXPENSES & REVENUE/FUNDING 
 

Ph
as

e 
II:

  2
02

4 
 a

nd
 b

ey
on

d 
– 

po
st

-r
eo

pe
ni

ng
 o

pe
ra

tin
g 

pl
an

) 
 

 

 
Preferred Alternative - (Commercial & Recreational Use) 

 

 A
nn

ua
l E

xp
en

se
s 

 
$ 135,000 

 
 
 
 

$ 45,500 
 
 
 

$270,000 
 

$110,000 
 

$           0 
 

$  50,000 
 

$610,500 

 
PC Staffing (Director/Project Manager) 
1.0 FTE or contracted position responsible for oversight of 
certification program, contracts and maintenance as well as 
marketing 
 
Recreational boating hours (May-Oct., 26 weeks, at 35 
hours/week).  Assume a $50/hour fee to operate during hours of 
operation. 
 
Annual Maintenance 
 
5-Year Maintenance Fund 
 
Sinking Fund* 
 
Insurance 
 
Total Expense 
 

An
nu

al
 R

ev
en

ue
/F

un
di

ng
 

 
$203,500 

 
 

$203,500 
 
 
 
 
 

$203,500 
 

  
 
 
$610,500 

 
1.  Barged commodities (incl. aggregate and paper) @ approx.   

35-cents/ton** 
 

2. Recreational boats (all motorized boats, and non-motorized 
craft over 10’) 
Recommended funding: Boat licensing fee addition*** 
Transition funding (i.e. until the creation of a boat license fee 
addition):  Passenger fee @ approximately $5 per 
passenger**** 
 

3. Tour boats 
Initial funding: Passenger fee @ approximately $5 per 
passenger, until Tourism marketing grants or Marine fuel Tax 
increase  

Transition funding (until Marine fuel tax increase): Tourism 
marketing grants 

Long-term: Marine fuel tax increase 
 
 
Total Revenue/Funding 
 

Ba
la

nc
e  

$0 
 
Total Balance 

 

*  Defer sinking fund to future grants for major rehab of gates and/or flood repair 

EXHIBIT B - PAGE 5

Page 19 of 301

ottenad
Highlight



**  Based upon 2-barge lockage @ 700 tons per barge 

 

***  Recreational boat Options: 

• 15-cent/foot increase to statewide boat licensing fee 
• 86-cent/foot increase to North Willamette Valley (8 county) boat licensing fee (Multnomah, 

Washington, Clackamas, Marion, Yamhill, Polk, Benton, Linn counties) 

****  Strategic Plan for Water-based Tourism in Clackamas County, 2018 – identifies the potential for 
15,000 recreational boat lockages.  At 2.7 persons per boat and $5 per person, potential revenue = 
$202,500.  This would start out lower and grow to the target over time. 

 

 

Other Notes: 

1. A reopened Locks will result in an estimated reduction of 1% of statewide greenhouse gas 
emissions due to an elimination of certain trucking routes related to aggregate transportation.  
As such, the project could potentially generate carbon credits should the State establish 
legislation creating a cap-and-trade program.  These credits could serve as an additional revenue 
source. 

Revenue potential from moorage fees (associated new up-river moorages) are not estimated in the 
above scenarios.  Under this scenario, a reopened Locks will increase contributions to the Common 
School Fund as a portion of revenues from moorage fees collected by DSL goes into the Fund. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT B - PAGE 6

Page 20 of 301



Appendix A 
Detailed Willamette Falls Locks Pre-Opening Tasks 
 
Administrative 

• Governor appoints Board of Directors (per legislation); renew/replace appointees as 
terms expire 

• Board to appoint executive director 
• Administrative transition from SB 256 State Commission to HB ___ Public Corporation 

(includes discernment of legal funding from SB 256 administration) 
• Form Finance and Human Resource policies for pre- and post-operation scenarios 
• Contract with Army Corps of Engineers for transfer of ownership 
• Contract (or work with Army Corps) for capital construction 
• Finalize IGAs with local stakeholders for seed funding 
• Work with USACE on training for Locks operations / Agency knowledge of facility 
• Establish training plan for onboarding operations staff or minimal use business plan 
• Establish preferred use of existing USACE barracks 
• Adoption of bylaws for public corporation 
• Obtain insurance and liability coverage 
• Obtain permits for repairs 
• (optional) Hire or contract administrative support  

 
Business 

• Work with stakeholders and partners on boat licensing rate 
• Establish other funding strategies, as determined by Board 
• Establish visitor and operation scenarios for Locks Museum 
• Develop operations plan for level of desired service for Locks 
• Develop maintenance strategy for Locks 
• Decide on in-house vs contract operations 
• Develop agreements on intent to use Locks (river users) 
• Marketing responsibilities 

o Develop communication strategies for opening day, hours of operation, and 
predictability for interested users (recreation and commercial) 

o Discern new business opportunities and research potential markets 
• Establish funding strategies 

o User fees for recreation vs boat license increase (recommendation for one or 
other, but not both) 

o Establish rates for “touring” vessels 
o Establish commercial rates for freight traffic 
o Establish “Friends” agency for 501(c)(3) donations 

 
Advocacy and Partnership 

• Join Pacific Northwest Waterways Association 
• Regularly inform state and regional stakeholders on status of “project” 
• Ensure state and regional stakeholders are jointly supporting state and federal efforts to 

“repair and reopen” Locks 
• Participate in Willamette Falls Legacy Project and Willamette Falls and Landings 

Heritage Area Coalitions 
• Maintain working partnership with PGE, Willamette Falls Paper Company, and City of 

West Linn 

EXHIBIT B - PAGE 7

Page 21 of 301



LC 4 1 

Bill 2 

11/7/19  (MAM      ) 3 

2020 Regular Session 4 

 5 

Relating to Willamette Falls Locks Authority; creating new provisions; amending sections 1, 2 and 4, chapter 6 

734, Oregon Laws 2017; and declaring an emergency. 7 

 8 

 SECTION 1. Definition. As used in sections 1 to 11 of this 2019 Act, <<Willamette Falls Locks 9 

project>> means: 10 

 (1) The project for navigation, Willamette Falls Locks, Willamette River, Oregon, authorized by 11 

the Act of June 25, 1910 (36 Stat. 664, chapter 482); 12 

 (2)  Any land in which the federal government had a property interest for the project described 13 

in subsection (1) of this section as of the effective date of this 2020 Act; and 14 

 (3) Any improvements on the land described in subsection (2) of this section.  15 

 SECTION 2. Establishment. (1) The Willamette Falls Locks Authority is established as a public 16 

corporation and shall exercise and carry out all powers, rights and privileges that are expressly 17 

conferred upon the authority, are implied by law or are incident to such powers, rights and privileges. 18 

The authority is an independent public corporation with a statewide mission and purposes and without 19 

territorial boundaries. The authority is a governmental entity performing governmental functions and 20 

exercising governmental powers but, except as otherwise provided by law, is not a unit of local or 21 

municipal government or a state agency for purposes of state statutes or constitutional provisions. 22 

 (2) Unless otherwise provided by law, the authority is not subject to ORS chapters 182, 183, 238, 23 

238A, 240, 270, 273, 276, 279A, 279B, 279C, 282, 283, 291, 292, 293 and 297 and ORS 35.550 to 35.575, 24 

180.060, 180.210 to 180.235, 183.710 to 183.730, 183.745, 183.750, 190.430, 190.480, 190.490, 25 

192.105, 200.035, 236.605 to 236.640, 243.105 to 243.585, 243.696, 278.011 to 278.120, 279.835 to 26 

279.855, 283.085 to 283.092, 291.050 to 291.060, 357.805 to 357.895 or 656.017 (2). 27 

 (3) The mission of the authority is to establish ownership, oversight and management of the 28 

Willamette Falls Locks project, for the purposes of: 29 

 (a) Enhancing the economic vitality of Oregon through facilitating the resiliency and navigability 30 

of the Willamette River; and 31 

 (b) Repairing, maintaining, upgrading and operating the Willamette Falls Locks project and 32 

associated properties and facilities for commercial, transportation, recreational, cultural, historic, 33 

heritage and tourism purposes. 34 

 (4) The authority shall carry out the purposes described in this section and the duties of the 35 

authority under sections 1 to 11 of this 2020 Act in the manner that, in the determination of the 36 

authority, best promotes and implements the mission of the authority. Subject to any limitations 37 

EXHIBIT C - PAGE 1

Page 22 of 301

ottenad
Text Box
Draft Willamette Falls Locks Authority Public Corporation Legislative Concept for 2020

ottenad
Highlight



established under this chapter, the authority may take any necessary or expedient actions to: 1 

 (a) Enter into any agreements as necessary or expedient to perform any authorized function of 2 

the authority, including but not limited to any agreements with the Assistant Secretary of the Army 3 

(Civil Works) for the United States Army Corps of Engineers or other public or private entities as 4 

necessary to: 5 

 (A) Establish ownership by the authority of the Willamette Falls Locks project; 6 

 (B) Repair, maintain, upgrade and operate the Willamette Falls Locks project and associated 7 

property and facilities; and  8 

 (C) Provide for the training of personnel in operation of the navigation channel and locks; 9 

 (b) Ensure the financial viability of the authority; 10 

 (c) Promote the Willamette Falls Locks project to industries related to or interested in the 11 

authority's business operations, properties or facilities; and 12 

 (d) Undertake improvements and maintenance activities, including dredging and channelization 13 

activities, on and off premises owned, operated or under the jurisdiction of the authority, as the 14 

authority determines are necessary or expedient to ensure the continued operation and utility of the 15 

Willamette Falls Locks project as a navigation facility. 16 

 SECTION 3. Authority members. (1) The Willamette Falls Locks Authority shall consist of no 17 

fewer than seven and no more than eleven individuals appointed by the Governor. An authority 18 

member holds office for a term of four years but may be removed at any time at the pleasure of the 19 

Governor. Members are eligible for reappointment. Prior to the expiration of the term of a member, the 20 

Governor shall appoint a successor. If a member position becomes vacant for any reason, the Governor 21 

shall appoint a successor to fill the unexpired term. 22 

 (2) A member of the authority must be a citizen of the United States and may not be an employee 23 

of the authority. In appointing members to the authority, the Governor shall consult with the employees 24 

of the authority, if any, and shall endeavor to appoint members with experience or expertise in a variety 25 

of subjects related to the mission and purposes of the authority or with other experiences or expertise 26 

that are important to the success of the authority. The Governor shall consider for appointment, but 27 

need not be limited to appointing, representatives of: 28 

 (a) Federally recognized Oregon Indian Tribes with treaty interests in the Willamette Falls area;  29 

 (b) Regional or municipal governments;  30 

 (c) The marine industry;  31 

 (d) The tourism industry;  32 

 (e) Persons with experience in finance, marketing, or economic development; or 33 

 (f) Adjacent property owners. 34 

 (3) The authority shall elect one member as a chairperson and one member as vice chairperson, 35 

with terms, duties and powers as determined by the authority. The authority shall adopt bylaws 36 

establishing the required frequency of meetings and quorum requirements. 37 

EXHIBIT C - PAGE 2

Page 23 of 301



 (4) A member of the authority is not entitled to compensation, but may be reimbursed as 1 

provided by the policies and procedures of the authority for any actual and necessary travel and other 2 

expenses incurred by the member in the performance of the member's official duties. 3 

 (5) Four members of the Legislative Assembly shall act as a nonvoting observers and advisors to 4 

the authority and shall be appointed as follows:  5 

 (a) One shall be appointed by the President of the Senate from among members of the Senate; 6 

 (b) One shall be appointed by the Senate Minority Leader from among members of the Senate; 7 

 (c) One shall be appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives from among members 8 

of the House of Representatives; and 9 

 (d) One shall be appointed by the House Minority Leader from among members of the House of 10 

Representatives. 11 

 (6) The members of the Legislative Assembly selected under subsection (5) of this section may 12 

not exercise any power, right or privilege of a member of the authority. 13 

 SECTION 4. Initial membership. (1) The Governor shall appoint the initial members of the 14 

Willamette Falls Locks Authority no later than 180 days after the effective date of this 2020 Act. 15 

 (2) Notwithstanding the term of office specified in section 3 of this 2020 Act, of the members first 16 

appointed by the Governor to the authority: 17 

 (a) Two shall serve for a term ending one year after the date of appointment; 18 

 (b) Two shall serve for a term ending two years after the date of appointment; and 19 

 (c) Two shall serve for a term ending three years after the date of appointment. 20 

 SECTION 5. Locks authority director; status of locks authority director and employees. (1) The 21 

Willamette Falls Locks Authority shall appoint an executive director. The executive director is the 22 

executive officer of the authority responsible for day-to-day operations. Subject to the supervision of 23 

the authority, the executive director is authorized to direct the affairs of the authority. The executive 24 

director serves at the discretion of the authority and shall perform such duties as the authority 25 

prescribes. 26 

 (2) The executive director may employ subordinate employees as the executive director deems 27 

reasonable for carrying out business operations and the operation of the properties and facilities of the 28 

authority, including but not limited to the operation and maintenance of the Willamette Falls Locks 29 

project. The executive director may delegate any duty, function or power of the executive director to a 30 

subordinate employee except as otherwise proscribed by the authority. 31 

 (3) The members of the authority, the executive director and the employees of the authority are 32 

not state employees and are not eligible for participation in state employee health benefit plans, state 33 

employee deferred compensation plans or the Public Employees Retirement System. The authority 34 

shall determine the compensation and benefit package for the executive director and other employees 35 

of the authority. For purposes of any laws applicable to the authority as a public corporation, including 36 

but not limited to ORS 30.260 to 30.300, the members of the authority, the executive director and the 37 

EXHIBIT C - PAGE 3

Page 24 of 301



employees of the authority are officers and employees of a public body. 1 

 (4) The authority and a state agency may enter into agreements for the state agency to provide 2 

support services to the authority. If a state agency provides support services to the authority, the state 3 

agency must provide the support services at the rate that the state agency would charge to other state 4 

agencies for the services. 5 

 (5) The authority may invest in the investment poll described in ORS 294.805. For purposes of 6 

ORS 294.805 to 594.895, the executive director is a local government official.  7 

 (6) The authority may retain private legal counsel or, notwithstanding ORS 180.060, may 8 

contract for representation by the Attorney General. If the authority contracts for representation by 9 

the Attorney General, the Attorney General shall charge the authority for services at the rate charged 10 

state agencies for similar services. 11 

 SECTION 6. Powers and duties of authority. Except as may otherwise be provided by law, the 12 

Willamette Falls Locks Authority may, within or outside the state: 13 

 (1) Adopt, alter, amend or repeal policies, procedures or bylaws for the organization, 14 

administration, development and management of the authority. 15 

 (2) Enter into contracts and agreements involving property, goods or services with any public or 16 

private entity as the authority deems reasonable to carry out the mission and purposes of the authority 17 

or to execute any duties, functions or powers of the authority, including but not limited to: 18 

 (a) Contracts and agreements related to the operation of the Willamette Falls Locks project and 19 

associated properties and facilities; 20 

 (b) The carrying out of the business operations of the authority; 21 

 (c) The construction, repair, maintenance, seismic stabilization, rehabilitation, upgrade or 22 

insurance of authority properties and facilities; or 23 

 (d) To coordinate activities as needed with a dam and power plant owner licensed by the Federal 24 

Energy Regulatory Commission.  25 

 (3) Establish advisory or technical committees and otherwise consult, cooperate or coordinate 26 

with any public or private entity as the authority deems necessary or expedient to broaden 27 

opportunities for public input on or to carry out the mission and purposes or duties of the authority. 28 

 (4) Acquire, purchase, receive, hold, control, convey, sell, manage, operate, lease, license, lend, 29 

invest, improve, develop, use, dispose of and hold title in the name of the authority to property 30 

constituting the Willamette Falls Locks project and associated lands, buildings, easements and museum 31 

facilities, and any other real or personal property of any nature. 32 

 (5) Obtain any permits, approvals, or permissions needed in connection with the activities of the 33 

authority. 34 

 (6) Exercise the power of eminent domain under ORS chapter 35 to acquire any right or interest 35 

in real property as necessary or expedient to ensure the repair, upgrade, operation, maintenance or 36 

access to the Willamette Falls Locks project and any associated properties and facilities.  37 

EXHIBIT C - PAGE 4

Page 25 of 301



 (7) Sue and be sued in its own name. 1 

 (8) Encourage and accept grants, gifts and donations for the benefit of the authority, and subject 2 

to the terms of the gift, retain, invest and use such gifts as deemed appropriate by the authority. 3 

 (9) Acquire, receive, hold, keep, pledge, control, convey, manage, use, lend, expend and invest 4 

funds, appropriations, grants, gifts, bequests, stock and revenue from any source. 5 

 (10) Borrow money for the needs of the authority, in such amounts and for such time and upon 6 

such terms as may be determined by the authority or the board. 7 

 (11) Purchase any and all insurance, operate a self-insurance program or otherwise arrange for 8 

the equivalent of insurance coverage of any nature and for the indemnity and defense of the members 9 

of the authority or any officers, agents, employees or other persons designated by the authority to carry 10 

out or to further the mission and purposes of the authority. 11 

 (12) Establish charges and fees, including but not limited to charges and fees for services by the 12 

authority and for the use, lease or rental of authority properties and facilities. 13 

 (13) Contract for law enforcement or security services for authority properties and facilities. 14 

 (14) Establish and exercise broad operational authority over the Willamette Falls Locks project 15 

and associated properties and facilities, including but not limited to establishing days and times of 16 

service and a certification program to enable self-operation of the navigation canal and locks by certain 17 

users. 18 

 (15) Establish an operations training program that provides education for all operators of the 19 

Willamette Falls locks system, including but not limited to employees and volunteers of the authority, 20 

contractors, or commercial operators, to operate the locks in conformance with all safety and 21 

operational requirements. 22 

 (16) Perform any other acts that in the judgment of the authority are necessary or expedient in 23 

accomplishing the public mission and purposes described in section 2 of this 2020 Act or carrying out 24 

the powers granted by sections 1 to 11 of this 2020 Act. 25 

 SECTION 7. Creation of tax-exempt entity by authority. (1) Pursuant to section 6 of this 2020 Act, 26 

the Willamette Falls Locks Authority may create and maintain an entity that is exempt from federal 27 

income tax under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended, for the purpose of 28 

advancing the mission of the authority. 29 

 (2) Any entity created by the authority under subsection (1) of this section shall be considered: 30 

 (a) A unit of local government for purposes of ORS 190.003 to 190.130; 31 

 (b) A public body for purposes of ORS 30.260 to 30.300 and 307.112; 32 

 (c) A public agency for purposes of ORS 200.090; and 33 

 (d) A public corporation for purposes of ORS 307.090. 34 

 SECTION 8. Revenue bonds. (1) The Willamette Falls Locks Authority may from time to time issue 35 

and sell revenue bonds in accordance with ORS Chapter 287A, except that ORS 287A.150 (2) to (6) do 36 

not apply to revenue bonds issued by the authority. Revenue bonds issued by the authority are not to 37 

EXHIBIT C - PAGE 5

Page 26 of 301



any extent a general obligation of the authority nor a charge upon any revenues or property of the 1 

authority not specifically pledged as security for the revenue bonds. An obligation described in this 2 

section is not an indebtedness of the State of Oregon. 3 

 (2) Revenue bonds issued by the authority pursuant to ORS chapter 287A shall be considered to 4 

be bonds of a political subdivision of the State of Oregon for the purposes of all laws of the state. 5 

 (3) The authority may, pursuant to ORS 287A.360 to 287A.380, issue refunding bonds of the same 6 

character and tenor as the revenue bonds replaced by the refunding bonds. 7 

 SECTION 9. Financing agreements. (1) As used in this section: 8 

 (a) <<Credit enhancement agreement>> means any agreement or contractual relationship 9 

between the Willamette Falls Locks Authority and any bank, trust company, insurance company, surety 10 

bonding company, pension fund or other financial institution providing additional credit on or security 11 

for a financing agreement or certificates of participation. 12 

 (b) <<Financing agreement>> means a lease-purchase agreement, an installment sale 13 

agreement, a loan agreement, note agreement, short-term promissory notes, commercial papers, lines 14 

of credit or similar obligations or any other agreement to finance real or personal property that is or 15 

will be owned and operated by the authority, or to refinance previously executed financing agreements. 16 

 (c) <<Personal property>> means tangible personal property, software and fixtures. 17 

 (d) <<Property rights>> means, with respect to personal property, the rights of a secured party 18 

under ORS chapter 79, and, with respect to real property, the rights of a trustee or lender. 19 

 (e) <<Software>> means software and training and maintenance contracts related to the 20 

operation of computing equipment. 21 

 (2) The Willamette Falls Locks Authority may enter into financing agreements in accordance 22 

with this section, upon such terms as the authority determines to be necessary or desirable. Amounts 23 

payable by the authority under a financing agreement are limited to funds specifically pledged, 24 

budgeted for or otherwise made available by the authority. If there are insufficient available funds to 25 

pay amounts due under a financing agreement, the lender may exercise any property rights that the 26 

authority has granted to the lender in the financing agreement against the property that was purchased 27 

with the proceeds of the financing agreement, and may apply the amounts so received toward payments 28 

scheduled to be made by the authority under the financing agreement. 29 

 (3) The authority may: 30 

 (a) Enter into agreements with third parties to hold financing agreement proceeds, payments 31 

and reserves as security for lenders, and to issue certificates of participation in the right to receive 32 

payments due from the authority under a financing agreement. Amounts held pursuant to this 33 

paragraph shall be invested at the direction of the authority. Interest earned on any investments held 34 

as security for a financing agreement may, at the option of the authority, be credited to the accounts 35 

held by the third party and applied in payment of sums due under a financing agreement. 36 

 (b) Enter into credit enhancement agreements for financing agreements or certificates of 37 

EXHIBIT C - PAGE 6

Page 27 of 301



participation, provided that the credit enhancement agreements must be payable solely from funds 1 

specifically pledged, budgeted for or otherwise made available by the authority and amounts received 2 

from the exercise of property rights granted under the financing agreements. 3 

 (c) Use financing agreements to finance the costs of acquiring or refinancing real or personal 4 

property, plus the costs of reserves, credit enhancements and costs associated with obtaining the 5 

financing. 6 

 (d) Grant leases of real property with a trustee or lender. 7 

 (e) Grant security interests in personal property to trustees or lenders. 8 

 (f) Make pledges for the benefit of trustees and lenders. 9 

 (g) Purchase fire, liability, flood and extended insurance coverage or other casualty insurance 10 

for property that is acquired, transferred or refinanced with proceeds of a financing agreement, assign 11 

the proceeds thereof to a lender or trustee to the extent of their interest, and covenant to maintain the 12 

insurance while the financing agreement is unpaid, so long as available funds are sufficient to purchase 13 

such insurance. 14 

 (4) A lease or financing agreement under this section does not cause otherwise exempt property 15 

to be subject to property taxation. A lease or financing agreement is disregarded in determining 16 

whether property is exempt from taxation under ORS chapter 307. 17 

 SECTION 10. Audits; report to Legislative Assembly. (1) The Willamette Falls Locks Authority 18 

shall submit to periodic audits by the Secretary of State. The authority shall, no less than annually, 19 

retain a public accounting firm to examine and attest to the financial operations of the authority. The 20 

authority shall include the results of any public accounting in the annual report submitted to the 21 

Legislative Assembly under subsection (2) of this section. 22 

 (2) The authority shall, not later than April 15 of each even numbered year, file an annual report 23 

with the Governor and a committee or interim committee of the Legislative Assembly related to 24 

economic development. The report shall describe the activities and operations of the authority during 25 

the preceding calendar year. 26 

 SECTION 11. Unauthorized use of facilities; penalty. A person who gains or attempts to gain 27 

unauthorized access to or use of the properties or facilities of the Willamette Falls Locks Authority in 28 

violation of any use restriction or conditions imposed by the authority, including payment of fees, 29 

commits a Class D violation. In addition to any enforcement officers specifically identified in ORS 30 

153.005, the executive director of the Willamette Falls Locks Authority and other employees of the 31 

Willamette Falls Locks Authority may issue citations for violations of this section. 32 

 SECTION 12. Section 1, chapter 734, Oregon Laws 2017, is amended to read: 33 

 Sec. 1. (1) There is established the Willamette Falls Locks Commission for the purposes described in 34 

section 2 of this 2017 Act, consisting of 23 members appointed as follows: 35 

 (a) The Governor shall appoint: 36 

 (A) One member who is the chair or a member of the Clackamas County Board of County Commissioners, 37 

EXHIBIT C - PAGE 7

Page 28 of 301



pursuant to a recommendation of the board; 1 

 (B) One member who is the chair or a member of the Marion County Board of County Commissioners, 2 

pursuant to a recommendation of the board; 3 

 (C) One member who is the chair or a member of the Yamhill County Board of County Commissioners, 4 

pursuant to a recommendation of the board; 5 

 (D) One member who is the president or a member of the governing body of the metropolitan service 6 

district for the Portland metropolitan area, pursuant to a recommendation from the governing body; 7 

 (E) One member who is a representative of the Confederated Tribes of the Grand Ronde Community of 8 

Oregon, pursuant to a recommendation of the tribal council; 9 

 (F) One member who is a representative of a Columbia River tribe that is a party to the terms of a treaty 10 

of 1855 between the tribe and the United States of America; 11 

 (G) One member who is a representative of the State Parks and Recreation Department; 12 

 (H) One member who is a representative of the Port of Portland; 13 

 (I) One member who is a representative of the Department of Transportation; 14 

 (J) One member who is a representative of the Oregon Business Development Department; 15 

 (K) Pursuant to a recommendation by that city's governing body, one member who is the mayor or a 16 

member of the governing body of each of the following cities, to represent the cities' interests in the Willamette 17 

Falls navigation canal and locks: 18 

 (i) The City of Oregon City; 19 

 (ii) The City of West Linn; and 20 

 (iii) The City of Wilsonville; 21 

 (L) One member to represent the collective interests of local businesses and economic development in 22 

Clackamas County, pursuant to a recommendation of the Clackamas County Board of County Commissioners; 23 

 (M) One member to represent the collective interests of the tourism and recreation industries in 24 

Clackamas County, pursuant to a recommendation by the Clackamas County Board of County Commissioners; 25 

 (N) One member to represent the residents of Clackamas County, pursuant to a recommendation by the 26 

Clackamas County Board of County Commissions; and 27 

 (O) One member to represent an environmental or ecological nonprofit organization. 28 

 (b) The President of the Senate shall appoint one member from among the members of the Senate. 29 

 (c) The Senate Minority Leader shall appoint one member from among the members of the Senate. 30 

 (d) The Speaker of the House of Representatives shall appoint two members from among the members 31 

of the House of Representatives. 32 

 (e) The House Minority Leader shall appoint two members from among the members of the House of 33 

Representatives. 34 

 (2) The term of office of each member of the commission appointed by the Governor is four years, but a 35 

member serves at the pleasure of the Governor. Before the expiration of the term of a member, the Governor 36 

shall appoint a successor whose term begins on January 1 of the following year. A member is eligible for 37 

EXHIBIT C - PAGE 8

Page 29 of 301



reappointment. 1 

 (3) If there is a vacancy for any cause, the appointing authority shall make an appointment to become 2 

immediately effective for the unexpired term. 3 

 (4) Members of the commission are not entitled to compensation and may not be reimbursed for travel 4 

or other expenses incurred by them in the performance of their official duties. 5 

 (5) Members of the Legislative Assembly appointed to the commission are nonvoting members of the 6 

commission and act in an advisory capacity only. 7 

 (6) The commission shall select one of its members as chairperson and another as vice chairperson, for 8 

terms and with duties and powers necessary for the performance of the functions of the offices as the 9 

commission determines. 10 

 (7) The commission may elect an executive committee to consist of three or more members. The 11 

executive committee has and may exercise all authority of the commission. 12 

 (8) Official action by the commission requires the approval of a majority of the voting members of the 13 

commission. 14 

 (9)(a) The commission shall meet [no less than six times per year] at times and places specified by the 15 

call of the chairperson or of a majority of the voting members of the commission. [The commission shall include 16 

an opportunity for public comment as an item on the agenda of at least two meetings per year.] 17 

 (b) The commission shall notify federally recognized Indian tribes and known interested parties of the 18 

dates and times of commission meetings. 19 

 (10) ORS 192.311 to 192.478 and 192.610 to 192.690 apply to the records and meetings of the 20 

commission. [2017 c.734 :S.1] 21 

 SECTION 13. Section 2, chapter 734, Oregon Laws 2017, is amended to read: 22 

 Sec. 2. (1) As used in this section, <<Willamette Falls Locks project>> has the meaning given that 23 

term in section 1 of this 2020 Act. 24 

 [(1)] (2) The Willamette Falls Locks Commission shall: 25 

 [(a) Serve as a body to advise state, local and regional government agencies on the development and 26 

implementation of state policies relating to the repair, reopening, operation and maintenance of the Willamette 27 

Falls navigation canal and locks;] 28 

 [(b) Address issues relating to the transfer of ownership, operation and financing of the navigation canal 29 

and locks from a state, local and regional perspective;] 30 

 [(c) Make recommendations for, and assist in coordination of, funding responsibilities, including 31 

possible recommendations for the formation of an intergovernmental agreement between state, local, regional 32 

and federal agencies for the repair, reopening, operation and maintenance of the navigation canal and locks;] 33 

 [(d) Investigate a framework for the ownership, operations and management of the navigation canal 34 

and locks;] 35 

 [(e) Negotiate ownership, operation and management of the navigation canal and locks with the United 36 

States Army Corps of Engineers;] 37 

EXHIBIT C - PAGE 9

Page 30 of 301



 [(f) Communicate state policies relating to the repair, reopening, operation and maintenance of the 1 

navigation canal and locks to the Oregon Congressional Delegation; and] 2 

 (a) Serve as a body to advise the Governor in appointment of the initial members of the 3 

Willamette Falls Locks Authority pursuant to section 3 of this 2020 Act; 4 

 (b) Provide advice and assistance to the Governor or the Willamette Falls Locks Authority 5 

established under section 2 of this 2020 Act, as requested by the Governor or the board, on any matters 6 

relating to the Willamette Falls Locks project and as necessary to facilitate an orderly transition from 7 

the commission to the authority of responsibilities for the development and implementation of state 8 

policies relating to the Willamette Falls Locks project; and  9 

 [(g)] (c) Consider any other matters the commission considers necessary with respect to advising the 10 

Willamette Falls Locks Authority on the ownership and operation of the [navigation canal and locks] 11 

Willamette Falls Locks project. 12 

 (2) The commission may establish advisory or technical committees as the commission considers 13 

necessary to aid and advise the commission in the performance of its functions. The committees may be 14 

continuing or temporary committees. The commission shall determine the representation, membership, terms 15 

and organization of the committees and shall appoint the members of the committees. 16 

 (3) Oregon Solutions at Portland State University shall provide staffing and other resources as required 17 

by the commission to carry out the duties of the commission. [2017 c.734 :s.2] 18 

 SECTION 14. Section 4, chapter 734, Oregon Laws 2017, is amended to read: 19 

 Sec. 4. Sections 1 and 2 of this 2017 Act are repealed on [December 31, 2023] January 2, 2021. [2017 20 

c.734 :S.4] 21 

 SECTION 15. This 2020 Act being necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, 22 

health and safety, an emergency is declared to exist, and this 2019 Act takes effect on its passage. 23 

EXHIBIT C - PAGE 10

Page 31 of 301



2015-17 State and Federal Advocacy and 
Support to Locks Task Force

Clackamas County $158,250
Metro $113,000

Industry $16,000
Subtotal $287,250

2018-19 Due Diligence and support to Locks 
Commission

Clackamas County $120,000
Metro $120,000

Marine industry $60,000
Tourism Industry $100,000

Cities
West Linn $30,000

Oregon City $14,000
Wilsonville $14,000

Lake Oswego $12,000
Gladstone $5,000
Milwaukie $5,000

Newberg $2,500
Subtotal $482,500

 2019 Additional Fees
Clackamas County $3,780

Subtotal $3,780

GRAND TOTAL $773,530

*Does not include staff time expended

Local Contributions toward the Willamette Falls 
Locks Effort*

EXHIBIT D - PAGE 1

Page 32 of 301

ottenad
Highlight

ottenad
Highlight



Template for Letter of Support from the City of Wilsonville  
to the Willamette Falls Locks Commission  
 
          Date 
 
Willamette Falls Locks Commission  
c/o Turner Odell, Oregon Solutions 
National Policy Consensus Center (NPCC) 
Portland State University 
PO Box 751 
Portland, OR 97207-0751 
 
 
Dear Chair Axelrod and Willamette Falls Locks Commission, 
 
I am writing to express (our organization’s) support for the continued effort to repair and 
reopen the Willamette Falls Locks during the interim, Phase 1, development of the Locks 
Authority. This effort is important to us because…(customize: economics, tourism, 
historic/cultural, environmental, resiliency, etc…) 
 
As a result, we support the Commission’s work in the 2020 Oregon Legislative Session to create 
a new Willamette Falls Locks Authority and to secure capital funding for the urgently needed 
repairs to the Locks. If these efforts are successful, we are prepared to support the Locks 
Authority’s Phase 1 work with a contribution of $XX,000 per year beginning in July 2020 and 
lasting a maximum of five years.  This commitment is conditional on the successful passage of 
the needed legislation, and on the commitments of other organizations as described in the 
Willamette Falls Locks Business Plan, without which the effort will not be successful. 
 
We look forward to continued partnership with the broader coalition to achieve the important 
goal of keeping the Willamette River as one river.  
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Person 
Title, Organization 
 

 
  

EXHIBIT E - PAGE 1

Page 33 of 301



Template for Letter of Support from the City of Wilsonville  
to the Oregon Legislature Joint Committee on Ways and Means 
 
          Date 
 
To the Joint Committee on Ways and Means Co-Chairs Senator Johnson, Senator Steiner 
Hayward, Representative Rayfield, and Members: 
 
I am writing to express (our organization’s) support for the appropriation of $14 Million from 
lottery bonds for the capital repairs and upgrades to reopen the Willamette Falls Locks.  
 
This effort is important to us because…(customize and be specific to your 
community/organization: economics, tourism, historic/cultural, environmental, resiliency, etc…) 
 
State your organization’s commitment to the project – financial/otherwise 
 
We appreciate your time on this important issue and stand ready to answer any questions you 
may have. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Person 
Title, Organization 
 
 

EXHIBIT E - PAGE 2

Page 34 of 301



Wilsonville Sister City Advisory Board Bylaws Page 1 

BYLAWS OF THE SISTER CITY ADVISORY BOARD 
CITY OF WILSONVILLE, OREGON 

DATE 

I. CHARTER/PURPOSE.

The purpose of the Wilsonville Sister City Advisory Board (“Board”) is to help guide and support the 
development and activities of the Sister City Program, whose mission is to encourage cross-cultural 
understanding and to promote educational and economic exchange between the citizens of 
Wilsonville and our Sister City Kitakata, Japan. This is an advisory board to the Wilsonville Mayor and 
City Council. 

The Board serves in an advocacy, supporting and ambassadorial capacity and will assist in organizing 
events and promoting a positive image and good relations for the Sister City Program and the City 
of Wilsonville within the community, the region, the state and internationally. 

The Board of Wilsonville Sister City Program is a standing committee of the City of Wilsonville. 

Board members work to further advance the planning and implementation of initiatives that support 
the Sister City Program. The Board may recommend general policies and activities and otherwise 
advise and support the Mayor and City Council. The Board may express its opinion on policy 
recommendations submitted to it by the Mayor and City Council. 

II. MEMBERSHIP.

The Board shall consist of seven (7) members. Official terms of office of Board members shall begin 
January 1st of the year following appointment, unless the member is appointed to fill an unexpired 
term, in which case the Board member shall serve until the end of the term he or she was appointed 
to fill. The terms of members of the Board shall be staggered. All recommendations for appointments 
to the Board shall be made by the Mayor of the City of Wilsonville with ratification by the Wilsonville 
City Council. 

Decisions on renewal of a Board member will be made by the Mayor and ratified by the City Council. 

The appointment of a member shall automatically terminate upon the member’s unexcused 
absence of three (3) consecutive meetings during a 12-month period. 

Upon completion of a term, a member who does not continue with the Board shall be designated an 
"emeritus board member." Emeritus board members will be kept informed of Board activities and 
invited to continue close association with the Program. Emeritus members are regarded as ex-officio 
members of the Board and are welcome to attend meetings regularly and be heard, though may not 
vote or be considered as a member for the purposes of establishing a quorum. 

Members shall be deemed public officials for the purposes of Oregon's Public Meetings Law and State 
ethics laws. 

Page 35 of 301



Wilsonville Sister City Advisory Board Bylaws Page 2 

 

 

III. OFFICERS AND COMMITTEES. 
 

The Chairperson and Officers of the Board will be elected by the Board. The Chairperson will serve no 
more than two consecutive one-year terms or until a successor is elected, whichever is later. The 
Chairperson will chair meetings of the Board and work with the Staff Liaison in formulating agendas.  

 
 

IV. MEETINGS. 
 

Regular meetings of the Board shall be held at such times and places as are determined by the Board. 
 

Board members shall receive written notice of said meetings by an agenda remitted to them 
before meetings. All meetings shall comply with the requirements of Oregon Public Meetings 
Law. 

 
 

V. BOARD FORMULATION. 
 
Board membership staggering will proceed as follows: of the members first appointed, three members 
shall be appointed for a two-year term and four members shall be appointed for a four-year term. 
Subsequent appointments shall be for a term of four years. There is not a limit on the number of terms 
a board member can serve.  
 
 

VI. DUTIES OF THE BOARD. 
 
Duties of the Board shall be to fulfill the mandate set forth by the City Council. In addition, the Board 
of Directors shall support the development of the Sister Cities Program through: 

 
a. Assisting in the development of strategic plans 

 
b. Submitting recommendations and requests for the annual program budget 

 
c. Recommending program policies to the City Council  

 
d. Conducting activities through projects and events to support: 

 
1) Resource development; 

 
2) Promotion of cross-cultural understanding and exchange between the community 

of Wilsonville and its Sister Cities; 
 

3) Community support and public relations and outreach. 
  

Page 36 of 301



Wilsonville Sister City Advisory Board Bylaws Page 3 

 

 

VII. VACANCIES ON THE BOARD.  
 
Vacancies in any Board position shall be filled by appointment from the Mayor, with confirmation 
from the City Council. Those so appointed shall hold office until such position would normally 
terminate.  

 
 

VIII. OFFICERS.  
 
Officers of the Board shall be a Chair and Vice-Chair together with such other officers as the Board 
from time to time may require. 
 

a. DUTIES OF THE CHAIR. The Chair shall preside over all meetings of the Board of Directors, call 
the Board together whenever they deem necessary and generally discharge the duties as are 
properly required of them by the Board. The Chair, in consultation with the Sister City Staff 
Liaison, shall prepare the agenda for all Board meetings. 
 

b. DUTIES OF THE VICE-CHAIR. The Vice-Chair shall preside over all meetings of the Board in 
the absence of the Chair. The Vice-Chair otherwise shall exercise such powers and perform 
such duties as properly shall be determined by the Board. 

 
c. ELECTION AND TERM OF OFFICERS OF THE BOARD. Each officer on the Board shall be elected 

by the Board for a one-year term and shall serve for no more than two terms of one year's 
duration each in any office. Elections shall be held at the first meeting of the Board each year, 
and officers shall assume office immediately following the elections. 

 
With the exception of the initial year of the Board, all officers of the Board shall serve on the 
Board at least one year before becoming eligible for office.  

 
d. VACANCIES. Vacancies in the position of Chair and Vice-Chair regardless of cause, shall be 

filled by majority vote of the remaining members of the Board, and those elected to fill such 
positions shall hold office until the next regularly scheduled election as described in 
subsection c above. 

 
 

IX. THE MEETINGS OF THE BOARD. 
 

a. SPECIAL MEETINGS. Special meetings of the Board may be called at any time at the discretion 
of the Chair and shall be promptly called upon written request of any three members of the 
Board to the Chair. Such meetings shall be held at the location designated by the Chair. 
 

b. NOTICE OF BOARD MEETINGS. Notice of all regular and special Board meetings shall be as 
given to the public in compliance with the applicable statutes of the State of Oregon, and 
notice of special meetings shall be given to each Board member either in writing or by 
telephone at least 24 hours prior to the meeting time. Failure to give such notice shall not of 
itself void any action properly taken by the Board. 

Page 37 of 301



Wilsonville Sister City Advisory Board Bylaws Page 4 

 

 

 
c. QUORUM AND VOTE. Four of the appointed Board members constitutes a quorum and shall 

be required in order to transact business or take official action. A majority of the full Board 
must be present to consider any item on the agenda.  

 
d. ORDER OF BUSINESS. Business at both regular and special meetings of the Board shall be 

conducted according to Roberts Rules of Order Revised. Any Board Member may introduce 
any business not included in the scheduled agenda at the discretion of the presiding officer. 

 
e. RECORD KEEPING. The Staff Liaison shall keep the minutes of all official Board meetings. 

 
f. OPERATING BUDGET. The Staff Liaison shall be responsible for drafting requests for an 

operating budget in conjunction with the Board. The Board shall review the budget and 
recommend changes. The City Council shall have final say on the annual program budget. 

 
 

X. STAFF LIAISON TO THE BOARD.  
 
The Sister Cities Staff Liaison shall serve as the Liaison to the Wilsonville Sister City Board as 
determined by the City Manager or his/her designee.  
 
 
XI. AMENDMENTS. 
 
These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed upon thirty days’ notice at any meeting of the 
Board by a vote of at least two-thirds of all the incumbent Board members. Amendments shall not 
be effective until recommended to the City Council, approved by the City Attorney for conformance to 
City Code and ratified by the Council. 
 

 
Approved and adopted by the Wilsonville City Council on _____DATE_______. 

Page 38 of 301



Date Description Pd by Donation Food/ 
Meals Supplies Gifts Activity Misc Total by 

Day
SATURDAY (Bus Arrival at Community of Hope Church) 90.86

10/26 Donuts, Drinks, Water Btls Kyoko 18.00 62.86
10/26 Juice, cups Bev Yes 10.00

SATURDAY (Arrival, Welcome Potluck at Stein-Boozier Barn): 742.03
10/26 Gift Bag Content (Oregon items) Travel OR Yes 189.24
10/26 Gift Bag & Contents Sue 42.04
10/26 Fun Center Passes Bulwinkles Yes 125.00
10/26 Gift Bag Contents City 250.00
10/26 Barn Rental City 0.00
10/XX Tablecloths, Centerpieces, Cutlery Bev 135.75

MONDAY (Breakfast with Mayor, Comm. Ctr., Fred Meyer Shopping, Pacific Hazelnuts, Frog Pond Farm): 716.00
10/28 Jimmy John Lunch Ashleigh 147.00
10/28 Light Breakfast with Mayor City 205.00
10/28 Welcome Flags City 50.00
10/28 Gift for Mayor Endo City 50.00
10/29 Frog Pond Fee Bev 264.00

TUESDAY (Mult Falls, Fish Hatchery, The Dalles Discovery Ctr.): 262.49
10/29 McDonald's for lunch Bob 147.51
10/29 The Dalles Discovery Ctr Adm Bob 87.00
10/29 Quarters for feeding fish Bob Yes 3.00
10/24 Snacks Bev 24.98

WEDNESDAY (Boeckman Primary / Wilsonville High, City Tour, CREST Env. Ctr.): 277.25
10/30 Wilsonville Hight School Lunch WHS Yes 86.25

THURSDAY (Scanvenger Hunt, Library, Lowrie Primary, Bowling):
10/31 Wilsonville Lanes Bowling Lois 168.00
10/31 Halloween Accessories Lois 23.00

FRIDAY (Newport: Hatfield Marine Sc. Ctr., Waterfront, Tsunami debri, Beach): 208.34
10/2 Newport Parks and Rec Mtg Rm Cathy 28.50
11/1 Hatfield Visitor Ctr Donation for Adm Cathy 51.00

10/26 Candy / Snacks Bob 23.97
10/31 Pop for lunch Bob 13.95
10/XX Lunch (Wraps from Costco, etc.) Cathy 90.92

SUNDAY (Farewell Dinner at Community Center): 2,076.57
11/3 BBQ Dinner Catered City 1,799.10
11/3 Community Center Rental City 0.00

10/XX Farewell Gifts / Tablecloths Bev 15.99 176.89
11/2 Slide Show Supplies Stephen Yes 75.00

10/31 Calendar Cathy 9.59
OVERALL (No Particular Day): 3,465.68

- Blue Star Bus Kitakata Yes 3,415.68
- City Representative Expenses City 50.00

GROSS TOTALS 2,609.68 161.74 842.76 593.00 3,569.18 7,839.22
Total Donation Value 89.25 10.00 314.24 0.00 3,490.68 3,904.17
Total Expenses Paid 2,520.43 151.74 528.52 593.00 78.50 3,872.19

2019 Kitakata Student Delegation Expenses

Page 39 of 301



Date Description Donation Food/ 
Meals Supplies Gifts Activity Misc Total by Day

SATURDAY (Bus Arrival at Community of Hope Church) 90.86
10/26 Donuts, Drinks, Water Btls 18.00 62.86
10/26 Juice, cups Yes 10.00

SATURDAY (Arrival, Welcome Potluck at Stein-Boozier Barn): 742.03
10/26 Gift Bag Content (Oregon items) Yes 189.24
10/26 Gift Bag & Contents 42.04
10/26 Fun Center Passes Yes 125.00
10/26 Gift Bag Contents 250.00
10/26 Barn Rental 0.00
10/XX Tablecloths, Centerpieces, Cutlery 135.75

Catered Dinner vs. pot luck dinner 2,000.00
SUNDAY (organized trip to the movies/fun center/etc)

Movies 500.00 500.00
MONDAY (Breakfast with Mayor, Comm. Ctr., Fred Meyer Shopping, Pacific Hazelnuts, Frog Pond Farm): 716.00

10/28 Jimmy John Lunch 147.00
10/28 Light Breakfast with Mayor 205.00
10/28 Welcome Flags 50.00
10/28 Gift for Mayor Endo 50.00
10/29 Frog Pond Fee 264.00

TUESDAY (Mult Falls, Fish Hatchery, The Dalles Discovery Ctr.): 414.98
10/29 Provide lunch other than McDonalds 300.00
10/29 The Dalles Discovery Ctr Adm 87.00
10/29 Quarters for feeding fish Yes 3.00
10/24 Snacks 24.98

WEDNESDAY (Boeckman Primary / Wilsonville High, City Tour, CREST Env. Ctr.): 277.25
10/30 Wilsonville Hight School Lunch Yes 86.25

THURSDAY (Scanvenger Hunt, Library, Lowrie Primary, Bowling):
10/31 Wilsonville Lanes Bowling 168.00
10/31 Halloween Accessories 23.00

FRIDAY (Newport: Hatfield Marine Sc. Ctr., Waterfront, Tsunami debri, Beach): 208.34
10/2 Newport Parks and Rec Mtg Rm 28.50
11/1 Hatfield Visitor Ctr Donation for Adm 51.00

10/26 Candy / Snacks 23.97
10/31 Pop for lunch 13.95
10/XX Lunch (Wraps from Costco, etc.) 90.92

SUNDAY (Farewell Dinner at Community Center): 2,076.57
11/3 BBQ Dinner Catered 1,799.10
11/3 Community Center Rental 0.00

10/XX Farewell Gifts / Tablecloths 15.99 176.89
11/2 Slide Show Supplies Yes 75.00

10/31 Calendar 9.59
OVERALL (No Particular Day): 3,465.68

- Blue Star Bus (cover this cost) Yes 3,415.68
- City Representative Expenses 50.00

GROSS TOTALS 4,762.17 161.74 842.76 1,093.00 3,569.18 10,428.85

FUTURE ANTICIPATED COSTS

Page 40 of 301



All dates and times are tentative; check the City’s online calendar for schedule changes at www.ci.wilsonville.or.us. 

CITY COUNCIL ROLLING SCHEDULE PAGE 1 
N:\City Recorder\Rolling\Rolling Schedule.docx 

CITY COUNCIL ROLLING SCHEDULE  
Board and Commission Meetings 2019 

Items known as of 12/12/19 

December 
DATE DAY TIME EVENT LOCATION 
12/23 Monday 6:30 p.m. DRB Panel B - Cancelled Council Chambers 

January 
DATE DAY TIME EVENT LOCATION 

1/6 Monday 7:00 p.m. City Council Meeting Council Chambers 

1/8 Wednesday 6:00 p.m. Planning Commission Council Chambers 
1/13 Monday 6:30 p.m. DRB Panel A Council Chambers 

1/22 Wednesday 6:30 p.m. Library Board Library 

1/23 Thursday 7:00 p.m. City Council Meeting Council Chambers 
1/27 Monday 6:30 p.m. DRB Panel B Council Chambers 

February 
DATE DAY TIME EVENT LOCATION 

2/3 Monday 7:00 p.m. City Council Meeting Council Chambers 
2/10 Monday 6:30 p.m. DRB Panel A Council Chambers 

2/12 Wednesday 6:00 p.m. Planning Commission Council Chambers 

2/20 Thursday 7:00 p.m. City Council Meeting Council Chambers 
2/24 Monday 6:30 p.m. DRB Panel B Council Chambers 

2/26 Wednesday 6:30 p.m. Library Board Library 

Community Events: 

12/19 Information Session: Community Enhancement 2020 Project Cycle at the Library, 5:30 pm – 7:30 pm 

12/24 Library closes at 2:00 p.m. in observance of Christmas Eve. 

12/25 City Offices closed in observance of Christmas. 

1/1 City Offices closed in observance of New Year’s Day. 

1/3 First Friday Films at the Library, 6:00 pm – 8:00 p.m. 

1/20 City Offices closed in observance of Martin Luther King Jr. Day. 

1/28 History Pub at McMenamin’s Old Church, 6:30 p.m. – 8:00 p.m. 

2/7 First Friday Films at the Library, 6:00 pm – 8:00 p.m. 

2/17 City Offices closed in observance of Presidents’ Day. 

2/25 History Pub at McMenamin’s Old Church, 6:30 p.m. – 8:00 p.m. 

Page 41 of 301

file://cityhall/cityhall/City%20Recorder/Rolling/www.ci.wilsonville.or.us
file://cityhall/cityhall/City%20Recorder/Rolling/www.ci.wilsonville.or.us


Resolution No. 2778 Staff Report Page 1 of 4 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: December 16, 2019 Subject: Resolution No. 2778 
National Research Center – National Citizen Survey 
Subscription 2020 and 2022  

Staff Member: Zoe Monahan, Assistant to the City 
Manager 

Department: Administration 

Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 
Recommendation  

☒ Motion ☐ Approval
☐ Public Hearing Date: ☐ Denial
☐ Ordinance 1st Reading Date: ☐ None Forwarded
☐ Ordinance 2nd Reading Date: ☒ Not Applicable
☒ Resolution Comments: N/A 
☐ Information or Direction
☐ Information Only
☐ Council Direction
☒ Consent Agenda
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends that Council adopt the Consent Agenda. 

Recommended Language for Motion: I move to approve the Consent Agenda. 

Project / Issue Relates To: Biennial Citizen Survey
☒Council Goals/Priorities
A.6.e Engage the community
on important issues

☐Adopted Master Plan(s) ☐Not Applicable

ISSUE BEFORE COUNCIL:  
Authorize the sole source selection of the National Research Center to conduct the 2020 and 2022 
National Citizen Survey (NCS). 

Page 42 of 301



Resolution No. 2778 Staff Report       Page 2 of 4 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   
The City of Wilsonville has used the National Research Center (NRC) to conduct a biennial citizen 
survey since 2012. The City may sole-source procurements without competition when it is 
determined that one of four (4) criteria outlined in ORS 279B.075 are met based on written 
findings. It this case three (3) of the criteria are met; 
 

(2)(a) That the efficient utilization of existing goods requires acquiring compatible good or 
services. 
 
Finding: As described in further detail below, the National Citizen Survey provides us with 
a unique opportunity to consistently administer the survey and ask the same questions every 
other year. The NRC will compare our collected data to years past, since the data is 
compatible, allowing us to track our progress on important issues to the community.   

 
 (2)(c) That the good or services are for use in a pilot or an experimental project. 
  

Finding: The NRC gathers information about citizen’s perceptions about government 
service delivery as well as quality of life. They produce a consistent biennial survey with 
the ability to conduct empirical analysis. 

 
(2)(d) Other findings that support the conclusion that the goods or services are available 
from only one source. 
 
Finding: The NRC is the only company that works with the ICMA to survey local 
jurisdictions throughout the country and NRC has historically been the only company to 
provide this service to the City 
 

The NCS is a collaboration between NRC and the International City Managers Association 
(ICMA). Conducting a regular citizen survey is a best practice according to the ICMA. The 
National Citizens Survey provides us with important benchmarking opportunities to compare our 
progress against ourselves or to compare to other cities around the country. The NRC’s database 
includes results from about 600 communities nationwide.  The database is unique due to its size 
and the types of questions asked. The NRC gathers information about citizen’s perceptions about 
government service delivery as well as quality of life. They produce a consistent biennial survey 
with the ability to conduct empirical analysis. 
 
The NRC provides us with a unique opportunity to consistently administer the survey and ask the 
same questions every other year. The NRC will compare our collected data to years past, since the 
data is compatible, allowing us to track our progress on important issues to the community.  The 
NCS results are delivered in three reports, including; trends over time, community livability report, 
and an open - ended question report. In 2018, the open – ended question asked citizens what they 
thought the biggest issue facing the city was at the time. We plan to ask the same question to see 
if this is the same or if it has changed. The appendices are also providing with all survey response.  
 

Page 43 of 301



Resolution No. 2778 Staff Report       Page 3 of 4 

Staff plans to administer the 2020 NCS in the spring (April or May) consistent with our previous 
survey. There is not necessarily a best time to do a survey but the NRC recommends consistent 
timing. The survey will be mailed to 1,700 randomly selected Wilsonville residents. Residents can 
respond by completing the survey online or filling it out and mailing it back to the NRC.  Before 
the survey is sent a post card will be sent to the selected households informing them that a survey 
will be arriving soon. The survey is sent to the household twice. Generally, the NRC will receive 
about 300-400 responses from the 1,500 sent which translates to a margin of error of +/- 5. The 
NRC also provides an online opt-in survey option as well.  
 
Finally, the NRC is currently offering a discounted rate (2019 pricing) if we move forward with a 
NCS subscription agreement for three years (two surveys in 2020 and 2022). The current rate, for 
2019, is $15,690 for the basic survey package and $2,135 for an open-ended survey. Each survey, 
in 2020 and 2022 would cost the City $17,825 per survey and total $35,650 for both surveys. 
 
EXPECTED RESULTS:  
Selecting the NRC to conduct our 2020 and 2022 citizen survey will allow the City to benchmark 
the results of the survey and allow staff to track the City’s progress year over year. This is possible 
since the City continues to use the National Citizen Survey to ensure that the surveys are consistent 
and compatible. 
 
TIMELINE:  
City Council to approve the sole source selection of the National Research Center on December 
16, 2019. The sole source notice will be posted after Resolution 2887 is approved and before the 
subscription, agreement is signed. Finalize the National Citizen Survey subscription administered 
by the National Research Center by December 31, 2019 to secure the 2019 rate.   
 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS:  
The administration department planned for the Citizen Survey during the FY2019/2020 budget 
cycle and funds are available. The administration department will budget $17,825 during the FY 
21/22 budget cycle.  
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: CAR Date: 12/11/2019 
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: BAJ Date: 12/10/2019 
 
Sole source contracts are to be awarded judiciously under public contracting laws. In this case, 
based on research, staff is representing that there are no other viable options for a variety of 
reasons, as listed in the staff report above. 
 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS:   
The community survey will be sent out to 1,700 homes in Wilsonville with an option for citizens 
to opt-in to an online version of the survey.  
  

Page 44 of 301



Resolution No. 2778 Staff Report       Page 4 of 4 

 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OR BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY:   
Conducting this survey every two years allows City staff to track resident attitudes as they change 
over time, and to compare responses to data collected in more than 600 cities where similar surveys 
are administered. This process allows the City to see where improvement is needed and how 
investment of City resources affects resident attitudes. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
The City could choose not to conduct a citizen survey in 2020 or decide not to commit to two 
future surveys.  
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT:   
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

A. Resolution No. 2778 
 
 

Page 45 of 301



ATTACHMENT A 

RESOLUTION NO. 2778 Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 2778 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE AUTHORIZING THE SOLE 
SOURCE SELECTION OF THE NATIONAL RESEARCH CENTER FOR THE 2020 and 
2022 NATIONAL CITIZEN SURVEY. 
 

WHEREAS, the National Research Center (NRC), in partnership with the International 

City Managers Association (ICMA), created the National Citizen Survey to benchmark about 600 

cities around the country and have a comparable and standard approach to their survey; and 

WHEREAS, the it is a best practice to conduct a regular citizen survey and benchmark progress 

over time; and 

WHEREAS, the City has used the National Citizens Survey since 2012 to conduct a 

biennial citizen survey, most recently in 2018, to produce a consistent survey with the ability to 

conduct empirical analysis; and 

WHEREAS, The City may sole-source procurements without competition when it is 

determined that one of four (4) criteria outlined in ORS 279B.075 are met based on written 

findings; and 

WHEREAS, the City finds that ORS 279B.075(2)(a), “That the efficient utilization of 

existing goods requires acquiring compatible good or services,” is met. The National Citizen 

Survey provides the City with a unique opportunity to consistently administer the survey and ask 

the same questions every other year. The NRC will compare our collected data to years past, since 

the data is compatible, allowing us to track our progress on important issues to the community; 

and   

WHEREAS, the City finds that ORS 279B.075(2)(c), “That the good or services are for 

use in a pilot or an experimental project,” is met. The NRC gathers information about citizen’s 

perceptions about government service delivery as well as quality of life. They produce a consistent 

biennial survey with the ability to conduct empirical analysis, and 

WHEREAS, the City finds that ORS 279B.075(2)(d), “Other findings that support the 

conclusion that the goods or services are available from only one source,” is met.  NRC is the only 

company that works with the ICMA to survey local jurisdictions throughout the country and NRC 

has historically been the only company to provide this service to the City; and 

WHEREAS, the total projected contract cost to perform surveys in 2020 and 2022 is 

$35,650. 

Page 46 of 301



ATTACHMENT A 

RESOLUTION NO. 2778 Page 2 of 2 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

1. Findings. The City Council incorporates and adopts the above recitals and the staff report 

accompanying this Resolution as if fully set forth. 

2. The City Council approves the sole source selection of the National Research Center the 

2020 and 2022 citizen surveys, subject to the seven-day waiting period before executing 

the contract as required by the City’s Purchasing Procedures Manual. 

3. This resolution becomes effective upon adoption. 

 

ADOPTED by the Wilsonville City Council at a regular meeting thereof this 16th day of 

December 2019, and filed with the Wilsonville City Recorder this date.  

 

 

 _______________________________ 
 TIM KNAPP, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES: 
Mayor Knapp  
Council President Akervall  
Councilor Lehan  
Councilor West  
Councilor Linville  
 

  

Page 47 of 301



Resolution No. 2781 Staff Report Page 1 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\5. Res. No. 2781\a. Resolution No. 2781 Staff Report.docx 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: December 16, 2019 Subject: Resolution No. 2781 
Street Sweeping Contract with Green Sweep Asphalt 
Services, LLC. 

Staff Member: Martin Montalvo, Operations 
Manager 

Department: Public Works 
Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 

Recommendation  
☒ Motion ☐ Approval
☐ Public Hearing Date: ☐ Denial
☐ Ordinance 1st Reading Date: ☐ None Forwarded
☐ Ordinance 2nd Reading Date: ☒ Not Applicable
☒ Resolution Comments: N/A 
☐ Information or Direction
☐ Information Only
☐ Council Direction
☒ Consent Agenda
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends that Council adopt the Consent Agenda. 
Recommended Language for Motion: I move to approve the Consent Agenda. 
Project / Issue Relates To: 
☒Council Goals/Priorities:
• Stewardship of the Environment

and Natural Resources.
• Safe, Livable, and Engaged

Community.
• Expand and Maintain High

Quality Infrastructure.

☐Adopted Master Plan(s): ☐Not Applicable

ISSUE BEFORE COUNCIL: 
To approve or deny the bid process, accepting the preferred bidder and awarding a service contract 
to Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC. 

Page 48 of 301



Resolution No. 2781 Staff Report       Page 2 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\5. Res. No. 2781\a. Resolution No. 2781 Staff Report.docx 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
Street Sweeping is needed to keep our street and lot surfaces clean, and reduce debris and litter 
from entering the area’s streams and rivers. Street sweeping is a key Best Management Practice 
used in the operation and maintenance of the City’s stormwater system.  Sweeping ensures proper 
flow of rainwater into the stormwater system and maintains the structural integrity of the street 
and lot surfaces. 
 
This service contract provides for monthly sweeping of all city streets, twice a month sweeping of 
main bike lanes, quarterly sweeping and detailed cleaning of city lots, as well as special sweeping 
for various activities such as additional leaf removal, emergency spill response, accident debris 
removal, and adverse weather conditions. 
 
This contract is a three-year contract, which includes an option to extend the contract for two (2) 
additional one (1) year periods for street sweeping services. The contract also contains early 
termination rights for the City. The contract also allows for the City to find its own alternative 
disposal location, which could significantly reduce the annual contract amount.  
 
Provisions in the contract require the rates to be held constant for the initial three years. At the 
beginning of the fourth year and in the beginning of the fifth year, contract rates may be escalated 
based on West Coast Consumer Price Index-Urban (CPI-U) for all items, not seasonally adjusted 
for the 12-month period ending in June. 
 
On October 18, 2019, an invitation to bid to provide street sweeping services was advertised in 
The Daily Journal of Commerce. On November 15, 2019, the City received one sealed bid 
package. That package was scored for acceptance and was found to have met the requirements of 
the Request for Proposals. 
 
EXPECTED RESULTS:  
This contract will assist the City in removing harmful pollutants from roadways and assist in 
maintaining compliance with the City’s National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) and the Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) permits. 
 
TIMELINE:  
N/A 
 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS: 
The not-to-exceed contract price for street sweeping services for the 2020 calendar year is 
$380,496.00 and, being that this is a time and materials contract, the contractor will only be paid 
for the actual services provided.  The amount may also be lowered if the City is able to find an 
alternative disposal location. 
 
There is $153,000.00 budgeted for these services in the FY 2019/2020 budget, of which only 
$37,384.00 has been expended to date. The stormwater contingency fund has ample reserves to 
accommodate the additional expenditure and a subsequent budget amendment may be requested 
at a later date. 

Page 49 of 301



Resolution No. 2781 Staff Report       Page 3 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\5. Res. No. 2781\a. Resolution No. 2781 Staff Report.docx 

 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENT: 
Reviewed by: CAR Date:  12/11/2019 
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: BAJ Date:  12/11/2019 
 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS: 
This contract was publicly advertised and competitively bid in accordance with the provisions of 
Oregon Revised Statutes, Chapter 279, Public Bids and Contracting; Wilsonville Code 2.3.14, 
Contracts with the City; and the Attorney General’s Model Rules, which the City has adopted as 
its contracting rules. 
 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OR BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY: 
This contract will help protect the quality of the environment by removing pollutants from the 
roadways prior to entering the waterways, in compliance with the City’s National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) and the Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) 
permits. It will also help assure the safety of the roadways for the commuting public and protect 
the City’s infrastructure from long-term impairment. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
N/A 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT:   
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 A. Resolution No. 2781 

1. Street Sweeping Goods and Services Contract 

 

Page 50 of 301



ATTACHMENT A 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2781  Page 1 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\5. Res. No. 2781\b. Resolution No. 2781 .docx 

RESOLUTION NO. 2781 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE, ACTING IN ITS 
CAPACITY AS THE LOCAL CONTRACT REVIEW BOARD, APPROVING THE BID 
PROCESS; ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL WHICH WILL BEST SERVE THE 
INTEREST OF THE CITY; AND AWARDING A CONTRACT TO GREEN SWEEP 
ASPHALT SERVICE, LLC FOR THE PROJECT KNOWN AS STREET SWEEPING 
SERVICES. 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Wilsonville needs street sweeping services provided by a 

contractor with particular training, ability, knowledge, and experience; and 

WHEREAS, public contracts for such services must comply with Oregon competitive bid 

laws in accordance with Oregon Revised Statutes, Chapter 279, Public Bids and Contracting; 

Wilsonville Code 2.3.14, Contracts with the City; and the Attorney General’s Model Rules, which 

the City has adopted as its contracting rules; and the Wilsonville City Council serves as the City’s 

Contract Review Board; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Wilsonville went through such a competitive process for street 

sweeping services; and 

WHEREAS, an invitation to bid for Street Sweeping Services was advertised on 

October 18, 2019 in the Daily Journal of Commerce; and 

WHEREAS, one proposal was submitted for consideration on November 15, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, the proposal met the requirements established in the Request for Proposals 

and was scored for acceptance; and 

WHEREAS, in the public interest, the City Council, acting as the Local Contract Review 

Board, has determined that Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC is qualified and capable of 

performing the services as required, under the terms and conditions set forth; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s FY 2019/2020 budget includes $153,000.00 appropriated for street 

sweeping services: 

  

Page 51 of 301



ATTACHMENT A 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2781  Page 2 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\5. Res. No. 2781\b. Resolution No. 2781 .docx 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Council, acting as the Local Contract Review Board, finds and concludes: 

a. The recitals of findings above are incorporated by reference herein; and 

b. The proposal by Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC of $380,596.00 is 

deemed the preferred responsible/responsive bid and is in the best interest of the 

City. 

2. In accordance with the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes, Chapter 279, Public 

Bids and Contracting; Wilsonville Code 2.3.14, Contracts with the City; and the 

Attorney General’s Model Rules, which the City has adopted as its contracting 

rules; the City Council, acting as the Contract Review Board, hereby awards the 

contract for street sweeping services to Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC in an 

amount of $153,000.00 and authorizes expenditure of an additional $227,596.00 as 

service contingency. The stormwater contingency fund has ample reserves to 

accommodate the additional expenditure and a subsequent budget amendment will 

be requested at a later date.  

3. The Public Works Director is authorized to approve extra services to this contract 

as required; provided, however, the total cost does not exceed the approved budget 

for street sweeping services. 

4. This Resolution is effective upon adoption. 

 

 ADOPTED by the Wilsonville City Council at a regular meeting thereof this 16th day of 

December 2019, and filed with the Wilsonville City Recorder this date. 

 

       _________________________________ 

       TIM KNAPP, MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________ 

Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 

 

Page 52 of 301



ATTACHMENT A 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2781  Page 3 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\5. Res. No. 2781\b. Resolution No. 2781 .docx 

SUMMARY OF VOTES: 

Mayor Knapp    

Council President Akervall  

Councilor Lehan   

Councilor West   

Councilor Linville   

 

EXHIBIT: 

1. Street Sweeping Goods and Services Contract 

Page 53 of 301



 
Goods and Services Contract – Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC (Street Sweeping Services Project) Page 1 

CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
GOODS AND SERVICES CONTRACT 

 
EXH A – Scope 
This Goods and Services Contract (“Contract”) for the Street Sweeping Services Project 
(“Project”) is made and entered into on this _____ day of January 2020 (“Effective Date”) by 
and between the City of Wilsonville, a municipal corporation of the State of Oregon (hereinafter 
referred to as the “City”), and Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC, an Oregon limited liability 
company (hereinafter referred to as “Contractor”). 
 

RECITALS 
 
WHEREAS, the City requires services which Contractor is capable of providing, under terms 
and conditions hereinafter described; and 
 
WHEREAS, Contractor represents that Contractor is qualified to perform the services described 
herein on the basis of specialized experience and technical expertise; and 
 
WHEREAS, Contractor is prepared to provide such services, as the City does hereinafter require. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual promises and the terms and conditions 
set forth herein, the parties agree as follows: 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
Section 1.  Scope of Work 
 
Contractor will perform the street sweeping services, as more particularly described in the Scope 
of Work for the Project, attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated by reference herein (the 
“Work”). 
 
Section 2.  Term 
 

2.1. The term of this Contract shall be from the Effective Date through and including 
December 31, 2023, unless earlier terminated in accordance with Subsection 4.2 and Section 11 
below.  The City may also extend the Contract as provided in Subsection 2.2 below.  Contractor 
shall diligently perform the Work according to the requirements identified in the Scope of Work. 
 

2.2. The City has the option to renew this Contract for up to two (2) additional one (1) 
year periods by written amendment to this Contract. 
 
Section 3.  Contract Sum/Project Scope 
 

3.1. Except as otherwise set forth in this Section 3, and as provided in Exhibit B, the 
City agrees to pay Contractor a not to exceed annual unit price of THREE HUNDRED EIGHTY 
THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED NINETY-SIX DOLLARS ($380,596) for performance of the 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 54 of 301



 
Goods and Services Contract – Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC (Street Sweeping Services Project) Page 2 

Work (“Contract Sum”) in accordance with Exhibit B – Fee Compensation attached hereto and 
incorporated herein.  Any compensation in excess of the Contract Sum will require an express 
written Additional Services Request Order (Exhibit C attached hereto) between the City and 
Contractor. 
 

3.2. Contractor’s Contract Sum is all inclusive and includes, but is not limited to, all 
work-related costs, expenses, salaries or wages, plus fringe benefits and contributions, including 
payroll taxes, workers compensation insurance, liability insurance, profit, pension benefits, and 
all other contributions and benefits, office expenses, travel expenses, mileage, and all other 
indirect and overhead charges. 
 

3.3. Contractor will be paid for Work upon completion of the Work and within thirty 
(30) days of receipt of an itemized invoice, unless the City disputes such invoice.  In that instance, 
the undisputed portion of the invoice will be paid by the City within the above timeframe.  The 
City will set forth its reasons for the disputed claim amount and make good faith efforts to resolve 
the invoice dispute with Contractor as promptly as is reasonably possible. 
 

3.4. Contractor shall complete and return to the City Exhibit D – Taxpayer 
Identification Number prior to or along with the first invoice submitted. 
 
Section 4.  City’s Rights and Responsibilities 
 

4.1. The City will designate a Project Manager to facilitate day-to-day communication 
between Contractor and the City, including timely receipt and processing of invoices, requests 
for information, and general coordination of City staff to support the Project. 
 

4.2. Award of this Contract is subject to budget appropriation.  Funds are approved for 
Fiscal Year 2019-20.  If not completed within this fiscal year, funds may not be appropriated for 
the next fiscal year.  The City also reserves the right to terminate this Contract early, as described 
in Section 11. 
 
Section 5.  Project Managers 
 
The City’s Project Manager is Martin Montalvo.  Contractor’s Project Manager is Brandon J. 
Akerill, Sr. 
 
Section 6.  Subcontractors and Assignments 
 
Contractor shall not subcontract with others for any of the Services prescribed herein.  Contractor 
shall not assign any of Contractor’s rights acquired hereunder without obtaining prior written 
approval from the City, which approval may be granted or denied in the City’s sole discretion. 
 
Section 7.  Contractor Is Independent Contractor 
 
Except as otherwise mandated by state law, the performance of Work under this Contract is at 
Contractor’s sole risk.  All damages or loss to Work, equipment, or materials incurred during the 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 55 of 301



 
Goods and Services Contract – Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC (Street Sweeping Services Project) Page 3 

performance of the Work shall be at Contractor’s sole risk.  Contractor is an independent 
contractor for all purposes and shall be entitled to no compensation other than the Contract Sum 
provided for under Section 3 of this Contract.  Contractor will be solely responsible for 
determining the manner and means of accomplishing the end result of Contractor’s Work.  The 
City does not have the right to control or interfere with the manner or method of accomplishing 
said Work.  The City, however, will have the right to specify and control the results of 
Contractor’s Work so such Work meets the requirements of the Project.  Contractor hereby 
represents that no subcontractors will be used on the Project. 
 
Section 8.  Contractor Responsibilities 
 

8.1. Contractor must comply with all applicable Oregon and federal wage and hour 
laws.  Contractor shall make all required workers compensation and medical care payments on 
time.  Contractor shall be fully responsible for payment of all employee withholdings required 
by law, including but not limited to taxes, including payroll, income, Social Security (FICA), and 
Medicaid.  Contractor shall also be fully responsible for payment of salaries, benefits, taxes, 
Industrial Accident Fund contributions, and all other charges on account of any employees.  
Contractor shall pay to the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from employees pursuant 
to ORS 316.167. 
 

8.2. Contractor must maintain a City of Wilsonville or Metro business license at all 
times while performing Work under this Contract. 
 

8.3. No person shall be discriminated against by Contractor in the performance of this 
Contract on the basis of sex, gender, race, color, creed, religion, marital status, age, disability, 
sexual orientation, gender identity, or national origin.  Any violation of this provision shall be 
grounds for cancellation, termination, or suspension of the Contract, in whole or in part, by the 
City.  Contractor shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, regulations, executive orders, 
and ordinances applicable to the Contract or to the implementation of the Project.  Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, Contractor expressly agrees to comply with the following 
laws, regulations, and executive orders to the extent they are applicable to the Contract or the 
implementation of the Project:  (a) all applicable requirements of state civil rights and 
rehabilitation statutes, rules, and regulations; (b) Titles VI and VII of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, as amended; (c) Sections 503 and 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended; 
(d) the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, and ORS 659A.142; (e) Executive 
Order 11246, as amended; (f) the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996; 
(g) the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, and the Age Discrimination 
Act of 1975, as amended; (h) the Vietnam Era Veterans’ Readjustment Assistance Act of 1974, 
as amended; (i) all regulations and administrative rules established pursuant to the foregoing 
laws; and (j) all other applicable requirements of federal civil rights and rehabilitation statutes, 
rules, and regulations. 
 

8.4. Contractor shall make payment promptly, as due, to all parties supplying to such 
Contractor labor or material for the prosecution of the Work provided for in the Contract. 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 56 of 301



 
Goods and Services Contract – Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC (Street Sweeping Services Project) Page 4 

8.5. Contractor shall make payment promptly, as due, to any party furnishing medical, 
surgical, hospital, or other needed care and attention, incident to sickness or injury, to the 
employees of Contractor, of all sums which Contractor agreed to pay or collected or deducted 
from the wages of employees pursuant to any law, contract, or agreement for the purpose of 
providing payment for such service. 
 

8.6. With certain exceptions listed below, Contractor shall not require or permit any 
person to work more than ten (10) hours in any one (1) day, or forty (40) hours in any one (1) 
week, except in case of necessity, emergency, or where public policy requires it, and in such 
cases the person shall be paid at least time and a half for: 

 
8.6.1. All overtime in excess of eight (8) hours in any one (1) day or forty 

(40) hours in any one (1) week when the work week is five (5) consecutive days, Monday 
through Friday; or 

 
8.6.2. All overtime in excess of ten (10) hours in any one (1) day or forty 

(40) hours in any one (1) week when the work week is four (4) consecutive days, Monday 
through Friday; and 

 
8.6.3. All work performed on the days specified in ORS 279B.020(1)(b) for 

public contracts. 
 

8.7. Contractor must give notice to employees who work on a public contract, in 
writing, either at the time of hire or before commencement of Work on the Contract, or by posting 
a notice in a location frequented by employees, of the number of hours per day and days per week 
that the employees may be required to work. 
 

8.8. The hourly rate of wage to be paid by any Contractor to employed workers or 
other persons doing or contracting to do all or part of the work contemplated by a public contract 
shall be not less than the applicable wage required by law. 
 

8.9. Contractor, and all employers working under the Contract, are subject employers 
under the Oregon Workers Compensation Law and shall comply with ORS 656.017 unless 
otherwise exempt under ORS 656.126. 
 

8.10. In the performance of this Contract, Contractor shall comply with all applicable 
federal, state, and local laws and regulations, including but not limited to those dealing with the 
prevention of environmental pollution and the preservation of natural resources (and avoidance 
of natural resource damages) in the performance of the Contract, including but not limited to 
ORS 279C.525.  If new or amended statutes, ordinances, or regulations are adopted, or 
Contractor encounters a condition not referred to in its bid document, not caused by Contractor, 
and that was not discoverable by reasonable site inspection, which requires compliance with 
federal, state, or local laws or regulations dealing with the preservation of the environment, both 
the City and Contractor shall have all the rights and obligations set forth in ORS 279C.525. 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 57 of 301



 
Goods and Services Contract – Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC (Street Sweeping Services Project) Page 5 

8.11. Contractor shall be liable for any fine imposed against Contractor, the City or the 
‘Project’ as a result of a violation of any laws or permitting requirements by Contractor or any 
suppliers. 
 
Section 9.  Indemnity 
 

9.1. Indemnification.  Contractor acknowledges responsibility for liability arising out 
of the performance of this Contract, and shall defend, indemnify, and hold the City harmless from 
any and all liability, settlements, loss, costs, and expenses in connection with any action, suit, or 
claim resulting or allegedly resulting from Contractor’s negligent acts, omissions, errors, or 
willful or reckless misconduct pursuant to this Contract, or from Contractor’s failure to perform 
its responsibilities as set forth in this Contract.  The review, approval, or acceptance by the City, 
its Project Manager, or any City employee of documents or other work performed, prepared, or 
submitted by Contractor shall not be considered a negligent act, error, omission, or willful 
misconduct on the part of the City, and none of the foregoing shall relieve Contractor of its 
responsibility to perform in full conformity with the City’s requirements, as set forth in this 
Contract, and to indemnify the City as provided above and to reimburse the City for any and all 
costs and damages suffered by the City as a result of Contractor’s negligent performance of this 
Contract, failure of performance hereunder, violation of state or federal laws, or failure to adhere 
to the standards of performance and care described in Subsection 9.2.  Contractor shall defend 
the City (using legal counsel reasonably acceptable to the City) against any claim that alleges 
negligent acts, omissions, errors, or willful or reckless misconduct by Contractor.  As used herein, 
the term “Contractor” applies to Contractor and its own agents, employees, and suppliers. 
 

9.2. Standard of Care.  In the performance of the Work, Contractor agrees to use at 
least that degree of care and skill exercised under similar circumstances by reputable members 
of Contractor’s profession practicing in the Portland metropolitan area.  Contractor will re-
perform any Work not meeting this standard without additional compensation.  Contractor’s re-
performance of any Work, even if done at the City’s request, shall not be considered as a 
limitation or waiver by the City of any other remedies or claims it may have arising out of 
Contractor’s failure to perform in accordance with the applicable standard of care of this Contract 
and within the prescribed timeframe. 
 
Section 10.  Insurance 
 

10.1. Insurance Requirements.  Contractor must maintain insurance coverage 
acceptable to the City in full force and effect throughout the term of this Contract.  Such insurance 
shall cover all risks arising directly or indirectly out of Contractor’s activities or work hereunder.  
The amount of insurance carried is in no way a limitation on Contractor’s liability hereunder.  
The policy or policies maintained by Contractor shall provide at least the following minimum 
limits and coverages at all times during performance of this Contract: 
 

10.1.1.  Commercial General Liability Insurance.  Contractor shall obtain, at 
Contractor’s expense, and keep in effect during the term of this Contract, comprehensive 
Commercial General Liability Insurance covering Bodily Injury and Property Damage, 
written on an “occurrence” form policy.  This coverage shall include broad form 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 58 of 301



 
Goods and Services Contract – Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC (Street Sweeping Services Project) Page 6 

Contractual Liability insurance for the indemnities provided under this Contract and shall 
be for the following minimum insurance coverage amounts:  The coverage shall be in the 
amount of $2,000,000 for each occurrence and $3,000,000 general aggregate and shall 
include Products-Completed Operations Aggregate in the minimum amount of 
$2,000,000 per occurrence, Fire Damage (any one fire) in the minimum amount of 
$50,000, and Medical Expense (any one person) in the minimum amount of $10,000.  All 
of the foregoing coverages must be carried and maintained at all times during this 
Contract. 

 
10.1.2.  Business Automobile Liability Insurance.  If Contractor will be using a 

motor vehicle in the performance of the Work herein, Contractor shall provide the City a 
certificate indicating that Contractor has business automobile liability coverage for all 
owned, hired, and non-owned vehicles.  The Combined Single Limit per occurrence shall 
not be less than $2,000,000. 

 
10.1.3.  Pollution Liability Coverage.  Contractor shall carry sudden and 

accidental and gradual release pollution liability coverage that will cover, among other 
things, any spillage of paints, fuels, oils, lubricants, de-icing, anti-freeze or other 
hazardous materials, or disturbance of any hazardous materials, as that term is defined 
under Oregon law, during the performance of this Contract.  Contractor will be fully 
responsible for the cost of any clean-up of any released materials or disturbance, in 
accordance with Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (“DEQ”) and Federal 
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) clean-up requirements.  The coverage shall 
be in the amount of $2,000,000 for each occurrence and $2,000,000 general aggregate. 

 
10.1.4.  Workers Compensation Insurance.  Contractor and all employers 

providing work, labor, or materials under this Contract that are subject employers under 
the Oregon Workers Compensation Law shall comply with ORS 656.017, which requires 
them to provide workers compensation coverage that satisfies Oregon law for all their 
subject workers under ORS 656.126.  Out-of-state employers must provide Oregon 
workers compensation coverage for their workers who work at a single location within 
Oregon for more than thirty (30) days in a calendar year.  Contractors who perform work 
without the assistance or labor of any employee need not obtain such coverage.  This shall 
include Employer’s Liability Insurance with coverage limits of not less than $500,000 
each accident. 

 
10.1.5.  Insurance Carrier Rating.  Coverages provided by Contractor must be 

underwritten by an insurance company deemed acceptable by the City, with an AM Best 
Rating of A or better.  The City reserves the right to reject all or any insurance carrier(s) 
with a financial rating that is unacceptable to the City. 

 
10.1.6.  Additional Insured & Termination Endorsements.  Additional Insured 

coverage under Contractor’s Commercial General Liability, Automobile Liability, 
Pollution Liability, and Excess Liability Policies, as applicable, will be provided by 
endorsement.  Additional insured coverage shall be for both ongoing operations via 
ISO Form CG 2010 or its equivalent, and products and completed operations via 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 59 of 301



 
Goods and Services Contract – Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC (Street Sweeping Services Project) Page 7 

ISO Form CG 2037 or its equivalent.  Coverage shall be Primary and Non-Contributory.  
Waiver of Subrogation endorsement via ISO Form CG 2404 or its equivalent shall be 
provided.  The following is included as additional insured:  “The City of Wilsonville, its 
elected and appointed officials, officers, agents, employees, and volunteers.”  An 
endorsement shall also be provided requiring the insurance carrier to give the City at least 
thirty (30) days’ written notification of any termination or major modification of the 
insurance policies required hereunder. 

 
10.1.7.  Certificates of Insurance.  As evidence of the insurance coverage required 

by this Contract, Contractor shall furnish a Certificate of Insurance to the City.  This 
Contract shall not be effective until the required certificates and the Additional Insured 
Endorsements have been received and approved by the City.  Contractor agrees that it 
will not terminate or change its coverage during the term of this Contract without giving 
the City at least thirty (30) days’ prior advance notice and Contractor will obtain an 
endorsement from its insurance carrier, in favor of the City, requiring the carrier to notify 
the City of any termination or change in insurance coverage, as provided above. 

 
10.2. Primary Coverage.  The coverage provided by these policies shall be primary, and 

any other insurance carried by the City is excess.  Contractor shall be responsible for any 
deductible amounts payable under all policies of insurance.  If insurance policies are “Claims 
Made” policies, Contractor will be required to maintain such policies in full force and effect 
throughout any warranty period. 
 
Section 11.  Early Termination; Default 
 

11.1. This Contract may be terminated prior to the expiration of the agreed upon terms: 
 

11.1.1. By mutual written consent of the parties; 
 

11.1.2. By the City, for any reason, and within its sole discretion, effective upon 
delivery of written notice to Contractor by mail or in person; or 

 
11.1.3. By Contractor, effective upon seven (7) days’ prior written notice, in the 

event of substantial failure by the City to perform in accordance with the terms through 
no fault of Contractor, where such default is not cured within the seven (7) day period by 
the City.  Withholding of disputed payment is not a default by the City. 

 
11.2. If the City terminates this Contract in whole or in part, due to default or failure of 

Contractor to perform Work in accordance with the Contract, the City may procure, upon 
reasonable terms and in a reasonable manner, services similar to those so terminated.  In addition 
to any other remedies the City may have, both at law and in equity, for breach of contract, 
Contractor shall be liable for all costs and damages incurred by the City as a result of the default 
by Contractor, including, but not limited to all costs incurred by the City in procuring services 
from others as needed to complete this Contract.  This Contract shall be in full force to the extent 
not terminated by written notice from the City to Contractor.  In the event of a default, the City 
will provide Contractor with written notice of the default and a period of three (3) days to cure 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 60 of 301



 
Goods and Services Contract – Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC (Street Sweeping Services Project) Page 8 

the default.  If Contractor notifies the City that it cannot, in good faith, do so within the three (3) 
day cure period provided, then the City may elect, in its sole discretion, to extend the cure period 
to an agreed upon time period, or the City may elect to terminate this Contract and seek remedies 
for the default, as provided above. 
 

11.3. If the City terminates this Contract for its own convenience not due to any default 
by Contractor, payment of Contractor shall be prorated to, and include the day of, termination 
and shall be in full satisfaction of all claims by Contractor against the City under this Contract. 
 

11.4. Termination under any provision of this Section 11 shall not affect any right, 
obligation, or liability of Contractor or the City that accrued prior to such termination.  Contractor 
shall surrender to the City items of work or portions thereof, for which Contractor has received 
payment or the City has made payment. 
 
Section 12.  Contract Modification; Change Orders 
 
Any modification of the provisions of this Contract shall not be enforceable or binding unless 
reduced to writing and signed by both the City and Contractor. 
 
Section 13.  Notices 
 
Any notice required or permitted under this Contract shall be in writing and shall be given when 
actually delivered in person or forty-eight (48) hours after having been deposited in the United 
States mail as certified or registered mail, addressed to the addresses set forth below, or to such 
other address as one party may indicate by written notice to the other party. 
 

To City:  City of Wilsonville 
    Attn:  Martin Montalvo, Public Works Operations Manager 
    29799 SW Town Center Loop East 
    Wilsonville, OR  97070 

 
To Contractor:  Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC  
   Attn:  Brandon J. Akerill, Sr. 

     12312 NE 99th Street 
     Vancouver, WA  98682  
 
Section 14.  Miscellaneous Provisions 
 

14.1. Integration.  This Contract, including all exhibits attached hereto, contains the 
entire and integrated agreement between the parties and supersedes all prior written or oral 
discussions, representations, or agreements.  In case of conflict among these documents, the 
provisions of this Contract shall control. 
 

14.2. Legal Effect and Assignment.  This Contract shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors, 
and assigns.  This Contract may be enforced by an action at law or in equity. 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 61 of 301



 
Goods and Services Contract – Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC (Street Sweeping Services Project) Page 9 

 
14.3. No Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract, nor delegate the 

performance of any obligations hereunder, unless agreed to in advance and in writing by the City. 
 

14.4. Adherence to Law.  This Contract shall be subject to, and Contractor shall adhere 
to, all applicable federal, state, and local laws (including the Wilsonville Code and Public Works 
Standards), including but not limited to laws, rules, regulations, and policies concerning 
employer and employee relationships, workers compensation, and minimum and prevailing wage 
requirements.  Any certificates, licenses, or permits that Contractor is required by law to obtain 
or maintain in order to perform the Work described in this Contract shall be obtained and 
maintained throughout the term of this Contract. 
 

14.5. Governing Law.  This Contract shall be construed in accordance with and 
governed by the laws of the State of Oregon, regardless of any conflicts of laws.  All contractual 
provisions required by ORS Chapters 279A, 279B, 279C, and related Oregon Administrative 
Rules to be included in public agreements are hereby incorporated by reference and shall become 
a part of this Contract as if fully set forth herein. 
 

14.6. Jurisdiction.  Venue for any dispute will be in Clackamas County Circuit Court. 
 

14.7. Legal Action/Attorney Fees.  If a suit, action, or other proceeding of any nature 
whatsoever (including any proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code) is instituted in 
connection with any controversy arising out of this Contract or to interpret or enforce any rights 
or obligations hereunder, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover attorney, paralegal, 
accountant, and other expert fees and all other fees, costs, and expenses actually incurred and 
reasonably necessary in connection therewith, as determined by the court or body at trial or on 
any appeal or review, in addition to all other amounts provided by law.  If the City is required to 
seek legal assistance to enforce any term of this Contract, such fees shall include all of the above 
fees, whether or not a proceeding is initiated.  Payment of all such fees shall also apply to any 
administrative proceeding, trial, and/or any appeal or petition for review. 
 

14.8. Nonwaiver.  Failure by either party at any time to require performance by the 
other party of any of the provisions of this Contract shall in no way affect the party’s rights 
hereunder to enforce the same, nor shall any waiver by the party of the breach hereof be held to 
be a waiver of any succeeding breach or a waiver of this nonwaiver clause. 
 

14.9. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is found to be void or unenforceable 
to any extent, it is the intent of the parties that the rest of the Contract shall remain in full force 
and effect, to the greatest extent allowed by law. 
 

14.10. Modification.  This Contract may not be modified except by written instrument 
executed by Contractor and the City. 
 

14.11. Time of the Essence.  Time is expressly made of the essence in the performance 
of this Contract. 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 62 of 301



 
Goods and Services Contract – Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC (Street Sweeping Services Project) Page 10 

14.12. Calculation of Time.  Except where the reference is to business days, all periods 
of time referred to herein shall include Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays in the State of 
Oregon, except that if the last day of any period falls on any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday 
observed by the City, the period shall be extended to include the next day which is not a Saturday, 
Sunday, or legal holiday.  Where the reference is to business days, periods of time referred to 
herein shall exclude Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays observed by the City.  Whenever a 
time period is set forth in days in this Contract, the first day from which the designated period of 
time begins to run shall not be included. 
 

14.13. Headings.  Any titles of the sections of this Contract are inserted for convenience 
of reference only and shall be disregarded in construing or interpreting any of its provisions. 
 

14.14. Number, Gender and Captions.  In construing this Contract, it is understood that, 
if the context so requires, the singular pronoun shall be taken to mean and include the plural, the 
masculine, the feminine and the neuter, and that, generally, all grammatical changes shall be 
made, assumed, and implied to individuals and/or corporations and partnerships.  All captions 
and paragraph headings used herein are intended solely for convenience of reference and shall in 
no way limit any of the provisions of this Contract. 
 

14.15. Good Faith and Reasonableness.  The parties intend that the obligations of good 
faith and fair dealing apply to this Contract generally and that no negative inferences be drawn 
by the absence of an explicit obligation to be reasonable in any portion of this Contract.  The 
obligation to be reasonable shall only be negated if arbitrariness is clearly and explicitly permitted 
as to the specific item in question, such as in the case of where this Contract gives the City “sole 
discretion” or the City is allowed to make a decision in its “sole judgment.” 
 

14.16. Other Necessary Acts.  Each party shall execute and deliver to the other all such 
further instruments and documents as may be reasonably necessary to carry out this Contract in 
order to provide and secure to the other parties the full and complete enjoyment of rights and 
privileges hereunder. 
 

14.17. Interpretation.  As a further condition of this Contract, the City and Contractor 
acknowledge that this Contract shall be deemed and construed to have been prepared mutually 
by each party and it shall be expressly agreed that any uncertainty or ambiguity existing therein 
shall not be construed against any party.  In the event that any party shall take an action, whether 
judicial or otherwise, to enforce or interpret any of the terms of the contract, the prevailing party 
shall be entitled to recover from the other party all expenses which it may reasonably incur in 
taking such action, including attorney fees and costs, whether incurred in a court of law or 
otherwise. 
 

14.18. Entire Agreement.  This Contract, all documents attached to this Contract, and all 
Contract Documents and laws and regulations incorporated by reference herein represent the 
entire agreement between the parties. 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 63 of 301



 
Goods and Services Contract – Green Sweep Asphalt Service, LLC (Street Sweeping Services Project) Page 11 

14.19. Counterparts.  This Contract may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 
of which shall constitute an original Contract but all of which together shall constitute one and 
the same instrument. 
 

14.20. Authority.  Each party signing on behalf of Contractor and the City hereby 
warrants actual authority to bind their respective party. 
 
The Contractor and the City hereby agree to all provisions of this Contract. 
 
 
CONTRACTOR:     CITY: 
 
GREEN SWEEP ASPHALT SERVICE, LLC CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
 
 
By:       By:       
 
Print Name:      Print Name:      
 
As Its:       As Its:       
 
Employer I.D. No.     
 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              

Amanda Guile-Hinman, Asst. City Attorney 
       City of Wilsonville, Oregon 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

k:\dir\street maintenance\sweeping 2019-23\doc\gsk street sweeping 2019-23~green sweep (bj^).docx 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 64 of 301



 

EXHIBIT A 
City of Wilsonville 

 
SCOPE OF WORK 

 
 
Contractor shall provide street sweeping and/or street flushing and removal of debris for the City 
of Wilsonville’s streets and lots, as outlined below and on the attached City map: 
 
1.0 Basic Services 

 Sweeping of all City streets (181 lane miles*, including 43 miles of bicycle lanes, 
shown in Exhibit E) on the following schedule: 

o Monthly 
 

 Sweeping of Wilsonville Road and Boeckman Road bicycle  lanes  (total 12  lane 
miles*, show in Exhibit E) on the following schedule: 

o Twice monthly  (once  in  regular monthly  sweep  and one  additional per 
month) 

 

 Sweeping of all City parking lots (listed on Exhibit E) on the following schedule: 
o Quarterly (total area of parking lots is approximately 622,831 square feet*) 

 
2.0 Additional Services (as requested by the City)** 

 Emergency Response 
o Storm clean‐up, which  includes sand clean‐up after snow and  ice events 

and wind storm events 
o Call out response, which includes accident and/or spill clean‐up (must be 

within 45 minutes of request from City) 
 

 Response  to  specific  citizen  requests  received  and  approved  by  the  City  of 
Wilsonville 
 

 Prior to community events 
 

 Special sweeps 
 
 
* Distances and areas are estimates only. Contractor will be paid for the actual services provided. 
 
** All additional  services must be  requested  through  the Additional  Services Request Order, 
attached as Exhibit C, and signed by a designated Public Works representative. 
   

EXHIBIT 1
Page 65 of 301



 

GENERAL AND SPECIAL CONDITIONS 
 
General and Special Conditions are additions to, or revisions of, the City’s standard contract.  In 
the event of a conflict between the Contract Documents and the General and Special 
Conditions, the more stringent requirements shall apply. 
 
1. General Requirements 
 
  1.1  Invoices 
 
Each invoice shall include adequate detail to identify the services provided.  Upon completion of 
each month’s sweeping cycle, the Contractor shall submit a statement to the City showing the 
following information: 
 

 mileage per street 

 curb miles swept 

 non‐curb miles swept 

 miles or feet of special sweeps 

 speed of sweeper 

 gallons of water used 

 cubic yards of debris removed 

 Tac‐o‐graph report showing the speed and miles swept on each sweeper used during 
the billing period 

 Cost associated with the sweeping of the commuter rail station parking lot shall be 
itemized separately 

 
1.2  Quantities 

 
The City does not bind itself to purchase the full quantities stipulated in this Contract as 
estimates.  The quantities shown on Exhibit B are estimates and not exact.  They represent past 
purchasing activity and estimates of future usage.  Payment shall be made only for quantities 
ordered, delivered, and accepted, whether greater or less than the stated amounts. 
 

1.3  Errors 
 
The Contractor shall perform such additional work as may be necessary to correct errors in the 
work required under this Contract, without undue delay and without additional cost to the City. 
 

1.4  Records 
 
The City shall have access to such books, documents, papers, and records of the Contractor as 
are directly pertinent to this Contract for the purpose of making audits, examination, excerpts, 
and transcripts. 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 66 of 301



 

The Contractor shall maintain records to assure conformance with the terms and conditions of 
this Contract, and to assure adequate performance and accurate expenditures within the 
contract period.  The Contractor agrees to permit the City, the State of Oregon, the federal 
government, or their duly authorized representatives to audit all records pertaining to this 
Contract to assure the accurate expenditure of funds. 
 

1.5   Contractor’s Office 
 
The Contractor shall be required to maintain an office, which shall be provided with telephones 
and such personnel as may be necessary to take care of complaints, to receive orders for 
Additional Services, or to receive any other instruction.  Responsible management or 
supervisory persons shall be accessible at or through the office so as to assure the required 
performance under the Agreement.  When the office is closed, a telephone answering service 
shall be in operation to receive messages. 
 
  1.6  Contractor Contact 
 
The Contractor agrees to designate one (1) primary and one (1) backup person who will be the 
responsible contact person for the Contractor with respect to implementation of the 
Agreement and communication of information necessary for the performance of the 
Agreement.  The Contractor shall provide the City with an emergency phone number that shall 
be answered 365 days/year, 24 hours per day.  The City shall have communication to the 
sweeper by cellular phone through the Contractor. 
 
  1.7  Project Safety 
 
The Contractor agrees that, in performing the work contained within this Contract, it will meet 
all regulations in safety as required by OSHA.  The Contractor further agrees that it will bring to 
the attention of the City all conditions on the job site or contained within the specifications 
which appear to be in violation of the provisions of OSHA.  The Contractor further agrees that it 
will include within all subcontracts or contracts for purchase of materials, provisions requiring 
said supplier or subcontractors to meet OSHA standards.  All materials, components, and design 
elements of this Contract will be reviewed, and an affirmative determination made by the 
Contractor that they meet the requirements of OSHA. 
 

1.8  Incidental Costs and Additional Compensation 
 
The Contractor shall be responsible for all miscellaneous and incidental costs associated with 
street sweeping and/or street flushing and removal of debris for the City of Wilsonville’s streets 
and lots.  The Contractor assumes the risk of all conditions, foreseen or unforeseen, and agrees 
to continue to perform the work described in this Contract without additional compensation 
where debris collects on streets caused by excessive rainfall or caused by street sanding during 
or after snowfall.  These corrections shall not give rise to a claim for additional compensation or 
allow substantial variance from the agreed schedule. 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 67 of 301



 

2. Service Requirements 
 
  2.1  Scope of Services 
 
The Contractor shall perform all work and furnish all tools, materials, and equipment in order to 
provide all necessary street sweeping, collection, and disposal services consistent with the 
accepted practices for other similar services, performed to the City’s satisfaction, within the 
time period prescribed by the City and pursuant to the direction of the Public Works Director or 
designee. 
 

2.2  Response Times 
 
In the event of an accident, spill, or emergency, as determined by the City, the Contractor 
agrees to respond to and perform such services 365 days per year, 24 hours per day, within 45 
minutes of receiving telephone notice from the City to proceed.  All sweepers must be road 
legal and able to travel at highway speeds (55 MPH) to assure quick response time. 
 

2.3  Contractor’s Work Schedule 
 
Street sweeping for business and high traffic main arterials will be done between the hours of 
4:00 am to 7:00 pm, and residential streets shall be swept between the hours of 7:00 am and 
7:00 pm. 
 

2.4   Sweeping Schedule 
 
The Contractor shall establish and submit for approval a regular schedule of performance that 
will include sweeping all the streets at a minimum of once per month, in approximately the 
same order so the adjacent residents will be able to prepare their street for sweeping.  If the 
City deems it necessary, the Contractor may be required to sweep a street or streets more 
often than once each month.  Once established, the Contractor shall adhere to the approved 
schedule. 
 
Within ten (10) calendar days of the execution of this Contract, Contractor shall submit for the 
City’s approval a monthly sweeping schedule, together with a planned route outlined on maps 
furnished by the City.  Contractor shall observe any legal holiday, as specified in ORS 279B.020, 
and indicate all schedule modifications if a holiday falls on a regular sweeping day.  Should 
Contractor need to modify the schedule, as submitted, Contractor shall give no less than seven 
(7) calendar days' written notice of any changes to the Public Works Director or designee. 
 

2.5  Records/Logs 
 
The Contractor shall maintain accurate records of the services performed and of the site 
utilized for disposal of the street sweeping debris.  At a minimum, these records shall show 
dates and times of transportation and disposal, amount of disposed debris or material, the 
name and location of the disposal site used, the name of the streets where the services were 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 68 of 301



 

performed, and amount of sweeper hours and sweeper speed while cleaning.  The Contractor 
shall provide the City a written report, giving the information required in the preceding 
sentence, along with the monthly invoice.  It is the Contractor’s responsibility to provide the 
City with all required information stated in this section. 
 

2.6  Employees 
 
All Contractor’s employees and agents who participate in the performance of the services shall 
be safe, competent, and skilled in the performance of such services.  Contractor shall always 
require all employees to be courteous to the public, to perform their work as quietly as 
possible, and to be neat in appearance. 
 
Contractor agrees to provide adequate supervision and number of staff in order to provide the 
services and ensure the continuity of sweeping operations. 
 
Incompetent, careless, or negligent employees or agents shall be promptly discharged or 
removed from performing work on the City’s project by Contractor, upon written request of the 
City.  Failure to comply with such request is sufficient grounds for termination of the Contract. 
 

2.7  Contractor’s Equipment 
 
The equipment required for performance of the Contract shall be street sweepers (Mechanical 
or Regenerative Air) and will have a minimum 3.5 cubic yard holding capacity.  All equipment 
shall be maintained in good working condition and repair and operate at the original 
manufacturer’s specifications (compliant with PM‐10 efficiency and Rule 1186 certified). 
 
Sweeping equipment shall be equipped with the proper warning lights as applies to slow 
moving and/or maintenance vehicles and shall meet all vehicle‐operating requirements of the 
State of Oregon, Motor Vehicles Division. 
 
The primary sweeper shall not be more than three (3) years old and the secondary sweeper 
shall be no more than (5) five years old at the beginning of the Contract.  In addition, the 
secondary sweeper shall not be used more than 10% of the time.  During those times both 
sweepers are cleaning, the 10% does not apply.  The acceptability of Contractor’s street 
sweepers for the City’s needs shall be subject to the approval or disapproval of the Public 
Works Director or designee. 
 
Regenerative Air sweepers shall be used for the stormwater management program and 
Mechanical sweepers (double‐gutter brooms) for rock spills, road sand, windstorms, heavy 
debris, and when necessary to properly clean any public right‐of‐way. 
 
Contractor must possess a roll‐off truck that is not more than ten (10) years old.  The roll‐off 
truck shall have a minimum payload capacity of 12.5 tons. 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 69 of 301



 

All sweeping vehicles will be numbered and shall have Contractor’s name and vehicle number 
painted in letters of contrasting color at least four inches high on each side and on the back of 
each vehicle.  No advertising shall be permitted other than the name of the Contractor. 
 
Sweeping equipment shall be equipped with a speed‐monitoring device.  Contractor shall 
submit with the monthly invoice a Tac‐o‐graph report showing the speed and miles swept on 
each sweeper used for this Contract.  Failure to comply with these requirements shall be just 
cause for termination of the Contract. 
 
All vehicles shall be kept in a clean and sanitary condition, have whisper fans for quieter 
operation, working spray systems for dust control, and high dump sweeper trucks capable of 
dumping directly to a dumpster, leaving no debris on the ground. 
 
The Contractor shall keep a sufficient supply of spare brooms and parts to ensure continuous 
operation.  Worn brushes and brooms shall be replaced and adjusted to ensure maximum 
efficiency.  The determination of when a brush or broom shall be replaced shall be based on the 
effectiveness of all the brushes and brooms. 
 
  2.8  Cleaning Standard 
 
All streets and intersections shall be swept clean, and no piles of debris shall be left anywhere 
within any streets or public rights‐of‐way.  Although regular cleaning is normally along gutter or 
street edge, the entire travel lane, gutter to gutter or pavement edge to pavement edge, will be 
clean when sweeping has been completed.  Water shall be used as required to control dust.  
The Contractor will be responsible for removing sticks, rocks, or other debris left behind the 
sweeper.  The sweeper shall avoid tracking mud during operation.  Correction of these items 
shall be done at no additional cost to the City. 
 
Extra care shall be taken in the loading and transportation of street sweeping debris and other 
waste so that none of the collected material is left either on private property or on the street.  
Cleaning speed will be between 4 and 6 miles per hour.  Any waste left on private property or 
on streets by the Contractor shall immediately be removed upon notice from the Public Works 
Director or designee. 
 
The Contractor shall be responsible for the cleaning of all debris spilled or tracked on any 
street, public place, or private property by any of its equipment.  If the Contractor fails to clean 
debris spilled or tracked within the same day notice is given by Public Works, the Public Works 
Director or designee may cause such streets to be cleaned and charge the costs to the 
Contractor.  The City is authorized to deduct such cost from any payments due to the 
Contractor. 
 
  2.9  Water Use 
 
The City will provide water at hydrants for filling the water spray system on the sweepers, filling 
flusher trucks for sweeping, and for flushing the City‐owned streets and facilities.  The 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 70 of 301



 

Contractor shall use a Chapman Valve when filling water tanks from hydrants.  The Contractor 
shall maintain a water use record and submit this information as part of the monthly billing 
invoice. 
 
  2.10  Inspections 
 
Inspection of streets swept will be performed on a regular basis, as well as spot checks in 
response to citizens’ complaints.  Any deficiencies found will be reported to the Contractor for 
immediate correction. 
 
  2.11  Dust Control, Water, and Air Pollution 
 
During all phases of work, and when directed, the Contractor shall take precautions to abate 
dust nuisances by cleaning up, sweeping, sprinkling with water, or other means as necessary to 
accomplish the suppression of dust. 
 
During the term of the contract, the Contractor’s operations shall conform to applicable laws 
and regulations of the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality, and other agencies of the 
State and Federal Government, as well as local ordinances designed to prevent, control, and 
abate water and air pollution. 
 
  2.12  Debris Removal 
 
The Contractor shall not dump debris on the ground.  The Contractor may provide his/her own 
drop boxes and transport equipment to haul the debris or the Contractor must use the local 
designated City waste disposal franchise to haul debris.  Drop box minimum capacity shall be no 
less than 11.5 cubic yards. 
 
The Contractor shall make prior arrangements with the Public Works Director or designee for 
the placement of all drop boxes to be used for the dumping of street sweeping wastes.  The 
Contractor shall provide reflective cones or other highly visible devices to mark drop boxes at 
their locations.  Debris boxes shall be removed daily. 
 
The Contractor is required to have a back‐up means of handling material in case of primary 
equipment failure. 
 
  2.13  Utilities 
 
The Contractor shall be obligated to protect all public and private utilities from damage while 
performing the services.  The Contractor shall be responsible for any and all restoration or 
replacements costs due to damages resulting from the Contractor’s activities. 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 71 of 301



 

3.  Hazardous Substances 
 
The Contractor recognizes that the debris or material collected by its street sweepers may 
contain dangerous or hazardous materials or wastes.  The Contractor agrees to collect, handle, 
transport, and dispose of the debris or material and perform the services specifically in 
accordance with all applicable local, state, and federal laws, standards, rules, and regulations 
now in effect or hereafter amended or enacted.  This shall include, without limitations, all 
regulations by the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality and the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency. 
 
The Contractor shall be responsible to obtain and pay for any and all permits or licenses 
required by the City or any other local, state, or federal government authority that are 
necessary to perform the services, and provide copies of such to the City.  The Contractor shall 
provide a copy of a current Fire Hydrant Water Permit to the City upon execution of the 
Agreement covering all sweepers engaged in performing the services.  The Contractor shall 
require that all operators of its street sweeping equipment maintain current, valid, appropriate 
commercial class of Oregon Driver’s Licenses. 
 
4.  Disposal 
 
The Contractor shall have an operating screen plant using a one (1) inch or finer screen and 
equipment on impermeable surface with sand‐oil separator for the processing of material prior 
to final disposal.  Best management practices shall be followed as closely and in as practical a 
manner as possible. 
 
Except for leaf, street debris under this Contract will not be used, added, blended, or modified 
in any way to make a product, or as to risk contaminating a product, that will be given, sold, or 
make its way for public use.  For this reason, recycling centers will generally be considered 
unacceptable for the processing of debris. 
 
If debris is unscreened, all unscreened sweeping debris will be disposed of at a DEQ approved 
disposal site or transfer station for solid wastes. 
 
Debris wastes shall be disposed of as dirt fill, after testing to identify any possible 
contamination, and only after plastics, papers, and other trash and solid wastes have been 
removed using a one (1) inch or finer screen system.  Disposal of solid wastes shall be at a DEQ 
approved disposal site or transfer station. 
 
Bulk leaf is listed as suitable feed stock for compost.  In the months of November and 
December, loads that are predominately leaf will be allowed to be disposed of at permitted 
compost‐recycling facilities. 
 
Any exemptions to these specifications must receive written approval from the local DEQ 
and/or permitting authorities and the City. 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 72 of 301



 

Within the first 30 days of this Contract, and as requested by the City during the term of the 
Agreement, the Contractor must provide to the City a detailed description of the following: 
 

 who is managing the process of debris 

 how the debris is being handled 

 where the debris is being disposed 

 description of the equipment used 
 
The waste processing facilities may be subject to inspection as any time during the term of this 
Contract. 
 
5.  Waste Sites 
 
The Contractor shall operate waste storage sites in such a manner as to meet all safety and 
health requirements of state and local agencies.  Site operations or the result of such 
operations which create a nuisance problem or which result in damage to the public and 
private properties shall not be permitted. 
 
The Contractor will be responsible for obtaining the necessary permits for dumping at waste 
sites provided by the Contractor. 
 
The Contractor is responsible for all disposals of sweepings.  Only temporary storage is allowed 
on designated City property and must be removed within 24 hours of completion of work. 
 
The Contractor shall dispose of, at its cost, street sweeping waste to a disposal site approved by 
and in compliance with the disposal requirements of the Oregon Department of Environmental 
Quality and any other federal, state, or local agency or department with jurisdiction.  The 
Contractor shall not temporarily store any street sweeping spoils or waste at any site other 
than a disposal site that has been approved by the Oregon Department of Environmental 
Quality for that specific purpose.  The Contractor shall collect, temporarily store, as needed, 
remove, and dispose of all accumulated debris in an environmentally sound manner.  Removed 
leaves and woody debris shall be disposed of at a compost recycling facility.  Debris includes all 
materials normally picked up by mechanical or vacuum‐type street sweepers, such as, but not 
limited to, sand, salt, glass, paper, cans, leaves, grass, gravel, and any other materials which 
may be found on a paved street and which can be swept into a mechanical, vacuum‐type, or 
regenerative air street sweeper. 
 

   

EXHIBIT 1
Page 73 of 301



 

EXHIBIT B 
City of Wilsonville 

 
FEE COMPENSATION 

 
Having  carefully  examined  the  Contract  titled,  Public  Works  Contract  for  Street  Sweeping 
Services, as well as the site of the project and conditions affecting the work, Contractor agrees 
to furnish all the labor, materials, equipment, superintendence, and insurance, as well as other 
accessories and services, necessary to perform and complete all of the work required by and in 
strict accordance with this Contract and the implied intent thereof, for the following schedule of 
unit prices: 
 
Unit Prices 

Annual Scheduled Sweeping of Streets: 12 sweeps of 181 lane miles 

A. Regenerative Air Sweeper: 
$_125.00_ per hour x 1150 (estimated) hours equals     $_143,750.00__ _ 

Annual Scheduled Sweeping of Bike Lanes: 12 sweeps of 7.5 lane miles 

B. Regenerative Air Sweeper: 
$_125.00_ per hour x 55 (estimated) hours equals       $_    6,875.00__ _ 

Annual Scheduled Sweeping of Parking Lots: 4 sweeps of 622,831 square feet 

C. Regenerative Air Sweeper: 
$_125.00_ per hour x 40 (estimated) hours equals       $_    5,000.00____ 
D. Detail Work of City Parking Lots: 
$_125.00_ per hour x 48 (estimated) hours equals       $_    6,000.00____ 

Miscellaneous Non‐Scheduled Requested Sweeping 

E. Mechanical Sweeper: Mechanical sweepers are meant for occasional rock spills, 
road sand, and other heavy debris.  If the hours of use for a mechanical sweeper is 
zero then write N/A under $ per hour and include an explanation of how this type of 
work would be completed, along with an estimate of costs. 
 
$_165.00_ per hour x 15 (estimated) hours equals       $_    2,475.00____ 
F. Debris Removal: 

_1,440  yards of leaf materials         $    68,400.00____ 
_1182_ ton of nonorganic material         $  148,096.00__  _ 

Debris Removal for all sweeping services        $_216,496.00_  __ 
 
 
Total:   $ 380,596.00           * 

 
* The City and Contractor have agreed that the City may find an alternative means for debris 
removal, which would result in a reduction in the total amount and would be memorialized in 
an amendment to this Contract.   

EXHIBIT 1
Page 74 of 301



 

EXHIBIT C 
City of Wilsonville 

 
ADDITIONAL SERVICES REQUEST ORDER 

 
         

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
Attn: Public Works 
29799 SW Town Center Loop East 
Wilsonville, OR  97070 
 
DATE: ___________________ 
 
TO  [Name]          JOB DESCRIPTION 
  [Company Name]        STREET SWEEPING SERVICES 
  [Street Address] 
  [City, State, Zip] 
  [Phone] 
 
 
[SPECIAL SWEEP DESCRIPTION] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Authorized Signature of Public Works Representative (required) 
 
 
 
   

ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
REQUEST ORDER 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 75 of 301



 

EXHIBIT D 
City of Wilsonville 

 
TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER 

 
In order  for you  to receive payment  from  the City of Wilsonville, you must have either a Tax 
Identification Number or a Social Security Number.  The Internal Revenue Service Code requires 
a Form 1099 for payments to every person or organization other than a corporation for services 
performed  in  the course of  trade or business.   Further,  the  law  requires  the City  to withhold 
twenty percent  (20%) on  reportable  amounts paid  to unincorporated persons who have not 
supplied the City with their correct Tax Identification Number or Social Security Number. 
 
Please complete the following information request form and return it to the City of Wilsonville 
prior to or along with the submittal of the first billing invoice. 
 
Please check the appropriate category: 
 
________ Corporation    ________ Partnership   ________ Government 
 
________ Individual/Proprietor  ________ other (explain)  ________ Consultant 
 
Tax Identification No. _____________________ 
 
‐or‐ 
 
Social Security No. _______________________ 
 
 
Print Name:    _______________________________________ 
 
Title:      _______________________________________ 
 
Business Name:  _______________________________________ 
 
Business Address:  _______________________________________ 
 
Business Phone:  _______________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________      ____________________________________ 
Date              Authorized Signature (required) 
   

EXHIBIT 1
Page 76 of 301



IA

IA

IAIA

IA

IA

IA

IA

IA

IA

!"#$5

Clackamas County
Washington County

W i l l a m e t t e R i v e r

Ta p ma n C r eek

Co rra lC re ek

Me rid
i a

n
C r

e e
k

A r ro w h e a d C reek

Co f f e e L ak e C re ek

Co f fe e La ke C reek

B o eckman
Cr eek

B o eck ma n C reek

BURNS WAY

BOECKMAN RD

CAMELOT ST

5TH ST

LAUSANNE STGR
AH

AM
S F

ER
RY

 RD

SURREY ST

NA
PL

ES
 DR

ARBOR LAKE DR

GRENOBLE ST

ADVANCE RD

NORMANDY LN

PARKVIEW DR

ORLE ANS AVE

MA
GN

OL
IA 

AV
E

SE
RE

N IT
Y

W
AY

CO
ST

A C
IR

W

ZURICH ST

TOW
N

CENTER LOOP W

ST MORITZ LOOP
BARBER ST

TOULOUSE ST

BR
OW

N 
RD

ARMITAGERD

MONTEBELLO DR

MONT BLANC ST

KIN
SM

AN
 R

D

PA
LE

RM
O

S T

PA
RK

 PL

PARKWAY AVE

LISBON ST COURTSIDE DR

RO
SE

 LN

COSTA CIR E

STOCKHOLM DR

FREEMAN DR

HILLMAN CT

NIKE DR

FIR
 AV

E

PARKWOOD LN

COMMERCE CIR

BARCELONA ST

63
RD

 AV
E

BAILEY ST

HAZEL ST

CA
NY

ON
 C

RE
EK

 R
D

BO
ON

ES
 FE

RR
Y R

D

ELLIGSEN RD

COFFEE LAKE DR

WILLAMETTE WAY W

LAKE DR

MEMORIAL DR

PA
RI

S A
VE

W
ILL

AM
ET

TE
WA

Y E

ROGUE LN

RIDDER RD

TOOZE RD

OSLO ST

WI
LS

ON
VIL

LE
 RD

FAIRWAY DR

CLUTTER RD

WAG
NE

R
S T

VLAHOS DR

TO
WN

CE
NT

E R
LO

OP
E

COUNTRY VIEW
LN

WILSON LN

OLD
FARM

RD

CA
NY

ON
 C

RE
EK

 R
D 

S

CAHALIN RD

BERLIN AVE

THORNTON DR

CLAY ST

MONTGOMERY WAY

CA
SC

A D
E

LO
OP

BO
BE

RG
 R

D

GA
RD

EN
 AC

RE
S R

D

ORCHARD DR

ME
AD

O W
S

LO
OP

BOONES BEND RD

PARKWAY CENTER DR

DAY RD

95
TH

 AV
E

FR
ENCH PRAIRIE RD

PW/Police
Community
Center

City Hall

Fleet
SMART/WES

Station

Water
Treatment
Plant

Boones
Ferry Park

Library

Town
Center
Park

Murase Plaza

Memorial Park

0 1½

Mile

Streets - Monthly (181 lane miles)
Bike Lanes - Monthly (42.8 lane miles)
Bike Lanes - Twice Monthly (11.7 lane miles)

IA Swept Parking Lots (622,831 sq. ft.)

D

Created by Andrew Sheehan on: 9/10/2019

Street Sweeping Map 2019
Exhibit E EXHIBIT 1

Page 77 of 301



Resolution No. 2775 Staff Report Page 1 of 7 

CITY COUNCIL  
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: December 16, 2019 Subject: Resolution No. 2775 
Adopting the Findings of the Solid Waste Collection 
Rate Report Amended December 2019, Creating New 
Community Recycling Services and City Street-
Sweeping Collection/Disposal Service and Reducing 
the Temporary Recycling-Surcharge Rate 

Staff Member: Mark Ottenad, Public/Government 
Affairs Director and Amanda Guile-Hinman, Assistant 
City Attorney 

Department: Administration/Legal 
Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 

Recommendation  
☒ Motion ☐ Approval
☐ Public Hearing Date ☐ Denial
☐ Ordinance 1st Reading Date ☐ None Forwarded
☐ Ordinance 2nd Reading Date: ☒ Not Applicable
☒ Resolution Comments: The 2019 rate review “true-up” 

conducted based on the Solid Waste Franchise 
Ordinance No. 814 of 2018 finds opportunity for 
Council to introduce new recycling services, reduce 
temporary recycling-surcharge rate and provide new 
cost-saving service for City Public Works. 

☐ Information or Direction
☐ Information Only
☐ Council Direction
☐ Consent Agenda
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends that Council adopt Resolution No. 2775 
Recommended Language for Motion: I move to approve Resolution No. 2775. 
Project / Issue Relates To: 
☒Council Goals/Priorities ☒Adopted Master Plan(s):

Solid Waste Franchise
☐Not Applicable

ISSUE BEFORE COUNCIL: 
Direction to staff on how to address solid-waste rates and/or level of service based on public-
opinion surveying, business commentary and the findings of the Solid Waste Collection Rate 
Report Amended December 2019. Staff recommendation to City Council provides for no rate 
increase while allowing the introduction of new community-wide recycling services and City 
Public Works street-sweepings disposal service and a reduction in the temporary recycling-
surcharge rate.  

Page 78 of 301



Resolution No. 2775 Staff Report Page 2 of 7 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The Solid Waste Management and Collection Franchise Agreement (Ordinance No. 814) with 
franchisee Republic Services requires a service rate “true-up” so that Republic Services’ rates 
approach the target rate-of-return of ten (10) percent on the first true-up conducted under the 
ordinance; subsequent true-ups allow an acceptable range of 8%–12%. Results of the solid waste 
rate review process showed that actual and projected rates of return were higher than called for in 
the ordinance, and would allow the introduction of new recycling and disposal services desired by 
community and City, along with a recycling-surcharge rate reduction. 
 
During the December 2, 2019, City Council work session, staff presented the Solid Waste 
Collection Rate Report Revised November 2019 and a draft recommendation for Council 
consideration to introduce new recycling services and reduce the temporary recycling-surcharge 
rate. Staff understood that Council members indicated support for the prospective new recycling 
services and surcharge reduction, while seeking to avoid adding potential cost increases that might 
require an overall rate increase within a year or so. 
 
Subsequently, City staff met with Republic Services to discuss potential accommodation by the 
Willamette Resources, Inc., (WRI) transfer-facility of accepting and disposing of City Public 
Works Department street-sweepings and leaves, a recent issue that the City needs to find 
resolution. While requiring WRI to acquire an Oregon Department of Environmental Quality 
(DEQ) permit, Republic Services has indicated a desire to accommodate the City’s needs, which 
would produce an estimated $100,000 savings annually compared to regular contracted sweepings 
disposal service. By slightly restructuring the initial rate modification to being an across-the-board 
50 percent (50%) reduction in the recycling surcharge for both residential and commercial 
customers, the City is able to gain slightly less than a one-percentage-point margin on the rate-of-
return of about $75,000 that provides the City credit for services. 
 
Thus, the Solid Waste Collection Rate Report Amended December 2019 drafted by the City’s 
consultant, Chris Bell, CPA, of Bell & Associates, provides data to support a City staff 
recommendation for new services with no rate increase and a recycling-surcharge rate reduction: 
 
Proposed New Community-Wide Recycling Services:  
1. Residential Food-Scraps Collection Program: Allow food scraps to be collected with the 

yard-debris cart service. This would be an on-going, permanent program with an estimated 
first-year cost of $21,521 and an estimated start in Q2 2020 (April). 

2. Bulky Waste Pick-up for ADA/Senior Citizens: Wilsonville residents who have a disability 
or are older senior citizens would be offered home pick-up of large/bulky waste items free of 
charge. This would be a limited-duration program of one year or less with a budget of $10,000 
that estimates 250 pick-ups at an average cost $40 each, with an estimated start in Q1 2020 
(February). 

3. Styrofoam Collection/Recycling: Republic Services would set up a collection station at its 
WRI transfer facility for residents and commercial/industrial customers to deposit clean 
Styrofoam packaging for recycling. As a new pilot-program, total demand is uncertain; 
however, both industrial businesses and residents have indicated high interest. Program to be 
evaluated during next solid waste rate review process. A total of $10,000 is budgeted with an 
estimated start date in Q1 2020 (March). 

  

Page 79 of 301



Resolution No. 2775 Staff Report Page 3 of 7 

 
4. Commercial/Industrial Fluorescent Tubes/Batteries Box Mail-Back Service: Businesses 

would be to obtain at no charge for a limited duration of one year or less “recycling box mail-
back” service for 48" fluorescent tubes and batteries. Based on results and feedback to the 
successful 2017 Wilsonville-Metro Community Enhancement Program project, City staff 
could determine that greatest demand appears to be for standard 4-foot-long tubes and 
batteries. A total of $15,000 is budgeted with an estimated start date in Q1 2020 (March). 

5. Commercial Food-Scraps Collection Program: City Council adopted Ordinance No. 837 on 
August 5, 2019 to codify the Metro-mandated commercial food-scraps collection program that 
commences in Q1 2020 (March) for the largest food-scrap generators (known as Group 1). 
This new program would be funded through a “blended-rate” structure similar to all other 
standard, mandated solid-waste collection and recycling services that would include food-
scraps collection. By Metro mandate, the program is expected to grow over the next three years 
to encompass all sizes of businesses that generate food scraps.  

 
Proposed City Public-Benefit Service: 
6. Public Works Street-Sweepings and Leaf Collection and Disposal: The City is need of 

collection and disposal services for street-sweepings and leaves, which is required by law. 
Republic Services believes it will be able to provide these services with DEQ permitting to the 
City at an estimated annual cost of approximately $85,000, which is approximately $100,000 
less than currently budgeted by City for this service. The staff recommendation allows for 
about $75,000 of rate-of-return margin that would be credited to City for disposal services for 
street-sweepings and material by Republic Services. If Republic Services determines it cannot 
provide this service an alternate option will be proposed. 

 
Proposed Rate Reduction: 
7. Across-the-Board 50% Rate Reduction in the Temporary Recycling-Surcharge: Analysis 

shows Republic Services’ current recycling revenue is matching the actual costs, and the 
change in allowable expenses under the new franchise agreement is the main driver for the 
reduction of this surcharge. Staff recommendation with Republic Services agreement allows 
for reducing by half (50%) the temporary recycling-surcharge for both residents (a 
$1.25/month reduction from $2.50/month to a net charge of $1.25/month) and for commercial 
firms (a $0.75/yard/number of pick-ups to a net charge of $0.75/yard/number of pick-ups per 
week). The surcharge modification should start on January 1, 2020. 
Note that during the course of conducting the solid waste rate review process, the City 
discovered that Republic Services erroneously invoiced ‘commercial’ customers during part 
of 2018 and 2019 for the recycling surcharge using an incorrect methodology, one adopted by 
Clackamas County and not City. The total estimated amount to be refunded/credited to 
Wilsonville businesses is $161,673. 
 

In summary, changes made to the Solid Waste Collection Rate Report Revised November 2019 for 
the Amended 2019 version include: 

• Adjusted the recycling haul fee from $15 to $20 per ton, a 25% increase.  
• Updated the projected costs in the report for the increase in the recycling hauling (due to 

an increase in the amount of recyclables). 
• Adjusted the temporary recycling surcharge for the 50% decrease for residential and 

commercial customers. 
• Updated the report to account for City Public Works street-sweeping disposal agreement. 

  

Page 80 of 301



Resolution No. 2775 Staff Report Page 4 of 7 

 
Background Information 
When the City adopted the new Solid Waste Franchise Agreement with Republic Services 
(“Franchise Agreement”) in May 2018 as Ordinance No. 814, the Franchise Agreement 
contemplated reviewing Republic Services’ service rates after the first year under the new 
Franchise Agreement.  As a result, the City commissioned Chris Bell, CPA, of Bell and Associates, 
to undertake a financial review of the solid-waste franchisee, Republic Services, operations and 
make a determination the firm’s operating margin, which is to be within the 8%–12% range, with 
a target of 10% during the initial rate-review process. 
 
The Solid Waste Collection Rate Report, Amended December 2019, provides information on: 

• Republic Services 2018 actual revenue, expenses and operating margin 
• Republic Services 2019 projected revenue, expenses and operating margin 
• Recycling costs factors 
• System changes in 2020 with projected revenue, expenses and operating margin 
• Commercial food scraps collection program, and recommended allocated costs 
 

Results from the review found the following operating margin for Republic Services: 
• 2018: 15.1% actual overall operating margin, or 51% greater than target of 10 operating 

margin. 
• 2019: 18.4% estimated overall operating margin, or 84% greater than target of 10% 

operating margin (inflated in part by incorrect commercial surcharge). 
• 2020:   12.9% estimated overall operating margin, or 29% greater than target of 10% 

operating margin, assuming status quo with no service/rate modifications and 
implementation of credit/refund and correct invoicing for commercial recycling-
surcharge. 

• 2020:   10.0% estimated overall operating margin, right on the target of 10% operating 
margin, assuming implementation of staff recommendation for recycling services, 
Public Works street-sweepings and recycling-surcharge rate reduction. 
 

City staff and the consultant met with representatives of Republic Services on several occasions 
to obtain information and discuss issues, including meetings to review the results of the draft 2019 
Solid Waste Collection Rate Report. Originally, staff sought to undertake the rate review by July 
1, 2019; however, turn-over in the Chief Financial Officer/Controller position at Republic Services 
prevented City’s consultant from timely obtaining key data upon which to base the rate review, 
coupled with staff conducting public-opinion survey and researching current and prior recycling 
data. Staff also note that franchisee has failed to-date to timely turn-in any of the reports called for 
by the Franchise Agreement. 
 
On September 5, 2019, the City Council reviewed the initial August 2019 Solid Waste Collection 
Rate Report drafted by the City’s consultant, Chris Bell, CPA, of Bell & Associates, and discussed 
options for potential new recycling services and/or rate reduction that would return franchisee 
Republic Services operating margin to the target rate-of-return of 10%. Council requested 
additional information on the potential new services, including surveying recycling preferences of 
members of the community, and clarification of issues such as the standard professional practice 
regarding income-tax payments as deductible expenses. 
  

Page 81 of 301



Resolution No. 2775 Staff Report Page 5 of 7 

 
Other recycling services were considered, including commercial wood-pallet collection and 
residential battery recycling; however, each of these had problems with implementation that both 
staff and Republic Services agreed were not recommendable at this time. 
 
Staff recommendation for these specific new recycling services is based on several empirical 
sources of information: Business feedback in 2017 and 2019 and community online survey in 
2019.  
 
The City worked in 2017 with Republic Services and Clackamas County Sustainability Division 
to implement a Wilsonville-Metro Community Enhancement Program project, entitled Wilsonville 
Fluorescent Mercury-Lamp Recycling Project. In just two months, the lamp project committed 
111 recycling mail-back boxes for fluorescent lamps of varying types to 25 separate commercial 
organizations in Wilsonville. During contact with program participants, approximately 50% of the 
businesses asked if battery recycling mail-back buckets were also available and suggested that they 
should be.  
 
In April 2019, Clackamas County Sustainability Division organized a meeting of two dozen of 
Wilsonville’s largest industrial employers hosted by high-tech manufacturer DW Fritz. During 
reporting-out by sub-groups, the two most commonly identified recycling needs not being well 
met currently was for Styrofoam packaging and broken wood pallets. In recent discussions with 
Republic Services, setting up a Styrofoam collection recycling station at the WRI waste-transfer 
facility was feasible. However, dealing with large amounts of potentially contaminated, broken 
wood pallets presented liability, safety and logistical issues that would take considerable time and 
expense to deal with. 
 
During a month-long period from mid-September to mid-October 2019, staff used the new online 
community survey application Let’s Talk Wilsonville at www.letstalkwilsonville.com to gauge 
public interest in 
various proposed 
options. Promotion of 
the survey in news 
releases, on social 
media and in the 
October 2019 Boones 
Ferry Messenger 
resulted in marked 
increase in the number 
of community members 
who registered on the 
site, demonstrating 
keen public interest in 
the topic of recycling.  
 
Results of the survey showed that residents were very interested in a Residential Food Waste 
Program and Styrofoam Collection/Recycling, somewhat less interested in Free Bulky Waste Pick-
up for ADA/Seniors; and also showed that Fluorescent Tubes Collection/ Recycling and Wood 
  

Results of Let's Talk, Wilsonville! Online Survey Report for 
Waste/Recycling Service Enhancements, October 2019 

Proposed Recycling Service 
Priority 
(1=Highest) 

Variation-
Average 

Variation-
Median 

Residential Food Waste Program 2.2 1.36 1.22 
Styrofoam Collection/Recycling  2.23 1.34 1.21 
Free Bulky Waste Pick-up for 
ADA/Seniors  2.69 1.11 1 
Fluorescent Tubes Collection/ 
Recycling  3.43 0.87 0.78 
Wood Pallet Collection/Recycling  4.44 0.68 0.61 
Average 3.00 1   
Median 2.69   1 

 

Page 82 of 301

http://www.letstalkwilsonville.com/
http://www.letstalkwilsonville.com/


Resolution No. 2775 Staff Report Page 6 of 7 

 
Pallet Collection/Recycling had the lowest preference. Given that most survey-takers are residents, 
it is logical that the purely business recycling options would have lower general public interest. 
The biggest surprise was the higher than expected level of interest in Styrofoam recycling by 
residents, which when combined with strong business-expressed interest in Styrofoam recycling, 
made this an easy call as a desirable new service by all segments of the community.  
 
Prevalence or Not for Income-Tax Payments as Deductible Expense 
At the September 15 work session, Council requested additional information on an issue raised by 
Republic Services regarding jurisdictions that do or do not allow income-taxes as a deductible 
expense in setting solid-waste rates. A survey by staff found one city in the Portland metro area 
that allows income-taxes as a deductible expense. 
 
Republic Services indicates that 
the old City franchise agreement 
provided for state and federal 
income taxes as an allowable 
expense that added 
approximately four percent to 
expenses. The new franchise 
agreement, which is modeled on 
standard modern franchise 
agreements, does not allow state 
and federal income taxes as an 
allowable expense. Republic 
Services does not contest the 
exclusion of the state and federal 
income taxes since the exclusion 
is contained in the Franchise 
Agreement, but rather Republic 
Services provides this 
information to inform Council 
for part of the reason why the 
operating margin is higher than 
the 8%-12% range. 
 
EXPECTED RESULTS: 
Council provides staff with direction if the recommendation for new recycling services, City street-
sweeping service and reduction of the recycling surcharge is an acceptable method to reduce the 
rate-of-return to the target operating margin that complies with the Solid Waste Franchise 
Agreement. 
 
TIMELINE: 
Adoption of the rate-review findings now sets the stage for new services or lower rates that could 
commence on or after January 1, 2020. See pages 2-3 for estimated dates of implementation for 
new recycling services. 
  

Survey of Portland Metro-Area Jurisdictions that  
Do or Do Not Allow Income Taxes as a  
Deductible Expense for Solid-Waste Rate Setting  
Jurisdiction Allow / Not Allow 
City of Beaverton Not Allow 
City of Gresham Not Allow 
City of Hillsboro * Not Allow 
City of Lake Oswego * Not Allow 
City of Portland Not Allow 
City of Sherwood Not Allow 
City of Tigard Not Allow 
City of Troutdale Not Allow 
City of Tualatin Allow 
City of Wilsonville Not Allow 
Clackamas County, Rural and Urban areas Not Allow 
Washington County, Rural and Urban areas Not Allow 

* Republic Services indicates that the franchise agreements for these 
cities do not preclude the inclusion of state and federal income taxes as 
allowable expenses, but staff at these cities who oversee solid-waste 
rate-setting indicated to City staff that these cities do not allow the 
inclusion of state and federal income taxes in service rate calculations. 

Page 83 of 301



Resolution No. 2775 Staff Report Page 7 of 7 

 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS: 
Using the old solid-waste franchise model that required an annual franchise fee payment, Republic 
Services pre-paid a portion of 2018 and 2019 franchise fees; the Finance Department intends to 
refund the advance 2019 overpayment, which will have a material impact in FY 2018/19 
financials.  
 
Starting on January 1, 2020, the franchise fee paid to the City increases from three percent (3%) 
to the standard franchise fee of five percent (5%), resulting in an increase of $147,320 annually, 
or estimated at $73,660 for half a year (FY 19/20), with total revenue at $365,723 annually. 
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENT: 
Reviewed by: CAR Date: 11/22/2019 
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT: 
Reviewed by: BAJ Date: 12/11/2019 
 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS: 
City staff undertook a month’s-long public survey via Let’s Talk Wilsonville seeking feedback on 
the priorities of various recycling options and soliciting suggestions for new recycling services. 
Adoption of the Solid-Waste Franchise Ordinance in 2018 followed standard City public outreach 
practices; the 2019 rate review is a by-product of the new solid-waste franchise ordinance. City 
received feedback from businesses via the 2017 Wilsonville Fluorescent Mercury-Lamp Recycling 
Project and the April 2019 Clackamas County Sustainability Division meeting with Wilsonville 
industrial employers.  
 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OR BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY: 
The community benefits by requiring Republic Services to stay within the profit margin 
negotiated, thereby limiting rate increases and/or increasing services offered. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
N/A. 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT: 
Proposed staff recommendation provides community with new recycling services and City street-
sweepings/leaves collection/disposal without a rate increase and actually provides a “rate 
decrease” by cutting in half the recycling surcharge for both residents and businesses. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution No. 2775 
A. City of Wilsonville Solid Waste Collection Rate Report Amended December 2019 

by Bell & Assoc. 
B. City of Wilsonville – Republic Services Agreement Creating New Community 

Recycling Services and City Street-Sweeping Collection/Disposal Service and 
Reducing the Temporary Recycling Surcharge Rate, December 16, 2019. 

 

Page 84 of 301



RESOLUTION NO. 2775  Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE ADOPTING THE 
FINDINGS OF THE SOLID WASTE COLLECTION RATE REPORT AMENDED 
DECEMBER 2019, CREATING NEW COMMUNITY RECYCLING SERVICES AND 
CITY STREET-SWEEPING COLLECTION/DISPOSAL SERVICE AND REDUCING 
THE TEMPORARY RECYCLING SURCHARGE RATE. 

 
WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 814, adopted by City Council on May 21, 2018, created a 

new solid-waste franchise agreement with Republic Services; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 814, Article VIII, Establishment and Modification of Service 
Rates, 3. Second Service Rate Adjustment provided for City’s ability to “undertake a review of 
Franchisee’s books, records, and accounts to adjust the Service Rate to set a new Service Rate 
that achieves an Operating Margin equal to ten percent (10%) of Gross Revenues”; and 

WHEREAS, the City contracted with Chris Bell, CPA, of Bell and Associates of Camas, 
WA, to undertake a financial review of the solid-waste franchisee, Republic Services, operations 
and make a determination the firm’s operating margin; and 

WHEREAS, the Solid-Waste Collection Rate Report Amended December 2019 attached 
herein as Exhibit A, provides information on: 

• Republic Services 2018 actual revenue, expenses and operating margin. 

• Republic Services 2019 projected revenue, expenses and operating margin. 

• System changes in 2020 with Republic Services projected revenue, expenses and 
operating margin. 

• Recycling costs factors. 

• Commercial food scraps collection program, and recommended allocated costs; and 

WHEREAS, the Solid-Waste Collection Rate Report Amended December 2019 identified 
several new services that could be introduced based on the current Council-approved rate 
structure, coupled with a reduction in the temporary recycling surcharge that was enacted via 
Ordinance No. 814, Article VIII(6)(a), on May 21, 2018, and continued by Resolution No. 2718 
adopted on December 17, 2018; and 

  

Page 85 of 301



RESOLUTION NO. 2775  Page 2 of 3 

 

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2718 adopted on December 17, 2018, contemplated that the 
City Council would “review the recycling surcharge again on or before January 1, 2020,” and is 
now doing so via this resolution; and  

WHEREAS, the 2017 Wilsonville-Metro Community Enhancement “Fluorescent 
Mercury-Lamp Recycling Project,” an April 2019 meeting of Wilsonville industrial employers 
organized by Clackamas County Sustainability Division, and a September-October 2019 “Let’s 
Talk Wilsonville” online community survey demonstrated considerable residential and business 
interests in new and improved recycling programs; and  

WHEREAS the City Public Works Department seeks a new collection and disposal 
service for public right-of-way street-sweepings and leaves; and  

WHEREAS the City Council is desirous of providing new community-wide recycling 
services and City public-works services and a reduction in the temporary recycling-surcharge 
rate; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City hereby accepts and adopts the findings of the Solid-Waste Collection Rate 
Report Amended December 2019 attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

2. The City approves the introduction of new community-wide recycling services, City 
public-works street-sweeping/leaves collection/disposal services and a reduction in 
the temporary recycling-surcharge rate attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

ADOPTED by the Wilsonville City Council at a regular meeting on December 16, 2019, 
and filed with the Wilsonville City Recorder on this date.  

 
 
_______________________________ 
TIM KNAPP, MAYOR 

 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
  

Page 86 of 301



RESOLUTION NO. 2775  Page 3 of 3 

 

SUMMARY OF VOTES:  

Mayor Knapp    

Council President Akervall   

Councilor Lehan   

Councilor West   

Councilor Linville   

 

EXHIBITS: 

A. City of Wilsonville Solid Waste Collection Rate Report Amended December 2019 by Bell 
& Assoc. 

B. City of Wilsonville – Republic Services Agreement Creating New Community Recycling 
Services and City Street-Sweeping Collection/Disposal Service and Reducing the 
Temporary Recycling Surcharge Rate, December 16, 2019. 

 

Page 87 of 301



 

City of Wilsonville 
Solid Waste Collection Rate Report 

Bell & Associates  Amended December 2019 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 - EXHIBIT A, PAGE 1

Page 88 of 301



City of Wilsonville 

Solid Waste Collection Rate Report 

Amended December 2019 

Bell & Associates 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Background of Solid Waste Review  ......................................................  1 
Annual Cost Report 
Adjusted Report for 2018 
Projected Results for 2019  ....................................................................  2 
Year-to-Year Comparison of Expenses 
Recycling Costs  ....................................................................................  3 
Temporary Recycling Surcharge 
Prospective System Changes in 2020  ..................................................  4  
Commercial Food Waste Collection Costs and Rate Alternatives  ........  5 
Cost of Service Rate Calculations for 2019 
Allocated Program Costs Calculations for 2019 
Program Rate Recommendation  ..........................................................  7 
Attachments  
A Projected 2019 Results: Return on Revenues -  

Commercial Surcharge as Collected  ...............................................  8 
B Projected 2020 Results: Return on Revenues - 

Commercial Surcharge as Approved  ...............................................  9 
C Projected 2020 Results: Return on Revenues - 

New Services and 50% Surcharge Decrease ...................................  10 
 
 
 
Chris Bell, CPA 
Bell & Associates 
1628 NW 33rd Way 
Camas, WA 98607 
360-210-4344 
Chris@Bellassociatesinc.com  

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 - EXHIBIT A, PAGE 2

Page 89 of 301



City of Wilsonville Solid Waste Collection Rate Report P a g e  1 | 

Background of Solid Waste Review 

The City of Wilsonville (City) contracted with Bell & Associates, a consulting firm with expertise in solid 
waste collection operations, to provide the City with solid waste and recycling consulting services. In 
March 2019, solid waste franchisee Republic Services (Republic) submitted its annual detailed cost 
reports to the City for the calendar year 2018. Due to staffing changes that included a transition in 
controllers, additional effort and meetings were needed to acquire the data needed to conduct the 
review. 

Annual Cost Report 

Collection of waste and recycling within Wilsonville is accomplished under an exclusive franchise 
agreement between Republic and the City.  The annual report provides line-item costs and revenues 
associated with providing service within the City as well as combined line item totals for their non-
Wilsonville operations. The format of the report provides the capacity to calculate the cost of service 
for each line of business (cart, container, and drop box). Cart collection is primarily residential 
customers, whereas business customers are serviced with a container. Reported results were 
analyzed and the following tasks were completed:  

a. Analyze reported route collection hours to the reported customer counts for each line of 
business.  

b. Using a predictive test of revenue for each line of business, ensure the reported revenues are 
reasonable for the number of reported customers. 

c. By thoroughly reviewing the reported direct cost line items, determine if the expense is 
reasonable in relation to the customer and operational data entered from the detailed cost 
report. 

d. Utilize a predictive test of disposal to determine if the reported disposal expense is reasonable. 
e. Using the reported administrative line items, determine if the expense is reasonable in relation 

to the operational data entered from the detailed cost report. 
f. Review the costs between the City and Republic’s other franchised collection operations to 

determine if the allocations are reasonable. 

Report adjustments were made to the submission by Republic from the application of the tasks above 
that reduced the reported costs and increased the profitability of services provided to Wilsonville 
customers. 

Adjusted Report for 2018 

Table 1 details the return for each collection service provided within the Wilsonville franchise 
collection system.   

Table 1: Adjusted 2018 Wilsonville Results 

Cost Component Roll Cart Container Drop Box Composite 
Revenues 1,929,273 2,689,503 2,430,916 7,049,692 
Allowable Costs for Rates 1,693,762 2,212,371 2,076,861 5,982,994 
Franchise Income 235,511 477,132 354,055 1,066,698 
Margin (Income / Revenue)  12.2% 17.7% 14.6% 15.1% 

  

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 - EXHIBIT A, PAGE 3

Page 90 of 301



City of Wilsonville Solid Waste Collection Rate Report P a g e  2 | 

Projected Results for 2019 

The report submitted by Republic was for the calendar year 
2018; however, changes to the rates typically occur 6 to 12 
months in the future. Additionally, changes to rates in 2018 are 
not fully realized in the submitted report. Therefore, an 
estimate of the expected results for 2019 is completed to 
provide the City with information to make an informed decision.  

Projected revenues for the 2019 calendar year were calculated 
on the recycling surcharge and the two, 3.25% rate increases 
that were effective in July and October 2018 for residential, 
commercial, and drop box service.  

The line item expenses from 2018 were adjusted to project the 
results for 2019 using assumptions based on contractual obligations such as the labor agreement 
between Republic and the union drivers, administrative wages, health insurance, recycling 
processing, fuel, and estimated inflation. Table 2 summarizes the inflation assumptions. 

Year-to-Year Comparison of Expenses 

Projected increases from the recycling surcharges and the July and October 2018 rate increases 
combined with estimated line item costs for the current year are summarized in Table 3. 

Table 3: Adjusted Results 

Report Table 2018 
Adjusted 

2019 
Projected $ ▲ % ▲ 

Collection Revenue $6,870,679 $7,453,895 $583,216 8.5% 
Recycling Revenue $179,013 $92,542 $(86,471) -48.3% 
Total Revenue $7,049,692 $7,546,437 $496,745 7.0% 
     

SW and Yard Debris Disposal $2,763,746 $2,810,123 $46,377 1.7% 
Recycling Processing $355,826 $414,707 $58,881 16.5% 
Labor, Health Ins, & Taxes $1,014,559 $1,046,272 $31,713 3.1% 
Truck, Fuel, and Repairs $712,789 $712,544 $(245) 0.0% 
Equipment and Containers $99,597 $99,964 $367 0.4% 
Franchise Fees $203,643 $229,632 $25,989 12.8% 
Other Expense / Food Waste $183,532 $185,988 $2,456 1.3% 
Management & Administration $661,650 $673,356 $11,706 1.8% 
Less: Unallowable Costs $(12,348) $(12,348) $0 0% 
Total Expense $5,982,994 $6,160,238 $164,770 2.8% 
Income (Revenue – Expense) $1,066,698 $1,386,199 $319,501 30.0% 
Margin (Income / Total Revenue) 15.1% 18.4%  3.3% 

 

Table 2: Line Item Inflation 
Assumptions for 2019 

Expense Change 
Driver Wage 2.72% 
Administrative Wage 2.50% 
Health Insurance 5.00% 
Fuel -9.69% 
Inflation 2.81% 
Recycling Processing 16.5% 

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 - EXHIBIT A, PAGE 4

Page 91 of 301



City of Wilsonville Solid Waste Collection Rate Report P a g e  3 | 

Recycling Costs 

The revenue or cost of processing collected recycling in Wilsonville has three costs: transfer, 
processing, and material value. Collected materials from Wilsonville are consolidated at Willamette 
Resources and transported to Pioneer Recycling in Clackamas. Pioneer will sort the materials and 
sells them to end-users. The average cost to sort the material ranges from $80 to $120 per ton. The 
value of the material sorted offsets the processing cost. When the value of the material declines, the 
cost of processing increases and is passed back to the franchised haulers within the Portland area. 

The value of collected recyclable material declined in 2019 compared to 2018 as the volume of 
materials seeking domestic markets continued to increase. The value of mixed paper, which is 
approximately 40% of the residential mix, has been negative over the last two years. But the value of 
cardboard, which is the second-largest material volume by weight, has experienced a decrease in 
value by over 50% from last year. Other materials have decreased in value, which is the primary 
reason the cost of recycling has increased when compared to the prior year.  

Temporary Recycling Surcharge 

Revenue generated from the residential customers of $2.50 per month has generated $148,114 over 
the last year whereas the commercial container surcharge has generated $209,004. The combined 
surcharge amounts total $357,118. The amount of revenue generated from the commercial surcharge 
appears to have been greater than approved by City Council because the per yard surcharge was 
applied to all collected yards. The surcharge approved by City Council was simply the customer’s SW 
container size multiplied by $1.50. The following figure is Attachment C from the May 7, 2018 Council 
Agenda. 

Figure 1: Attachment C – Commercial Surcharge Rates 

 

Commercial customer counts from the 2018 cost report multiplied by their respective container size 
should generate $47,331 annually, but the reported commercial surcharge revenue amount is 4.42 
times higher ($209,004 / $47,331). The surcharge from the above example on an 8 yard container is 
only $12, but the customer was invoiced $51.96 (8 yards x $1.50 x 4.33 pickups per month). The 4.33 
pickups per month are calculated by dividing 52 weeks by 12 months. Customers were charged $1.50 
for each collected yard, which is why the cost is almost 4.33 times higher than amounts from the 
figure above. 

The increase in commercial revenue using the method approved by City Council would have 
increased commercial revenue by an estimated 4.5% in 2019; however, the current method previously 
discussed increased commercial revenue by 11.2%. If the overcharges are refunded to the 
customers, commercial revenue should decrease by $161,673 in the current year, which would 
decrease the overall margin to 16.5%. See Attachment A for the detailed projected results.  

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 - EXHIBIT A, PAGE 5

Page 92 of 301



City of Wilsonville Solid Waste Collection Rate Report P a g e  4 | 

Prospective System Changes in 2020 

Direct and indirect expenses were calculated to increase by 3% and 2% respectively in 2020 while 
revenue was left unchanged from 2019. The City has increased the franchise fee from 3% to 5% of 
gross revenue effective January 1, 2020. This change will increase the fees paid to the City by 
approximately $150,000 compared to the current year. The expected performance in 2020 is 
estimated to be 12.9% (Attachment B); therefore, a rate adjustment should be enacted by the City to 
recalibrate the margin to 10% to be in compliance with Article VIII, section 3 of the City’s Solid Waste 
Ordinance. Direct expenses.  

City Council could adjust the rate to 10% by a combination of a rate decrease and an increase of 
additional services provided by Republic. Additional services include the commercial food waste 
program, a residential food waste program, a walk-in bulky waste collection for senior and disabled 
residents, a commercial Styrofoam / florescent light recycling program. The estimated costs of these 
new programs are summarized in Table 4. 

Table 4: Estimated Impact of Increased Franchise Fees and New Programs in 2020 

New Program Costs Program Amount 
  Commercial Food Waste Costs $7,752 
  Residential Food Waste Program  $21,521  
  Bulky Waste Collection for Senior Citizens  $10,000  
  Commercial Styrofoam / Florescent Light  $25,000  
Total New Program Costs $64,273 

 

Because the additional services only reduce the margin by 0.7%, from 13.1% to 12.2%, a reduction in 
the recycling surcharge for commercial and residential service should be implemented effective 
January 1, 2020. Reducing the residential recycling surcharge by 50% from $2.50 per customer per 
month to $1.25 and the commercial surcharge from $1.50 to $0.75 per yard will reduce the composite 
margin from 12.9% to 10.9%.  

The 0.9% difference in the estimated margin above the targeted 10% is approximately $75,000. To 
offset the difference, Republic Services will assist the Wilsonville Public Works Department with the 
disposal of street sweeping debris. Attachment C on the last page of this report has the estimated 
cost of the new recycling programs, the 50% reduction in the recycling surcharge, and the estimated 
disposal assistance to public works. 

  

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 - EXHIBIT A, PAGE 6

Page 93 of 301



City of Wilsonville Solid Waste Collection Rate Report P a g e  5 | 

Commercial Food Waste Collection Costs and Rate Alternatives 

The Clackamas County Recycling Education and Outreach office has estimated the number of 
customers within Wilsonville that would qualify for the Metro food waste collection program by phase.  

Table 5: Estimated Food Waste Program Participants in Wilsonville 

Totals Year of 
Implementation Customers 

Phase 1 (1,000 lbs. food waste weekly) 2020 21 
Phase 2 (500 lbs. food waste weekly) 2021 30 
Phase 3 (250 lbs. food waste weekly) 2022 27 
Total Food Waste Participants  78 

 

Implementing the rates to support Metro’s food waste program can be accomplished by two rate 
methods; either a variable rate assessed on the cost of service or allocate the program costs over the 
commercial rate base.  

Cost of Service Rate Calculations for 2019 

The service rate is comprised of the collection cost, container, food waste disposal cost, operating 
margin, and franchise fee. The cost of collection was calculated on the 2019 projected results of 
collection operations within Wilsonville to collect waste using either a roll cart or a container. The 
expected number of stops per hour is eight stops, which is lower than garbage and recycling because 
the number of customers generating food waste in quantities high enough to implement the program 
is limited. Therefore, the time and distance between stops are higher than garbage. Table 6 
summarizes the cost of service in 2019 costs for a 64 gallon roll cart and a 2 yard container.  

Table 6: Commercial Food Waste Cost of Service Rates 
Rate Component 64 gallon cart 2 yard container 
Collection Cost  $67.50   $67.50  
Cart / Container  $0.65   $5.77  
Food Waste Disposal  $27.27   $156.69  
Margin @ 10%  $10.60   $25.55  
Fran Fee @ 5%  $5.30   $12.78  
Total Cost of Service Rate  $111.32   $268.29  

 

Food waste collection costs would be an additional charge assessed to food waste generators. There 
is a potential for the customer to down-size their level of solid waste collection and reduce the cost 
impact from the program, but that change will vary for each customer. 

  

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 - EXHIBIT A, PAGE 7

Page 94 of 301



City of Wilsonville Solid Waste Collection Rate Report P a g e  6 | 

Allocated Program Costs Calculations for 2019 

The second method is the same approach currently in use to assess the cost of recycling services to 
commercial customers within Wilsonville and throughout the Portland metropolitan area. Because 
each customer’s recycling needs vary, the cost of the service is blended with the cost of providing 
waste collection and the cost of recycling service is assessed on the level of waste collection service. 
While most customers receive a commensurate level of waste and recycling service, some customers 
either receive more and some receive less than the number of waste collection yards and/or collection 
frequency than waste.  

The primary difference between assessing the cost of service rate and the allocated cost is the 
assumption of the cost savings from disposing of the food waste at a lower rate than solid waste. 
While customers may not be able to reduce their level of waste collection service to benefit from the 
savings, the weight, and subsequently the reduced cost of the diverted food waste will be realized 
within the composite by Republic.  

Table 7 on the following page summarizes the overall impact to Wilsonville commercial container 
service for each phase of the Metro program from the expected number of participants summarized in 
Table 5. 

Table 7: Commercial Food Waste Program Costs 

Description Note Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 
Monthly Program Cost A  $1,418   $3,443   $5,266  
Food Waste Savings B  $(993)  $(1,703)  $(1,965) 
Total Monthly Cost C  $646   $1,909   $3,322  
Annual Program Cost D  $7,752   $22,908   $39,864  
     

2019 Composite Costs E $2,321,576 $2,321,576 $2,321,576 
% of Composite Costs F 0.33% 1.32% 3.04% 

 
Table 7 Notes 
A. Estimated collection cost to provide a weekly pick up of one container or cart to the number of 

customers in each phase from Table 4. Cost includes the cost of the container. 
B. Estimated savings from the difference in the lower disposal cost of food waste compared to solid 

waste. 
C. Collection cost less savings on food waste disposal (A – B). 
D. Annual program cost – Phase 2 is a combination of the additional cost and the prior year costs. 

Phase 3 is the additional cost plus the prior year’s costs. 
E. Estimated commercial collection cost in the calendar year 2019 for each of the three phases 
F. Percentage of Annual Program Cost compared to the 2019 Composite Cost (D / E) 

The estimated cost of the program is  $7,752 in the first year. In the second and third year, the costs 
increase by $15,156 and $16,956 respectively. As a percentage of the total commercial cost in 2019, 
the program is less than one percent of the total commercial collection cost.  

  

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 - EXHIBIT A, PAGE 8

Page 95 of 301



City of Wilsonville Solid Waste Collection Rate Report P a g e  7 | 

Projected results for 2020 include the estimated cost of providing collection service to the 21 
customers that generate 1,000 pounds or more of food waste weekly (Table 5). Table 8 estimates the 
financial performance (Rate of Return) of commercial collection with the additional food waste 
program costs from 2020 to 2022 as the second and third phases are fully implemented. 

Table 8: Estimated Commercial Performance with the Additional Food Waste Costs 

Year Revenue Expense Income ROR 
2020 $2,752,040 $2,456,365 $295,675 10.7% 
2021 $2,752,040 $2,520,648 $231,392 8.4% 
2022 $2,752,040 $2,588,017 $164,023 6.0% 

 

The additional cost of the food waste program and the expected collection increases should decrease 
the commercial margin within the allowable range over the next three years; therefore, a rate increase 
for commercial collection is not required to implement the commercial food waste program. 

Program Rate Recommendation 

The rate approach of allocating food waste diversion costs over the commercial base is the preferred 
method for Clackamas County Recycling Education and Outreach office. This is also the same 
method employed by the cities of Beaverton and Tigard. The primary reason is the reduced cost to 
the food waste generator, compared to the cost of service, will likely compel them to participate in the 
program. While a participant will see a slight increase in their collection service invoice, they will incur 
additional internal costs to comply with the food waste program.  

 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 - EXHIBIT A, PAGE 9

Page 96 of 301



City of Wilsonville Solid Waste Collection Rate Report P a g e  8 | 

Attachment A  

 

 

 

  

Grand
Totals

 % ▲from 
prior year

 % ▲from 
prior year

 % ▲from 
prior year

 % ▲from 
prior year

 % ▲from 
prior year

 % ▲from 
prior year

Collection & Service Revenues 2,103,418 12.6% 19,750 -62.0% 9,378 0.0% 2,831,551 11.2% 89,249 -37.4% 2,493,091 2.6% 7,546,437
Surcharge Overage 0
Direct Costs of Operations 726,143 447,218 300,288 1,428,541 602,541 1,994,499 5,499,230
Disposal / Processing Expense 372,139 1.5% 128,029 -15.9% 105,019 6.5% 966,878 1.5% 286,678 40.8% 1,366,087 1.5% 3,224,830
Labor Expense 148,125 3.1% 163,023 3.1% 99,739 3.1% 189,362 3.1% 161,303 3.1% 284,720 3.1% 1,046,272
Truck Expense 101,261 0.0% 111,443 0.0% 68,172 0.0% 129,480 0.0% 110,297 0.0% 191,891 0.0% 712,544
Equipment Expense 14,206 0.4% 15,634 0.4% 9,564 0.4% 18,166 0.4% 15,474 0.4% 26,920 0.4% 99,964
Franchise Fees 63,981 14.5% 0 0 90,858 19.2% 0 74,793 4.5% 229,632
Other Direct Expense 26,431 1.3% 29,089 1.3% 17,794 1.3% 33,797 1.3% 28,789 1.3% 50,088 1.3% 185,988

Indirect Costs of Operations 245,283 12% 310,929 11% 117,144 5% 673,356
Management Expense 63,724 2.7% 132,099 2.7% 42,344 2.7% 238,167
Administrative Expense 13,734 2.9% 28,227 2.9% 9,078 2.9% 51,039
Other Overhead Expenses 167,825 0.9% 150,603 1.2% 65,722 1.0% 384,150

Less Unallowable Costs 12,315 21 12 12,348

Revenues 2,132,546 2,920,800 2,493,091 7,546,437
 % ▲from 
prior year

 % ▲from 
prior year

Direct Costs of Operations 1,473,649 0.6% 2,031,082 6.5% 2,251,132 1,994,499 5,499,230
Indirect Costs of Operations 245,283 1.5% 310,929 2.0% 249,876 117,144 673,356
Total Cost 1,718,932 0.8% 2,342,011 5.9% 125,050 2,111,643 6,172,586
Less Unallowable Costs 12,315 0.0% 21 0.0% 2,626,058 Req. Revenue 12 12,348
Allowable Costs 1,706,617 2,341,990 2,920,800 Pro. Revenue 2,111,631 6,160,238
Franchise Income 425,929 578,810 -294,742 Increase 381,460 1,386,199

Projected Return on Revenues 19.97% 19.82% 15.30% 18.37%
2018 Return on Revenues 12.21% 17.74% 14.56% 15.13%

Inflation Assumptions Changes in Revenue
Driver Wage 2.72% Inflation 2.81% Cart & Cont Revenue

Health Ins 5.00% Fuel -9.69% 6 months of increase from July 2018
G&A Wage 2.50% Rec Processing 6.67% No value for residential recycling / 50% of com.

Projected 2019 Results
Return on Revenues - Commercial Surcharge as Collected

City of Wilsonville

Residential Service Commercial Service Drop Box
Solid Waste Recycling Yard Debris Solid Waste Recycling

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 - EXHIBIT A, PAGE 10

Page 97 of 301



City of Wilsonville Solid Waste Collection Rate Report P a g e  9 | 

Attachment B 

 

 

 

 

Grand
Totals

 % ▲from prior 
year

 % ▲from prior 
year

 % ▲from prior 
year

 % ▲from prior 
year  % ▲from prior year

 % ▲from prior 
year

Collection & Service Revenues 2,103,418 0.0% 19,750 0.0% 9,530 1.6% 2,662,791 0.0% 89,249 0.0% 2,534,074 1.6% 7,418,812
Recycling Surcharge 0
Direct Costs of Operations 788,662 456,794 309,297 1,515,415 611,153 2,104,003 5,785,324
Disposal Expense 383,303 3.0% 128,029 0.0% 108,170 3.0% 995,884 3.0% 286,678 0.0% 1,407,070 3.0% 3,309,134
Labor Expense 152,569 3.0% 167,914 3.0% 102,731 3.0% 195,043 3.0% 166,142 3.0% 293,262 3.0% 1,077,661
Truck Expense 104,299 3.0% 114,786 3.0% 70,217 3.0% 133,364 3.0% 113,606 3.0% 197,648 3.0% 733,920
Equipment Expense 14,632 3.0% 16,103 3.0% 9,851 3.0% 18,711 3.0% 15,938 3.0% 27,728 3.0% 102,963
Franchise Fees 106,635 66.7% 0 0 137,602 51.4% 0 126,704 69.4% 370,941
Other Direct Expense 27,224 3.0% 29,962 3.0% 18,328 3.0% 34,811 3.0% 28,789 0.0% 51,591 3.0% 190,705

Indirect Costs of Operations 250,189 2.0% 317,148 2.0% 119,487 2.0% 686,824
Management Expense 64,998 2.0% 134,741 2.0% 43,191 2.0% 242,930
Administrative Expense 14,009 2.0% 28,792 2.0% 9,260 2.0% 52,061
Other Overhead Expenses 171,182 2.0% 153,615 2.0% 67,036 2.0% 391,833

Less Unallowable Costs 12,315 21 12 12,348

Revenues 2,132,698 2,752,040 2,534,074 7,418,812
 % ▲from prior 

year
 % ▲from prior 

year
Direct Costs of Operations 1,554,753 6.2% 2,126,568 11.5% 2,104,003 5,785,324
Indirect Costs of Operations 250,189 3.5% 317,148 4.0% 119,487 686,824
Total Cost 1,804,942 5.8% 2,443,716 10.5% 2,223,490 6,472,148
Less Unallowable Costs 12,315 0.0% 21 0.0% 12 12,348
Allowable Costs 1,792,627 2,443,695 2,223,478 6,459,800
Franchise Income 340,071 308,345 310,596 959,012

Projected Return on Revenues 15.95% 11.20% 12.26% 12.93%
2018 Return on Revenues 12.21% 17.74% 14.56% 15.13%

Solid Waste Resi Recycling & Yard Debris Cart & Cont Revenue
Driver Wage 3.00% Driver Wage 3.00% PUC No Increase from 2019

Health Ins 3.00% Health Ins 3.00% Drop Box Tip Fee 3.00% Recycling Revenue 
Fuel 3.00% Fuel 3.00% Same as 2019

Tip Fee 3.00% Yard Debris Disposal 3.00% Drop Box Revenue
Liab-Prop Ins 3.00% Liab-Prop Ins 3.00% Increased by tip fee increase of 3%

Inflation 3.00% Inflation 3.00%

Inflation Assumptions for Line Item Expenses Changes in Revenue

Solid Waste Recycling Yard Debris Solid Waste Recycling

Projected 2020 Results
Return on Revenues - Commercial Surcharge as Approved

City of Wilsonville

Residential Service Commercial Service Drop Box

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 - EXHIBIT A, PAGE 11

Page 98 of 301



City of Wilsonville Solid Waste Collection Rate Report P a g e  10 | 

Attachment C  

 

 

Grand
Totals

 % ▲from 
prior year

 % ▲from 
prior year

 % ▲from 
prior year

 % ▲from 
prior year

 % ▲from 
prior year

 % ▲from 
prior year

Collection & Service Revenues 2,103,418 0.0% 19,750 0.0% 9,530 1.6% 2,662,791 0.0% 89,249 0.0% 2,534,074 1.6% 7,418,812
Recycling Surcharge -80,700 -23,666 0 -104,366
Direct Costs of Operations 784,627 488,315 309,297 1,539,232 618,905 2,104,003 5,844,379
Disposal Expense 383,303 3.0% 128,029 0.0% 108,170 3.0% 995,884 3.0% 286,678 0.0% 1,407,070 3.0% 3,309,134
Labor Expense 152,569 3.0% 167,914 3.0% 102,731 3.0% 195,043 3.0% 166,142 3.0% 293,262 3.0% 1,077,661
Truck Expense 104,299 3.0% 114,786 3.0% 70,217 3.0% 133,364 3.0% 113,606 3.0% 197,648 3.0% 733,920
Equipment Expense 14,632 3.0% 16,103 3.0% 9,851 3.0% 18,711 3.0% 15,938 3.0% 27,728 3.0% 102,963
Franchise Fees 102,600 60.4% 0 0 136,419 50.1% 0 126,704 69.4% 365,723
Other Direct Expense 27,224 3.0% 61,483 111.4% 18,328 3.0% 59,811 77.0% 36,541 26.9% 51,591 3.0% 254,978

Indirect Costs of Operations 250,189 2.0% 317,148 2.0% 119,487 2.0% 686,824
Management Expense 64,998 2.0% 134,741 2.0% 43,191 2.0% 242,930
Administrative Expense 14,009 2.0% 28,792 2.0% 10,000 Styrofoam Rec 9,260 2.0% 52,061
Other Overhead Expenses 171,182 2.0% 21,521 Yard Debris 153,615 2.0% 15,000 Florescent Light 67,036 2.0% 391,833

10,000 Bulky Waste 25,000 Total Expense
Less Unallowable Costs 12,315 31,521 Total Expense 21 12 12,348

Revenues 2,051,998 2,728,374 2,534,074 7,314,446
 % ▲from 
prior year

 % ▲from 
prior year

Direct Costs of Operations 1,582,239 8.0% (1.25)$            Rate Decrease per Month 2,158,137 13.1% (0.17)$                Collection Cost 2,104,003 -$               5,844,379
Indirect Costs of Operations 250,189 3.5% 1.25$              317,148 4.0% 0 Op Margin 119,487 per Haul 686,824
Total Cost 1,832,428 7.4% 2,475,285 11.9% 0 Fran Fee 2,223,490 6,531,203
Less Unallowable Costs 12,315 0.0% 1 21 0.0% 0 Req. Revenue 12 12,348
Allowable Costs 1,820,113 2,475,264 2,728,374 Pro. Revenue 2,223,478 6,518,855
Franchise Income 231,885 253,110 -2,728,374 Increase 310,596 795,591

Projected Return on Revenues 11.30% 9.28% 12.26% 10.88%
2018 Return on Revenues 12.21% 17.74% 14.56% 15.13%

Solid Waste Resi Recycling & Yard Debris Cart & Cont Revenue
Driver Wage 3.00% Driver Wage 3.00% PUC No Increase from 2019

Health Ins 3.00% Health Ins 3.00% Drop Box Tip Fee 3.00% Recycling Revenue 
Fuel 3.00% Fuel 3.00% Same as 2019

Tip Fee 3.00% Yard Debris Disposal 3.00% Drop Box Revenue
Liab-Prop Ins 3.00% Liab-Prop Ins 3.00% Increased by tip fee increase of 3%

Inflation 3.00% Inflation 3.00%
Estimated Revenue in 2020 7,314,446$      

Required Revenue @ 10% Return 7,238,979$      
Estimated Income Surplus 75,467$            

Inflation Assumptions for Line Item Expenses Changes in Revenue

Street Sweeping Debris Disposal provided 
to Public Works by Republic Services

75,467$            

Solid Waste Recycling Yard Debris Solid Waste Recycling

Projected 2020 Results
Return on Revenues @ 50% Recycling Surcharge Rate Decrease

City of Wilsonville

Residential Service Commercial Service Drop Box

RESOLUTION NO. 2775 - EXHIBIT A, PAGE 12

Page 99 of 301



–

City of Wilsonville – Republic Services Agreement  
Creating New Community Recycling Services and  

City Street-Sweeping Collection/Disposal Service, and 
Reducing the Temporary Recycling Surcharge Rate 

Exhibit B to Resolution No. 2775 

December 16, 2019 

— 1 — 

New Community-Wide Recycling Services: 
1. Residential Food-Scraps Collection Program: Allow food scraps to be collected with the

yard-debris cart service. This would be an on-going, permanent program with an estimated
first-year cost of $21,521 and an estimated start in Q2 2020 (April).

2. Bulky Waste Pick-up for ADA/Senior Citizens: Wilsonville residents who have a
disability or are older senior citizens would be offered home pick-up of large/bulky waste
items free of charge. This would be a limited-duration program of one year or less with a
budget of $10,000 that estimates 250 pick-ups at an average cost $40 each, with an estimated
start in Q1 2020 (February).

3. Styrofoam Collection/Recycling: Republic Services would set up a collection station at its
WRI transfer facility for residents and commercial/industrial customers to deposit clean
Styrofoam packaging for recycling. As a new pilot-program, total demand is uncertain;
however, both industrial businesses and residents have indicated high interest. Program to be
evaluated during next solid waste rate review process. A total of $10,000 is budgeted with an
estimated start date in Q1 2020 (March).

4. Commercial/Industrial Fluorescent Tubes/Batteries Box Mail-Back Service: Businesses
would be to obtain at no charge for a limited duration of one year or less “recycling box mail-
back” service for 48" fluorescent tubes and batteries. Based on results and feedback to the
successful 2017 Wilsonville-Metro Community Enhancement Program project, City staff
could determine that greatest demand appears to be for standard 4-foot-long tubes and
batteries. A total of $15,000 is budgeted with an estimated start date in Q1 2020 (March).

5. Commercial Food-Scraps Collection Program: City Council adopted Ordinance No. 837
on August 5, 2019 to codify the Metro-mandated commercial food-scraps collection program
that commences in Q1 2020 (March) for the largest food-scrap generators (known as Group
1). This new program would be funded through a “blended-rate” structure similar to all other
standard, mandated solid-waste collection and recycling services that would include food-
scraps collection. By Metro mandate, the program is expected to grow over the next three
years to encompass all sizes of businesses that generate food scraps.

City Public-Benefit Service: 
6. Public Works Street-Sweepings and Leaf Collection and Disposal: The City is need of

collection and disposal services for street-sweepings and leaves, which is required by law.
Republic Services is tentatively able to provide these services with DEQ permitting to the

EXHIBIT B

Page 100 of 301



City of Wilsonville – Republic Services Agreement  Exhibit B to 
Creating New Community Recycling Services and  Resolution No. 2775 
City Street-Sweeping Collection/Disposal Service, and December 16, 2019 
Reducing the Temporary Recycling Surcharge Rate 

— 2 — 

City at an estimated annual cost of approximately $85,000. The staff recommendation allows 
for about $75,000 of rate-of-return margin that would be credited to City for collection and 
disposal services for street-sweepings and leaves by Republic Services. 

Rate Reduction: 
7. Across-the-Board 50% Rate Reduction in the Temporary Recycling-Surcharge:

Analysis shows Republic Services’ current recycling revenue is matching the actual costs,
and the change in allowable expenses under the new franchise agreement is the main driver
for the reduction of this surcharge. Staff recommendation with Republic Services agreement
allows for reducing by half (50%) the temporary recycling-surcharge for both residents (a
$1.25/month reduction from $2.50/month to a net charge of $1.25/month) and for
commercial firms (a $0.75/yard/number of pick-ups to a net charge of $0.75/yard/number of
pick-ups per week). The surcharge modification should start on January 1, 2020.

EXHIBIT B

Page 101 of 301



Resolution No. 2776 Staff Report Page 1 of 4 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: December 16, 2019 Subject: Resolution No. 2776 
A Resolution of the City of Wilsonville Authorizing 
the City Manager to Execute a Professional Services 
Agreement with JayRay Ads & PR, Inc, for ‘Explore 
Wilsonville’ Tourism Promotion and Development 
and Destination Marketing Services. 

Staff Member: Mark Ottenad, Public/Government 
Affairs Director and Zoe Monahan, Assistant to the 
City Manager 

Departments: Administration 

Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 
Recommendation  

Motion Approval 
Public Hearing Date: Denial 
Ordinance 1st Reading Date: None Forwarded 
Ordinance 2nd Reading Date: Not Applicable 
Resolution Comments: N/A 
Information or Direction 
Information Only 
Council Direction 
Consent Agenda 

Staff Recommendations: Staff recommends that Council adopt Resolution No. 2776. 

Recommended Language for Motion: I move to approve Resolution No. 2776. 

PROJECT / ISSUE RELATES TO: 
Council Goals/Priorities Adopted Master Plan(s) Not Applicable 

ISSUE BEFORE COUNCIL: 
City Council adoption of Resolution No. 2776 advances a professional services agreement with 
JayRay Ads & PR, Inc., for ‘Explore Wilsonville’ tourism promotion and development and 
destination marketing services for the period of Jan. 1, 2020, through June 30, 2021. 

Page 102 of 301



Resolution No. 2776 Staff Report       Page 2 of 4 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The City Council adopted on July 15, 2019, Resolution No. 2758 that approved the FY 2019/20 
Five-Year Action Plan and Annual One-Year Implementation Plan for the Wilsonville Tourism 
Development Strategy and Half-Year FY 2019/20 Tourism Promotion & Destination Marketing 
Services Plan (emphasis added).  
 
Due to the dissolution in May 2019 of the firm that had provided tourism promotion services to 
the City, the City Council approved an interim, six-month agreement with one of the partners of 
the former firm to provide tourism promotion services. The City conducted an RFP process during 
August through November that resulted in the Tourism Promotion Committee and staff 
recommending retaining the services of JayRay Ads & PR, Inc.  
 
Resolution No. 2776 provides for the City to obtain professional tourism promotion services for 
the last half of FY 2019/20 and the subsequent FY 2020/21. The agreement contains a provision 
for two optional one-year renewals.  
 
Background Information 
City Council members may recall that as City staff was preparing to bring to Council for adoption 
Resolution No. 2758 on June 17, 2019, the City was informed that the contracted tourism-
promotion consultant firm, Vertigo Marketing LLC that devised the FY 2019/20 Tourism 
Promotion & Destination Marketing Services Plan was dissolving. Staff and Tourism Promotion 
Committee then opted to receive proposals for an abbreviated six-month tourism services 
agreement from the principals of the dissolved firm while simultaneously going out with an RFP 
for tourism promotion services. 
 
City Council adopted Resolution No. 2758 a month later on July 15, 2019, that approved the 
overall tourism promotion program plan and a, interim six-month (half-year) FY 2019/20 Tourism 
Promotion & Destination Marketing Services Plan. 
 
On August 20, 2019, the City published an RFP for ‘Explore Wilsonville’ Tourism Promotion and 
Development and Destination Marketing Services and received eight (8) qualified proposals by 
the deadline of September 30, 2019. Members of the Tourism Promotion Committee and staff 
acting as the Selection Review Committee reviewed all eight proposals on October 18, 2019, and 
selected four (4) finalists to interview. During the course of interviews that were conducted on 
November 13, 2019, one firm stood out as the consensus choice of the committee with the highest 
criteria evaluation: JayRay of Tacoma, Washington. 
 
JayRay’s proposal and interview specifically addressed many of the Tourism Promotion 
Committee members’ issues of concern, including demonstrating a keen understanding of 
Wilsonville’s position in the shadow of a major market, a regional tourism marketing approach 
that positions Wilsonville as the ideal overnight lodging location for day trips to area attractions, 
and a strategic focus to develop new “packages” that encourage visitation during the slower 
shoulder-season months. 
 
The City’s current firm, Velocity Tourism LLC, filed a protest with the City’s notice of intent to 
award. The protest was denied by staff and Velocity was informed the contract would be awarded 
to JayRay. 

Page 103 of 301



Resolution No. 2776 Staff Report       Page 3 of 4 
 

 
EXPECTED RESULTS: 
Adoption of the resolution advances the Council-approved the FY 2019/20 Five-Year Action Plan 
and Annual One-Year Implementation Plan for the Wilsonville Tourism Development Strategy 
approved by Resolution No. 2758, and provides the logistical support and expertise to advance 
current tourism promotion efforts and develop the next FY 2020/21 Tourism Promotion and 
Development & Destination Marketing Services Plan for implementation. 
 
TIMELINE: 
Resolution No. 2776 advances a professional services agreement with JayRay Ads & PR, Inc., for 
‘Explore Wilsonville’ tourism promotion and development and destination marketing services for 
the period of Jan. 1, 2020, through June 30, 2021. 
 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS: 
The Scope of Work in the Professional Services Agreement is in line with budgeted tourism 
promotion funds for FY 2019/20 and with those funds anticipated to be budgeted in FY 2020/21 
(same as current and past three years at $200,000/year). The Scope of Work for the remainder of 
FY 2019/20 totals $100,000, which is the amount, budgeted.  
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENT: 
Reviewed by: CAR Date: 12/11/2019 
 
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT: 
Reviewed by: BAJ Date: 12/11/2019 
 
City Legal staff sent a letter denying the protest, on December 6, to date no response has been 
received from Velocity. 
 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS: 
Development of the underlying Tourism Development Strategy had considerable public 
engagement during the 2013-14 timeframe that included participation by a large citizen task force 
and interviews/surveys with residents and tourism stakeholders. Subsequently, the Tourism 
Promotion Committee has overseen development of three annual business plans, adopted by 
Council, that have been advertised to the community. Members of the Tourism Promotion 
Committee represent a wide spectrum of community interests. 
 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OR BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY: 
Potential benefits to the community included increased awareness of Wilsonville as a viable 
tourism destination, development of better visitor services and new revenues to local businesses 
and increased transient lodging tax collections for the City.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
N/A. 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT: 
Adoption of Resolution No. 2776 advances Council prior action on July 15, 2019, that adopted 
Resolution No. 2758.  

Page 104 of 301



Resolution No. 2776 Staff Report       Page 4 of 4 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Resolution No. 2776 

1. Professional Services Agreement with JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. for ‘Explore 
Wilsonville’ Tourism Promotion and Development and Destination Marketing 
Services. 

B. Proposal by JayRay responding to City RFP for ‘Explore Wilsonville’ Tourism Promotion And 
Development And Destination Marketing Services, September 30, 2019 

Page 105 of 301



 ATTACHMENT A 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2776  Page 1 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\7. Res. No. 2776\b. Resolution No. 2776.docx 

RESOLUTION NO. 2776 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 
JAYRAY ADS & PR, INC. FOR ‘EXPLORE WILSONVILLE’ TOURISM PROMOTION 
AND DEVELOPMENT AND DESTINATION MARKETING SERVICES. 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2468 on May 5, 2014, approving 

the Wilsonville Tourism Development Strategy (“Strategy”), which set forth a blueprint for 

implementing a tourism strategy for the greater Wilsonville community, including forming a 

Destination Marketing Organization (DMO) or committee to develop and promote tourism; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2541 on June 15, 2015, to establish 

the Tourism Promotion Committee that, among other duties, is to oversee the implementation of 

the Strategy and develop an annual business plan; and 

WHEREAS, on April 4, 2016, the City Council adopted the first annual FY 2016/17 Five-

Year Action Plan and Annual One-Year Implementation Plan for the Wilsonville Tourism 

Development Strategy, a business plan for the tourism promotion program; and 

WHEREAS, on June 19, 2017, the City Council adopted the second annual rolling FY 

2017/18 Five-Year Action Plan and Annual One-Year Implementation Plan for the Wilsonville 

Tourism Development Strategy, a business plan for the tourism promotion program; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2669 on February 22, 2018, which 

approved the FY 2017/18 & 18/19 Tourism Promotion Marketing Plan composed of the “FY 

2017/18 & 18/19 Marketing Playbook” Plan, dated February 2018, and supporting “Scope of 

Work 2018/2019 Advertising & Marketing Services,” dated January 19, 2018, to implement the 

Wilsonville Tourism Development Strategy; and; 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2681 on March 19, 2018, which 

approved a Tourism Advertising and Marketing Services Professional Services Agreement that 

exercised a first one-year contract extension with a tourism operations and marketing 

development consultant that supports implementation of Resolution No. 2669; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2699 on July 16, 2018, the third 

annual rolling FY 2018/19 Five-Year Action Plan and Annual One-Year Implementation Plan for 

Page 106 of 301



 ATTACHMENT A 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2776  Page 2 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\7. Res. No. 2776\b. Resolution No. 2776.docx 

the Wilsonville Tourism Development Strategy, a business plan for the tourism promotion 

program; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2758 on July 15, 2019, which 

approved the FY 2019/20 Five-Year Action Plan and Annual One-Year Implementation Plan for 

the Wilsonville Tourism Development Strategy and Half-Year FY 2019/20 Tourism Promotion & 

Destination Marketing Services Plan for the period of time from June 30, 2019, to January 1, 

2020; and 

WHEREAS, City staff worked with the Tourism Promotion Committee to develop a 

Request for Proposals (RFP) for ‘Explore Wilsonville’ Tourism Promotion and Development 

and Destination Marketing Services, published on August 20, 2019, that would cover the period 

of January 1, 2020 through June 30, 2021; and 

WHEREAS, the City received eight (8) qualified proposals by the September  30, 2019 

deadline, which members of the Tourism Promotion Committee and staff, acting as the Selection 

Review Committee, reviewed on October 18, 2019 and selected four (4) finalists to interview; 

and 

WHEREAS, members of the Tourism Promotion Committee and staff, acting as the 

Selection Review Committee, interviewed four (4) finalists on November 13, 2019 and 

recommended to the City Council, as the consensus choice of the committee with the highest 

criteria evaluation, retaining the professional services of JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. of Tacoma, 

Washington; and 

WHEREAS, the City and members of the Tourism Promotion Committee believe that the 

proposal by JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. provides the tourism promotion and development and 

destination marketing services needed by the City and is in the best interest of the City to 

continue the tourism-promotion program; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Council approves and authorizes the City Manager to execute, on behalf 

of the City of Wilsonville, a Professional Services Agreement with JayRay Ads & 

PR, Inc. for ‘Explore Wilsonville’ Tourism Promotion and Development and 

Destination Marketing Services that is substantially similar in form as Exhibit 1 

attached hereto. 

2. This Resolution becomes effective upon adoption. 

Page 107 of 301



 ATTACHMENT A 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2776  Page 3 of 3 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\7. Res. No. 2776\b. Resolution No. 2776.docx 

 

ADOPTED by the Wilsonville City Council at a regular meeting thereof this 16th day of 

December 2019, and filed with the Wilsonville City Recorder this date. 

 
 
       __________________________________ 
       TIM KNAPP, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
 

SUMMARY OF VOTES: 

Mayor Knapp    

Council President Akervall  

Councilor Lehan   

Councilor West   

Councilor Linville   

 

EXHIBIT: 

1. Professional Services Agreement with JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. for ‘Explore Wilsonville’ 

Tourism Promotion and Development and Destination Marketing Services. 

 

Page 108 of 301



 
Professional Services Agreement (lf) –  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. (Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing Project) Page 1 

CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing 

 
EXH A – Scope 
This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) for the Tourism Promotion and 
Destination Marketing Project (“Project”) is made and entered into on this _____ day of 
_______________ 20__ (“Effective Date”) by and between the City of Wilsonville, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Oregon (hereinafter referred to as the “City”), and JayRay Ads & 
PR, Inc., a Washington corporation (hereinafter referred to as “Consultant”). 
 

RECITALS 
 
WHEREAS, the City requires services which Consultant is capable of providing, under terms 
and conditions hereinafter described; and 
 
WHEREAS, Consultant represents that Consultant is qualified to perform the services described 
herein on the basis of specialized experience and technical expertise; and 
 
WHEREAS, Consultant is prepared to provide such services as the City does hereinafter require. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual promises and the terms and conditions 
set forth herein, the parties agree as follows: 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
Section 1.  Scope of Work 
 
Consultant shall diligently perform the tourism advertising and marketing services according to 
the requirements identified in the Scope of Work for the Project, attached hereto as Exhibit A 
and incorporated by reference herein (the “Services”). 
 
Section 2.  Term 
 
The term of this Agreement shall be from the Effective Date until all Services required to be 
performed hereunder are completed and accepted, or no later than June 30, 2021, whichever 
occurs first, unless earlier terminated in accordance herewith or an extension of time is agreed 
to, in writing, by the City. 
 
Section 3.  Consultant’s Services 
 

3.1. All written documents prepared by Consultant in conjunction with the Services 
shall bear the signature, stamp, or initials of Consultant’s authorized Project Manager. 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 109 of 301



 
Professional Services Agreement (lf) –  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. (Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing Project) Page 2 

3.2. Consultant will not be deemed to be in default by reason of delays in performance 
due to circumstances beyond Consultant’s reasonable control, including but not limited to strikes, 
lockouts, severe acts of nature, or other unavoidable delays or acts of third parties not under 
Consultant’s direction and control (“Force Majeure”).  In the case of the happening of any Force 
Majeure event, the time for completion of the Services will be extended accordingly and 
proportionately by the City, in writing.  Lack of labor, supplies, materials, or the cost of any of 
the foregoing shall not be deemed a Force Majeure event. 
 

3.3. The existence of this Agreement between the City and Consultant shall not be 
construed as the City’s promise or assurance that Consultant will be retained for future services 
beyond the Scope of Work described herein. 
 

3.4. Consultant shall maintain the confidentiality of any confidential information that 
is exempt from disclosure under state or federal law to which Consultant may have access by 
reason of this Agreement.  Consultant warrants that Consultant’s employees assigned to the 
Services provided for in this Agreement shall be clearly instructed to maintain this 
confidentiality.  All agreements with respect to confidentiality shall survive the termination or 
expiration of this Agreement. 
 
Section 4.  Compensation 
 

4.1. Except as otherwise set forth in this Section 4, the City agrees to pay Consultant 
on a time and materials basis, guaranteed not to exceed THREE HUNDRED THOUSAND 
DOLLARS ($300,000), for performance of the Services (“Compensation Amount”).  Any 
compensation in excess of the Compensation Amount will require an express written Addendum 
to be executed between the City and Consultant. 
 

4.2. During the course of Consultant’s performance, if the City, through its Project 
Manager, specifically requests Consultant to provide additional services that are beyond the 
Scope of Work described on Exhibit A, a written Addendum to this Agreement must be executed 
in compliance with the provisions of Section 14. 
 

4.3. Except for amounts withheld by the City pursuant to this Agreement, Consultant 
will be paid for Services for which an itemized invoice is received by the City within thirty (30) 
days of receipt, unless the City disputes such invoice.  In that instance, the undisputed portion of 
the invoice will be paid by the City within the above timeframe.  The City will set forth its reasons 
for the disputed claim amount and make good faith efforts to resolve the invoice dispute with 
Consultant as promptly as is reasonably possible. 
 

4.4. The City will be responsible for the direct payment of required fees payable to 
governmental agencies, including but not limited to plan checking, land use, zoning, and all other 
similar fees resulting from this Project, that are not specifically covered by Exhibit A. 
 

4.5. Consultant’s Compensation Amount is all inclusive and includes, but is not 
limited to, all work-related costs, expenses, salaries or wages, plus fringe benefits and 
contributions, including payroll taxes, workers compensation insurance, liability insurance, 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 110 of 301



Professional Services Agreement (lf) –  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. (Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing Project) Page 3 

profit, pension benefits and similar contributions and benefits, technology and/or software 
charges, licensing, trademark, and/or copyright costs, office expenses, travel expenses, mileage, 
and all other indirect and overhead charges. 

Section 5.  City’s Project Manager 

The City’s Project Manager is Zoe Monahan.  The City shall give Consultant prompt 
written notice of any re-designation of its Project Manager. 

Section 6.  Consultant’s Project Manager 

Consultant’s Project Manager is Bridget Baeth.  In the event that Consultant’s designated Project 
Manager is changed, Consultant shall give the City prompt written notification of such re-
designation.  Recognizing the need for consistency and knowledge in the administration of the 
Project, Consultant’s Project Manager will not be changed without the written consent of the 
City, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  In the event the City receives any 
communication from Consultant that is not from Consultant’s designated Project Manager, the 
City may request verification by Consultant’s Project Manager, which verification must be 
promptly furnished. 

Section 7.  Subcontractors and Assignments 

7.1. Unless expressly authorized in Exhibit A or Section 8 of this Agreement, 
Consultant shall not subcontract with others for any of the Services prescribed herein.  Consultant 
shall not assign any of Consultant’s rights acquired hereunder without obtaining prior written 
approval from the City, which approval may be granted or denied in the City’s sole discretion. 
Some Services may be performed by persons other than Consultant, provided Consultant advises 
the City of the names of such subcontractors and the work which they intend to perform, and the 
City specifically agrees in writing to such subcontracting.  Consultant acknowledges such work 
will be provided to the City pursuant to a subcontract(s) between Consultant and subcontractor(s) 
and no privity of contract exists between the City and the subcontractor(s).  Unless otherwise 
specifically provided by this Agreement, the City incurs no liability to third persons for payment 
of any compensation provided herein to Consultant.  Any attempted assignment of this 
Agreement without the written consent of the City shall be void.  Except as otherwise specifically 
agreed, all costs for work performed by others on behalf of Consultant shall not be subject to 
additional reimbursement by the City. 

7.2. The City shall have the right to enter into other agreements for the Project, to be 
coordinated with this Agreement.  Consultant shall cooperate with the City and other firms or 
subcontractors on the Project so that all portions of the Project may be completed in the least 
possible time and within normal working hours. 

7.3. Consultant shall include this Agreement by reference in any subcontract and 
require subcontractors to perform in strict compliance with this Agreement. 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 111 of 301



 
Professional Services Agreement (lf) –  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. (Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing Project) Page 4 

Section 8.  Consultant Is Independent Contractor 
 

8.1. Consultant is an independent contractor for all purposes and shall be entitled to 
no compensation other than the Compensation Amount provided for under Section 4 of this 
Agreement.  Consultant will be solely responsible for determining the manner and means of 
accomplishing the end result of Consultant’s Services.  The City does not have the right to control 
or interfere with the manner or method of accomplishing said Services.  The City, however, will 
have the right to specify and control the results of Consultant’s Services so such Services meet 
the requirements of the Project. 
 

8.2. Consultant may request that some consulting services be performed on the Project 
by persons or firms other than Consultant, through a subcontract with Consultant.  Consultant 
acknowledges that if such services are provided to the City pursuant to a subcontract(s) between 
Consultant and those who provide such services, Consultant may not utilize any subcontractor(s), 
or in any way assign its responsibility under this Agreement, without first obtaining the express 
written consent of the City, which consent may be given or denied in the City’s sole discretion.  
In all cases, processing and payment of billings from subcontractors is solely the responsibility 
of Consultant. 
 

8.3. Consultant shall be responsible for, and defend, indemnify, and hold the City 
harmless against, any liability, cost, or damage arising out of Consultant’s use of such 
subcontractor(s) and subcontractor’s negligent acts, errors, or omissions.  Unless otherwise 
agreed to, in writing, by the City, Consultant shall require that all of Consultant’s subcontractors 
also comply with, and be subject to, the provisions of this Section 8 and meet the same insurance 
requirements of Consultant under this Agreement. 
 
Section 9.  Consultant Responsibilities 
 

9.1. Consultant must make prompt payment for any claims for labor, materials, or 
services furnished to Consultant by any person in connection with this Agreement as such claims 
become due.  Consultant shall not permit any liens or claims to be filed or prosecuted against the 
City on account of any labor or material furnished to or on behalf of Consultant.  If Consultant 
fails, neglects, or refuses to make prompt payment of any such claim, the City may, but shall not 
be obligated to, pay such claim to the person furnishing the labor, materials, or services and offset 
the amount of the payment against funds due or to become due to Consultant under this 
Agreement.  The City may also recover any such amounts directly from Consultant. 
 

9.2. Consultant must comply with all applicable Oregon and federal wage and hour 
laws, including Bureau of Labor and Industries (BOLI) wage requirements, if applicable.  
Consultant shall make all required workers compensation and medical care payments on time.  
Consultant shall be fully responsible for payment of all employee withholdings required by law, 
including but not limited to taxes, including payroll, income, Social Security (FICA), and 
Medicaid.  Consultant shall also be fully responsible for payment of salaries, benefits, taxes, 
Industrial Accident Fund contributions, and all other charges on account of any employees.  
Consultant shall pay to the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from employees pursuant 
to ORS 316.167.  All costs incident to the hiring of assistants or employees shall be Consultant’s 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 112 of 301



 
Professional Services Agreement (lf) –  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. (Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing Project) Page 5 

responsibility.  Consultant shall defend, indemnify, and hold the City harmless from claims for 
payment of all such expenses. 
 

9.3. No person shall be discriminated against by Consultant or any subcontractor in 
the performance of this Agreement on the basis of sex, gender, race, color, creed, religion, marital 
status, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, or national origin.  Any violation of 
this provision shall be grounds for cancellation, termination, or suspension of the Agreement, in 
whole or in part, by the City.  References to “subcontractor” mean a subcontractor at any tier. 
 
Section 10.  Indemnity 
 

10.1. Indemnification.  Consultant acknowledges responsibility for liability arising out 
of the performance of this Agreement, and shall defend, indemnify, and hold the City harmless 
from any and all liability, settlements, loss, costs, and expenses in connection with any action, 
suit, or claim resulting or allegedly resulting from Consultant’s negligent acts, omissions, errors, 
or willful or reckless misconduct pursuant to this Agreement, or from Consultant’s failure to 
perform its responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement.  The review, approval, or acceptance 
by the City, its Project Manager, or any City employee of documents or other work performed, 
prepared, or submitted by Consultant shall not be considered a negligent act, error, omission, or 
willful misconduct on the part of the City, and none of the foregoing shall relieve Consultant of 
its responsibility to perform in full conformity with the City’s requirements, as set forth in this 
Agreement, and to indemnify the City as provided above and to reimburse the City for any and 
all costs and damages suffered by the City as a result of Consultant’s negligent performance of 
this Agreement, failure of performance hereunder, violation of state or federal laws, or failure to 
adhere to the standards of performance and care described in Subsection 10.2.  Consultant shall 
defend the City (using legal counsel reasonably acceptable to the City) against any claim that 
alleges negligent acts, omissions, errors, or willful or reckless misconduct by Consultant.  As 
used herein, the term “Consultant” applies to Consultant and its own agents, employees, and 
suppliers, and to all of Consultant’s subcontractors, including their agents, employees, and 
suppliers. 
 

10.2. Standard of Care.  In the performance of the Services, Consultant agrees to use at 
least that degree of care and skill exercised under similar circumstances by reputable members 
of Consultant’s profession practicing in the Portland metropolitan area.  Consultant will re-
perform any Services not meeting this standard without additional compensation.  Consultant’s 
re-performance of any Services, even if done at the City’s request, shall not be considered as a 
limitation or waiver by the City of any other remedies or claims it may have arising out of 
Consultant’s failure to perform in accordance with the applicable standard of care of this 
Agreement and within the prescribed timeframe. 
 
Section 11.  Insurance 
 

11.1. Insurance Requirements.  Consultant shall maintain insurance coverage 
acceptable to the City in full force and effect throughout the term of this Agreement.  Such 
insurance shall cover all risks arising directly or indirectly out of Consultant’s activities or work 
hereunder.  Any and all agents, contractors, or subcontractors with which Consultant contracts 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 113 of 301



 
Professional Services Agreement (lf) –  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. (Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing Project) Page 6 

to work on the Services must have insurance that conforms to the insurance requirements in this 
Agreement.  Additionally, if a subcontractor is an engineer, architect, or other professional, 
Consultant must require the subcontractor to carry Professional Errors and Omissions insurance 
and must provide to the City proof of such coverage.  The amount of insurance carried is in no 
way a limitation on Consultant’s liability hereunder.  The policy or policies maintained by 
Consultant shall provide at least the following minimum limits and coverages at all times during 
performance under this Agreement: 
 

11.1.1.  Commercial General Liability Insurance.  Consultant and all 
subcontractors shall obtain, at each of their own expense, and keep in effect during the 
term of this Agreement, comprehensive Commercial General Liability Insurance 
covering Bodily Injury and Property Damage, written on an “occurrence” form policy.  
This coverage shall include broad form Contractual Liability insurance for the 
indemnities provided under this Agreement and shall be for the following minimum 
insurance coverage amounts:  The coverage shall be in the amount of $2,000,000 for each 
occurrence and $3,000,000 general aggregate and shall include Products-Completed 
Operations Aggregate in the minimum amount of $2,000,000 per occurrence, Fire 
Damage (any one fire) in the minimum amount of $50,000, and Medical Expense (any 
one person) in the minimum amount of $10,000.  All of the foregoing coverages must be 
carried and maintained at all times during this Agreement. 

 
11.1.2.  Professional Errors and Omissions Coverage.  Consultant agrees to carry 

Professional Errors and Omissions Liability insurance on a policy form appropriate to the 
professionals providing the Services hereunder with a limit of no less than $2,000,000 
per claim.  Consultant shall maintain this insurance for damages alleged to be as a result 
of errors, omissions, or negligent acts of Consultant.  Such policy shall have a retroactive 
date effective before the commencement of any work by Consultant on the Services 
covered by this Agreement, and coverage will remain in force for a period of at least three 
(3) years after termination of the Contract. 

 
11.1.3.  Business Automobile Liability Insurance.  If Consultant or any 

subcontractors will be using a motor vehicle in the performance of the Services herein, 
Consultant shall provide the City a certificate indicating that Consultant and its 
subcontractors have business automobile liability coverage for all owned, hired, and non-
owned vehicles.  The Combined Single Limit per occurrence shall not be less than 
$2,000,000. 

 
11.1.4.  Workers Compensation Insurance.  Consultant, its subcontractors, and all 

employers providing work, labor, or materials under this Agreement that are subject 
employers under the Oregon Workers Compensation Law shall comply with 
ORS 656.017, which requires them to provide workers compensation coverage that 
satisfies Oregon law for all their subject workers under ORS 656.126.  Out-of-state 
employers must provide Oregon workers compensation coverage for their workers who 
work at a single location within Oregon for more than thirty (30) days in a calendar year.  
Consultants who perform work without the assistance or labor of any employee need not 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 114 of 301



 
Professional Services Agreement (lf) –  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. (Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing Project) Page 7 

obtain such coverage.  This shall include Employer’s Liability Insurance with coverage 
limits of not less than $500,000 each accident. 

 
11.1.5.  Insurance Carrier Rating.  Coverages provided by Consultant and its 

subcontractors must be underwritten by an insurance company deemed acceptable by the 
City, with an AM Best Rating of A or better.  The City reserves the right to reject all or 
any insurance carrier(s) with a financial rating that is unacceptable to the City. 

 
11.1.6.  Additional Insured and Termination Endorsements.  The City will be 

named as an additional insured with respect to Consultant’s liabilities hereunder in 
insurance coverages.  Additional Insured coverage under Consultant’s Commercial 
General Liability, Automobile Liability, and Excess Liability Policies, as applicable, will 
be provided by endorsement.  Additional insured coverage shall be for both ongoing 
operations via ISO Form CG 2010 or its equivalent, and products and completed 
operations via ISO Form CG 2037 or its equivalent.  Coverage shall be Primary and Non-
Contributory.  Waiver of Subrogation endorsement via ISO Form CG 2404 or its 
equivalent shall be provided.  The following is included as additional insured:  “The City 
of Wilsonville, its elected and appointed officials, officers, agents, employees, and 
volunteers.”  An endorsement shall also be provided requiring the insurance carrier to 
give the City at least thirty (30) days’ written notification of any termination or major 
modification of the insurance policies required hereunder.  Consultant must be an 
additional insured on the insurance policies obtained by its subcontractors performing 
work on the Services contemplated under this Agreement. 

 
11.1.7.  Certificates of Insurance.  As evidence of the insurance coverage required 

by this Agreement, Consultant shall furnish a Certificate of Insurance to the City.  This 
Agreement shall not be effective until the required certificates and the Additional Insured 
Endorsements have been received and approved by the City.  Consultant agrees that it 
will not terminate or change its coverage during the term of this Agreement without 
giving the City at least thirty (30) days’ prior advance notice and Consultant will obtain 
an endorsement from its insurance carrier, in favor of the City, requiring the carrier to 
notify the City of any termination or change in insurance coverage, as provided above. 

 
11.2. Primary Coverage.  The coverage provided by these policies shall be primary, and 

any other insurance carried by the City is excess.  Consultant shall be responsible for any 
deductible amounts payable under all policies of insurance.  If insurance policies are “Claims 
Made” policies, Consultant will be required to maintain such policies in full force and effect 
throughout any warranty period. 
 
Section 12.  Early Termination; Default 
 

12.1. This Agreement may be terminated prior to the expiration of the agreed upon 
terms: 
 

12.1.1. By mutual written consent of the parties; 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 115 of 301



 
Professional Services Agreement (lf) –  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. (Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing Project) Page 8 

12.1.2. By the City, for any reason, and within its sole discretion, effective upon 
delivery of written notice to Consultant by mail or in person; or 

 
12.1.3. By Consultant, effective upon seven (7) days’ prior written notice in the 

event of substantial failure by the City to perform in accordance with the terms through 
no fault of Consultant, where such default is not cured within the seven (7) day period by 
the City.  Withholding of disputed payment is not a default by the City. 

 
12.2. If the City terminates this Agreement, in whole or in part, due to default or failure 

of Consultant to perform Services in accordance with the Agreement, the City may procure, upon 
reasonable terms and in a reasonable manner, services similar to those so terminated.  In addition 
to any other remedies the City may have, both at law and in equity, for breach of contract, 
Consultant shall be liable for all costs and damages incurred by the City as a result of the default 
by Consultant, including, but not limited to all costs incurred by the City in procuring services 
from others as needed to complete this Agreement.  This Agreement shall be in full force to the 
extent not terminated by written notice from the City to Consultant.  In the event of a default, the 
City will provide Consultant with written notice of the default and a period of ten (10) days to 
cure the default.  If Consultant notifies the City that it wishes to cure the default but cannot, in 
good faith, do so within the ten (10) day cure period provided, then the City may elect, in its sole 
discretion, to extend the cure period to an agreed upon time period, or the City may elect to 
terminate this Agreement and seek remedies for the default, as provided above. 
 

12.3. If the City terminates this Agreement for its own convenience not due to any 
default by Consultant, payment of Consultant shall be prorated to, and include the day of, 
termination and shall be in full satisfaction of all claims by Consultant against the City under this 
Agreement. 
 

12.4. Termination under any provision of this section shall not affect any right, 
obligation, or liability of Consultant or the City that accrued prior to such termination.  Consultant 
shall surrender to the City items of work or portions thereof, referred to in Section 16, for which 
Consultant has received payment or the City has made payment. 
 
Section 13.  Suspension of Services 
 
The City may suspend, delay, or interrupt all or any part of the Services for such time as the City 
deems appropriate for its own convenience by giving written notice thereof to Consultant.  An 
adjustment in the time of performance or method of compensation shall be allowed as a result of 
such delay or suspension unless the reason for the delay is within Consultant’s control.  The City 
shall not be responsible for Services performed by any subcontractors after notice of suspension 
is given by the City to Consultant.  Should the City suspend, delay, or interrupt the Services and 
the suspension is not within Consultant’s control, then the City shall extend the time of 
completion by the length of the delay. 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 116 of 301



 
Professional Services Agreement (lf) –  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. (Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing Project) Page 9 

Section 14.  Modification/Addendum 
 
Any modification of the provisions of this Agreement shall not be enforceable unless reduced to 
writing and signed by both the City and Consultant.  A modification is a written document, 
contemporaneously executed by the City and Consultant, which increases or decreases the cost 
to the City over the agreed Compensation Amount in Section 4 of this Agreement, or changes or 
modifies the Scope of Work or the time for performance.  No modification shall be binding or 
effective until executed, in writing, by both Consultant and the City.  If Consultant incurs 
additional costs or devotes additional time on Project tasks, the City shall be responsible for 
payment of only those additional costs for which it has agreed to pay under a signed Addendum 
to this Agreement. 
 
Section 15.  Access to Records 
 
The City shall have access, upon request, to such books, documents, receipts, papers, and records 
of Consultant as are directly pertinent to this Agreement for the purpose of making audit, 
examination, excerpts, and transcripts during the term of this Agreement and for a period of four 
(4) years after termination of the Agreement, unless the City specifically requests an extension.  
This clause shall survive the expiration, completion, or termination of this Agreement. 
 
Section 16.  Property of the City 
 

16.1. All documents, reports, and research gathered or prepared by Consultant under 
this Agreement, including but not limited to spreadsheets, charts, graphs, drawings, modeling, 
maps, data generation, papers, and diaries, shall be the exclusive property of the City and shall 
be delivered to the City prior to final payment.  Any statutory or common law rights to such 
property held by Consultant as creator of such work shall be conveyed to the City upon request 
without additional compensation. 
 
Section 17.  Notices 
 
Any notice required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given 
when actually delivered in person or forty-eight (48) hours after having been deposited in the 
United States mail as certified or registered mail, addressed to the addresses set forth below, or 
to such other address as one party may indicate by written notice to the other party. 
 

To City:  City of Wilsonville 
   Attn:  Zoe Monahan, Assistant to the City Manager 
   29799 SW Town Center Loop East 
   Wilsonville, OR  97070 

 
To Consultant:  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. 
   Attn:  Bridget Baeth, Senior Advisor and Principal 
   535 Dock Street, Suite 205 
   Tacoma, WA  98402 

 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 117 of 301



 
Professional Services Agreement (lf) –  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. (Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing Project) Page 10 

Section 18.  Miscellaneous Provisions 
 

18.1. Integration.  This Agreement, including all exhibits attached hereto, contains the 
entire and integrated agreement between the parties and supersedes all prior written or oral 
discussions, representations, or agreements.  In case of conflict among these documents, the 
provisions of this Agreement shall control. 
 

18.2. Legal Effect and Assignment.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure 
to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors, 
and assigns.  This Agreement may be enforced by an action at law or in equity. 
 

18.3. No Assignment.  Consultant may not assign this Agreement, nor delegate the 
performance of any obligations hereunder, unless agreed to in advance and in writing by the City. 
 

18.4. Adherence to Law.  In the performance of this Agreement, Consultant shall adhere 
to all applicable federal, state, and local laws (including the Wilsonville Code and Public Works 
Standards), including but not limited to laws, rules, regulations, and policies concerning 
employer and employee relationships, workers compensation, and minimum and prevailing wage 
requirements.  Any certificates, licenses, or permits that Consultant is required by law to obtain 
or maintain in order to perform the Services described on Exhibit A, shall be obtained and 
maintained throughout the term of this Agreement. 
 

18.5. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and 
governed by the laws of the State of Oregon, regardless of any conflicts of laws.  All contractual 
provisions required by ORS Chapters 279A, 279B, 279C, and related Oregon Administrative 
Rules to be included in public agreements are hereby incorporated by reference and shall become 
a part of this Agreement as if fully set forth herein. 
 

18.6. Jurisdiction.  Venue for any dispute will be in Clackamas County Circuit Court. 
 

18.7. Legal Action/Attorney Fees.  If a suit, action, or other proceeding of any nature 
whatsoever (including any proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code) is instituted in 
connection with any controversy arising out of this Agreement or to interpret or enforce any 
rights or obligations hereunder, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover attorney, 
paralegal, accountant, and other expert fees and all other fees, costs, and expenses actually 
incurred and reasonably necessary in connection therewith, as determined by the court or body 
at trial or on any appeal or review, in addition to all other amounts provided by law.  If the City 
is required to seek legal assistance to enforce any term of this Agreement, such fees shall include 
all of the above fees, whether or not a proceeding is initiated.  Payment of all such fees shall also 
apply to any administrative proceeding, trial, and/or any appeal or petition for review. 
 

18.8. Nonwaiver.  Failure by either party at any time to require performance by the 
other party of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall in no way affect the party’s rights 
hereunder to enforce the same, nor shall any waiver by the party of the breach hereof be held to 
be a waiver of any succeeding breach or a waiver of this nonwaiver clause. 
 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 118 of 301



 
Professional Services Agreement (lf) –  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. (Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing Project) Page 11 

18.9. Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is found to be void or 
unenforceable to any extent, it is the intent of the parties that the rest of the Agreement shall 
remain in full force and effect, to the greatest extent allowed by law. 
 

18.10. Modification.  This Agreement may not be modified except by written instrument 
executed by Consultant and the City. 
 

18.11. Time of the Essence.  Time is expressly made of the essence in the performance 
of this Agreement. 
 

18.12. Calculation of Time.  Except where the reference is to business days, all periods 
of time referred to herein shall include Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays in the State of 
Oregon, except that if the last day of any period falls on any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday 
observed by the City, the period shall be extended to include the next day which is not a Saturday, 
Sunday, or legal holiday.  Where the reference is to business days, periods of time referred to 
herein shall exclude Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays observed by the City.  Whenever a 
time period is set forth in days in this Agreement, the first day from which the designated period 
of time begins to run shall not be included. 
 

18.13. Headings.  Any titles of the sections of this Agreement are inserted for 
convenience of reference only and shall be disregarded in construing or interpreting any of its 
provisions. 
 

18.14. Number, Gender and Captions.  In construing this Agreement, it is understood 
that, if the context so requires, the singular pronoun shall be taken to mean and include the plural, 
the masculine, the feminine and the neuter, and that, generally, all grammatical changes shall be 
made, assumed, and implied to individuals and/or corporations and partnerships.  All captions 
and paragraph headings used herein are intended solely for convenience of reference and shall in 
no way limit any of the provisions of this Agreement. 
 

18.15. Good Faith and Reasonableness.  The parties intend that the obligations of good 
faith and fair dealing apply to this Agreement generally and that no negative inferences be drawn 
by the absence of an explicit obligation to be reasonable in any portion of this Agreement.  The 
obligation to be reasonable shall only be negated if arbitrariness is clearly and explicitly permitted 
as to the specific item in question, such as in the case of where this Agreement gives the City 
“sole discretion” or the City is allowed to make a decision in its “sole judgment.” 
 

18.16. Other Necessary Acts.  Each party shall execute and deliver to the other all such 
further instruments and documents as may be reasonably necessary to carry out this Agreement 
in order to provide and secure to the other parties the full and complete enjoyment of rights and 
privileges hereunder. 
 

18.17. Interpretation.  As a further condition of this Agreement, the City and Consultant 
acknowledge that this Agreement shall be deemed and construed to have been prepared mutually 
by each party and it shall be expressly agreed that any uncertainty or ambiguity existing therein 
shall not be construed against any party.  In the event that any party shall take an action, whether 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 119 of 301



 
Professional Services Agreement (lf) –  JayRay Ads & PR, Inc. (Tourism Promotion and Destination Marketing Project) Page 12 

judicial or otherwise, to enforce or interpret any of the terms of the Agreement, the prevailing 
party shall be entitled to recover from the other party all expenses which it may reasonably incur 
in taking such action, including attorney fees and costs, whether incurred in a court of law or 
otherwise. 
 

18.18. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and all documents attached to this Agreement 
represent the entire agreement between the parties. 
 

18.19. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 
of which shall constitute an original Agreement but all of which together shall constitute one and 
the same instrument. 
 

18.20. Authority.  Each party signing on behalf of Consultant and the City hereby 
warrants actual authority to bind their respective party. 
 
The Consultant and the City hereby agree to all provisions of this Agreement. 
 
CONSULTANT:     CITY: 
 
JAYRAY ADS & PR, INC.    CITY OF WILSONVILLE 
 
 
By:       By:       
 
Print Name:      Print Name:      
 
As Its:       As Its:       
 
Employer I.D. No.    
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              

Amanda Guile-Hinman, Asst. City Attorney 
       City of Wilsonville, Oregon 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

k:\dir\tourism\destination marketing\doc\psa tourism promotion-destination marketing~jayray (ag^).docx 

EXHIBIT 1
Page 120 of 301



Explore Wilsonville Scope of Work & Budget Detail
TOURISM PROMOTION AND DEVELOPMENT AND DESTINATION MARKETING SERVICES
FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020; FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021
December 5, 2019

FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21
MARKETING SERVICES: $95,775 Jan-June 2020 July 20-June 21
Deliverables (includes advertising/media spend) Budget Phase 1 Phase 2
Media buying: identify advertising opportunities, negotiate favorable ad rates, identify 
insertion dates based on editorial calendar, define ad specs, oversee ad design and 
production, upload ads to publication. Work with partner organizations on co-op ad buys 
and other joint promotion efforts. 

x x

Art and creative direction, including concepting x x

Ad design (for print and digital) x x

Copywriting (for print and digital ads, marketing collateral) x x

Production x x

Advertising allowance ($43,000). Media buys (digital/print) to be placed after campaign 
concepts are approved and media plan has been approved to reach targeted audiences and 
track performance based on past results. Includes social media boosted posts.

x x

May include co-op ad buys with Clackamas County Tourism and Cultural Affairs, dba Oregon's Mt 
Hood Territory as well as placement in regional visitor guides such as Travel Oregon and Travel 
Portland

Email marketing campaign (e-blasts during shoulder-season, non-summer months (9)) 
includes content strategy, template development, list management, design and copywriting x x

Reporting* of marketing KPIs *cost included in Management Services x x

Develop FY2020-21 Tourism Promotion and Development and Destination Marketing Plan x
SUBTOTAL $95,775 $25,233 $70,542

WEBSITE SERVICES: $38,200 Jan-June 2020 July 20-June 21
Deliverables Budget Phase 1 Phase 2
Annual maintenance including software/paid plug-in renewals, website hosting, domain 
renewal, SSL certificate renewals, security/hack alert scanning, and a technical support plan 
(necessary theme and plug-in updates, daily cloud backups, 24/7 uptime monitoring and 
website restored when down within an hour)

x x

Includes domain name & SSL Certificate renewals include: ExploreWilsonville.com 

Develop campaign landing page to track advertising, implement Facebook Pixels and UTMs x x

Optimize website for increased mobile responsiveness, shortening the homepage scroll x

Develop website content strategy to highlight Wilsonville as an overnight basecamp on 
homepage; Highlight upcoming events and new content on homepage, focusing on seasonality 
and shoulder season promotions, ultimately bringing visitors back to the site; enhance Meet 
landing page and Press & Media landing page to include "why Wilsonville" 

x

Provide ongoing content maintenance (attractions, lodging, calendar of events listings, 
photos and graphics) 

x x

Content website development (seasonal hero banners, homepage copy, images, maps...) x x

Reporting* of website traffic and related KPIs *cost included in Management Services x x

Create and implement SEO strategy, including quarterly reports x x
SUBTOTAL $38,200 $16,316 $21,884

EXHIBIT A - Page 1 of 10

EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK

Page 121 of 301



FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020; FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021
Page 2

FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21
SOCIAL MEDIA SERVICES: $34,700 Jan-June 2020 July 20-June 21
Deliverables Budget Phase 1 Phase 2

Develop social media strategy (includes an audit of existing channels). Craft a master 
editorial calendar to include a balance of original and curated content for off-season tourism 
promotion across Instagram, Facebook and Pinterest (at a glance we recommend focusing 
efforts on three channels, closing your Twitter account)

x x

Write and produce social content (copy and images) 3-5 times per week for three social 
media channels following approved social media strategy and editorial calendar  x x

Community management and engagement (schedule and post content on three channels, find 
photos from followers to post, and grow followers) x x

Reporting* of social media KPIs *cost included in Management Services x x
SUBTOTAL $34,700 $12,133 $22,567

PUBLIC RELATIONS SERVICES: $35,075 Jan-June 2020 July 20-June 21
Deliverables Budget Phase 1 Phase 2
Develop PR plan to include 4 media themes/stories to promote shoulder-season travel with 
corresponding PR tactics including media pitches and press releases x x

Subscribe and respond to HARO (Help A Reporter Out) media opportunities (ongoing, 
review daily) x x

Develop media lists for 4 approved themes, conduct targeted PR outreach and provide 
ongoing media follow-up x x

Software subscription to robust Cision Media Database ($1,000) to provide monthly 
monitoring, media contact lists, distribution and reporting x x

Attend Travel & Words: Northwest Travel & Lifestyle Writers Conference (May 2020 in 
Bend) to connect directly with travel writers and promote Wilsonville stories (also 
provides opportunity to network and strengthen partner/DMO relationships) 

x

Micro influencer/travel blogger campaign (bring 3 IG influencers with travel blogs, each 
tasked to promote a different Wilsonville Pocket Trip, during shoulder season). Includes 
influencer selection, contracts, itinerary building and hosting. 

x

Reporting* of public relations KPIs *cost included in Management Services x x

Media hosting allowance for FAMS and approved media visits x x
SUBTOTAL $35,075 $15,050 $20,025

PHOTOGRAPHIC AND VIDEO SERVICES: $13,000 Jan-June 2020 July 20-June 21

Deliverables Budget Phase 1 Phase 2

Arrange for new photography or videography of attractions and events to enhance campaigns 
and marketing collateral x x

Arrange for models and releases as needed (recruit locals/volunteers to save on budget), 
develop storyboards, provide artistic direction and coordinate site locations. Obtain full 
usage and rights renewals, whenever possible. 

x x

SUBTOTAL $13,000 $1,500 $11,500

EXHIBIT A - Page 2 of 10

Page 122 of 301



FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020; FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021
Page 3

FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21
MANAGEMENT SERVICES: $32,400 Jan-June 2020 July 20-June 21

Deliverables Budget Phase 1 Phase 2

Management of the overall tourism-promotion and destination marketing program (includes 
accounting for itemized expenses) x x

Developing and operating procedures/systems (fulfillment handled by City Parks and 
Recreation staff) to include printing, shipping and postage costs x x

Renew memberships to Travel Portland and Oregon Destination Association x

Software and database subscriptions (STR for Wilsonville and Troutdale: $4,000 and ISSUU: 
$450) monthly subscription (18 months) x x

Provide quarterly reports of key performance indicators (KPIs) and STR report, in addition 
to a combined report of contracted services including website, marketing/advertising, social 
media, PR and visitor fulfillment. Reports will also include a high-level dashboard to track 
progress against annual goals and previous year's results.

x x

Attend Tourism Promotion Committee meetings in Wilsonville, 6 times per year (9 
meetings included in this contract) x x

Travel allowance for in-person meetings x x
SUBTOTAL $32,400 $10,483 $21,917

COLLATERAL, PRINTING AND SHIPPING/DISTRIBUTION SERVICES: $38,025 Jan-June 2020 July 20-June 21
Deliverables Budget Phase 1 Phase 2

Develop Wilsonville Visitor Guide with simple locator map, based off Google Maps. Includes 
tri-fold brochure design format to fit Certified Folder racks and copywriting. May launch new 
design in April.

x x

Printing allowance (digital print, full-bleed, trimmed, folded, includes proof) of up to 80,000 copies 
(approximately 20,000 additional print-run to finish out FY19-20 and 60,000 copies for FY20-21--
TBD based on inventory analysis); includes digital PDF, downloadable from website (*may use 
contingency to increase printing budget based on existing inventory)

x x

Certified Folder brochure distribution allowance x x

Continue distribution pre secured through March 2020 at all (8) State Welcome Centers (includes 
Portland International Airport) + (6) Rest Stops: Multnomah Falls, French Prairie South Bound, 
French Prairie North Bound, Santiam, Oak Grove, Mt. Hood + (227) Portland Super Cities + poster-
sized display at I-5 French Prairie North Bound per Oregon Travel Information Council (OTIC). Will 
evaluate distribution and recommend locations for distribution beginning April 2019-June 2021.

Wilsonville Chamber of Commerce brochure distribution x

Continue distribution with Chamber through June 2020 at local kiosk locations: Holiday Inn, Motel 
6, LaQuinta, Quality Inn, SnoozInn, GuestHouse, City Hall, Library, Police, Clackamas Community 
College, Family Fun Center, Oregon Tech, Pioneer Pacific College, Fir Point Farms, Pheasant Ridge RV, 
Butteville Store, Aurora Airport. Will evaluate distribution and provide recommendation for FY20-21 
to avoid duplication efforts of Certified Folders

Postage allowance for visitor center fulfillment by Parks and Recreation staff x x
Freight and shipping to Certified Folder and other distribution outlets as contracted x x

SUBTOTAL $38,025 $14,396 $23,629

EXHIBIT A - Page 3 of 10

Page 123 of 301



FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020; FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021
Page 4

FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21
TOURISM DEVELOPMENT SERVICES: $8,400 Jan-June 2020 July 20-June 21
Deliverables Budget Phase 1 Phase 2

Create and strengthen partnerships and relationships with leading DMOs and partner 
organizations for the creation of tourism products and packages (start with collaboration 
email, every other month). Review regional tourism opportunities and apply for grants as 
available.

x x

Collaborate* with managers of local-area attractions, events and visitor/tourism services to 
produce/package new options that encourage overnight lodging during shoulder season 
*network/collaborate after Tourism Promotion Committee meetings to save on costs when appropriate, 
setting up in-person meetings with regional tourism partners

x x

Promote and market new or improved tourism products/packages as a result of co-op 
tourism development efforts *promotion budget included in marketing services x x

Attend ODA Annual Conference in Sunriver to strengthen industry relationships            
(January 21-23, 2020) and again in January 2021 x x

SUBTOTAL $8,400 $3,075 $5,325

EXPLORE WILSONVILLE SCOPE OF WORK TOTAL BUDGET FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21
FY 2019-20, Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30 2020; FY 2020-21, Jul 1 2020-Jun 30, 20201 Jan-June 2020 July 20-June 21

Phase 1 Phase 2

TOTAL  $295,575 $98,186 $197,389
Contingency Fund $4,425 $1,814 $2,611
TOTAL  BUDGET $300,000 $100,000 $200,000

BILLABLE RATES
Additional work performed outside this scope of work will be billed at a blended rate of $175 per hour. 

JayRay Hourly Rate Schedule by Service
Production Design: $150 

Creative Direction/Graphic Design (Designer): $175
Web Design/Development: $150
Project Management: $175
Copywriting (social media, marketing, PR): $175
Strategy: $200
Videography: $165 or $1,500 day rate
Photography: $150

ROUNDS OF REVISION
All work includes one round of major revision, or two rounds of minor revisions to stay within budgeted hours. 

ADDITIONAL EXPENSES 
If appropriate, other expenses are billed at the current U.S. General Services Administration Per Diem Rates for 
Oregon or other appropriate location for Lodging and Meals & Incidentals. 

EXHIBIT A - Page 4 of 10

Page 124 of 301



Scope of Work, Draft Work Plan 

FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020; FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021
Page 5

MARKETING SERVICES
Deliverables JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Media buying and co-ops Media 
Buying

Art and creative direction, including concepting 

Ad design (for print and digital)

Copywriting (for print and digital ads, marketing 
collateral)

Production

Advertising/media buys 

Email marketing campaign x x x

Develop FY2020-21 Tourism Promotion and 
Development and Destination Marketing 
Plan 

x

WEBSITE SERVICES
Deliverables JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Website maintenance and hosting (includes 
domain name and security/plugin renewals)

Develop campaign landing page
Optimize website 

Website content strategy

Website content maintenance and listings

Content website development (seasonal hero 
banners, homepage copy, images, maps...) 

SEO strategy and quarterly reports x Report Report

TOURISM PROMOTION AND DEVELOPMENT AND DESTINATION MARKETING 
SERVICES

Ongoing

Ongoing

x

x

x

Ongoing

x

(TBD based on media buy plan)

FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020

x

x

FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020

Off-Season Campaign

x

EXHIBIT A - Page 5 of 10

Page 125 of 301



FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020; FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021
Page 6

SOCIAL MEDIA SERVICES
Deliverables JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Develop social media strategy and master 
editorial calendar (FB, Instagram, Pinterest)

Write and produce social content (copy and 
images) 3-5 times per week 

Community management and engagement

PUBLIC RELATIONS SERVICES
Deliverables JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Develop PR plan and pitch media PR Plan

Monitor/respond to HARO 

Develop media lists and follow up Lists

Monitor media coverage using Cision 

Travel & Words: Northwest Travel & 
Lifestyle Writers Conference (Bend, OR) x

Micro influencer/travel blogger campaign (3)

PHOTOGRAPHIC AND VIDEO SERVICES
Deliverables JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Photography or videography plan Eval Plan

Plan shoots 

MANAGEMENT SERVICES
Deliverables JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Management of the overall tourism-promotion 
and destination marketing program 

Developing and operating 
procedures/systems
Renew memberships to Travel Portland and 
Oregon Destination Association

Software and database subscriptions (monthly 
STR for Wilsonville and Troutdale; ISSUU)

Provide quarterly reports KPIs and STR 
report (exact dates TBD) x x

Attend Tourism Promotion Committee 
meetings in Wilsonville

TBD based on dates and agreement

FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020

Shoots (TBD)

Ongoing

Follow up

Ongoing

Ongoing

FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020

Pitching

FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020

x

Ongoing

EXHIBIT A - Page 6 of 10

Page 126 of 301



FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020; FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021
Page 7

COLLATERAL, PRINTING AND 
SHIPPING/DISTRIBUTION SERVICES
Deliverables JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Develop Wilsonville Visitor Guide with 
simple locator map

Plan

Print visitor guide brochure

Certified Folder brochure distribution

Continue distribution pre secured through March 
2020 at all (8) State Welcome Centers (includes 
Portland International Airport) + (6) Rest Stops: 
Multnomah Falls, French Prairie South Bound, 
French Prairie North Bound, Santiam, Oak Grove, 
Mt. Hood + (227) Portland Super Cities + poster-
sized display at I-5 French Prairie North Bound per 
Oregon Travel Information Council (OTIC). Will 
evaluate distribution and recommend locations for 
distribution beginning April 2019-June 2021.

Wilsonville Chamber of Commerce 
brochure distribution 

Freight and shipping (Certified Folder/other 
distribution outlets)

TOURISM DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
Deliverables JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Create and strengthen tourism partnerships 
and relationships. Review regional tourism 
opportunities and apply for grants as 
available

Collaborate to produce/package new options 
that encourage overnight lodging during 
shoulder season 

Promote and market new/improved tourism 
products/packages

ODA Annual Conference 1/21- 
1/23

Ongoing / TBD

Ongoing  / TBD

Ongoing  / TBD

x  TBD based on distribution 
evaluation  

x

TBD based on dates and agreement

FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020

FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020

 Develop new 
brochure/VG  Digital launch 

 Print additional 
copies of existing 

brochure if 
needed 

EXHIBIT A - Page 7 of 10

Page 127 of 301



Scope of Work, Draft Work Plan 

FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020; FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021
Page 8

MARKETING SERVICES
Deliverables JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Media buying and co-ops Media 
Buys

Media 
Buys

Art and creative direction, including concepting 

Ad design (for print and digital)

Copywriting (for print and digital ads, marketing 
collateral)

Production

Advertising/media buys 

Email marketing campaign x x x x x x

Develop FY2020-21 Tourism Promotion and 
Development and Destination Marketing 
Plan 

x

WEBSITE SERVICES
Deliverables JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Website maintenance and hosting (includes 
domain name and security/plugin renewals)

Develop campaign landing page
Optimize website 

Website content strategy

Website content maintenance and listings

Content website development (seasonal hero 
banners, homepage copy, images, maps...) 

SEO strategy and quarterly reports x Report Report Report Report

SOCIAL MEDIA SERVICES
Deliverables JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Develop social media strategy and master 
editorial calendar (FB, Instagram, Pinterest)

Write and produce social content (copy and 
images) 3-5 times per week 

Community management and engagement

Ongoing

Ongoing

FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021

x

Ongoing

Ongoing

(TBD based on media buy plan)

FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021

Ongoing

x

x x

x x

x x

x x

TOURISM PROMOTION AND DEVELOPMENT AND DESTINATION MARKETING SERVICES

FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021

Off-Season Campaign Off-Season Campaign

EXHIBIT A - Page 8 of 10

Page 128 of 301



FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020; FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021
Page 9

PUBLIC RELATIONS SERVICES
Deliverables JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Develop PR plan and pitch media Plan

Monitor/respond to HARO 

Develop media lists and follow up Lists

Monitor media coverage using Cision 

Travel & Words: Northwest Travel & 
Lifestyle Writers Conference (Bend, OR)

Micro influencer/travel blogger campaign (3) Plan Trip Trip Trip

PHOTOGRAPHIC AND VIDEO SERVICES
Deliverables JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Photography or videography plan Plan

Plan shoots 

MANAGEMENT SERVICES
Deliverables JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Management of the overall tourism-promotion 
and destination marketing program 

Developing and operating 
procedures/systems
Renew memberships to Travel Portland and 
Oregon Destination Association

Software and database subscriptions (monthly 
STR for Wilsonville and Troutdale; ISSUU)

Provide quarterly reports KPIs and STR 
report (exact dates TBD) x x x x

Attend Tourism Promotion Committee 
meetings in Wilsonville

Ongoing

TBD based on renewal dates

Ongoing

TBD based on dates and agreement

Ongoing

Ongoing

Pitching

FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021

Shoots (TBD)

FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021

Pitching Pitching

Ongoing

Follow up Follow up

FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021

EXHIBIT A - Page 9 of 10

Page 129 of 301



FY 2019-20: Jan 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2020; FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021
Page 10

COLLATERAL, PRINTING AND 
SHIPPING/DISTRIBUTION SERVICES
Deliverables JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Develop Wilsonville Visitor Guide with 
simple locator map

Print visitor guide brochure

Certified Folder brochure distribution

Will evaluate distribution and recommend locations 
for distribution beginning April 2019-June 2021.

Wilsonville Chamber of Commerce 
brochure distribution 

Freight and shipping (Certified Folder/other 
distribution outlets)

TOURISM DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
Deliverables JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Create and strengthen tourism partnerships 
and relationships. Review regional tourism 
opportunities and apply for grants as 
available

Collaborate to produce/package new options 
that encourage overnight lodging during 
shoulder season 

Promote and market new/improved tourism 
products/packages

ODA Annual Conference x 
(TBD)

Ongoing / TBD

Ongoing  / TBD

Ongoing  / TBD

TBD based on distribution evaluation 

TBD based on dates and agreement

FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021

 Print new VG 
brochure 

 TBD based on distribution evaluation  

FY 2020-21: Jul 1, 2020-Jun 30, 2021

EXHIBIT A - Page 10 of 10

Page 130 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 1

EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 
TOURISM PROMOTION AND DEVELOPMENT 
AND DESTINATION MARKETING SERVICES  

SEPTEMBER 30, 2019

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 1

Page 131 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 2

INSIDE 

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 2

Page 132 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 3

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 3

Page 133 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 4

TOURISM EXPERIENCE, 
BACKED WITH DATA

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 4

Page 134 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 5

ABOUT JAYRAY

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 5

Page 135 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 6

JAYRAY OVERVIEW

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 6

Page 136 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 7

& 

WE’RE A FULL-SERVICE AGENCY

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 7

Page 137 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 8

TOURISM, PARKS & GOVERNMENT CLIENTS

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 8

Page 138 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 9

YOUR JAYRAY TEAM

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 9

Page 139 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 10

PROJECT ROLE

EXPERIENCE

BRIDGET BAETH

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 10

Page 140 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 11

PROJECT ROLE

EXPERIENCE

RYAN MILLARD

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 11

Page 141 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 12

PROJECT ROLE

EXPERIENCE

JAY HEMBER 

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 12

Page 142 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 13

PROJECT ROLE

EXPERIENCE

JULIA WHITE

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 13

Page 143 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 14

PROJECT ROLE

EXPERIENCE

GENNY BOOTS

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 14

Page 144 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 15

PROJECT ROLE

EXPERIENCE

ALLISON MATTSON

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 15

Page 145 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 16

PROJECT ROLE

EXPERIENCE

JEROMY CONDON

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 16

Page 146 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 17

INTEGRATED CREATIVE PARTNERSHIPS

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 17

Page 147 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 18

INTEGRATED CREATIVE PARTNERSHIPS

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 18

Page 148 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 19

CLIENT REFERENCES

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 19

Page 149 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 20

WORK PLAN

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 20

Page 150 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 21

GOALS & OBJECTIVES

GOAL:

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 21

Page 151 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 22

WE KNOW YOUR AUDIENCE

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 22

Page 152 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 23

YOUR VISITOR’S PATH

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 23

Page 153 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 24

PRIORITIES 

5

6

8

7

1

2

4

3

9

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 24

Page 154 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 25

OVERALL APPROACH

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 25

Page 155 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 26

ALWAYS INTEGRATED

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 26

Page 156 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 27

ALWAYS ACCOUNTABLE 

OUTPUTS

OUTTAKES

OUTCOMES

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 27

Page 157 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 28

SAMPLE WORK PLAN (YEAR 1)

This is a sample high-level schedule based on our current understanding of the Explore Wilsonville RFP. A more detailed schedule
will be developed after our kick-off meeting to accommodate needs and deadlines that we may not be aware of at this time

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 28

Page 158 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 29

SAMPLE WORK PLAN (YEAR 1)

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 29

Page 159 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 30

SAMPLE WORK PLAN (YEAR 1)

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 30

Page 160 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 31

COST

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 31

Page 161 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 32

COST ESTIMATE

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 32

Page 162 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 33

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 33

Page 163 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 34

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 34

Page 164 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 35

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 35

Page 165 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 36

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 36

Page 166 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 37

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 37

Page 167 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 38

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 38

Page 168 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 39

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 39

Page 169 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 40

WORK SAMPLES

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 40

Page 170 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 41

OLYMPIC PENINSULA TOURISM

JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 41

Page 171 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 42

OLYMPIC PENINSULA TOURISM

JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 42

Page 172 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 43

VISIT KENT

JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 43

Page 173 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 44

VISIT KENT

JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 44

Page 174 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 45

TACOMA SOUTH SOUND SPORTS 
COMMISSION 

JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 45

Page 175 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 46

TACOMA SOUTH SOUND SPORTS 
COMMISSION 

JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 46

Page 176 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 47

EXPERIENCE OLYMPIA & BEYOND

JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 47

Page 177 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 48

EXPERIENCE OLYMPIA & BEYOND

JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK

Watch: youtu.be/B__sTEy10ms 

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 48

Page 178 of 301



JAYRAY A PLACE TO THINK EXPLORE WILSONVILLE 49

Marketing Communications
Digital and Social Media

Advertising
Branding

Public Relations

Communications Strategy and Planning

Website Development and Design

535 Dock Street, Ste. 205 Tacoma, WA 98402

253.722.2690

bbaeth@jayray.com

Contact us: Follow us on:

facebook.com/jayrayadspr

@jayrayadspr

@jayrayadspr

©2019 JayRay Ads + PR

ATTACHMENT B - PAGE 49

Page 179 of 301



Resolution Nos. 2779 & 2780 Staff Report Page 1 of 4 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: December 16, 2019 Subject: Resolution Nos. 2779 & 2780  
Resolutions of the City of Wilsonville Adopting 
Building Codes and Building Fees 

Staff Member: Dan Carlson, Building Official and 
Amanda Guile-Hinman, Assistant City Attorney 

Department: Building/Legal 

Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 
Recommendation  

☒ Motion ☐ Approval
☐ Public Hearing Date: ☐ Denial
☐ Ordinance 1st Reading Date: ☐ None Forwarded
☐ Ordinance 2nd Reading Date: ☒ Not Applicable
☒ Resolution Comments: Adoption of state building codes as part 

of the Wilsonville Building Code and local building 
fees. 

☐ Information or Direction
☐ Information Only
☐ Council Direction
☐ Consent Agenda
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends that City Council adopt Resolution Nos. 2779 
and 2780. 
Recommended Language for Motion: 
I move to approve Resolution No. 2779. 
I move to approve Resolution No. 2780. 
Project / Issue Relates To: 
☐Council Goals/Priorities ☐Adopted Master Plan(s) ☒Not Applicable

ISSUE BEFORE COUNCIL: 
Whether to adopt the proposed state building codes, as amended or supplemented, as part of the 
City of Wilsonville Building Code, and whether to adopt building fees as currently provided in 
Wilsonville Code Chapter 9. Resolution No. 2779 concerning adoption of building codes is 
attached hereto as Attachment A. Resolution No. 2780 concerning adoption of building fees is 
attached hereto as Attachment B. 

Page 180 of 301



Resolution Nos. 2779 & 2780 Staff Report    Page 2 of 4 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The Oregon Building Codes Division (“BCD”), a division of the Oregon Department of Consumer 
and Business Services (the “Department”) is responsible for adopting statewide building codes 
that local jurisdictions must apply for structures constructed within their jurisdiction.  Pursuant to 
Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 455.020(1), the Department is required to create uniform building 
codes for the state.  Under ORS 455.020(4), local jurisdictions may enact regulations to administer 
the state building code, but does not allow for local jurisdictions to adopt regulations that are 
expressly withheld or otherwise provided for by statute.  In other words, local jurisdictions can 
adopt regulations as long as they are not contrary to or prohibited by the published state building 
code. 
 
1. Overview of Proposed Wilsonville Building Code 

 
After BCD made significant changes to Chapter 1 (Administration) of its Oregon Structural 
Specialty Code (“2019 OSSC”) to omit from state regulation twenty-six (26) structures, the City 
had to determine if the City should locally regulate some of the de-regulated structures.  
Additionally, BCD’s actions indicate a new trend toward de-regulation and alleged flexibility for 
local jurisdictions to administer the state building codes as they see fit. It has been well understood 
for years, and is well documented, that the primary purpose of creating a statewide building code 
and administration through the state BCD, is to ensure a consistent administration and uniformity 
of the state construction codes. 
 
With these changes in the state building codes and the already present deficiencies in the 
Wilsonville Building Code (housed in Chapter 9 of the Wilsonville Code), staff undertook a 
complete rewrite of Chapter 9.  Staff presented the proposed new Chapter 9 to Council at a public 
hearing on December 2, 2019, and a second reading of the new Chapter 9 is scheduled for 
December 16, 2019. 
 
The new Chapter 9 authorizes adoption of state building codes through resolution to give the City 
the flexibility and nimbleness to more readily respond to changes in the state building code. 
Resolution No. 2779 is the culmination of this where it adopts and supplements current applicable 
state building codes. 
 
2. Resolution No. 2779 – Adoption of Building Codes 
 
Resolution No. 2779 (Attachment A) adopts seven (7) codes that are applicable to Wilsonville 
pursuant to proposed Chapter 9, Sections 9.300 through 9.370.  Those codes are: 
 

(a) Structural Specialty Code 
(b) Zero Energy Ready Commercial Code 
(c) Mechanical Specialty Code 
(d) Residential Specialty Code 
(e) Electrical Specialty Code (defers to Clackamas County, which currently administers 

electrical permits on behalf of the City) 
(f) Plumbing Specialty Code 
(g) Fire Code  

Page 181 of 301



Resolution Nos. 2779 & 2780 Staff Report    Page 3 of 4 

 
The Codes are each attached as separate Exhibits to Resolution No. 2779.  The code with the most 
significant amendments is the structural specialty code, which is in response to BCD’s changes in 
the 2019 OSSC to de-regulate the twenty-six (26) structures or construction processes.  Not only 
does the de-regulation require the City to identify which items it wants to regulate, the City is also 
required to identify, when necessary, any provisions that are not adopted as part of the 2019 OSSC 
that are necessary in order to locally regulate the items. 
 
For example, Chapter 1 of the 2019 OSSC no longer regulates demolition.  To regulate demolition, 
the City must so state that demolition is regulated and also adopt Oregon Structural Specialty Code 
Section 3303 (an optional provision not currently part of the 2019 OSSC) in order to regulate 
demolition. 
 
A chart of City staff’s recommendation for regulating nineteen (19) of the twenty (20) items that 
can be locally regulated pursuant to Chapter 1 of the 2019 OSSC is attached hereto as Attachment 
C. Essentially, staff recommends regulating all items but item number 1, which is in regard to 
forced seismic rehabilitation programs.  Staff recommends not regulating item 1 because there are 
existing voluntary seismic rehabilitation approval options through granting approvals for alternate 
methods and alternate materials. 
 
3. Resolution No. 2780 – Adoption of Building Fees 
 
Given the time constraints to revise Chapter 9 and to adopt and supplement the state building 
codes, staff has not been able to conduct a comprehensive review of current building, mechanical, 
and plumbing permit fees.  Therefore, Resolution No. 2780 adopts the fees as currently listed in 
Chapter 9.  Staff anticipate a review of the building fees at a future time. 
 
EXPECTED RESULTS: 
Established local Building Code that appropriately regulates items de-regulated under the State’s 
2019 OSSC, among other building code regulations. 
 
TIMELINE: 
Resolution Nos. 2779 and 2780 are scheduled for adoption at the December 16, 2019, concurrent 
with the second reading of Ordinance No. 839 to repeal and replace Chapter 9.  Resolution Nos. 
2779 and 2780 and Ordinance No. 839 are scheduled to become effective January 1, 2020, which 
is when the 2019 OSSC becomes mandatory. 
 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS: 
N/A 
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENT: 
Reviewed by: CAR Date: 12/11/2019 
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: BAJ Date: 12/11/2019 
  

Page 182 of 301



Resolution Nos. 2779 & 2780 Staff Report    Page 4 of 4 

 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS: 
N/A 
 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS or BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY: 
Providing the local regulations will ensure that structures continue to meet accepted safety 
standards.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Default to the regulations in 2019 OSSC or adopt the 2014 OSSC Chapter 1, though there are 
inherent risks with both options. Simply adopting the 2019 OSSC will mean that several types of 
buildings and structures will no longer be regulated and inspected by City building staff. Adopting 
the 2014 OSSC Chapter 1 means that there will be provisions that the City may be enforcing that 
it is not entitled to enforce under the 2019 OSSC. 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT: 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

A. Resolution No. 2779 
1. Structural Specialty Code 
2. Zero Energy Ready Commercial Code 
3. Mechanical Specialty Code 
4. Residential Specialty Code 
5. Electrical Specialty Code 
6. Plumbing Specialty Code 
7. Fire Code 

B. Resolution No. 2780 
1. Building Permit Fee Schedules 
2. Mechanical Permit Fee Schedules 
3. Plumbing Permit Fee Schedule 

C. Spreadsheet outlining what optional provisions of the 2019 OSSC are recommended for 
adoption. 

Page 183 of 301



RESOLUTION NO. 2779  Page 1 of 2 
L:\CODE REV\Building Code~Ch 9\RES 2779 and 2780\RES Building Codes Adoption (v.1).docx 

RESOLUTION NO. 2779 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE ADOPTING STRUCTURAL 
SPECIALTY CODE, ZERO ENERGY READY COMMERCIAL CODE, MECHANICAL 
SPECIALTY CODE, RESIDENTIAL SPECIALTY CODE, ELECTRICAL SPECIALTY 
CODE, PLUMBING SPECIALTY CODE, AND FIRE CODE. 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Wilsonville (“City”) previously listed the adopted Oregon state 

building codes and the fire code of Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue in Wilsonville Code Chapter 

9 - Structures; and 

WHEREAS, to accommodate constant changes in the state building codes by the State 

Building Codes Division (“BCD”), the City Council adopted a new Chapter 9 pursuant to 

Ordinance No. 839, which provides for adoption of building codes by resolution; and 

WHEREAS, BCD has adopted six (6) building codes that are applicable to the City; and 

WHEREAS, one (1) of the six (6) state building codes is the Oregon Structural Specialty 

Code, which became effective on October 1, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, BCD made significant changes to Chapter 1, Administration, in the 2019 

Oregon Structural Specialty Code; and 

WHEREAS, BCD officials have indicated that local jurisdictions can adopt their own 

administrative procedures in lieu of Chapter 1 of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code; and 

WHEREAS, another of the six (6) current state building codes is the 2017 Oregon 

Residential Specialty Code; and  

WHEREAS, in 2019, the Oregon legislature adopted House Bill 2423 (2019), which adds 

the Small Home Specialty Code (Appendix Q of the 2018 International Residential Code) to the 

2017 Residential Specialty Code; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council seeks to adopt all applicable and current state building codes 

and the state fire code as part of the City of Wilsonville’s Building Code pursuant to Sections 

9.300 through 9.370 of Chapter 9 as adopted pursuant to Ordinance No. 839. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The above findings are incorporated herein. 

Page 184 of 301

guile
Typewritten Text
   ATTACHMENT A



RESOLUTION NO. 2779  Page 2 of 2 
L:\CODE REV\Building Code~Ch 9\RES 2779 and 2780\RES Building Codes Adoption (v.1).docx 

2. The City Council of the City of Wilsonville hereby adopts Exhibits 1-7 as building 

codes adopted pursuant to the new Wilsonville Code Chapter 9, Sections 9.300 

through 9.370. 

4. This Resolution becomes effective on January 1, 2020. 

 

ADOPTED by the Wilsonville City Council at a regular meeting thereof this ____ day of 

____________, 2019, and filed with the Wilsonville City Recorder this date. 

 
 
       __________________________________ 
       TIM KNAPP, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
 
 

SUMMARY OF VOTES: 

Mayor Knapp    

Council President Akervall  

Councilor Lehan   

Councilor West   

Councilor Linville   

 

Attachments: 

Exhibit 1 – Structural Specialty Code 

Exhibit 2 – Zero Energy Ready Commercial Code 

Exhibit 3 – Mechanical Specialty Code 

Exhibit 4 – Residential Specialty Code 

Exhibit 5 – Electrical Specialty Code 

Exhibit 6 – Plumbing Specialty Code 

Exhibit 7 – Fire Code 

[WHEN COMPLETED, EMAIL WORD DOC & ANY EXHIBITS TO CITY RECORDER] 

Page 185 of 301



Page 1 

Exhibit 1 
City of Wilsonville Structural Specialty Code 

 
I. Adoption of 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code 
 
Except as amended herein, the City of Wilsonville (“City”) adopts the 2019 Oregon Structural 
Specialty Code, as adopted by Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 918-460-0010 through 918-
460-0015, as part of the City’s Building Code.  A copy of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty 
Code, as well as the provisions of the 2018 International Building Code and the 2018 
International Property Maintenance Code referenced herein, shall be kept in the office of the 
Building Official of the City of Wilsonville. 
 
II. Amendments to 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code 
 
The City further adopts by reference the following provisions as part of the City’s Building 
Code. 
 

1. Section 101.2 Scope - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, all items listed as 1 
through 20 that are available for local regulation, except the following: 

 
a. Delete: Item 1.  

 
2. Section 104.1 General - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code is amended as 

follows: 
 

a. Waiver. The Building Official shall not have power to waive the Building Code. 
 

3. Section 105.2 Work Exempt from a Permit - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty 
Code is amended to add the following numbered revisions: 

 
a. 11. Flag poles not over 30 feet in height. 

 
b. 12. Fences not over 6 feet in height. 

 
c. 13. Retaining walls that are not over 4 feet (1219 mm) in height measured from 

the bottom of the footing to the top of the wall, unless supporting a surcharge or 
impounding Class I, II or IIIA liquids. 
 

d. 14. Water tanks supported directly on grade if the capacity is not greater than 
5,000 gallons (18,925 L) and the ratio of height to diameter or width is not greater 
than 2:1. 
 

e. 15. Signs: See Wilsonville Development Code Section 4.156 for work exempt 
from a permit. 

 

Page 186 of 301



Page 2 

4. Section 112 Service Utilities - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, along with 
the corresponding 2018 International Building Code Section. 
 

5. Section 116 Unsafe Structures or Equipment - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty 
Code, along with the corresponding 2018 International Building Code Section.  For the 
purposes of clarifying and defining what are unsafe structures, unsafe equipment, or 
dangerous building conditions, the following sections of the 2018 International Property 
Maintenance Code are adopted: 

 
a. Section 108.1.5, Dangerous Structure or Premises 

 
b. Section 109, Emergency Measures 

 
c. Chapter 2, Definitions 

 
d. Sections 304.1.1, 305.1.1, 306.1.1, each titled Unsafe Conditions 

 
6. Section 901.1 Private Fire Hydrants and Private Fire Lines - of the 2019 Oregon 

Structural Specialty Code, along with the corresponding 2018 International Building 
Code Section. Installations of fire department connections, including private fire service 
mains, shall conform to the 2019 NFPA 24 Standard for the Installation of Private Fire 
Service Mains and Their Appurtenances. 
 

7. Section 905 Standpipe Systems - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, along 
with the corresponding 2018 International Building Code Section. Installations of 
standpipe systems shall conform to the 2019 NFPA 14 Standard for the Installation of 
Standpipe and Hose Systems. 
 

8. Section 906 Portable Fire Extinguishers - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty 
Code, along with the corresponding 2018 International Building Code Section. 
 

9. Section 912 Fire Department Connections - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty 
Code, along with the corresponding 2018 International Building Code Section. 
Installations of fire department connections, including private fire service mains, shall 
conform to the 2019 NFPA 24 Standard for the Installation of Private Fire Service Mains 
and Their Appurtenances. 
 

10. Chapter 31 Special Construction - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, along 
with the corresponding 2018 International Building Code Sections. 
 

11. Chapter 32 Encroachments Into the Public Right of Way - of the 2019 Oregon 
Structural Specialty Code, along with the corresponding 2018 International Building 
Code Sections. 
 

Page 187 of 301



Page 3 

12. Chapter 33 Safeguards During Construction - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty 
Code, along with the corresponding 2018 International Building Code Sections. Included 
in this adoption are the following sections: 

 
a. 3302 Construction Safeguards – of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, 

with Subsection 3302.3, “Fire safety during construction,” supplemented with the 
following: 

 
i. 3302.3.1 Purpose. In addition to the requirements prescribed in the 

Oregon Fire Code, this section prescribes minimum safeguards for 
construction, alteration, and demolition operations for tall combustible 
construction to provide reasonable safety to life and property from fire 
during such operations. 

 
ii. 3302.3.2 Scope. This section applies to combustible construction which 

meets the following criteria: 
1. Construction is combustible and of Type III, IV, or V, as identified in 

Section 602; and 
2. Construction is four (4) or more stories; or 
3. Construction is more than 40 feet in height; or 
4. Where, during framing stages, there are (4) or more individual 

combustible structures that are three (3) or more stories in height, 
immediately adjacent to each other (with a physical separation of 20 
feet or less) on the same or separate lots, all at the framing stage, and 
each under the same ownership. 

 
iii. 3302.3.3 Site Fire Safety Plan. A fire safety plan in accordance with 

Chapter 33 of the Oregon Fire Code, shall be provided to the Building 
Official prior to the start of combustible construction.  

 
iv. 3302.3.4 Site Security. Each structure shall be provided with site security 

prior to the start of combustible construction. Site security shall be in a 
form that is acceptable to the Building Official through a guard service, 
remote video monitoring, security fencing, or combination thereof, to 
ensure the site remains reasonably secure from theft, vandalism, vagrants, 
or otherwise prevents the site from becoming an attractive nuisance. 

 
Where guard service is provided, the guard(s) shall be trained in all of the 
following: 
1. Notification procedures that include calling the fire department and 

management personnel 
2. Function and operation of fire protection equipment 
3. Familiarization with fire hazards 
4. Use of construction elevators, where provided 
5. Any special status of emergency equipment or hazards 

Page 188 of 301



Page 4 

Where guard service is provided, the fire prevention program 
superintendent shall be responsible for the guard service. 
 
Grade level entrances (e.g., doors and windows) to the structure while 
under construction, alteration, or demolition shall be secured where not 
actively in use or actively under construction. 

 
v. 3302.3.5 Violation. Failure to adhere to the required fire safety plan, 

including providing site security, shall constitute a violation of this code 
and cause the building(s) to be defined as unsafe or dangerous.  

 
b. Section 3303 Demolition - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, along 

with the corresponding 2018 International Building Code Section. 
 

c. Section 3307 Protection of Adjoining Property - of the 2019 Oregon Structural 
Specialty Code, along with the corresponding 2018 International Building Code 
Section. 
 

d. Section 3308 Temporary Use of Streets, Alleys, and Public Property - of the 
2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, along with the corresponding 2018 
International Building Code Section. 
 

e. Section 3309 Fire Extinguishers - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, 
along with the corresponding 2018 International Building Code Section. 
 

f. Section 3311 Standpipes - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, along 
with the corresponding 2018 International Building Code Section. Installations of 
standpipe systems shall conform to the 2019 NFPA 14 Standard for the 
Installation of Standpipe and Hose Systems. 
 

g. Section 3313 Water Supply for Fire Protection - of the 2019 Oregon Structural 
Specialty Code, along with the corresponding 2018 International Building Code 
Section. 
 

h. Section 3314 Fire Watch During Construction - of the 2019 Oregon Structural 
Specialty Code, along with the corresponding 2018 International Building Code 
Section. 

 
13. Appendix H – Signs - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, except the 

following: 
 

a. Revise: Section H101.2 Signs exempt from permits. Sign permit exemptions are 
contained in Wilsonville Code Section 4.156. 
 

b. Delete: Section H104 Identification. 
 

Page 189 of 301



Page 5 

14. Appendix J – Grading - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, except the 
following: 

 
a. Delete: Section J103.2 Exemptions. Delete items 1 & 2. 

 
b. Revise: Section J103.2 Exemptions. 1. 50 cubic yards, or 1 foot of depth for fill. 

2. Deleted. 
 

c. Add: Section J109.5 Drainage. Drainage shall be provided as required by the 
geotechnical evaluation. The design and construction of drainage systems shall be 
in accordance with the applicable requirements of the Oregon Plumbing Specialty 
Code and City of Wilsonville Engineering Standards. Drainage system discharge 
shall be to an approved location. 
 

d. Revise: J110.1 General. Delete former and add: J110.1 General. Erosion Control 
measures shall be installed and maintained in accordance with Wilsonville 
Engineering Standards for Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control requirements 
for the duration of a project. 

 
 

Page 190 of 301



Page 1 

Exhibit 2 
City of Wilsonville Zero Energy Ready Commercial Code 

 
I. Adoption of 2019 Oregon Zero Energy Ready Commercial Code 
 
Except as amended herein, the City of Wilsonville (“City”) adopts the 2019 Oregon Zero Energy 
Ready Commercial Code, as adopted by Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 918-460-0500, as 
part of the City’s Building Code.  A copy of the 2019 Oregon Zero Energy Ready Commercial 
Code shall be kept in the office of the Building Official of the City of Wilsonville. 
 

Page 191 of 301



Page 1 

Exhibit 3 
City of Wilsonville Mechanical Specialty Code 

 
I. Adoption of 2019 Oregon Mechanical Specialty Code 
 
Except as amended herein, the City of Wilsonville (“City”) adopts the 2019 Oregon Mechanical 
Specialty Code, as adopted by Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 918-440-0010 through 918-
440-0012, as part of the City’s Building Code.  A copy of the 2019 Oregon Mechanical Specialty 
Code shall be kept in the office of the Building Official of the City of Wilsonville. 
 

Page 192 of 301



Page 1 

Exhibit 4 
City of Wilsonville Residential Specialty Code 

 
I. Adoption of 2017 Oregon Residential Specialty Code 
 
Except as amended herein, the City of Wilsonville (“City”) adopts the 2017 Oregon Residential 
Specialty Code, as adopted by Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 918-480-0005 through 918-
440-0010, as part of the City’s Building Code.  A copy of the 2017 Oregon Residential Specialty 
Code, as well as Appendix Q of the 2018 International Residential Code referenced herein, shall 
be kept in the office of the Building Official of the City of Wilsonville. 
 
II. Amendment to the 2017 Oregon Residential Specialty Code 
 
The City further adopts by reference the following provisions as part of the City’s Building 
Code. 
 

1. Appendix Q of the 2018 International Residential Code is hereby adopted as required by 
House Bill 2423 (2019), and is referred to as the Small Home Specialty Code. 
 

2. Section 3302 Construction Safeguards - of the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, 
with Subsection 3302.3, “Fire safety during construction,” supplemented with the 
following: 

 
i. 3302.3.1 Purpose. In addition to the requirements prescribed in the 

Oregon Fire Code, this section prescribes minimum safeguards for 
construction, alteration, and demolition operations for tall combustible 
construction to provide reasonable safety to life and property from fire 
during such operations. 

 
ii. 3302.3.2 Scope. This section applies to combustible construction which 

meets the following criteria: 
1. Construction is combustible and of Type III, IV, or V, as identified in 

Section 602; and 
2. Construction is four (4) or more stories; or 
3. Construction is more than 40 feet in height; or 
4. Where, during framing stages, there are (4) or more individual 

combustible structures that are three (3) or more stories in height, 
immediately adjacent to each other (with a physical separation of 20 
feet or less) on the same or separate lots, all at the framing stage, and 
each under the same ownership. 

 
iii. 3302.3.3 Site Fire Safety Plan. A fire safety plan in accordance with 

Chapter 33 of the Oregon Fire Code, shall be provided to the Building 
Official prior to the start of combustible construction.  

 

Page 193 of 301



Page 2 

iv. 3302.3.4 Site Security. Each structure shall be provided with site security 
prior to the start of combustible construction. Site security shall be in a 
form that is acceptable to the Building Official through a guard service, 
remote video monitoring, security fencing, or combination thereof, to 
ensure the site remains reasonably secure from theft, vandalism, vagrants, 
or otherwise prevents the site from becoming an attractive nuisance. 

 
Where guard service is provided, the guard(s) shall be trained in all of the 
following: 
1. Notification procedures that include calling the fire department and 

management personnel 
2. Function and operation of fire protection equipment 
3. Familiarization with fire hazards 
4. Use of construction elevators, where provided 
5. Any special status of emergency equipment or hazards 

Where guard service is provided, the fire prevention program 
superintendent shall be responsible for the guard service. 
 
Grade level entrances (e.g., doors and windows) to the structure while 
under construction, alteration, or demolition shall be secured where not 
actively in use or actively under construction. 

 
v. 3302.3.5 Violation. Failure to adhere to the required fire safety plan, 

including providing site security, shall constitute a violation of this code 
and cause the building(s) to be defined as unsafe or dangerous.  

 

Page 194 of 301



Page 1 

Exhibit 5 
City of Wilsonville Electrical Specialty Code 

 
I. Adoption of 2017 Oregon Electrical Specialty Code 
 
Except as amended herein, the City of Wilsonville (“City”) adopts the 2017 Oregon Electrical 
Specialty Code, as adopted by Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 918-305-0100 through 918-
305-0105, as part of the City’s Building Code.  Regulation of the City’s Electrical Specialty 
Code is provided by Clackamas County.  A copy of the 2017 Oregon Electrical Specialty Code 
shall be kept in the office of the Building Official of the City of Wilsonville. 
 

Page 195 of 301



Page 1 

Exhibit 6 
City of Wilsonville Plumbing Specialty Code 

 
I. Adoption of 2017 Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code 
 
Except as amended herein, the City of Wilsonville (“City”) adopts the 2017 Oregon Plumbing 
Specialty Code, as adopted by Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 918-750-0110 through 918-
750-0115, as part of the City’s Building Code.  A copy of the 2017 Oregon Plumbing Specialty 
Code shall be kept in the office of the Building Official of the City of Wilsonville. 
 

Page 196 of 301



Page 1 

Exhibit 7 
City of Wilsonville Fire Code 

 
I. Adoption of 2019 Oregon Fire Code 
 
Except as amended herein, the City of Wilsonville (“City”) adopts the 2019 Oregon Fire Code, as 
adopted by Oregon Administrative Rules 837-040-0010 through OAR 837-040-0140, as part of 
the City’s Building Code.  A copy of the 2019 Oregon Fire Code shall be kept in the office of the 
Building Official of the City of Wilsonville. 

Page 197 of 301



RESOLUTION NO. 2780  Page 1 of 2 
L:\CODE REV\Building Code~Ch 9\RES 2779 and 2780\RES Building Fee Schedules (v.1).docx 

RESOLUTION NO. 2780 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE APPROVING BUILDING 
PERMIT FEE SCHEDULES, MECHANICAL PERMIT FEE SCHEDULES, AND 
PLUMBING PERMIT FEE SCHEDULE. 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Wilsonville (“City”) previously maintained its fee schedules for 

building permits, mechanical permits, and plumbing permits in Wilsonville Code Chapter 9 - 

Structures; and 

WHEREAS, the City typically codifies fee schedules, such as land use development and 

planning review fees, through resolutions instead of in the Wilsonville Code; and 

WHEREAS, the City is repealing and replacing Wilsonville Code Chapter 9 – Structures; 

and 

WHEREAS, the new Wilsonville Code Chapter 9 provides for building permit, mechanical 

permit, and plumbing permit fees to be adopted by resolution; and 

WHEREAS, until a comprehensive review of all the building fees can be conducted, the 

City should adopt by resolution the permit fees currently provided in Wilsonville Code Chapter 9. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The above findings are incorporated herein. 

2. The City Council of the City of Wilsonville hereby adopts Exhibits 1-3 as fees 

allowed under the new Wilsonville Code Chapter 9, Section 9.380. 

4. This Resolution becomes effective on January 1, 2020. 

 

ADOPTED by the Wilsonville City Council at a regular meeting thereof this ____ day of 

____________, 2019, and filed with the Wilsonville City Recorder this date. 

 
 
       __________________________________ 
       TIM KNAPP, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 

Page 198 of 301

guile
Typewritten Text
     ATTACHMENT B



RESOLUTION NO. 2780  Page 2 of 2 
L:\CODE REV\Building Code~Ch 9\RES 2779 and 2780\RES Building Fee Schedules (v.1).docx 

 
 

SUMMARY OF VOTES: 

Mayor Knapp    

Council President Akervall  

Councilor Lehan   

Councilor West   

Councilor Linville   

 

Attachments: 

Exhibit 1 – Building Permit Fee Schedules 

Exhibit 2 – Mechanical Permit Fee Schedules 

Exhibit 3 – Plumbing Permit Fee Schedule 

[WHEN COMPLETED, EMAIL WORD DOC & ANY EXHIBITS TO CITY RECORDER] 

Page 199 of 301



Page 1 

Exhibit 1 
City of Wilsonville Building Permit Fee Schedules 

 
I. Non-Residential, Apartment Houses*, and Condominium Structural Fee Schedule** 
 
Total Valuation of Work  
to Be Performed Fees 

 
$1.00 to $500.00 $48.20 minimum fee 
 
$501.00 to $2,000.00 $48.20 the first $500.00, plus $2.54 for each additional 

$100.00 or fraction thereof, to and including $2,000.00 
 
$2,001.00 to $25,000.00 $86.30 for the first $2,000.00, plus $10.15 for each 

additional $1,000.00 or fraction thereof, to and including 
$25,000.00 

 
$25,001.00 to $50,000.00 $319.75 for the first $25,000.00, plus $7.60 for each 

additional $1,000.00 or fraction thereof, to and including 
$50,000.00 

 
$50,001.00 to $100,000.00 $509.75 for the first $50,000.00, plus $5.08 for each 

additional $1,000.00 or fraction thereof, to and including 
$100,000.00. 

 
$100,001.00 and up $763.75 for the first $100,000.00, plus $4.24 for each 

additional $1,000.00 or fraction thereof. 
 
Definition of Valuation: The determination of value or valuation under any of the provisions 
of the State Structural Specialty Code shall be made by the Building Official.  The value to be used 
in computing the building permit and building plan review fees shall be the total value of all 
construction work for which the permit is issued, as well as all finish work, painting, roofing, 
electrical, plumbing, heating, air conditioning, elevators, fire-extinguishing systems and any other 
permanent equipment.  The most recent edition of the International Code Council, printed by the 
International Code Council, shall be used in determining the valuation.   
 
Inspections made outside of normal business hours $51.30 hour/2-hour min charge + 

state surcharge 
 
Re-inspection fee assessed                          $51.30 each + state surcharge  
 
  

Page 200 of 301



Page 2 

Inspections for which no fee is specifically indicated $51.30 hour/1/2 hour min charge + 
state surcharge 

 
Investigation Fee   $102.60 + state surcharge  
 
Additional plan review required by changes, additions, 
or revisions to approved plans    $51.30 hour/1/2 hour min charge 
 
Research Fee    $50.00 per hour 
 
Plan Check Fee    65% of the building permit fee 
 
Fire/Life Safety Review Fee    40% of the building permit fee 
 
State Surcharge  12% of the building permit fee (or 

current state rate) 
 
Partial Permit Fee  $250.00 for each partial permit 
 
Certificate of Occupancy    $100.00 (no new permit required) 
 
Change of Use     $100.00 
 
Temporary Certificate of Occupancy (Exceptions 
 R-3 and U Occupancies)    $300.00 
 
City Sidewalk/Approach Inspection    $150.00 
 
Site Work/Grading Permit Fee This permit fee is based on the valuation of the site 

work being constructed, less the valuation of any site 
utilities work. (Refer to the commercial Permit Fee 
Schedule). A separate plumbing permit for site 
utilities will be issued based upon the total developed 
length of the plumbing system (see Plumbing Permit 
Fee Schedule).  

 
Deferred Submittals  A fee equal to 65% of the permit fee, calculated using 

the value of the particular deferred portion(s) of the 
project, with a minimum fee of $150) (Commercial, 
Industrial, Multi-Family). Exempt permits from 
deferred submittals: plumbing, mechanical, fire 
alarm, fire sprinkler, tenant improvement, 
residential. 

 
Prescriptive Solar Installation  $103.00 + state surcharge for installations falling 

under the Oregon Solar Installation Specialty Code.  

Page 201 of 301



Page 3 

*Apartment Houses containing (3) or more Dwelling Units 
 
**These fees do not include City Planning or Engineering fees that may be due at issuance of a 
building permit. 
  

Page 202 of 301



Page 4 

II. Residential Structural Fee Schedule** 
 

Total Valuation  
of Work to Be Performed Fees 
 
$1.00 to $500.00 $48.20 minimum fee 
 
$501.00 to $2,000.00 $48.20 for the first $500.00, plus $2.25 for each additional 

$100.00 or fraction thereof, to and including $2,000.00 
 
$2,001.00 to $25,000.00 $81.95 for the first $2,000.00, plus $8.98 for each additional 

$1,000.00 or fraction thereof, to and including $25,000.00 
 
$25,001.00 to $50,000.00 $288.49 for the first $25,000.00, plus $6.74 for each 

additional $1,000.00 or fraction thereof, to and including 
$50,000.00 

 
$50,001.00 to $100,000.00 $456.99 for the first $50,000.00, plus $4.49 for each 

additional $1,000.00 or fraction thereof, to and including 
$100,000.00. 

 
$100,001.00 and up $681.49 for the first $100,000.00, plus $3.75 for each 

additional $1,000.00 or fraction thereof. 
 
Definition of Valuation: The determination of value or valuation under any of the provisions 
of the State Structural Specialty Code shall be made by the Building Official. The value to be used 
in computing the building permit and building plan review fees shall be the total value of all 
construction work for which the permit is issued, as well as all finish work, painting, roofing, 
electrical, plumbing, heating, air conditioning, elevators, fire-extinguishing systems and any other 
permanent equipment. The most recent edition of the International Code Council Building 
Valuation Data Table, printed by the International Code Council, shall be used in determining the 
valuation.   
 
Residential Fee Schedule 
 
Inspections made outside of normal business hours $51.30 hour/2-hour min 

charge   + state surcharge 
 
Re-inspection fee assessed under provisions of Section 108.8 $51.30 each + state surcharge 
 
Inspections for which no fee is specifically indicated $51.30 hour/1/2 hour min 

charge + state surcharge 
 
Investigation Fee   $102.60 + state surcharge 
   
 

Page 203 of 301



Page 5 

Additional plan review required by changes, additions, or $51.30 hour/1/2 hour min  
revisions to approved plans  charge + state surcharge 
      
 
Plan Check Fee  65% of the building permit fee 
 
State Surcharge  12% of the building permit fee 

(or current state rate) 
 
City Sidewalk/Approach Inspection     $100.00  
 
Residential Fire Sprinkler (Stand Alone)  
 0-2,000 square feet      $65.00 
 2,001-3,600 square feet      $90.00 
3,601-7,200 square feet      $101.00 
7,201 and greater      $173.00 
 
Research Fee      $50.00 per hour 
 
Processing fee for plans exempted from a plan review   $100.00 
By OAR 918-480-0130 
 
Partial Permit Fee     $250.00 for each partial  

    permit 
 
Temporary Certificate of Occupancy (Exceptions    $300.00 
R-3 and U Occupancies)     
 
Prescriptive Solar Installation  $103.00 + state surcharge for 

installations falling under the 
Oregon Solar Installation 
Specialty Code.  

 
**These fees do not include City Planning or Engineering fees that may be due at issuance of a 
building permit. 
 

Page 204 of 301



Page 1 

Exhibit 2 
City of Wilsonville Mechanical Permit Fee Schedules 

 
I. Non-Residential, Apartment Houses*, and Condominium Mechanical Permit Fee 

Schedule 
 
Total Valuation  
of Work to Be Performed Fees 
 
$1.00 to $5000 $61.55 Minimum  
 
$5,001 to $10,000 $61.55 for the first $5000.00, plus $1.23 for each additional 

$1,000.00 or fraction thereof. 
 
$10,001 to $100,000 $123.05 for the first $10,000, plus $3.44 for each additional 

$1,000.00 or fraction thereof. 
 
$100,001 to $1,000,000 $432.65 for the first $100,000.00, plus $1.54 for each 

additional $1,000.00 or fraction thereof. 
 
$1,000,001 and up $1,818.65 for the first $100,000.00, plus $1.54 for each 

additional $1,000.00 or fraction thereof. 
 
Plan Check Fee    25% of subtotal 
 
State Surcharge (or Current State Rate)   12% of subtotal 
 

Inspections made outside of normal business hours  $51.30 hour/2-hour min charge 
 
Re-inspection fee assessed under provisions of Section 116.6 $51.30 each + state surcharge 
 
Inspections for which no fee is specifically indicated $51.30 hour/1/2 hour min charge 
 
Investigation Fee    $102.60 + state surcharge  
   
Additional plan review required by changes, additions, or 
revisions to approved plans    $51.30 hour/1/2 hour min charge 
 
*Apartment Houses more than 3 Dwelling Units 
  

Page 205 of 301



Page 2 

II. Residential Mechanical Permit Fee Schedule 
 
Type of Equipment      Fees 
 
Minimum Permit Fee  $44.60 
Air Handling Unit  $23.05 
Air Conditioning Unit $18.45 
Alteration of existing HVAC system $18.45 
Boiler/Compressors $18.45 
Fire/Smoke Dampers/Duct Smoke Detectors $13.85 
Heat Pump $18.45 
Furnace Install/Replace $23.05 
Suspended, Recessed and Floor Heaters $18.45 
Vent for appliance other than furnace $13.85 
Refrigeration: Absorption Units/Chillers/Compressors        $13.85 
Appliance Vent $  9.20 
Dryer Exhaust $  9.20 
Hoods Type I/Fire Suppression System/Exhaust Fans $  9.20 
Exhaust System Apart from Heating or A/C $13.85 
Fuel Piping:  One to Four Outlets $  6.15 
  Each Additional Outlet Over Four Outlets $  1.54 
Process Piping  $13.85 
Decorative Fireplace $13.85 
Insert Type: $13.85 
Woodstove/Pellet Stove $13.85 
Other:  Appliance Alteration $13.85 
Other:  Appliance New $13.85 
Plan Check Fee 25% of subtotal 
State Surcharge (or Current State Rate) 12% of subtotal  
 

 
Inspections made outside of normal business hours  $51.30 hour/2-hour min charge 
 
Re-inspection fee assessed under provisions of Section 116.6 $51.30 each + state surcharge 
 
Inspections for which no fee is specifically indicated $51.30 hour/1/2 hour min charge 
 
Investigation Fee    $102.60 + state surcharge  
   
Additional plan review required by changes, additions, or 
revisions to approved plans    $51.30 hour/1/2 hour min charge 
 

Page 206 of 301



Page 1 

Exhibit 3 
City of Wilsonville Plumbing Permit Fee Schedule 

 
Type of Fixture and/or Appurtenances   Fees 
 
Minimum Permit Fee  $41.00 
 
Single Family Dwelling (1/2) Bath  $128.50 
Single Family Dwelling (1) Bath $256.50 
Single Family Dwelling (2) Bath $311.65 
Single Family Dwelling (3) Bath $348.80 
 
All Other Plumbing Connections / 
Site Utilities as Listed On Plumbing 
Permit Application: $ 14.90 each 
 
with the exception of: 
 
Sanitary Sewer  
   -1st 100 ft/fraction thereof $50.80 
   -each additional 100 ft/portion $50.80 
 
Water Service  
   -1st 100 ft/fraction thereof $50.80 
   -each additional 100 ft/portion $50.80 
 
Storm and Rain Drain  
   -1st 100 ft/fraction thereof $50.80 
   -each additional 100 ft/portion $50.80 
 
Footing Drain  
   -1st 100 ft/fraction thereof $50.80 
   -each additional 100 ft/portion $50.80 
 
Residential Fire Suppression System (multi-purpose)  
0-2,000 square feet  $65.00 
2,000-3,600 square feet $90.00 
3,601-7,200 $101.00 
7,201 and greater  $173.00 
 
Medical Gas Systems   
$1.00 to $5,000 Minimum fee $123.00  
 
$5,000 to $10,000 $123.00 for the first $5,000 
 and $2.55 for each 
 additional $100 or 

Page 207 of 301



Page 2 

 fraction thereof, to and 
 including $10,000 
 
$10,000 to $25,000  $250.50 for the first $10,000 
 and $2.55 for each additional 
 $100 or fraction thereof,  
 to and including $25,000  
 
$25,000 to $50,000  $633.85 for the first $25,000 
 and $2.46 for each additional 
 $100 or fraction thereof, 
 to and including $50,000 
 
$50,000 and up $1,257.25 for the first 
 $50,000 and $2.05 for each 
 additional $100 or fraction 
 thereof 
 
 
Plan Check Fee 25% of Subtotal 
 
State Surcharge (Current) 12% of Subtotal 
 
 

Inspections made outside of normal business hours $51.30/hr. 2-hr minimum + 
state surcharge 

 
Re-inspection fee assessed under provisions of Section 108.8 $51.30 + state surcharge 
 
Inspections for which no fee is specifically indicated  $51.30/hour; 1/2-hour min  
    charge + state surcharge 
 
Investigation Fee    $102.60 + state surcharge 
   
Additional plan review required by changes, additions, or 
   revisions to approved plans     $51.30/hour; 1/2-hour min  

    charge + state surcharge 
 

Page 208 of 301



Item # Code

Ref #

Language or Code Section Previously 

Adopted

Should 

Adopt

Modification 

Needed

Notes, Rationale, or Proposed Modification

1 OSSC Section 101.2, Scope, PART 1 - REMOVED by State

NOTE: This list of 26 items is for comparative purposes only for use with the proceeding section of 20 items.

1 The construction, alteration, moving, demolition, repair, 

maintenance and work located primarily in a public way.

N/A

2 Abatement of nuisances and dangerous buildings. See Part 2 Below

3 Fire safety during construction. See Part 2 Below

4 Demolition. See Part 2 Below

5 Protection of adjoining property. See Part 2 Below

6 Temporary use of streets, alleys and public property. See Part 2 Below

7 Portable fire extinguishers. Should be added back for fire safety during construction. Also 

ADA applies to mounting height. OSSC 3309

8 Encroachments into the public way. See Part 2 Below

9 Public utility towers and poles. N/A

10 Mechanical equipment not specifically regulated in this code. Not sure what this is. Survey of BO's = Not sure either.

11 Hydraulic flood control structures, including but not limited to 

dams and levees.

N/A

12 Retaining walls that do not provide safeguards for the users of 

buildings; and do not support a regulated building or required 

accessible parking; and do not retain material, if not 

restrained, could impact a regulated building.

See Part 2 Below

13 Fences. See Part 2 Below

14 Tanks that are located exterior to and not attached to or 

supported by a regulated building.

See Part 2 Below

15 Cellular phone, radio, television and other telecommunication 

and broadcast towers that are not attached to or supported 

by a regulated building.

See Part 2 Below

16 Flagpoles not attached to or supported by a regulated 

building.

See Part 2 Below

17 Signs not attached to or supported by a regulated building. See Part 2 Below

18 Ground-mounted photovoltaic arrays. Not sure why this is not regulated. Solar arrays = Kites in wind 

storms. No option to add back.

19 Floating structures. See Part 2 Below

20 Docks. See Part 2 Below

21 Fixed piers or wharves with no superstructure. See Part 2 Below

22 Equipment shelters not intended for human occupancy with a 

building area of 250 square feet or less, designated as Risk 

Category I or II.

See Part 2 Below

23 Transitional housing accommodations. See Part 2 Below

24 Administration and implementation of a National Flood 

Insurance Program (NFIP).

See Part 2 Below

25 Detached tents and other membrane structures erected for 

periods of 180 days or less.

180 days or less is regulated by Fire Code/Fire Marshal. See 

OSSC CH 31 for Temporary Structures

26 Other structures not regulated by the state building code 

consistent with the scope of ORS 455.020.

See Part 2 Below

2 OSSC Section 101.2, Scope, PART 2 - OPTIONAL Local Add Back - NEED TO ADOPT ALL BUT #1.

1 Pursuant to the regulation of dangerous buildings, a 

municipality may adopt seismic rehabilitation plans that 

provide for phased completion of repairs that are designed to 

provide improved life safety but that may be less than the 

standards for new buildings.

n n n This is already provided for in the review and approval of 

AM&M reviews of Section 104.8, and OSSC Chapter 34, and 

the International Existing Building Code which is adopted 

(IEBC). FEMA 172 and other FEMA related standards can also 

be considered in voluntary seismic upgrades as alternatives.

2 Abatement of nuisances and dangerous buildings. y y y OSSC Ch 2 Definition (Below. Very weak language), 3413 (not 

adopted), 112 (not adopted, need to), 116 (not adopted, need 

to. May be enough with IPMC definition). Possibly Look at 

very limited IPMC adoption for definition of dangerous and 

process for resolution/abatement. The 2018 International 

Property Maintenance Code (IPMC) is much more robust and 

well defined code for dangerous buildings and modeled after 

1997 ICBO Dangerous Building Code. Recommend narrow 

adoption of dangerous building definition portions of IPMC. 

Division policy may be appropriate further define process for 

resolving dangerous building issues.

OSSC CH 2 Definition: 

DANGEROUS. Any building, structure or portion thereof

that meets any of the conditions described below shall be

deemed dangerous:

1. The building or structure has collapsed, has partially

collapsed, has moved off its foundation or lacks the

necessary support of the ground.

2. There exists a significant risk of collapse, detachment

or dislodgment of any portion, member, appurtenance

or ornamentation of the building or structure under service 

loads.

3 Fire safety during construction. y y n OSSC Section 3302.3 Fire Safety During Construction (not 

adopted, removed, need to add back) Refers reader to the 

Fire code which is appropriate. See notes below in Chapter 33 

section.

4 Demolition. y y n OSSC Section 3303

Code Adoption Matrix  v1-2 December 9, 2019 Page 1 of 5

Wilsonville Code Adoption Matrix

Page 209 of 301

guile
Typewritten Text
            ATTACHMENT C

guile
Typewritten Text
   



Item # Code

Ref #

Language or Code Section Previously 

Adopted

Should 

Adopt

Modification 

Needed

Notes, Rationale, or Proposed Modification

5 Protection of adjoining property. y y n OSSC Section 3307

6 Temporary use of streets, alleys and public property. y y n OSSC Section 3308

7 Encroachments into the public way. y y n OSSC CH 32

8 Retaining walls that do not provide safeguards for the users of 

buildings; and do not support a regulated building or required 

accessible parking; and do not retain material, which if not 

restrained, could impact a regulated building.

y y n Straight code applies, no further references needing adoption

9 Fences. y y n Straight code applies, no further references needing 

adoption. May need to add exemption for 6' or less in height 

fences. Ensure this aligns with zoning/development code.

10 Tanks that are located exterior to and not attached to or 

supported by a regulated building.

y y n Straight code applies, no further references needing adoption

11 Cellular phone, radio, television and other telecommunication 

and broadcast towers that are not attached to or supported 

by a regulated building.

y y n Straight code applies, no further references needing adoption

12 Flagpoles not attached to or supported by a regulated 

building.

y y n Straight code applies, no further references needing 

adoption. Flag poles exempt from a permit less than 30' in 

height. Ensure this aligns with zoning/development code.

13 Signs not attached to or supported by a regulated building y y y Adopt OSSC Appx H, Signs. Permit exemptions are in the 

Wilsonville Code Section 4.156. Ensure this aligns with 

zoning/development code.

14 Floating structures. y y n Straight code applies, no further references needing adoption

15 Docks. y y n OSSC Section 455, 903.2.11.7

16 Fixed piers or wharves with no superstructure. y y n OSSC Section 455, 903.2.11.7

17 Equipment shelters not intended for human occupancy with a 

building area 250 square feet or less, designated as Risk 

Category I or II.

y y n Straight code applies, no further references needing adoption

18 Administration and implementation of a National Flood 

Insurance Program (NFIP). (Note: Out of order)

y y n Adopt outright by reference. See Note for OSSC Appx G. Need 

adoption so building code would regulate the construction of 

structures in the floodplain. Also Section 1612 addresses flood 

loads from a structural design perspective.

19 Transitional housing accommodations. n y n Survey of BO's = Not sure what this is. The code does not use 

this terminology. BCD has not clarified. Perhaps housing for 

homeless to transition into regular housing. There are no 

standards for this. Have used OSSC Section 108 to provide 

temporary permit for housing in churches, offices, etc. 

Residential code has tiny house provisions coming (Appx Q).

20 Matters not encompassed by this code. (Note: Different 

wording)

y y n Survey of BO's = Not sure what this is. Not sure what this 

would entail. BCD has not clarified. Code is already very 

comprehensive.

3 OSSC Section 101.2.1, Appendices - OPTIONAL Local Add Back

Appendix A, “Employee Qualifications.” n n HR handles this via Job Description

Appendix B, “Board of Appeals.” n n Calls for 5 member board. Language/process incomplete. Our 

new code is better.

Appendix D, “Fire Districts.” n n TVFR already handles this

Appendix F, “Rodent proofing.” n n Code already requires rodent proofing (foundation screens)

Appendix G, “Flood-resistant Construction.” n n WC CH4, Section 4.172 Covers Floodplain Regulations

Appendix H, “Signs.” n y y Need to Add: OSSC Appendix H is adopted except for the 

following:

1) Delete Section H101.2. Refer reader to Wilsonville 

Development Code Section 4.156 for work exempt from a 

permit.

2) Delete Section H104. This is not a construction standard.

Explanation: Signs were one of the items removed from OSSC 

Section 101.2 Scope. OSSC Appendix H is intended to provide 

structural and life-safety standards for signs. This chapter will 

dovetail with the Wilsonville Sign Code found in WC 4.156.

Code Adoption Matrix  v1-2 December 9, 2019 Page 2 of 5

Page 210 of 301



Item # Code

Ref #

Language or Code Section Previously 

Adopted

Should 

Adopt

Modification 

Needed

Notes, Rationale, or Proposed Modification

Appendix J, “Grading.” y y y Need to Add: OSSC Appendix J is adopted except for the 

following:

1) Section J103.2 Exemptions. Delete items 1 & 2. 

2) Section J103.2 Add: 1. Fifty (50) cubic yards, or One (1) foot 

of depth for fill. 2. Deleted. (Explanation: Previous Appx Ch 33 

language - commonly used in trades).

3) Section J109 Drainage. Add language:

J109.5 Drainage. Drainage shall be provided as required by 

the geotechnical evaluation. The design and construction shall 

be in accordance with the applicable requirements of the 

Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code and City of Wilsonville 

Engineering Standards. Drainage discharge shall be to an 

approved  location.

4) Section J110 Erosion Control. Delete entire section except 

a statement in J110.1 to add:

J110.1 General. Erosion Control measures shall be installed 

and maintained in accordance with Wilsonville Engineering 

Standards for Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control 

requirements for the duration of a project.

(Explanation: Appendix J is traditionally how we regulate the 

excavation, grading, and fill of soils. In previous editions of the 

code this was Appendix Chapter 33. Erosion Control standards 

are set by the Engineering Division).

Appendix O, “Tsunami Loads.” n n Not located in a Tsunami Zone

4 Outright Section Adoptions without Modification

105 Permits Not necessary to adopt beyond the adoption of the OSSC. By 

virtue of adopting the OSSC, this section applies to all 

permitted activity.

107 Submittal Documents See note on OSSC Section 105

108 Temporary Structures and Uses See note on OSSC Section 105

109 Fees See note on OSSC Section 105

110 Inspections See note on OSSC Section 105

112 Service Utilities BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 112 Service 

Utilities is adopted along with the corresponding 2018 IBC 

Section. 

Explanation: This section provides the Building Official with 

regulatory framework to require a permit prior to connecting 

utilities. Also allows for disconnecting utilities in the event of 

a natural disaster, or dangerous building condition. Provides 

notice requirements to owners or occupants.

116 Unsafe Structures or Equipment BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 116 Unsafe 

Structures or Equipment, is adopted along with the 

corresponding 2018 IBC Section.

Explanation: This section provides a very brief and general 

description circumstances that are unsafe or dangerous. 

Language is very subjective and not well defined. It provides a 

very basic means to order correction and remedy of 

circumstances through notice and order. Adoption of 2018 

International Property Maintenance Code (IPMC) is much 

more robust and well defined code for dangerous buildings. 

Recommend adopting dangerous building portions of IPMC.

905 Standpipe Systems BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 905 

Standpipe Systems, is adopted along with the corresponding 

2018 IBC Section. Installations of standpipe systems shall 

conform to the 2019 NFPA 14 Standard for the Installation of 

Standpipe and Hose Systems. Explanation: It remains unclear 

why BCD removed this from the code. BCD maintains that 

installation of certain fire department facilities are under 

authority for the Fire Department. However, the Fire 

Department does not have a permitting mechanism or staff 

capacity to regulate the construction of structures or their 

firefighting appurtenances such as FDC's, Sprinklers, Alarms, 

Standpipes, Private Fire Service Mains, etc. This has 

traditionally been permitted and inspected through the 

Building Department. Locally, staff coordinates all reviews 

with TVFR as a courtesy. Adoption of this section will continue 

current practice which works well. Same rationale apples for 

906 and 912.

906 Portable Fire Extinguishers BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 906 Portable 

Fire Extinguishers, is adopted along with the corresponding 

2018 IBC Section.

Explanation: See Explanation in section 905.

Code Adoption Matrix  v1-2 December 9, 2019 Page 3 of 5

Page 211 of 301



Item # Code

Ref #

Language or Code Section Previously 

Adopted

Should 

Adopt

Modification 

Needed

Notes, Rationale, or Proposed Modification

912 Fire Department Connections BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 912 Fire 

Department Connections, is adopted  along with the 

corresponding 2018 IBC Section. Installations of fire 

department connections, including private fire service mains, 

shall conform to the 2019 NFPA 24 Standard for the 

Installation of Private Fire Service Mains and Their 

Appurtenances. Explanation: See Explanation in section 905.

31 Chapter 31 Special Construction BCD Removed numerous sections from Chapter 31 by virtue 

of not adopting them in Section 101.2 Scope (the list of 26 

items). Rather than list each section, just adopt the entire 

chapter. Need to add back: OSSC Chapter 31, Special 

Construction, is adopted along with the corresponding 2018 

IBC Section. Explanation: As noted above. In addition, this 

section contains regulatory provisions for: membrane 

structures, temporary structures, pedestrian walkways, 

awnings, signs, marquees, towers, vehicle gates, 

greenhouses, and solar energy systems. This is sort of a 

catchall chapter.32 Chapter 32 Encroachments Into the Public Right of Way BCD Removed numerous sections from Chapter 32 but 

provided option for local adoption. Rather than list each 

section, just adopt the entire chapter. Need to add back: 

OSSC Chapter 32, Encroachments Into the Public Right of 

Way, is adopted along with the corresponding 2018 IBC 

Section. Explanation: As noted above. In addition, this section 

contains regulatory provisions for regulating encroachments 

into the ROW such as basements, awnings, balconies, 

architectural features, etc.

NOTE: Chapter 33 is titled Safeguards During Construction. Many sections have been removed. The following need to be adopted locally to add back:

3302.3 Fire Safety During Construction BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 3302.3 Fire 

Safety During Construction, is adopted along with the 

corresponding 2018 IBC Section. Also add: A new subsection 

to 3302.3 to deal with tall wood buildings under construction 

to provide security fencing, guard service, or video 

surveillance. See exhibit for new language being added.

3303 Demolition BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 3303 

Demolition, is adopted along with the corresponding 2018 IBC 

Section. Explanation: This section provides several necessary 

regulatory requirements for demolitions to protect the public 

and avoid abandonment of a site or leaving in such a state as 

to then become a public nuisance or hazard.

3307 Protection of Adjoining Property BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 3307 

Protection of Adjoining Property, is adopted along with the 

corresponding 2018 IBC Section. Explanation: This section 

causes the developer to consider potential impacts to 

adjoining properties and requires protective measures for 

avoiding damage to property or endangering life. This section 

also requires the contractor to provide notice to adjoining 

properties.

3308 Temporary Use of Streets, Alleys, and Public Property BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 3308 

Temporary Use of Streets, Alleys, and Public Property, is 

adopted along with the corresponding 2018 IBC Section. 

Explanation: Often construction staging is extremely 

challenging on constrained sites. This provides options for the 

Building Official to allow temporary staging to facilitate the 

project, while still maintaining emergency Fire Department 

access and public access.

3309 Fire Extinguishers BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 3309 Fire 

Extinguishers, is adopted along with the corresponding 2018 

IBC Section. Explanation: Fire extinguishers need to be 

available during construction for workers to extinguish fires 

while still small and able to be controlled. This section adds 

back a requirement for extinguishers in critical locations 

during construction.

3311 Standpipes

BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 3311 

Standpipes, is adopted along with the corresponding 2018 IBC 

Section. Installations of standpipe systems shall conform to 

the 2019 NFPA 14 Standard for the Installation of Standpipe 

and Hose Systems. Explanation: Fire standpipes are one of 

several tools available for firefighters to assist in fighting fires 

within a structure. This  code adoption adds it back and points 

to the applicable NFPA Standard for installation.

3313 Water Supply for Fire Protection BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 3313 Water 

Supply for Fire Protection, is adopted along with the 

corresponding 2018 IBC Section. 

Explanation: This section requires firefighting water supply to 

be available prior to beginning combustible construction.

Code Adoption Matrix  v1-2 December 9, 2019 Page 4 of 5

Page 212 of 301



Item # Code

Ref #

Language or Code Section Previously 

Adopted

Should 

Adopt

Modification 

Needed

Notes, Rationale, or Proposed Modification

3314 Fire Watch During Construction BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 3314 Fire 

Watch During Construction, is adopted along with the 

corresponding 2018 IBC Section. 

Explanation: This section gives authority for the Fire Marshal 

to require a fire watch on new construction when the height 

reaches 40 feet.

5 Modified Sections - NEED TO ADD

104.1 The Building Official shall not have power to waive the code. n n y Need to add: OSSC Section 104.1 Waiver. The Building Official 

shall not have power to waive the code.

Explanation: Oregon BCD has recently added to the Building 

Official, the power to waive code requirements. There are 

numerous legal issues, potential inequalities, and potential 

liabilities with code officials having power to outright waive 

the code. The rationale for BCD changing this language is not 

understood and counter to all previous editions of the code.

105.2 Work Exempt from a Permit (additional exempt items) Need to add to OSSC Section 105.2 Work Exempt from a 

Permit., Numbers 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15, as noted. 

Explanations are below.

11. Flag poles not over 30 feet in height. y y Adding back under Scope 101.2. Plus adding exemption from 

permits for height to align with Planning requirements.

12. Fences not over 6 feet in height. y y Adding back under Scope 101.2. Plus adding exemption from 

permits for height. Aligns with Planning requirements.

13. Retaining walls that are not over 4 feet (1219 mm) in 

height measured from the bottom of the footing to the top of 

the wall, unless supporting a surcharge or impounding Class I, 

II or IIIA liquids.

y y Adding back under Scope 101.2. Previously all retaining walls 

were regulated. Significant risk of property damage and life-

safety risk from failing retaining wall design and installation 

without review and inspections. Adding exemption for 

permits back in 105.2. 

14. Water tanks supported directly on grade if the capacity is 

not greater than 5,000 gallons (18,925 L) and the ratio of 

height to diameter or width is not greater than 2:1.

y y Adding back under Scope 101.2. Previously all tanks were 

regulated. Adding back. Significant risk of property damage 

and life-safety risk from tank installation failure. Seismic 

anchorage, tank materials, support structures, hazardous 

materials storage, piping, containment, location on property, 

height, access, fire protection, etc., - all items that should be 

reviewed and inspected. 

15. Signs: See Wilsonville Development Code Section 4.156 

for work exempt from a permit.

y y Adding back under Scope 101.2. Aligns with Planning 

requirements.

901.1 Private Fire Hydrants and Private Fire Lines - Chapter 9: Fire 

Protection and Life-Safety Systems. 901.1 Scope - As noted in 

the code:  Fire department access, fire-fighting water supply 

and fire hydrants are no longer part of the state building 

code.

y y BCD Removed. Need to add back: OSSC Section 901.1 Private 

Fire Hydrants and Private Fire Lines, is adopted along with the 

corresponding 2018 IBC Section. Installations of fire 

department connections, including private fire service mains, 

shall conform to the 2019 NFPA 24 Standard for the 

Installation of Private Fire Service Mains and Their 

Appurtenances. Explanation: With BCD removal from the 

code, private fire hydrants and private lines are no longer 

regulated by any authority per TVFR. This is very problematic. 

Buildings which rely on private fire systems would have no 

installation, plan review, or inspection oversight to ensure the 

firefighting infrastructure is correctly installed and 

maintained. Should locally adopt NFPA 24, 2019 ed. 

Reference as an alternative installation standard to a public 

hydrant system.

END

Code Adoption Matrix  v1-2 December 9, 2019 Page 5 of 5

Page 213 of 301



RESOLUTION NO. 2783 Page 1 of 2 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\8. Res. No. 2783\11. Resolution No. 2783.docx 

RESOLUTION NO. 2783 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE AUTHORIZING 
SETTLEMENT AND DISMISSAL OF LAND USE BOARD OF APPEALS CASE 
NO. 2019-058. 

WHEREAS, on or about June 7, 2019, the City of Wilsonville (City) filed an appeal with 

the Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA) of a Washington County (County) land use decision, 

authorizing a Contractor’s Establishment to be outside of the City limits, within Washington 

County but adjoining the City’s Garden Acres Road.  The appeal was based on, among other 

things, the County’s failure to require a road dedication from the applicant, needed to widen 

Garden Acres Road, formerly in County jurisdiction but now under City jurisdiction; and 

WHEREAS, the applicant for the Contractor’s establishment, C&L Lang LLC and Jim 

Lang (Applicant-Intervenor), intervened in the LUBA appeal, objecting to the City’s appeal of 

the County decision; and 

WHEREAS, the City worked with the Applicant-Intervenor and the County to resolve the 

dispute by agreeing to dismiss the LUBA appeal if the Applicant would agree to dedicate the 

right-of-way needed by the City, along with an adjoining Public Utility Easement; and 

WHEREAS, City Council authorized the City Attorney to negotiate a Settlement with the 

Applicant-Intervenor to that effect; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant-Intervenor has signed and placed into escrow the Dedication 

Deed for the right-of-way and the Public Utility Easement, both of which will be recorded as 

soon as the Applicant-Intervenor obtains final approvals from the County, per the Settlement 

Agreement, and the City dismisses the LUBA appeal. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Attorney is authorized to dismiss the LUBA appeal in consideration of

the Dedication Deed for the right-of-way and the granting of the Public Access

Easement.

2. This Resolution becomes effective upon adoption.

Page 214 of 301



RESOLUTION NO. 2783  Page 2 of 2 
N:\City Recorder\Workspace - Council Items\8. Res. No. 2783\11. Resolution No. 2783.docx 

 

ADOPTED by the Wilsonville City Council at a regular meeting thereof this 16th day of 

December 2019, and filed with the Wilsonville City Recorder this date. 

 
 
       __________________________________ 
       TIM KNAPP, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES: 

Mayor Knapp    

Council President Akervall  

Councilor Lehan   

Councilor West   

Councilor Linville   

Page 215 of 301



Ordinance No. 839 Staff Report Page 1 of 4 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

Meeting Date: December 16, 2019 Subject: Ordinance No. 839 – 2nd Reading 
An Ordinance of the City of Wilsonville Repealing 
and Replacing Wilsonville Code Chapter 9 – 
Structures; and Declaring an Emergency. 

Staff Member: Dan Carlson, Building Official and 
Amanda Guile-Hinman, Assistant City Attorney 

Department: Building/Legal 
Action Required Advisory Board/Commission 

Recommendation  
☒ Motion ☐ Approval
☒ Public Hearing Date:

December 2, 2019
☐ Denial

☒ Ordinance 1st Reading Date:
December 2, 2019

☐ None Forwarded

☒ Ordinance 2nd Reading Date:
December 16, 2019

☒ Not Applicable

☐ Resolution Comments: Adoption of a new Chapter 9 of the 
Wilsonville Code concerning structures, otherwise 
referred to as the Building Code. 

☐ Information or Direction
☐ Information Only
☐ Council Direction
☐ Consent Agenda
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends that Council adopt Ordinance No. 839 on 
second reading. 
Recommended Language for Motion: I move to approve Ordinance No. 839 on second 
reading. 
Project / Issue Relates To: 
☐Council Goals/Priorities ☐Adopted Master Plan(s) ☒Not Applicable

ISSUE BEFORE COUNCIL: 
Whether to adopt a new Chapter 9 of the Wilsonville Code (“WC”) regulating structures within 
the City of Wilsonville (commonly referred to as the Building Code).  The Ordinance with the 
proposed Chapter 9 (inclusive of changes made since the last published version of Chapter 9) is 
attached hereto as Attachment A. 

Page 216 of 301



Ordinance No. 839 Staff Report  Page 2 of 4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The Oregon Building Codes Division (“BCD”), a division of the Oregon Department of Consumer 
and Business Services (the “Department”) is responsible for adopting statewide building codes 
that local jurisdictions must apply for structures constructed within their jurisdiction.  Pursuant to 
Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 455.020(1), the Department is required to create uniform building 
codes for the state.  Under ORS 455.020(4), local jurisdictions may enact regulations to administer 
the state building code, but does not allow for local jurisdictions to adopt regulations that are 
expressly withheld or otherwise provided for by statute.  In other words, local jurisdictions can 
adopt regulations as long as they are not contrary to or prohibited by the published state building 
code. 
 
1. Overview of Proposed Chapter 9 

 
Effective October 1, 2019, BCD amended its Oregon Structural Specialty Code (“2019 OSSC”), 
though the 2019 OSSC was not published until mid-October 2019.  As part of the updates in the 
2019 OSSC, BCD removed statewide regulations of twenty-six (26) structures based on a new 
legal interpretation from its legal counsel of ORS 455.020. 
 
BCD now relies on ORS 455.020(4) to allow local jurisdictions to adopt their own regulations for 
twenty (20) unregulated structures.  To ensure that structures within the City continue to be 
constructed safely and in accordance with generally accepted construction standards, it is 
necessary to adopt local regulations for some of the now unregulated structures.   
 
In addition to the changes in the 2019 OSSC, there are other aspects of Chapter 9 that should be 
addressed.  Currently, Chapter 9 essentially only adopts the current state building codes and also 
codifies building fees.  It does not outline the duties and authority of the Building Official or 
provide for any review process of decisions made by the Building Official.  Importantly, House 
Bill 2001 (2019) requires the City to have a local appeals board for certain decisions made by the 
Building Official, which the proposed Chapter 9 includes.  Much of the proposed Chapter 9 comes 
from the City of Corvallis because the City’s Building Official helped develop Corvallis’s building 
code while he served as Building Official.  City staff also reviewed building codes of Tualatin, 
Tigard, Lake Oswego, West Linn, Canby, and Portland as part of redrafting Chapter 9.  Below is 
a summary of the proposed provisions in Chapter 9. 
 

Section Description Explanation 
General Provides title, purpose, scope, and 

definitions for Chapter. 
Current Chapter 9 does not provide an 
explanation of the purpose or scope of 
Chapter 9 or even explain that it is the 
City’s Building Code. 

Powers and Duties 
of Building Official 

Grants the Building Official 
certain authority to enter 
buildings, issue stop work orders, 
cite violators of the building code, 
among other duties and 
responsibilities. 

There are several official powers that 
are necessary for the Building Official 
to carry out the duties of the position 
that are not currently in Chapter 9.  For 
example, Chapter 9 does not provide 
for the Building Official a right of entry 
when the building violates the Building 
Code. There is new power in the state 
code for the Building Official to waive 
the code which needs to be removed.   

Page 217 of 301



Ordinance No. 839 Staff Report  Page 3 of 4 

Section Description Explanation 
Construction 
Documents and 
Permits 

Explains how an application is 
reviewed, when it is approved, 
and how inspections are handled, 
among other provisions.   

The permit application process is not 
currently contained in the City’s 
building code and does not outline the 
rules regarding suspending or revoking 
a permit or transferring a permit. 

Building Codes and 
Fees 

This section states that building 
codes and fees will be adopted by 
resolution, which will allow for 
more nimbleness when state 
building codes, laws, and 
interpretations change. 

Current Chapter 9 codifies state 
building codes and the City’s building 
fees.  This makes it difficult to update 
building codes when the state adopts 
new codes and also means that codes 
and fees become outdated and local 
building code becomes preempted by 
new state codes. 

Violations Gives the building official 
authority to fine individuals who 
violate the building code (outside 
the regular permit process) and an 
appeal process to challenge the 
fine.  

The current Chapter 9 does have a 
penalties section, but states that the 
punishment is a Class A misdemeanor 
while only imposing a fine of between 
$10 and $50.  A civil penalty, as 
opposed to a criminal charge is a more 
appropriate remedy (if criminal activity 
did occur, an individual can be charged 
under state or federal laws). Civil 
penalty is through a progressive civil 
penalty process where the civil penalty 
is commensurate with the level of 
violation.   

Board of Appeals Creates a Board of Appeals to 
hear appeals regarding the 
Building Official’s interpretation 
of technical building code 
standards. 

The City does not currently have a 
Board of Appeals to hear appeals 
regarding the Building Official’s 
interpretation of technical building 
code standards.  HB 2001 requires that 
the City create a local board of appeals, 
but it is not yet in effect. 

Severability Ensures that if one part of the 
Chapter is deemed invalid, the 
remainder of the Chapter is intact. 

The current Chapter 9 does not have a 
severability clause. 

 
2. Changes Since December 2 Council Meeting 
 
At the December 2 Council meeting, staff provided the Council with a redline of the proposed 
Chapter 9. That redline is attached hereto as Attachment B.  The redline changes seek to clarify 
certain provisions of the proposed Chapter 9 as follows: 

• Clarifying applicability only to those structures regulated by the Building Code 
• Clarifying “receipt” of notices when mailed/personally delivered 
• Encouraging new technologies and design 
• Encouraging voluntary corrections of violations 
• Clarifying time frames for denying appeals 
• Correcting minor scrivener errors  

Page 218 of 301



Ordinance No. 839 Staff Report  Page 4 of 4 

EXPECTED RESULTS: 
Clearer authority and responsibilities of the City Building Official, a Board of Appeals consistent 
with the requirements of HB 2001, and easier means of updating the Building Code and building 
fees. 
 
TIMELINE: 
The public hearing for Ordinance No. 839 was held on December 2, 2019.  At that time, the 
Council elected to keep the record open for further public testimony regarding the proposed redline 
changes to the Ordinance. A second reading is scheduled for December 16, 2019.  Staff 
recommend declaring an emergency so that Ordinance No. 839 is effective January 1, 2020 since 
the 2019 OSSC is fully effective January 1, 2020. At the December 16, 2019 meeting, staff will 
also present Resolution Nos. 2779 and 2780 for the adoption of specific statewide building codes 
and fees pursuant to the proposed Sections 9.300 through 9.380. 
 
CURRENT YEAR BUDGET IMPACTS: 
N/A 
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW / COMMENT: 
Reviewed by: KAK Date: 11/27/2019 
 
LEGAL REVIEW / COMMENT:  
Reviewed by: BAJ Date: 12/10/2019 
 
Recall the record from First Reading has been kept open to allow adequate time for public 
comment and further Council review based on the fact that a revised Ordinance was presented at 
First Reading 
 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT PROCESS: 
N/A 
 
POTENTIAL IMPACTS or BENEFIT TO THE COMMUNITY: 
Providing the local regulations will ensure that structures continue to meet accepted safety 
standards.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Default to the regulations in 2019 OSSC or adopt the 2014 OSSC Chapter 1, though there are 
inherent risks with both options.  Simply adopting the 2019 OSSC will mean that several types of 
buildings and structures will no longer be regulated and inspected by City building staff.  Adopting 
the 2014 OSSC Chapter 1 means that there will be provisions that the City may be enforcing that 
it is not entitled to enforce under the 2019 OSSC. 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENT: 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

A. Ordinance No. 839 with proposed Chapter 9 (as further revised) 
B. Redline of proposed Chapter 9 showing revisions 

Page 219 of 301



 

ORDINANCE NO. 839  Page 1 of 3 
N:\shared\Building-Share\Chapter 1\Council Reports\Final Drafts for Council Packet\ORD Repeal Replace Ch 9 (v.2).docx 

ORDINANCE NO. 839 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE REPEALING AND 
REPLACING WILSONVILLE CODE CHAPTER 9 – STRUCTURES; AND DECLARING 
AN EMERGENCY.   

 
 
WHEREAS, the Oregon Building Codes Division (“BCD”) administers Oregon’s 

Statewide Building Code, which the City of Wilsonville has adopted as its local building code; 

and 

WHEREAS, the BCD published its 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, effective 

October 1, 2019, which governs building structures other than structures regulated under BCD’s 

Residential Specialty Code; and 

WHEREAS, the City has the authority under ORS 455.020(4) and Section 101.2 of the 

2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code to enact certain building code regulations to supplement 

the Statewide Building Code; and 

WHEREAS, 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code no longer regulates twenty-six (26) 

structures or equipment based on BCD’s new interpretation of ORS 455.020(1) relating to the 

scope of the statewide specialty codes; and 

WHEREAS, for administering a local code program, the City has previously relied upon 

the Chapter 1 administrative provisions found in the statewide specialty codes; and 

WHEREAS, having a consistent local administrative chapter is intended to provide for 

consistent application of all adopted specialty codes; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Wilsonville desires to repeal and replace Wilsonville Code 

Chapter 9 – Structures, to adopt and supplement the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code and 

to provide appropriate processes for administering and enforcing the City’s building regulations; 

and 

WHEREAS, the BCD has provided a grace period until January 1, 2020 for local 

jurisdictions to adopt the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code, thereby requiring the City to 

adopt and supplement the 2019 Oregon Structural Specialty Code by January 1, 2020; and 

WHEREAS, BCD denied a request from the Oregon Building Officials Association to 

extend the grace period to July 1, 2020; and 

Page 220 of 301

guile
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT A



 

ORDINANCE NO. 839  Page 2 of 3 
N:\shared\Building-Share\Chapter 1\Council Reports\Final Drafts for Council Packet\ORD Repeal Replace Ch 9 (v.2).docx 

WHEREAS, failure to adopt local regulations concerning the now-omitted structures and 

equipment prior to January 1, 2020 means the City cannot regulate or inspect those structures and 

equipment beginning on January 1, 2020; and 

WHEREAS, House Bill 2001 (2019) (“HB 2001”) requires jurisdictions to establish a local 

appellate process for denials of applications to convert single-family dwellings into four or fewer 

residential dwelling units; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Wilsonville does not currently have a local board of appeals to 

hear appeals regarding technical determinations by the Building Official or appeals as required 

under HB 2001. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The above recitals are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. Wilsonville Code Chapter 9 – Structures is repealed and replaced with 

Attachment 1, attached hereto and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth 

herein. 

3. This Ordinance being necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, 

health, and safety, an emergency is declared to exist and this Ordinance shall be in 

full force and effect on January 1, 2020. 

4. The City Recorder shall conform these amendments to the City’s code format and 

correct any scrivener’s errors. 

SUBMITTED to the Wilsonville City Council and read for the first time at a regular 

meeting thereof on the 2nd day of December, 2019, and scheduled for a second reading at a regular 

meeting of the Council on December 16, 2019 commencing at the hour of 7 p.m. at the Wilsonville 

City Hall, 29799 SW Town Center Loop East, Wilsonville, Oregon. 

 
 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
 
 
 
 
 ENACTED by the City Council on the ____ day of _______________, 2019, by the 

following votes:  Yes: _____  No: _____ 

Page 221 of 301



 

ORDINANCE NO. 839  Page 3 of 3 
N:\shared\Building-Share\Chapter 1\Council Reports\Final Drafts for Council Packet\ORD Repeal Replace Ch 9 (v.2).docx 

 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Kimberly Veliz, City Recorder 
 
 
 DATED and signed by the Mayor the _____ day of ____________, 2019. 
 
 
       __________________________________ 
       TIM KNAPP, MAYOR 
 
 
SUMMARY OF VOTES: 

Mayor Knapp    

Council President Akervall  

Councilor Lehan   

Councilor West   

 Councilor Linville 

 

ATTACHMENTS: Attachment 1 – Wilsonville Code Chapter 9 - Structures 

Page 222 of 301



 WILSONVILLE CODE 

CHAPTER 9 – STRUCTURES 
 
GENERAL 
 
9.000 Title 
9.010 Purpose 
9.020 Scope and Application 
9.030 Definitions 
 
POWERS AND DUTIES OF BUILDING OFFICIAL 
 
9.100 In General 
9.110 Deputies 
9.120 Right of Entry 
9.130 Stop Work Orders 
9.140 Authority to Disconnect Utilities in Emergencies 
9.150 Authority to Abate Hazardous Equipment 
9.160 Connection After Order to Disconnect 
9.170 Occupancy Violations 
9.180 Unsafe Buildings 
9.190 Appeal of Administrative Decision or Rule 
 
CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS AND PERMITS 
 
9.200 Issuance 
9.210 Retention of Construction Documents 
9.220 Validity of Permit 
9.250 Work without a Permit; Investigation Fees 
9.260 Permit Not Transferable 
9.270 Suspension/Revocation of Permit 
9.280 Inspections 
9.290 Demolition Permits 
 
BUILDING CODES AND FEES 
 
9.300 Purpose 
9.310 Structural Specialty Code 
9.320 Zero Energy Ready Commercial Code 
9.330 Mechanical Specialty Code 
9.340 Residential Specialty Code 
9.350 Electrical Specialty Code 
9.360 Plumbing Specialty Code 
9.370 Fire Code 
9.380 Fees 
 
 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 223 of 301



VIOLATIONS 
 
9.400 Violations; Penalties; Remedies 
9.410 Authority to Impose Civil Penalty 
9.420 Appeal of Penalty 
9.430 Lien 
 
BOARD OF APPEALS 
 
9.500 Establishment of Board of Appeals 
9.510 Appeal Procedure 
9.520 Filing Parties 
 
SEVERABILITY 
 
9.600 Severability

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 224 of 301



 WILSONVILLE CODE 

Chapter 9 – Fees Page 1 (2020) 

 

GENERAL 
 
9.000 Title.  These regulations shall be known as the “City of Wilsonville Building Code,” 
may be cited as such, and will be referred to herein as “the Building Code.”  
 
9.010 Purpose.  The purpose of the Building Code is to establish minimum uniform 
performance standards providing a reasonable level of safety, public health and general welfare 
through structural strength, means of egress facilities, stability, sanitation, adequate light and 
ventilation, energy conservation, and safety to life and property from fire, explosion and other 
hazards, and to provide a reasonable level of safety to fire fighters and emergency responders 
during emergency operations. 
 
9.020 Scope and Application. 

 
(1) Except for buildings, structures, or appurtenances that are otherwise exempt or 

not included in the Building Code, the Building Code shall apply to the construction, alteration, 
relocation, enlargement, replacement, repair, equipment, use and occupancy, location, main-
tenance, removal and demolition of every building or structure or any appurtenances 
connected or attached to such buildings or structures, except those located in a public way, or 
work associated with hydraulic flood control structures or public utility poles and towers.  

 
(2) Where, in any specific case, different sections of the Building Code specify 

different materials, methods of construction or other requirements, the most restrictive shall 
govern. Where there is a conflict between a general requirement and a specific requirement, the 
specific requirement shall be applicable. 

 
(3) Where, in any specific case, there is a conflict between the Building Code and any 

Oregon Revised Statute, the statute shall govern. The provisions of this Building Code shall not 
be deemed to nullify any provisions of local, state or federal law. 

 
(4) If, in a specific case, there is a conflict between the administrative procedures of 

this chapter and a given code, the procedures within the Building Code shall govern. If, in a 
specific case, there is a conflict between the technical provisions of this chapter and a given 
code, the provisions within that code shall govern.  

 
(5) When a particular Oregon state building code indicates the state requirements 

apply unless specifically amended by a local municipality under ORS 455.020, the City of 
Wilsonville’s Building Code will take precedence.  Please refer to the City’s resolutions adopted 
in accordance with Sections 9.300 through 9.370 below. 
 

9.030 Definitions.  For purposes of this Chapter 9, the following terms are defined as follows: 
 

(1) “Board of Appeals” means the Board of Appeals established under Section 9.500 
through 9.520 herein. 
 

(2) “Building Official” means the Building Official of the City of Wilsonville, or the 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 225 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 2 (2020) 

 

Building Official’s duly authorized representative.  
 
(3) “Business Days” means days of the week excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and legal 

holidays observed by the City. 
 

(4) “City Council” means the City of Wilsonville City Council. 
 

(5) “City Manager” means the City Manager of the City of Wilsonville, or the City 
Manager’s duly authorized representative. 
 

(6) “Community Development Director” means the Community Development 
Director of the City of Wilsonville, or the Community Development Director’s duly authorized 
representative. 
 

(7) “Construction Documents” means written, graphic and pictorial documents 
prepared or assembled for describing the design, location and physical characteristics of the 
elements of a project necessary for obtaining a Permit. 

 
(8) “Demolition” means the complete destruction or removal of a structure (including 

garages), or the removal of more than 50% of the perimeter walls. Non-habitable non-historic 
accessory structures 200 square feet or less are exempt from this definition. 
 

(9) “Permit” means a building, mechanical, plumbing, grading, demolition, or other 
associated permit issued by the Building Official for activities identified in the scope. 
 

(10) “Receipt” means the earliest of the following:  
 
(a) If served by personal delivery, the date of the letter, notice, or order 
 
(b) If served by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, three (3) 

days after the date of the letter, notice, or order; 
 

(c) If served by first class mail, three (3) days after the date of the letter, 
notice, or order; or 

 
(d) If served by email, the date of a response email to the letter, notice, or 

order. 
 
POWERS AND DUTIES OF BUILDING OFFICIAL 
 
9.100 In General. 
 

(1) The Building Official s authorized to enforce all of the provisions of the Building 
Code. 

 
(2) The Building Official has the power to render written and oral interpretations of 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 226 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 3 (2020) 

 

the Building Code and to adopt and enforce administrative procedures in order to clarify the 
application of its provisions. Such interpretations, rules, and regulations shall be in conformance 
with the intent and purpose of the Building Code, and shall not have the effect of waiving 
requirements specifically provided for in the Building Code. 
 

(3) Liability. The Building Official, members of the Board of Appeals, and/or any 
employee charged with the enforcement of this Building Code, while acting for the jurisdiction 
in good faith and without malice in the discharge of the duties required by this Building Code or 
other pertinent law or ordinance, shall not thereby be civilly or criminally rendered liable 
personally and is hereby relieved from personal liability for any damage accruing to persons or 
property as a result of any act or by reason of an act or omission in the discharge of official 
duties. 
 

(4) Legal Defense. Any suit or criminal complaint instituted against an officer or 
employee because of an act performed by that officer or employee in the lawful discharge of 
duties and under the provisions of this Building Code shall be defended by legal representatives 
of the City until the final termination of the proceedings. The Building Official or any 
subordinate shall not be liable for cost in any action, suit or proceeding that is instituted in 
pursuance of the provisions of this Building Code. 

 
9.110 Deputies.  The Building Official has the authority to appoint a deputy building official, 
the related technical officers, inspectors, plan examiners and other employees. Such employees 
shall have powers as delegated by the Building Official to carry out the functions of the Building 
Code and to enforce the Code. 
 
9.120 Right of Entry.  Where it is necessary to make an inspection to enforce the provisions 
of this Building Code, or where the Building Official has reasonable cause to believe that there 
exists in a structure or on a premises a condition that is contrary to or in violation of this 
Building Code that makes the structure or premises unsafe, dangerous or hazardous, the Building 
Official is authorized to enter the structure or premises at reasonable times to inspect or to 
perform the duties imposed by this Building Code, provided that if such structure or premises be 
occupied that credentials be presented to the occupant and entry requested. If such structure or 
premises is unoccupied, the Building Official shall first make a reasonable effort to locate the 
owner or other person having charge or control of the structure or premises and request entry. If 
entry is refused, the Building Official shall have recourse to the remedies provided by law to 
secure entry. 

 
9.130 Stop Work Orders. 

 
(1)  Whenever any work is being done contrary to the provisions of the Building 

Code (or other pertinent laws or ordinances implemented through its enforcement), the Building 
Official may order the work stopped by notice in writing served on any person(s) engaged in the 
doing or causing of such work to be done. Such person(s) shall stop such work until specifically 
authorized by the Building Official to proceed thereafter. 

 
(2) Any person who continues any work after having been served with a stop work 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 227 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 4 (2020) 

 

order, except such work as that person is directed to perform to remove a violation or unsafe 
condition, is subject to the penalties of Sections 9.400 through 9.430 herein. 

 
9.140 Authority to Disconnect Utilities in Emergencies.  The Building Official or the 
Building Official’s authorized representative shall have the authority to disconnect fuel-gas 
utility service, and/or other energy supplies to a building, structure, premises, or equipment 
regulated by the Building Code when necessary to eliminate an immediate hazard to life or 
property. The Building Official shall, whenever possible, notify the serving utility, the owner, 
and the occupant of the building, structure, or premises of the decision to disconnect prior to 
taking such action, and will notify such serving utility, owner and occupant of the building, 
structure or premises in writing of such disconnection within a reasonable time thereafter. 

 
9.150 Authority to Abate Hazardous Equipment. 

 
(1) When the Building Official ascertains that equipment, or any portion thereof, 

regulated by the Building Code has become hazardous to life, health, or property, the Building 
Official may order the equipment either removed from its location or restored to a safe and/or 
sanitary condition, as appropriate. The notice must be in writing and contain a fixed time limit 
for compliance.  Any person who uses the defective equipment after receiving the notice is 
subject to the penalties of Sections 9.400 through 9.430 herein. 

 
(2) When equipment or an installation is to be disconnected, written notice of the 

disconnection (and causes therefor) must be given within 24 hours to the involved utility and 
also the owner and/or occupant of the building, structure, or premises. When equipment is 
maintained in violation of the Building Code and in violation of a notice issued pursuant to the 
provisions of this section, the Building Official may institute such action as the Building Official 
deems necessary to prevent, restrain, correct or abate the violation, including, but not limited to 
issuing civil penalties; declaring the building, structure, or premises dangerous; and denying 
entry. 

 
9.160 Connection after Order to Disconnect.  No person shall make a connection to or from 
an energy, fuel, or power supply to any equipment regulated by the Building Code which has 
been disconnected or ordered disconnected or discontinued by the Building Official until the 
Building Official specifically authorizes the reconnection and/or use of such equipment. 

 
9.170 Occupancy Violations.  Whenever any building, structure or equipment therein 
regulated by the Building Code is used contrary to the provisions of the Building Code, the 
Building Official may order such use discontinued and the structure (or portion thereof) vacated 
and provide such order through written notice to the owner, occupant, and/or user of the 
building, structure, or equipment. All persons using the structure (or portion thereof) shall 
discontinue the use within the time prescribed by the Building Official in the notice and make the 
structure, or portion thereof, comply with the requirements of the Building Code. Structures that 
are altered, modified, or repaired without the benefit of Permits, for purposes of adding rooms 
for tenants, shall be considered as occupancy violations and subject to the penalties of Section 
9.400 through 9.430 herein. 
 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 228 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 5 (2020) 

 

9.180 Unsafe Buildings.  When the Building Official ascertains that a building, structure, or 
premises, or any portion thereof, regulated by the Building Code is a public nuisance or 
otherwise has become hazardous to life, health, or property, the Building Official may order 
abatement by repair, rehabilitation, Demolition, or removal in accordance with the procedures set 
forth in the Building Code or such alternate procedures as may have been or as may be adopted 
by the City or the Building Official.  As an alternative, the Building Official may institute any 
other appropriate action to prevent, restrain, correct or abate the violation. 
 
9.190 Appeal of Administrative Decision or Rule.  Appeals of administrative decisions or 
administrative rules of the Building Official under this Section 9.100 through 9.180 are made to 
the City Manager pursuant to Sections 9.400 through 9.430. 
 
CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS AND PERMITS 
 
9.200 Issuance. 
 

(1) The application, Construction Documents, and other data filed by an applicant for 
a Permit shall be reviewed by the Building Official. Such Construction Documents may be 
reviewed by other departments of the City to verify compliance with any applicable laws under 
their jurisdiction. If the Building Official finds that the work described in an application for a 
Permit and the Construction Documents and other data filed therewith conform to the 
requirements of the Building Code and other pertinent laws and ordinances, and that the fees 
have been paid, the Building Official shall issue a Permit therefore to the applicant. 

 
(2) Approval.  When the Building Official issues the Permit where Construction 

Documents are required, the Building Official shall endorse in writing or stamp the Construction 
Documents as “Reviewed for Code Compliance.” Such endorsement of Construction Documents 
shall not be changed, modified, and altered without authorizations from the Building Official, 
and all work regulated by the Building Code shall be done in accordance with the approved 
Construction Documents. 

 
(3) Partial Permits.  The Building Official is authorized to promulgate additional 

administrative rules and regulations related to the efficient administration and review of partial 
Permits. Elements for partial Permits shall include but not be limited to deferred submittals, 
temporary Permits, and phased construction. 

 
(4) Design Professional of Responsible Charge.  Where it is required that documents 

be prepared by a registered design professional, the Building Official shall be authorized to 
require the owner or the owner's authorized agent to engage and designate on the building permit 
application a registered design professional who shall act as the registered design professional in 
responsible charge. If the circumstances require, the owner or the owner's authorized agent shall 
designate a substitute registered design professional in responsible charge who shall perform the 
duties required of the original registered design professional in responsible charge. The Building 
Official shall be notified in writing by the owner or the owner's authorized agent if the registered 
design professional in responsible charge is changed or is unable to continue to perform the 
duties.  The registered design professional in responsible charge shall be responsible for reviewing 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 229 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 6 (2020) 

 

and coordinating submittal documents prepared by others, including phased and deferred submittal 
items, for compatibility with the design of the building. 

 
(5) Modifications. Where there are practical difficulties involved in carrying out the 

provisions of this Building Code, the Building Official shall have the authority to grant 
modifications for individual cases, upon application of the owner or the owner’s authorized 
agent, provided that the Building Official shall first find that special individual reason makes the 
strict letter of this Building Code impractical, the modification is in compliance with the intent 
and purpose of this Building Code and that such modification does not lessen health, 
accessibility, life and fire safety or structural requirements. The details of action granting 
modifications shall be recorded and entered in the files of the department. 

 
(6) Alternative Materials, Design, and Methods of Construction and Equipment. The 

City encourages innovative technology and design, and therefore, the provisions of this Building 
Code are not intended to prevent the installation of any material or to prohibit any design or 
method of construction not specifically prescribed by this Building Code, provided that any such 
alternative has been approved by the Building Official. An alternative material, design or method 
of construction shall be approved where the Building Official finds that the proposed design is 
satisfactory and complies with the intent of the provisions of this Building Code, and that the 
material, method or work offered is, for the purpose intended, not less than the equivalent of that 
prescribed in this Building Code in quality, strength, effectiveness, fire resistance, sanitation, 
durability and safety. Where the alternative material, design or method of construction is not 
approved, the Building Official shall state the reasons why the alternative was not approved. 
 

(7) Research Reports. Supporting data, where necessary to assist in the approval of 
materials or assemblies not specifically provided for in this Building Code, shall consist of valid 
research reports from approved sources. 
 

(8) Tests. Whenever there is insufficient evidence of compliance with the provisions 
of this Building Code, or evidence that a material or method does not conform to the 
requirements of this Building Code, or in order to substantiate claims for alternative materials or 
methods, the Building Official shall have the authority to require tests as evidence of compliance 
to be made without expense to the municipality. Test methods shall be as specified in this 
Building Code or by other recognized test standards. In the absence of recognized and accepted 
test methods, the Building Official shall approve the testing procedures. Tests shall be performed 
by an approved agency. Reports of such tests shall be retained by the Building Official for the 
period required for retention of public records. 
 
9.210 Retention of Construction Documents.  One set of approved Construction Documents 
shall be retained by the Building Official for a minimum period specified by Oregon public 
records laws. One set of approved Construction Documents shall be returned to the applicant, 
and the set shall be kept on the site of the building, structure, or worksite at all times during 
which the work authorized thereby is in progress. 
 
 
 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 230 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 7 (2020) 

 

9.220 Validity of Permit. 
 
(1) The issuance or granting of a Permit or approval of Construction Documents 

cannot be construed to be a Permit for, or an approval of, any violation of any of the provisions 
of the Building Code or of any other ordinance of the City or any other applicable federal, state, 
or local law, statute, rule, regulation, or ordinance. 

 
(2) The issuance of a Permit based on Construction Documents and other data does 

not prevent the Building Official from thereafter requiring the correction of errors in the 
Construction Documents and other data, or from preventing building operations, such as building 
inspections, plan reviews, permit issuance, investigations, from being carried on thereunder 
when in violation of the Building Code or of any other ordinances of this jurisdiction. 
 

(3) The legal occupancy of any structure existing on the date of adoption of the 
Building Code shall be permitted to continue without change, except as otherwise specifically 
provided in the Building Code. 
 

(4) The Building Official may adopt administrative procedures regarding Permit and 
Permit application expirations, extensions, and/or reinstatements. 
 
9.230 Work without a Permit; Investigation Fees. 
 

(1) Any owner or owner’s authorized agent who intends to construct, enlarge, alter, 
repair, move, demolish, change the character or use of the occupancy, or change the occupancy 
of a building or structure, which is regulated by this Building Code, or to cause any such work to 
be performed, shall first make application to the Building Official and obtain the required permit. 

 
(2) Whenever any work for which a Permit is required by the Building Code has been 

commenced without first obtaining the Permit, a special investigation shall be made before a 
Permit may be issued for such work. 

 
(3) An investigation fee, may be collected whether or not a Permit is then or 

subsequently issued. The payment of such investigation fee shall not exempt any person from 
compliance with all other provisions of the Building Code nor from any penalty prescribed by 
law. 
 

(4) Any person, firm or corporation performing, or found to have performed work, 
prior to obtaining a Permit where a Permit is required for such work, shall be subject to the 
penalties of Sections 9.400 through 9.430 herein. 

 
(5) Exception to this Section. The person, firm or corporation is working under a pre-

approved process as defined by a specific administrative policy of the Building Official may be 
excepted from this Section. 
 
9.240 Permit Not Transferable.  A Permit issued to one person or firm is not transferable 
and shall not authorize any other person or firm to perform any work thereunder. 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 231 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 8 (2020) 

 

9.250 Suspension or Revocation.  The Building Official may, in writing, suspend or revoke 
a Permit issued under the provisions of the Building Code whenever the Permit is issued in error 
on the basis of incorrect, inaccurate, or incomplete information supplied, or if its issuance (or 
activity thereunder) is in violation of any ordinance or regulation of any other provisions of the 
City Code. 
 
9.260 Inspections. 
 

(1) It shall be the duty of the Permit holder or authorized agent to request all 
inspections that may be necessary or otherwise required in a timely manner, provide access to the 
site, and to provide all equipment as may be deemed necessary or appropriate by the Building 
Official. The Permit holder or applicant shall not proceed with construction activity prior to 
issuance of a Permit or until receiving specific written authorization to do so by the Building 
Official. It shall be the duty of the Permit holder to cause the work to remain accessible and 
exposed for inspection purposes. Any expense incurred by the Permit holder to remove or 
replace any material required for proper inspection shall be the sole responsibility of the Permit 
holder. 

 
(2) Work requiring a Permit shall not be commenced until the Permit holder or an 

agent of the Permit holder has made available on site, a copy of the Permit authorizing such work 
and supporting documents such as City-approved Construction Documents. The Permit and 
supporting documents shall be maintained available by the Permit holder until final approval has 
been granted by the Building Official. 
 

(3) The Building Official shall make the required inspections, or the Building Official 
shall have the authority to accept reports of inspection by approved agencies or individuals. 
Reports of such inspections shall be in writing and be certified by a responsible officer of such 
approved agency or by the responsible individual. The Building Official is authorized to engage 
such expert opinion as deemed necessary to report on unusual technical issues that arise. 
 
9.270 Demolition Permits.  Unless otherwise exempt by the Building Official this section 
shall apply to Permit applications to demolish structures, and where timely and practicable, shall 
include the following: 
 

(1) Photos.  Electronic photos of each structure proposed for Demolition must be 
provided to the City at the time of Permit application and prior to any Demolition. The size, 
quantity, format, resolution, and context of photos shall be set by the Community Development 
Director.  Unless otherwise exempt, photos shall be made available as part of the public record 
for the structure as required by law. 
 
BUILDING CODES AND FEES 
 
9.300 Purpose.  The purpose of Sections 9.310 through 9.380 is to enable the City Council to 
adopt provisions of its Building Code through resolutions so that the City’s Building Code 
remains current with state and federal requirements, new technologies, and best practices.  
Adoption of provisions of the Building Code by resolution will allow the City to remain nimble 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 232 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 9 (2020) 

 

and flexible to timely respond to changing state and federal laws and regulations. 
 
9.310 Structural Specialty Code.  The City’s adoption of a Structural Specialty Code will be 
by resolution and will be incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.320 Zero Energy Ready Commercial Code.  The City’s adoption of a Commercial Energy 
Specialty Code will be by resolution and will be incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.330 Mechanical Specialty Code.  The City’s adoption of a Mechanical Specialty Code will 
be by resolution and will be incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.340 Residential Specialty Code.  The City’s adoption of a Residential Specialty Code will 
be by resolution and will be incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.350 Electrical Specialty Code.  The City’s adoption of an Electrical Specialty Code will be 
by resolution and will be incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.360 Plumbing Specialty Code.  The City’s adoption of a Plumbing Specialty Code will be 
by resolution and will be incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.370 Fire Code.  The City’s adoption of a Fire Code will be by resolution and will be 
incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.380 Fees.  Permit fees will be adopted by resolution. 
 
VIOLATIONS 
 
9.400 Violations; Penalties; Remedies. 
 

(1) Except for buildings and structures that are otherwise exempt or not included in 
the Building Code, no person may erect, construct, enlarge, alter, repair, move, improve, remove, 
convert or demolish, equip, use, occupy or maintain a building or structure in the City, or cause 
the same to be done, contrary to or in violation of the Building Code. 

 
(2) Violation of a provision of the Building Code shall be subject to a civil penalty of 

no less than $50.00 and not exceeding $5,000.00 per offense, or in the case of a continuing 
offense, not more than $1,000.00 for each day of the offense and shall be processed in 
accordance with the procedures set forth in Sections 9.410 through 9.430. 
 

(3) Each day that a violation of a provision of the Building Code exists constitutes a 
separate violation. 
 

(4) The penalties and remedies provided in Sections 9.400 through 9.430 are not 
exclusive and are in addition to other penalties and remedies available to the City under the City 
Code, other City ordinance, or Oregon or federal law. 
 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 233 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 10 (2020) 

 

9.410 Authority to Impose Civil Penalty. 
 
(1) In addition to, and not in lieu of, any other enforcement mechanism authorized by 

the Building Code or the City Code, upon a determination by the Building Official that a person 
has violated a provision of the Building Code or a rule adopted thereunder, the Building Official 
may impose upon the violator and/or any other responsible person an administrative civil penalty 
as provided by subsections (1) to (12) of this Section. For purposes of this subsection, a 
responsible person includes the violator, and if the violator is not the owner of the building or 
property at which the violation occurs, may include the owner as well. 

 
(2) The preferred enforcement of the Building Code is for the Building Official to 

first attempt, if possible, voluntary correction of any violations of the Building Code.  Therefore, 
prior to imposing an administrative civil penalty under this Section, the Building Official may, in 
the Building Official’s discretion, pursue reasonable attempts to secure voluntary correction.  If 
the violator fails to correct the violation, the Building Official may issue a notice of civil 
violation to one or more of the persons responsible to correct the violation, as well as the owner 
of the site if the owner is not the violator. Except where the Building Official determines that the 
violation poses an immediate threat to health, safety, environment, or public welfare, the time for 
correction shall be not less than five (5) calendar days from Receipt of the notice. 
 

(3) Following the date or time by which the correction must be completed as required 
by an order to correct a violation, the Building Official shall determine whether such correction 
has been completed. If the required correction has not been completed by the date or time 
specified in the order, the Building Official may impose a civil penalty on each person to whom 
an order to correct was issued. 

 
(4) Notwithstanding subsection (2) above, the Building Official may impose a civil 

penalty without having issued an order to correct violation or made attempts to secure voluntary 
correction where the Building Official determines that the violation was knowing or intentional 
or a repeat of a similar violation. 

 
(5) In imposing a penalty authorized by this Section, the Building Official will 

consider: 
 
(a) The person's past history in taking all feasible steps or procedures 

necessary or appropriate to correct the violation;  
 
(b) Any prior violations of statutes, rules, orders, and Permits;  
 
(c) The gravity and magnitude of the violation;  
 
(d) Whether the violation was repeated or continuous;  
 
(e) Whether the cause of the violation was an unavoidable accident, 

negligence, or an intentional act;  
 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 234 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 11 (2020) 

 

(f) The violator's cooperativeness and efforts to correct the violation; and  
 
(g) Any relevant rule of the Building Code or the City Code. 

 
(6) The notice of civil penalty shall either be served by personal service or shall be 

mail by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  A notice of civil penalty shall 
include: 

 
(a) Reference to the particular Building Code provision or rule involved;  
 
(b) A short and plain statement of the matters asserted or charged; 
 
(c) A statement of the amount of the penalty or penalties imposed;  
 
(d) The date on which the order to correct was issued and time by which 

correction was to be made, or if the penalty is imposed pursuant to subsection (4), a short 
and plain statement of the basis for concluding that the violation was knowing, 
intentional, or repeated; and  

 
(e) A statement of the party's right to appeal the civil penalty to the City 

Manager. 
 
(7) Any person who is issued a notice of civil penalty may appeal the penalty to the 

City Manager pursuant to Section 9.420. 
 
(8) A civil penalty imposed hereunder shall become final upon expiration of the time 

for filing an appeal, unless the responsible person appeals the penalty to the City Manager 
pursuant to, and within the time limits established by, Section 9.420. If the responsible person 
appeals the civil penalty to the City Manager, the penalty shall become final, if at all, upon 
issuance of the City Manager’s decision affirming the imposition of the administrative civil 
penalty. 
 

(9) Except as provided in subsection (10) below, failure to pay a penalty imposed 
hereunder within ten (10) calendar days after the penalty becomes final as provided in subsection 
(8) shall constitute a separate and additional violation of the Building Code. Each day the penalty 
is not paid thereafter shall constitute a separate violation. The Building Official also is authorized 
to collect the penalty by any administrative or judicial action or proceeding authorized by 
subsection (11) below, other provisions of the City Code, or Oregon statutes. The civil 
administrative penalty authorized by this Section shall be in addition to: 

 
(a) Assessments or fees for any costs incurred by the City in remediation, 

cleanup, or abatement; and 
 
(b) Any other actions authorized by law. 

 
(10) The City Manager may, in the City Manager’s sole discretion, suspend the 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 235 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 12 (2020) 

 

imposition of additional civil penalties pending the City Manager’s decision of an appeal 
properly submitted pursuant to Section 9.420 herein. 

 
(11) If an administrative civil penalty is imposed on a responsible person because of a 

violation of any provision of the Building Code resulting from prohibited use or activity on real 
property, and the penalty remains unpaid thirty (30) calendar days after such penalty became 
final, the Building Official may assess the property the full amount of the unpaid fine and may 
enter such an assessment as a lien in the municipal lien docket pursuant to Section 9.430. At the 
time such an assessment is made, the Building Official shall notify the responsible person and 
the owner, if different from the responsible person, that the penalty has been assessed against the 
real property upon which the violation occurred and has been entered in the municipal lien 
docket. The interest shall commence from the date of entry of the lien in the lien docket. 

 
(12) In addition to enforcement mechanisms authorized elsewhere in the Building 

Code and the City Code, failure to pay an administrative civil penalty imposed pursuant to this 
Section will be grounds for withholding issuance of requested Permits or licenses, for issuing a 
stop work order, if applicable, or revoking or suspending any issued Permits or certificates of 
occupancy. 
 
9.420 Appeal of Penalty.   

 
(1) A person aggrieved by an action of the Building Official taken pursuant to a 

section of the Building Code that authorizes an appeal under this Section may, within ten (10) 
Business Days after the Receipt of notice of the action, appeal in writing to the Building Official. 
The appeal shall state: 

 
(a) The name and address of the appellant; 
 
(b) The nature of the determination being appealed 
 
(c) The reason the determination is incorrect; and 
 
(d) What the correct determination of the appeal should be. 
 

(2) Dismissal. 
 
(a) An appellant who fails to file such a statement within the time permitted 

waives the objections, and the appeal shall be summarily dismissed by the City Manager 
not later than five (5) Business Days after receipt of the appeal.   

 
(b) If an appellant timely files an appeal, but fails to meet requirements (a) 

through (d) of subsection (1), the Building Official will notify the appellant in writing the 
defect(s) of the appeal and allow the appellant five (5) Business Days from Receipt of the 
notification of defect(s) to correct the defect(s) and resubmit the appeal.  If appellant fails 
to correct the defect(s) and resubmit the appeal within the five (5) Business Days, the 
appeal shall be summarily dismissed by the City Manager not later than five (5) Business 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 236 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 13 (2020) 

 

Days after the date by which the appeal was resubmitted or had to be resubmitted, 
whichever is earlier. 
 
(3) Upon Receipt of a timely appeal that meets the requirements of subsection (1), the 

Building Official may prepare a written response brief and provide the response brief to the City 
Manager and the appellant no less than seven (7) calendar days prior to the hearing date. 
 

(4) If a notice of revocation of a license or Permit is the subject of the appeal, the 
revocation does not take effect until final determination of the appeal. Notwithstanding this 
paragraph, an emergency suspension shall take effect upon issuance of, or such other time stated 
in, the notice of suspension. 

 
(5) Unless the appellant and the City agree to a longer period, an appeal shall be 

heard by the City Manager within thirty (30) calendar days of the Receipt of the appeal. No later 
than seven (7) calendar days prior to the hearing, the City shall mail notice of the time and 
location thereof to the appellant. 

 
(6) The City Manager shall hear and determine the appeal on the basis of the 

appellant’s written statement, the Building Official’s response brief, if any, and any additional 
evidence the City Manager deems appropriate. At the hearing, the appellant may present 
testimony and oral argument personally or by counsel.  The Building Official may also present 
testimony and oral argument, and may have the City represented by the City Attorney’s Office if 
the appellant is represented by counsel.  The rules of evidence as used by courts of law do not 
apply. 

 
(7) The City Manager will issue a written decision within ten (10) Business Days of 

the hearing date. The decision of the City Manager after the hearing is final. 
 

(8) Any legal action contesting the City Manager’s decision on the appeal must be 
filed within sixty (60) calendar days of the City Manager’s decision.  Review of the City 
Manager’s decision shall be by writ of review pursuant to ORS 34.010 to 34.100. 
 
9.430 Lien. 

 
(1) There shall be a lien created and it shall be done in accordance with this Section. 
 
(2) Any fine, assessment, or civil penalty imposed pursuant to the Building Code that 

remains unpaid thirty (30) calendar days after the penalty is imposed (or after the fine, 
assessment, or civil penalty has been affirmed on appeal), may be filed as a lien against the lot, 
lots, or parcels of land involved in the municipal lien docket.  Any costs incurred by the City in 
the abatement of any dangerous building and/or any other fine, assessment or administrative civil 
penalty not paid within thirty (30) days may be an assessment and lien against the property 
where the building is located. 
 

(3) Notice.  At the time of filing in the municipal lien docket, notice shall be provided 
to the responsible person. If the responsible person is not the owner of the property shown in the 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 237 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 14 (2020) 

 

electronic records of the applicable county assessor on that date, then notice shall also be sent to 
the owner of the property. Failure to provide notice shall not in any way effect the validity of the 
lien. The notice shall state that the amounts imposed as penalties shall be payable and due, and 
that the penalties shall be liens against the lots or parcels of land involved, respectively.  
 

(4) Interest.  All such liens remaining unpaid after thirty (30) calendar days from the 
date of recording on the municipal lien docket shall become delinquent and shall bear interest at 
the rate of ten (10) percent per annum from and after that date. 
 

(5) Enforcement.  The liens shall be enforced in the manner provided in Oregon 
Revised Statutes Chapter 223 and shall have priority over all such other liens and encumbrances 
of any character.  
 
BOARD OF APPEALS 
 
9.500 Establishment of Board of Appeals. 
 

(1) In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions or determinations made by 
the Building Official related to the application and interpretation of technical or scientific matters 
of the Building Code, there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals consisting of three 
(3) members (not including the Building Official) who are qualified by experience and training 
to make determinations on matters pertaining to building construction and who are not 
employees of the City of Wilsonville. The Building Official is an ex officio member of, and shall 
act as secretary to, the Board of Appeals, but has no vote on any matter before the Board of 
Appeals. The three (3) members of the Board of Appeals shall be appointed by the Mayor with 
the consent of the City Council and may be removed by the Mayor with the consent of the City 
Council.  The Board of Appeals will adopt rules of procedure for conducting its business, and 
shall render all decisions and findings in writing to the appellant with a duplicate copy to the 
Building Official. 

 
(2) The Board of Appeals does not have any authority related to interpretation of the 

administrative provisions of the Building Code, is not empowered to waive requirements of the 
Building Code, and has no authority to deliberate and make determinations on Development 
Review Board, Planning Commission, or City Council requirements or conditions of approval.   

 
(3) Appeals of land use decisions are processed in accordance with the Wilsonville 

Code Chapter 4. 
 
(4) Appeals of administrative decisions of the Building Official are made to the City 

Manager pursuant to Section 9.420. 
 
(5) Appeals of civil penalties issued by the Building Official are made to the City 

Manager pursuant to Section 9.420. 
 

(6) Any person aggrieved by the final decision of the Board of Appeals that pertains 
to a State of Oregon Building Code adopted by the City may appeal to the appropriate state 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 238 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 15 (2020) 

 

advisory board as provided by Oregon law. 
 
9.510 Appeal Procedure. 
 

(1) Decision to be Appealed; Filing Date.  Any decision relating to the suitability of 
alternative materials, designs, and methods of construction or interpretation by the Building 
Official with regard to the Building Code may be appealed to the Board of Appeals within ten 
(10) calendar days of appellant’s Receipt of the decision or interpretation being appealed, in 
conformance with procedures provided herein. 

 
(2) The Community Development Director will determine if the appeal is timely and 

if the appellant qualifies as a filing party under Section 9.520 herein.  If the appeal is not timely 
or if the appellant is not a qualified filing party, the Community Development Director, not later 
than five (5) Business Days after Receipt of the appeal, will summarily dismiss the appeal and 
provide to the appellant, in writing, the reason(s) for the dismissal. 

 
(3) The Community Development Director will also determine if the appeal is 

complete. For purposes of this section, a complete appeal shall contain: 
 
(a) The name and address of the appellant, under what provision of Section 

9.520 appellant qualifies as a filing party, and the location of the property, if applicable; 
and 

 
(b) A clear, concise written statement of the grounds for the appeal, 

identifying the specific decision being appealed, explaining the proposed alternative 
material, design, or method of construction and how it meets the intent of the relevant 
code, specifically identifying how the proposed alternative material, design or method 
will be at least as safe, and last as long, as the materials or methods described in the 
Building Code; and/or 

 
(c) A clear, concise written statement of the grounds for the appeal, 

identifying the specific decision being appealed, setting out the specific interpretation 
made by the Building Official and setting out a concise explanation of how the 
interpretation is in error, citing to the specific provisions of the Building Code at issue. 

 
If an appellant timely files an appeal, but fails to meet requirements (a) through (c) of this 
subsection, the Community Development Director will notify the appellant in writing the 
defect(s) of the appeal and allow the appellant five (5) Business Days from Receipt of the 
notification of defect(s) to correct the defect(s) and resubmit the appeal.  If appellant fails to 
correct the defect(s) and resubmit the appeal within the five (5) Business Days, the appeal shall 
be summarily dismissed by the Community Development Director not later than five (5) 
Business Days after the date by which the appeal was resubmitted or had to be resubmitted, 
whichever is earlier. 

 
(4) If the appeal is complete and timely, the Building Official will schedule a meeting 

of the Board of Appeals within twenty (20) Business Days of the filing of the appeal and provide 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 239 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 16 (2020) 

 

notice of the meeting of the Board of Appeals to the appellant and to the owner of the property, if 
different from the appellant and if applicable. The Building Official shall not schedule a meeting 
of the Board of Appeals to hear an appeal until an appeal is complete.  If the appeal is untimely 
or fails to meet the requirements of subsection (3) above, or if the appellant does not qualify as a 
filing party, the appeal shall be automatically and summarily dismissed by the Community 
Development Director without a hearing as provided in subsections (2) and (3) above. 

 
(5) The Board of Appeals shall hear timely and complete appeals in the following 

order of testimony: a brief staff report, the appellant’s testimony in favor of the appeal, testimony 
in opposition to the appeal, testimony neutral to the appeal, rebuttal by the appellant and/or any 
person who testified in favor of the appeal, sur-rebuttal by the staff and/or any person who 
testified in opposition. The Board of Appeals may ask questions of any person who testifies 
during that person's testimony. The Board of Appeals will close the hearing at the end of 
testimony, deliberate and make a decision to uphold the appeal or deny the appeal. 

 
(6) The maximum time for the Board of Appeals to render a decision from the date of 

a timely and complete appeal may not exceed thirty (30) Business Days. The Chair of the Board 
of Appeals may suspend this procedural time frame when the complexity of the issue merits 
additional decision time. 
 

(7) An appellant may appeal the Board of Appeals’ decision to the Oregon 
Department of Consumer and Business Services Building Codes Division. 
 
9.520 Filing Parties. 
 

(1) Appeals may only be filed by the following parties affected by a decision: 
 
(a) The permit applicant, owner or the owner’s authorized representative; or 
 
(b) The violator or a responsible person who has received a notice of violation 

or civil penalty. 
 

SEVERABILITY 
 
9.600 Severability.  The provisions of this Chapter 9 are severable, and it is the intention of 
the City Council to confer the whole or any part of the powers herein provided for.  If any clause, 
section, or provision of this Chapter 9 is declared unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, the 
remaining portion of this Chapter 9 shall remain in full force and effect and be valid as if such 
invalid portion had not been incorporated.  It is hereby declared that the City Council intends that 
this Chapter 9 would have been adopted had such an unconstitutional provision not been 
included. 

Attachment 1 to Ordinance No. 839

Page 240 of 301



 WILSONVILLE CODE 

CHAPTER 9 – STRUCTURES 
 
GENERAL 
 
9.000 Title 
9.010 Purpose 
9.020 Scope and Application 
9.030 Definitions 
 
POWERS AND DUTIES OF BUILDING OFFICIAL 
 
9.100 In General 
9.110 Deputies 
9.120 Right of Entry 
9.130 Stop Work Orders 
9.140 Authority to Disconnect Utilities in Emergencies 
9.150 Authority to Abate Hazardous Equipment 
9.160 Connection After Order to Disconnect 
9.170 Occupancy Violations 
9.180 Unsafe Buildings 
9.190 Appeal of Administrative Decision or Rule 
 
CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS AND PERMITS 
 
9.200 Issuance 
9.210 Retention of Construction Documents 
9.220 Validity of Permit 
9.250 Work without a Permit; Investigation Fees 
9.260 Permit Not Transferable 
9.270 Suspension/Revocation of Permit 
9.280 Inspections 
9.290 Demolition Permits 
 
BUILDING CODES AND FEES 
 
9.300 Purpose 
9.310 Structural Specialty Code 
9.320 Zero Energy Ready Commercial Code 
9.330 Mechanical Specialty Code 
9.340 Residential Specialty Code 
9.350 Electrical Specialty Code 
9.360 Plumbing Specialty Code 
9.370 Fire Code 
9.380 Fees 
 
 

Page 241 of 301

guile
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT B



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 1 (2020) 

 

VIOLATIONS 
 
9.400 Violations; Penalties; Remedies 
9.410 Authority to Impose Civil Penalty 
9.420 Appeal of Penalty 
9.430 Lien 
 
BOARD OF APPEALS 
 
9.500 Establishment of Board of Appeals 
9.510 Appeal Procedure 
9.520 Filing Parties 
 
SEVERABILITY 
 
9.600 Severability 

Page 242 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 2 (2020) 

 

GENERAL 
 
9.000 Title.  These regulations shall be known as the “City of Wilsonville Building Code,” 
may be cited as such, and will be referred to herein as “the Building Code.”  
 
9.010 Purpose.  The purpose of the Building Code is to establish minimum uniform 
performance standards providing a reasonable level of safety, public health and general welfare 
through structural strength, means of egress facilities, stability, sanitation, adequate light and 
ventilation, energy conservation, and safety to life and property from fire, explosion and other 
hazards, and to provide a reasonable level of safety to fire fighters and emergency responders 
during emergency operations. 
 
9.020 Scope and Application. 

 
(1) Except for buildings, structures, or appurtenances that are otherwise exempt or 

not included in the Building Code, Tthe Building Code shall apply to the construction, 
alteration, relocation, enlargement, replacement, repair, equipment, use and occupancy, 
location, maintenance, removal and demolition of every building or structure or any 
appurtenances connected or attached to such buildings or structures, except those located in a 
public way, or work associated with hydraulic flood control structures or public utility poles and 
towers.  

 
(2) Where, in any specific case, different sections of the Building Code specify 

different materials, methods of construction or other requirements, the most restrictive shall 
govern. Where there is a conflict between a general requirement and a specific requirement, the 
specific requirement shall be applicable. 

 
(3) Where, in any specific case, there is a conflict between the Building Code and any 

Oregon Revised Statute, the statute shall govern. The provisions of this Building Code shall not 
be deemed to nullify any provisions of local, state or federal law. 

 
(4) If, in a specific case, there is a conflict between the administrative procedures of 

this chapter and a given code, the procedures within the Building Code shall govern. If, in a 
specific case, there is a conflict between the technical provisions of this chapter and a given 
code, the provisions within that code shall govern.  

 
(5) When a particular Oregon state building code indicates the state requirements 

apply unless specifically amended by a local municipality under ORS 455.020, the City of 
Wilsonville’s Building Code will take precedence.  Please refer to the City’s resolutions adopted 
in accordance with Sections 9.300 through 9.370 below. 
 

9.030 Definitions.  For purposes of this Chapter 9, the following terms are defined as follows: 
 

(1) “Board of Appeals” means the Board of Appeals established under Section 9.500 
through 9.520 herein. 
 

Page 243 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 3 (2020) 

 

(2) “Building Official” means the Building Official of the City of Wilsonville, or the 
Building Official’s duly authorized representative.  

(3) “Business Days” means days of the week excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and legal 
holidays observed by the City. 
 

(4) “City Council” means the City of Wilsonville City Council. 
 

(5) “City Manager” means the City Manager of the City of Wilsonville, or the City 
Manager’s duly authorized representative. 
 

(6) “Community Development Director” means the Community Development 
Director of the City of Wilsonville, or the Community Development Director’s duly authorized 
representative. 
 

(7) “Construction Documents” means written, graphic and pictorial documents 
prepared or assembled for describing the design, location and physical characteristics of the 
elements of a project necessary for obtaining a Permit. 

 
(8) “Demolition” means the complete destruction or removal of a structure (including 

garages), or the removal of more than 50% of the perimeter walls. Non-habitable non-historic 
accessory structures 200 square feet or less are exempt from this definition. 
 

(9) “Permit” means a building, mechanical, plumbing, grading, demolition, or other 
associated permit issued by the Building Official for activities identified in the scope. 
 

(10) “Receipt” means the earliest of the following:  
  
(a) If served by personal delivery, the date of the letter, notice, or order 
  
(b) If served by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, three (3) 

days after the date of the letter, notice, or order; 
  

(c) If served by first class mail, three (3) days after the date of the letter, 
notice, or order; or 

  
(10)(d) If served by email, the date of a response email to the letter, notice, or 

order. 
 
POWERS AND DUTIES OF BUILDING OFFICIAL 
 
9.100 In General. 
 

(1) The Building Official s authorized to enforce all of the provisions of the Building 
Code. 

 
(2) The Building Official has the power to render written and oral interpretations of 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1",  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1",  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1",  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0.5"

Page 244 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 4 (2020) 

 

the Building Code and to adopt and enforce administrative procedures in order to clarify the 
application of its provisions. Such interpretations, rules, and regulations shall be in conformance 
with the intent and purpose of the Building Code, and shall not have the effect of waiving 
requirements specifically provided for in the Building Code. 
 

(3) Liability. The Building Official, members of the Board of Appeals, and/or any 
employee charged with the enforcement of this Building Code, while acting for the jurisdiction 
in good faith and without malice in the discharge of the duties required by this Building Code or 
other pertinent law or ordinance, shall not thereby be civilly or criminally rendered liable 
personally and is hereby relieved from personal liability for any damage accruing to persons or 
property as a result of any act or by reason of an act or omission in the discharge of official 
duties. 
 

(4) Legal Defense. Any suit or criminal complaint instituted against an officer or 
employee because of an act performed by that officer or employee in the lawful discharge of 
duties and under the provisions of this Building Code shall be defended by legal representatives 
of the City until the final termination of the proceedings. The Building Official or any 
subordinate shall not be liable for cost in any action, suit or proceeding that is instituted in 
pursuance of the provisions of this Building Code. 

 
9.110 Deputies.  The Building Official has the authority to appoint a deputy building official, 
the related technical officers, inspectors, plan examiners and other employees. Such employees 
shall have powers as delegated by the Building Official to carry out the functions of the Building 
Code and to enforce the Code. 
 
9.120 Right of Entry.  Where it is necessary to make an inspection to enforce the provisions 
of this Building Code, or where the Building Official has reasonable cause to believe that there 
exists in a structure or on a premises a condition that is contrary to or in violation of this 
Building Code that makes the structure or premises unsafe, dangerous or hazardous, the Building 
Official is authorized to enter the structure or premises at reasonable times to inspect or to 
perform the duties imposed by this Building Code, provided that if such structure or premises be 
occupied that credentials be presented to the occupant and entry requested. If such structure or 
premises is unoccupied, the Building Official shall first make a reasonable effort to locate the 
owner or other person having charge or control of the structure or premises and request entry. If 
entry is refused, the Building Official shall have recourse to the remedies provided by law to 
secure entry. 

 
9.130 Stop Work Orders. 

 
(1)  Whenever any work is being done contrary to the provisions of the Building 

Code (or other pertinent laws or ordinances implemented through its enforcement), the Building 
Official may order the work stopped by notice in writing served on any person(s) engaged in the 
doing or causing of such work to be done. Such person(s) shall stop such work until specifically 
authorized by the Building Official to proceed thereafter. 

 
(2) Any person who continues any work after having been served with a stop work 

Page 245 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 5 (2020) 

 

order, except such work as that person is directed to perform to remove a violation or unsafe 
condition, is subject to the penalties of Sections 9.400 through 9.430 herein. 

 
9.140 Authority to Disconnect Utilities in Emergencies.  The Building Official or the 
Building Official’s authorized representative shall have the authority to disconnect fuel-gas 
utility service, and/or other energy supplies to a building, structure, premises, or equipment 
regulated by the Building Code when necessary to eliminate an immediate hazard to life or 
property. The Building Official shall, whenever possible, notify the serving utility, the owner, 
and the occupant of the building, structure, or premises of the decision to disconnect prior to 
taking such action, and will notify such serving utility, owner and occupant of the building, 
structure or premises in writing of such disconnection within a reasonable time thereafter. 

 
9.150 Authority to Abate Hazardous Equipment. 

 
(1) When the Building Official ascertains that equipment, or any portion thereof, 

regulated by the Building Code has become hazardous to life, health, or property, the Building 
Official may order the equipment either removed from its location or restored to a safe and/or 
sanitary condition, as appropriate. The notice must be in writing and contain a fixed time limit 
for compliance.  Any person who uses the defective equipment after receiving the notice is 
subject to the penalties of Sections 9.400 through 9.430 herein. 

 
(2) When equipment or an installation is to be disconnected, written notice of the 

disconnection (and causes therefor) must be given within 24 hours to the involved utility and 
also the owner and/or occupant of the building, structure, or premises. When equipment is 
maintained in violation of the Building Code and in violation of a notice issued pursuant to the 
provisions of this section, the Building Official may institute such action as the Building Official 
deems necessary to prevent, restrain, correct or abate the violation, including, but not limited to 
issuing civil penalties; declaring the building, structure, or premises dangerous; and denying 
entry. 

 
9.160 Connection after Order to Disconnect.  No person shall make a connection to or from 
an energy, fuel, or power supply to any equipment regulated by the Building Code which has 
been disconnected or ordered disconnected or discontinued by the Building Official until the 
Building Official specifically authorizes the reconnection and/or use of such equipment. 

 
9.170 Occupancy Violations.  Whenever any building, structure or equipment therein 
regulated by the Building Code is used contrary to the provisions of the Building Code, the 
Building Official may order such use discontinued and the structure (or portion thereof) vacated 
and provide such order through written notice to the owner, occupant, and/or user of the 
building, structure, or equipment. All persons using the structure (or portion thereof) shall 
discontinue the use within the time prescribed by the Building Official in the notice and make the 
structure, or portion thereof, comply with the requirements of the Building Code. Structures that 
are altered, modified, or repaired without the benefit of Permits, for purposes of adding rooms 
for tenants, shall be considered as occupancy violations and subject to the penalties of Section 
9.400 through 9.430 herein. 
 

Page 246 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 6 (2020) 

 

9.180 Unsafe Buildings.  When the Building Official ascertains that a building, structure, or 
premises, or any portion thereof, regulated by the Building Code is a public nuisance or 
otherwise has become hazardous to life, health, or property, the Building Official may order 
abatement by repair, rehabilitation, Demolition, or removal in accordance with the procedures set 
forth in the Building Code or such alternate procedures as may have been or as may be adopted 
by the City or the Building Official.  As an alternative, the Building Official may institute any 
other appropriate action to prevent, restrain, correct or abate the violation. 
 
9.190 Appeal of Administrative Decision or Rule.  Appeals of administrative decisions or 
administrative rules of the Building Official under this Section 9.100 through 9.180 are made to 
the City Manager pursuant to Sections 9.400 through 9.430. 
 
CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS AND PERMITS 
 
9.200 Issuance. 
 

(1) The application, Construction Documents, and other data filed by an applicant for 
a Permit shall be reviewed by the Building Official. Such Construction Documents may be 
reviewed by other departments of the City to verify compliance with any applicable laws under 
their jurisdiction. If the Building Official finds that the work described in an application for a 
Permit and the Construction Documents and other data filed therewith conform to the 
requirements of the Building Code and other pertinent laws and ordinances, and that the fees 
have been paid, the Building Official shall issue a Permit therefore to the applicant. 

 
(2) Approval.  When the Building Official issues the Permit where Construction 

Documents are required, the Building Official shall endorse in writing or stamp the Construction 
Documents as “Reviewed for Code Compliance.” Such endorsement of Construction Documents 
shall not be changed, modified, and altered without authorizations from the Building Official, 
and all work regulated by the Building Code shall be done in accordance with the approved 
Construction Documents. 

 
(3) Partial Permits.  The Building Official is authorized to promulgate additional 

administrative rules and regulations related to the efficient administration and review of partial 
Permits. Elements for partial Permits shall include but not be limited to deferred submittals, 
temporary Permits, and phased construction. 

 
(4) Design Professional of Responsible Charge.  Where it is required that documents 

be prepared by a registered design professional, the Building Official shall be authorized to 
require the owner or the owner's authorized agent to engage and designate on the building permit 
application a registered design professional who shall act as the registered design professional in 
responsible charge. If the circumstances require, the owner or the owner's authorized agent shall 
designate a substitute registered design professional in responsible charge who shall perform the 
duties required of the original registered design professional in responsible charge. The Building 
Official shall be notified in writing by the owner or the owner's authorized agent if the registered 
design professional in responsible charge is changed or is unable to continue to perform the 
duties.  The registered design professional in responsible charge shall be responsible for reviewing 

Page 247 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 7 (2020) 

 

and coordinating submittal documents prepared by others, including phased and deferred submittal 
items, for compatibility with the design of the building. 
 

(5) Used Materials and Equipment. Used materials, equipment, and devices shall not 
be reused unless approved by the Building Official. Used or salvaged dimensional lumber 
shall be permitted to be used. 
(6)(5) Modifications. Where there are practical difficulties involved in carrying out the 

provisions of this Building Code, the Building Official shall have the authority to grant 
modifications for individual cases, upon application of the owner or the owner’s authorized 
agent, provided that the Building Official shall first find that special individual reason makes the 
strict letter of this Building Code impractical, the modification is in compliance with the intent 
and purpose of this Building Code and that such modification does not lessen health, 
accessibility, life and fire safety or structural requirements. The details of action granting 
modifications shall be recorded and entered in the files of the department. 

 
(7)(6) Alternative Materials, Design, and Methods of Construction and Equipment. The 

City encourages innovative technology and design, and therefore, the provisions of this Building 
Code are not intended to prevent the installation of any material or to prohibit any design or 
method of construction not specifically prescribed by this Building Code, provided that any such 
alternative has been approved by the Building Official. An alternative material, design or method 
of construction shall be approved where the Building Official finds that the proposed design is 
satisfactory and complies with the intent of the provisions of this Building Code, and that the 
material, method or work offered is, for the purpose intended, not less than the equivalent of that 
prescribed in this Building Code in quality, strength, effectiveness, fire resistance, sanitation, 
durability and safety. Where the alternative material, design or method of construction is not 
approved, the Building Official shall state the reasons why the alternative was not approved. 
 

(8)(7) Research Reports. Supporting data, where necessary to assist in the approval of 
materials or assemblies not specifically provided for in this Building Code, shall consist of valid 
research reports from approved sources. 
 

(9)(8) Tests. Whenever there is insufficient evidence of compliance with the provisions 
of this Building Code, or evidence that a material or method does not conform to the 
requirements of this Building Code, or in order to substantiate claims for alternative materials or 
methods, the Building Official shall have the authority to require tests as evidence of compliance 
to be made without expense to the municipality. Test methods shall be as specified in this 
Building Code or by other recognized test standards. In the absence of recognized and accepted 
test methods, the Building Official shall approve the testing procedures. Tests shall be performed 
by an approved agency. Reports of such tests shall be retained by the Building Official for the 
period required for retention of public records. 
 
9.210 Retention of Construction Documents.  One set of approved Construction Documents 
shall be retained by the Building Official for a minimum period specified by Oregon public 
records laws. One set of approved Construction Documents shall be returned to the applicant, 
and the set shall be kept on the site of the building, structure, or worksite at all times during 
which the work authorized thereby is in progress. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or numbering

Page 248 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 8 (2020) 

 

 
9.220 Validity of Permit. 

 
(1) The issuance or granting of a Permit or approval of Construction Documents 

cannot be construed to be a Permit for, or an approval of, any violation of any of the provisions 
of the Building Code or of any other ordinance of the City or any other applicable federal, state, 
or local law, statute, rule, regulation, or ordinance. 

 
(2) The issuance of a Permit based on Construction Documents and other data does 

not prevent the Building Official from thereafter requiring the correction of errors in the 
Construction Documents and other data, or from preventing building operations, such as building 
inspections, plan reviews, permit issuance, investigations, from being carried on thereunder 
when in violation of the Building Code or of any other ordinances of this jurisdiction. 
 

(3) The legal occupancy of any structure existing on the date of adoption of this 
Codethe Building Code shall be permitted to continue without change, except as otherwise 
specifically provided in this Codethe Building Code. 
 

(4) The Building Official may adopt administrative procedures regarding Permit and 
Permit application expirations, extensions, and/or reinstatements. 
 
9.230 Work without a Permit; Investigation Fees. 
 

(1) Any owner or owner’s authorized agent who intends to construct, enlarge, alter, 
repair, move, demolish, change the character or use of the occupancy, or change the occupancy 
of a building or structure, which is regulated by this Building Code, or to cause any such work to 
be performed, shall first make application to the Building Official and obtain the required permit. 

 
(2) Whenever any work for which a Permit is required by the Building Code has been 

commenced without first obtaining the Permit, a special investigation shall be made before a 
Permit may be issued for such work. 

 
(3) An investigation fee, may be collected whether or not a Permit is then or 

subsequently issued. The payment of such investigation fee shall not exempt any person from 
compliance with all other provisions of this Codethe Building Code nor from any penalty 
prescribed by law. 
 

(4) Any person, firm or corporation performing, or found to have performed work, 
prior to obtaining a Permit where a Permit is required for such work, shall be subject to the 
penalties of Sections 9.400 through 9.430 herein. 

 
(5) Exception to this Section. The person, firm or corporation is working under a pre-

approved process as defined by a specific administrative policy of the Building Official may be 
excepted from this Section. 
 
9.240 Permit Not Transferable.  A Permit issued to one person or firm is not transferable 

Page 249 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 9 (2020) 

 

and shall not authorize any other person or firm to perform any work thereunder. 
 
9.250 Suspension or Revocation.  The Building Official may, in writing, suspend or revoke 
a Permit issued under the provisions of the Building Code whenever the Permit is issued in error 
on the basis of incorrect, inaccurate, or incomplete information supplied, or if its issuance (or 
activity thereunder) is in violation of any ordinance or regulation of any other provisions of the 
City Code. 
 
9.260 Inspections. 
 

(1) It shall be the duty of the Permit holder or authorized agent to request all 
inspections that may be necessary or otherwise required in a timely manner, provide access to the 
site, and to provide all equipment as may be deemed necessary or appropriate by the Building 
Official. The Permit holder or applicant shall not proceed with construction activity prior to 
issuance of a Permit or until receiving specific written authorization to do so by the Building 
Official. It shall be the duty of the Permit holder to cause the work to remain accessible and 
exposed for inspection purposes. Any expense incurred by the Permit holder to remove or 
replace any material required for proper inspection shall be the sole responsibility of the Permit 
holder. 

 
(2) Work requiring a Permit shall not be commenced until the Permit holder or an 

agent of the Permit holder has made available on site, a copy of the Permit authorizing such work 
and supporting documents such as City-approved Construction Documents. The Permit and 
supporting documents shall be maintained available by the Permit holder until final approval has 
been granted by the Building Official. 
 

(3) The Building Official shall make the required inspections, or the Building Official 
shall have the authority to accept reports of inspection by approved agencies or individuals. 
Reports of such inspections shall be in writing and be certified by a responsible officer of such 
approved agency or by the responsible individual. The Building Official is authorized to engage 
such expert opinion as deemed necessary to report on unusual technical issues that arise. 
 
9.270 Demolition Permits.  Unless otherwise exempt by the Building Official this section 
shall apply to Permit applications to demolish structures, and where timely and practicable, shall 
include the following: 
 

(1) Photos.  Electronic photos of each structure proposed for Demolition must be 
provided to the City at the time of Permit application and prior to any Demolition. The size, 
quantity, format, resolution, and context of photos shall be set by the Community Development 
Director.  Unless otherwise exempt, photos shall be made available as part of the public record 
for the structure as required by law. 
 
BUILDING CODES AND FEES 
 
9.300 Purpose.  The purpose of Sections 9.310 through 9.380 is to enable the City Council to 
adopt provisions of its Building Code through resolutions so that the City’s Building Code 

Page 250 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 10 (2020) 

 

remains current with state and federal requirements, new technologies, and best practices.  
Adoption of provisions of the Building Code by resolution will allow the City to remain nimble 
and flexible to timely respond to changing state and federal laws and regulations. 
 
9.310 Structural Specialty Code.  The City’s adoption of a Structural Specialty Code will be 
by resolution and will be incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.320 Zero Energy Ready Commercial Code.  The City’s adoption of a Commercial Energy 
Specialty Code will be by resolution and will be incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.330 Mechanical Specialty Code.  The City’s adoption of a Mechanical Specialty Code will 
be by resolution and will be incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.340 Residential Specialty Code.  The City’s adoption of a Residential Specialty Code will 
be by resolution and will be incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.350 Electrical Specialty Code.  The City’s adoption of an Electrical Specialty Code will be 
by resolution and will be incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.360 Plumbing Specialty Code.  The City’s adoption of a Plumbing Specialty Code will be 
by resolution and will be incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.370 Fire Code.  The City’s adoption of a Fire Code will be by resolution and will be 
incorporated as part of the Building Code. 
 
9.380 Fees.  Permit fees will be adopted by resolution. 
 
VIOLATIONS 
 
9.400 Violations; Penalties; Remedies. 
 

(1) Except for buildings and structures that are otherwise exempt or not included in 
the Building Code, Nno person may erect, construct, enlarge, alter, repair, move, improve, 
remove, convert or demolish, equip, use, occupy or maintain a building or structure in the City, 
or cause the same to be done, contrary to or in violation of the Building Code. 

 
(2) Violation of a provision of the Building Code shall be subject to a civil penalty of 

no less than $50.00 and not exceeding $5,000.00 per offense, or in the case of a continuing 
offense, not more than $1,000.00 for each day of the offense and shall be processed in 
accordance with the procedures set forth in Sections 9.410 through 9.430. 
 

(3) Each day that a violation of a provision of the Building Code exists constitutes a 
separate violation. 
 

(4) The penalties and remedies provided in Sections 9.400 through 9.430 are not 
exclusive and are in addition to other penalties and remedies available to the City under the City 

Page 251 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 11 (2020) 

 

Code, other City ordinance, or Oregon or federal law. 
 
9.410 Authority to Impose Civil Penalty. 

 
(1) In addition to, and not in lieu of, any other enforcement mechanism authorized by 

the Building Code or the City Code, upon a determination by the Building Official that a person 
has violated a provision of the Building Code or a rule adopted thereunder, the Building Official 
may impose upon the violator and/or any other responsible person an administrative civil penalty 
as provided by subsections (1) to (12) of this Section. For purposes of this subsection, a 
responsible person includes the violator, and if the violator is not the owner of the building or 
property at which the violation occurs, may include the owner as well. 

 
(2) The preferred enforcement of the Building Code is for the Building Official to 

first attempt, if possible, voluntary correction of any violations of the Building Code.  Therefore, 
Pprior to imposing an administrative civil penalty under this Section, the Building Official may, 
in the Building Official’s discretion, pursue reasonable attempts to secure voluntary correction.  
If the violator fails to correct the violation, the Building Official may issue a notice of civil 
violation to one or more of the persons responsible to correct the violation, as well as the owner 
of the site if the owner is not the violator. Except where the Building Official determines that the 
violation poses an immediate threat to health, safety, environment, or public welfare, the time for 
correction shall be not less than five (5) calendar days from Receipt of the notice. 
 

(3) Following the date or time by which the correction must be completed as required 
by an order to correct a violation, the Building Official shall determine whether such correction 
has been completed. If the required correction has not been completed by the date or time 
specified in the order, the Building Official may impose a civil penalty on each person to whom 
an order to correct was issued. 

 
(4) Notwithstanding subsection (2) above, the Building Official may impose a civil 

penalty without having issued an order to correct violation or made attempts to secure voluntary 
correction where the Building Official determines that the violation was knowing or intentional 
or a repeat of a similar violation. 

 
(5) In imposing a penalty authorized by this Section, the Building Official will 

consider: 
 
(a) The person's past history in taking all feasible steps or procedures 

necessary or appropriate to correct the violation;  
 
(b) Any prior violations of statutes, rules, orders, and Permits;  
 
(c) The gravity and magnitude of the violation;  
 
(d) Whether the violation was repeated or continuous;  
 
(e) Whether the cause of the violation was an unavoidable accident, 

Page 252 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 12 (2020) 

 

negligence, or an intentional act;  
 
(f) The violator's cooperativeness and efforts to correct the violation; and  
 
(g) Any relevant rule of the Building Code or the City Code. 

 
(6) The notice of civil penalty shall either be served by personal service or shall be 

mail by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested. Any such notice served by mail 
shall be deemed received for purposes of any time computations hereunder three (3) days after 
the date mailed.  A notice of civil penalty shall include: 

 
(a) Reference to the particular Building Code provision or rule involved;  
 
(b) A short and plain statement of the matters asserted or charged; 
 
(c) A statement of the amount of the penalty or penalties imposed;  
 
(d) The date on which the order to correct was issued and time by which 

correction was to be made, or if the penalty is imposed pursuant to subsection (4), a short 
and plain statement of the basis for concluding that the violation was knowing, 
intentional, or repeated; and  

 
(e) A statement of the party's right to appeal the civil penalty to the City 

Manager. 
 
(7) Any person who is issued a notice of civil penalty may appeal the penalty to the 

City Manager pursuant to Section 9.420. 
 
(8) A civil penalty imposed hereunder shall become final upon expiration of the time 

for filing an appeal, unless the responsible person appeals the penalty to the City Manager 
pursuant to, and within the time limits established by, Section 9.420. If the responsible person 
appeals the civil penalty to the City Manager, the penalty shall become final, if at all, upon 
issuance of the City Manager’s decision affirming the imposition of the administrative civil 
penalty. 

 
(9) Each day the violator fails to remedy the Building Code violation shall constitute 

a separate violation. 
 
(10)(9) Except as provided in subsection (10) below, Ffailure to pay a penalty imposed 

hereunder within ten (10) calendar days after the penalty becomes final as provided in subsection 
(8) shall constitute a separate and additional violation of the Building Code. Each day the penalty 
is not paid thereafter shall constitute a separate violation. The Building Official also is authorized 
to collect the penalty by any administrative or judicial action or proceeding authorized by 
subsection (11) below, other provisions of the City Code, or Oregon statutes. The civil 
administrative penalty authorized by this Section shall be in addition to: 

 

Commented [GA1]: Already in Section 9.400(3). 

Page 253 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 13 (2020) 

 

(a) Assessments or fees for any costs incurred by the City in remediation, 
cleanup, or abatement; and 

 
(b) Any other actions authorized by law. 

 
(10) The City Manager may, in the City Manager’s sole discretion, suspend the 

imposition of additional civil penalties pending the City Manager’s decision of an appeal 
properly submitted pursuant to Section 9.420 herein. 

  
(11) If an administrative civil penalty is imposed on a responsible person because of a 

violation of any provision of the Building Code resulting from prohibited use or activity on real 
property, and the penalty remains unpaid thirty (30) calendar days after such penalty became 
final, the Building Official shall may assess the property the full amount of the unpaid fine and 
shall may enter such an assessment as a lien in the municipal lien docket pursuant to Section 
9.430. At the time such an assessment is made, the Building Official shall notify the responsible 
person and the owner, if different from the responsible person, that the penalty has been assessed 
against the real property upon which the violation occurred and has been entered in the 
municipal lien docket. The interest shall commence from the date of entry of the lien in the lien 
docket. 

 
(12) In addition to enforcement mechanisms authorized elsewhere in the Building 

Code and the City Code, failure to pay an administrative civil penalty imposed pursuant to this 
Section will be grounds for withholding issuance of requested Permits or licenses, for issuing a 
stop work order, if applicable, or revoking or suspending any issued Permits or certificates of 
occupancy. 
 
9.420 Appeal of Penalty.   

 
(1) A person aggrieved by an action of the Building Official taken pursuant to a 

section of the Building Code that authorizes an appeal under this Section may, within ten (10) 
Business Days after the date Receipt of notice of the action, appeal in writing to the Building 
Official. The appeal shall state: 

 
(a) The name and address of the appellant; 
 
(b) The nature of the determination being appealed 
 
(c) The reason the determination is incorrect; and 
 
(d) What the correct determination of the appeal should be. 
 

(2) Dismissal. 
 
(a) An appellant who fails to file such a statement within the time permitted 

waives the objections, and the appeal shall be summarily dismissed by the City Manager 
not later than five (5) Business Days after receipt of the appeal.   

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Underline

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0.5", Numbered +
Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Formatted: All caps

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0.5", Numbered +
Level: 2 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.25" + Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: All caps

Page 254 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 14 (2020) 

 

 
(b) If an appellant timely files an appeal, but fails to meet requirements (a) 

through (d) of subsection (1), the Building Official will notify the appellant in writing the 
defect(s) of the appeal and allow the appellant five (5) Business Days from Receipt of the 
notification of defect(s) to correct the defect(s) and resubmit the appeal.  If appellant fails 
to correct the defect(s) and resubmit the appeal within the five (5) Business Days, the 
appeal shall be summarily dismissed by the City Manager not later than five (5) Business 
Days after the date by which the appeal was resubmitted or had to be resubmitted, 
whichever is earlier. 
 
(2)(3) Upon Rreceipt of a timely appeal that meets the requirements of subsection (1), 

the Building Official may prepare a written response brief and provide the response brief to the 
City Manager and the appellant no less than seven (7) calendar days prior to the hearing date. 
 

(3)(4) If a notice of revocation of a license or Permit is the subject of the appeal, the 
revocation does not take effect until final determination of the appeal. Notwithstanding this 
paragraph, an emergency suspension shall take effect upon issuance of, or such other time stated 
in, the notice of suspension. 

 
(4)(5) Unless the appellant and the City agree to a longer period, an appeal shall be 

heard by the City Manager within thirty (30) calendar days of the receipt Receipt of the appeal. 
No later than seven (7) calendar days prior to the hearing, the City shall mail notice of the time 
and location thereof to the appellant. 

 
(5)(6) The City Manager shall hear and determine the appeal on the basis of the 

appellant’s written statement, the Building Official’s response brief, if any, and any additional 
evidence the City Manager deems appropriate. At the hearing, the appellant may present 
testimony and oral argument personally or by counsel.  The Building Official may also present 
testimony and oral argument, and may have the City represented by the City Attorney’s Office if 
the appellant is represented by counsel.  The rules of evidence as used by courts of law do not 
apply. 

 
(6)(7) The City Manager will issue a written decision within ten (10) Business Days of 

the hearing date. The decision of the City Manager after the hearing is final. 
 

(7)(8) Any legal action contesting the City Manager’s decision on the appeal must be 
filed within sixty (60) calendar days of the City Manager’s decision.  Review of the City 
Manager’s decision shall be by writ of review pursuant to ORS 34.010 to 34.100. 
 
9.430 Lien. 

 
(1) There shall be a lien created and it shall be done in accordance with this Section. 
 
(2) Any fine, assessment, or civil penalty imposed pursuant to the Building Code that 

remains unpaid thirty (30) calendar days after the penalty is imposed (or after the fine, 
assessment, or civil penalty has been affirmed on appeal), shall may be filed as a lien against the 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0.5", Numbered +
Level: 2 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.25" + Indent at:  1.5"

Page 255 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 15 (2020) 

 

lot, lots, or parcels of land involved in the municipal lien docket.  Any costs incurred by the City 
in the abatement of any dangerous building and/or any other fine, assessment or administrative 
civil penalty not paid within thirty (30) days shall may be an assessment and lien against the 
property where the building is located. 
 

(3) Notice.  At the time of filing in the municipal lien docket, notice shall be provided 
to the responsible person. If the responsible person is not the owner of the property shown in the 
electronic records of the applicable county assessor on that date, then notice shall also be sent to 
the owner of the property. Failure to provide notice shall not in any way effect the validity of the 
lien. The notice shall state that the amounts imposed as penalties shall be payable and due, and 
that the penalties shall be liens against the lots or parcels of land involved, respectively.  
 

(4) Interest.  All such liens remaining unpaid after thirty (30) calendar days from the 
date of recording on the municipal lien docket shall become delinquent and shall bear interest at 
the rate of ten (10) percent per annum from and after that date. 
 

(5) Enforcement.  The liens shall be enforced in the manner provided in Oregon 
Revised Statutes Chapter 223 and shall have priority over all such other liens and encumbrances 
of any character.  
 
BOARD OF APPEALS 
 
9.500 Establishment of Board of Appeals. 
 

(1) In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions or determinations made by 
the Building Official related to the application and interpretation of technical or scientific matters 
of the Building Code, there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals consisting of three 
(3) members (not including the Building Official) who are qualified by experience and training 
to make determinations on matters pertaining to building construction and who are not 
employees of the City of Wilsonville. The Building Official is an ex officio member of, and shall 
act as secretary to, the Board of Appeals, but has no vote on any matter before the Board of 
Appeals. The three (3) members of the Board of Appeals shall be appointed by the Mayor with 
the consent of the City Council and may be removed by the Mayor with the consent of the City 
Council.  The Board of Appeals will adopt rules of procedure for conducting its business, and 
shall render all decisions and findings in writing to the appellant with a duplicate copy to the 
Building Official. 

 
(2) The Board of Appeals does not have any authority related to interpretation of the 

administrative provisions of the Building Code, is not empowered to waive requirements of the 
Building Code, and has no authority to deliberate and make determinations on Development 
Review Board, Planning Commission, or City Council requirements or conditions of approval.   

 
(3) Appeals of land use decisions are processed in accordance with the Wilsonville 

Code Chapter 4. 
 
(4) Appeals of administrative decisions of the Building Official are made to the City 

Page 256 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 16 (2020) 

 

Manager pursuant to Section 9.420. 
 
(5) Appeals of civil penalties issued by the Building Official are made to the City 

Manager pursuant to Section 9.420. 
 

(6) Any person aggrieved by the final decision of the Board of Appeals that pertains 
to a State of Oregon Building Code adopted by the City may appeal to the appropriate state 
advisory board as provided by Oregon law. 
 
9.510 Appeal Procedure. 
 

(1) Decision to be Appealed; Filing Date.  Any decision relating to the suitability of 
alternative materials, designs, and methods of construction or interpretation by the Building 
Official with regard to the Building Code may be appealed to the Board of Appeals within ten 
(10) calendar days of appellant’s Receipt of the date of the decision or interpretation being 
appealed, in conformance with procedures provided herein. 

 
(2) The Community Development Director will determine if the appeal is timely and 

if the appellant qualifies as a filing party under Section 9.520 herein.  If the appeal is not timely 
or if the appellant is not a qualified filing party, the Community Development Director, not later 
than five (5) Business Days after Receipt of the appeal, will summarily dismiss the appeal and 
provide to the appellant, in writing, the reason(s) for the dismissal. 

 
(3) The Community Development Director will also determine if the appeal is 

complete. For purposes of this section, a complete appeal shall contain: 
 
(a) The name and address of the appellant, under what provision of Section 

9.520 appellant qualifies as a filing party, and the location of the property, if applicable; 
and 

 
(b) A clear, concise written statement of the grounds for the appeal, 

identifying the specific decision being appealed, explaining the proposed alternative 
material, design, or method of construction and how it meets the intent of the relevant 
code, specifically identifying how the proposed alternative material, design or method 
will be at least as safe, and last as long, as the materials or methods described in this 
codethe Building Code; and/or 

 
(c) A clear, concise written statement of the grounds for the appeal, 

identifying the specific decision being appealed, setting out the specific interpretation 
made by the Building Official and setting out a concise explanation of how the 
interpretation is in error, citing to the specific provisions of the Building Code at issue. 

 
If an appellant timely files an appeal, but fails to meet requirements (a) through (c) of this 
subsection, the Community Development Director will notify the appellant in writing the 
defect(s) of the appeal and allow the appellant five (5) Business Days from Receipt of the 
notification of defect(s) to correct the defect(s) and resubmit the appeal.  If appellant fails to 

Page 257 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 17 (2020) 

 

correct the defect(s) and resubmit the appeal within the five (5) Business Days, the appeal shall 
be summarily dismissed by the Community Development Director not later than five (5) 
Business Days after the date by which the appeal was resubmitted or had to be resubmitted, 
whichever is earlier. 

 
(4) If the appeal is complete and timely, the Building Official will schedule a meeting 

of the Board of Appeals within twenty (20) Business Days of the filing of the appeal and provide 
notice of the meeting of the Board of Appeals to the appellant and to the owner of the property, if 
different from the appellant and if applicable. The Building Official shall not schedule a meeting 
of the Board of Appeals to hear an appeal until an appeal is complete.  If the appeal is untimely 
or fails to meet the requirements of Ssubsection (3) above, or if the appellant does not qualify as 
a filing party, the appeal shall be automatically and summarily dismissed by the Community 
Development Director without a hearing as provided in subsections (2) and (3) above.  The 
Community Development Director will provide written notice to the appellant of the dismissal 
and the grounds for the dismissal. 

 
(5) The Board of Appeals shall hear timely and complete appeals in the following 

order of testimony: a brief staff report, the appellant’s, testimony in favor of the appeal, 
testimony in opposition to the appeal, testimony neutral to the appeal, rebuttal by the appellant 
and/or any person who testified in favor of the appeal, sur-rebuttal by the staff and/or any person 
who testified in opposition. The Board of Appeals may ask questions of any person who testifies 
during that person's testimony. The Board of Appeals will close the hearing at the end of 
testimony, deliberate and make a decision to uphold the appeal or deny the appeal. 

 
(6) The maximum time for the Board of Appeals to render a decision from the date of 

a timely and complete appeal may not exceed Thirty thirty (30) Business Days. The Chair of the 
Board of Appeals may suspend this procedural time frame when the complexity of the issue 
merits additional decision time. 
 

(7) An appellant may appeal the Board of Appeals’ decision to the Oregon 
Department of Consumer and Business Services Building Codes Division. 
 
9.520 Filing Parties. 
 

(1) Appeals may only be filed by the following parties affected by a decision: 
 
(a) The permit applicant, owner or the owner’s authorized representative; or 
 
(b) The violator or a responsible person who has received a notice of violation 

or civil penalty.; or 
 
(c) Any resident or property owner within 150 feet of a parcel of land that is 
the subject of the decision. 

 
SEVERABILITY 
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1",  No bullets or numbering

Page 258 of 301



Chapter 9 – Fees Page 18 (2020) 

 

9.600 Severability.  The provisions of this Chapter 9 are severable, and it is the intention of 
the City Council to confer the whole or any part of the powers herein provided for.  If any clause, 
section, or provision of this Chapter 9 is declared unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, the 
remaining portion of this Chapter 9 shall remain in full force and effect and be valid as if such 
invalid portion had not been incorporated.  It is hereby declared that the City Council intends that 
this Chapter 9 would have been adopted had such an unconstitutional provision not been 
included. 

Page 259 of 301



From The Director’s Office 

Greetings! 

Public infrastructure assets are an important foundation of a 
city’s livability as well as its economic development program. 
Maintaining such assets in a high quality condition is critical to 
a community’s long-term success. Infrastructure wears out 
with time and use. Neglected infrastructure can result in 
degradation of the assets, leading to greater costs of 
reconstruction over time which is why the City’s Charbonneau 
Consolidated Improvement Plan (2014) and the annual street 
maintenance program are so important.   

This year, significant portions of Boones Ferry Road and 
Wilsonville Road were maintained with new pavement and 
striping (see photos right). Community Development 
Department staff are already mobilizing resources and issuing 
contracts for design as part of the 2020 street maintenance 
program.   

As frustrating as it can be waiting for flaggers, or being inconvenienced due to delays or detours, 
it is important to remember that these are important functions of city government that are 
intended to protect our collective investment as well as save time and money in the future. There 
are substantial coordination efforts made between Community Development Department and 
Public Works Department staff to ensure the design and installation of new public infrastructure is 
both long-lasting and efficient to maintain so that it benefits citizens across the community.   

In Charbonneau, the next phase of projects is being designed in preparation for the 2020 
construction season. Storm line replacements along French Prairie Road will be the most 
significant with over 1,400 lineal feet of pipe 
being replaced. Storm lines in nearby streets 
will also be replaced along with just under ¼ 
mile of sanitary sewer pipe. Once the new 
pipelines are installed, the affected streets 
will be reconstructed with new asphalt, 
resulting in a complete upgrade that should 
serve the District well over the next several 
decades. 

Respectfully submitted,  

Chris Neamtzu, AICP 
Community Development Director 

November 2019 

Monthly 

Report 

Page 260 of 301



 

 

 

CD Monthly Report            Page 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Building Division 

Staying Connected 

This month the Building Division hosted a major event that placed the spotlight directly on the 
City of Wilsonville and all the great things we are doing in our region. 

The event was a quarterly Oregon Building Officials Association (OBOA) meeting where over 80 
code officials from across the state gathered to network and hear updates from the State Building 
Codes Manager, Warren Jackson, about building code related legislation, energy codes, and most 
significantly, changes to the administrative provisions (Chapter 1) of the codes. In addition, a 
peer-to-peer round-table session was facilitated over topics that included CCB licensing, 
marijuana facilities and building codes, affordable housing, and other industry topics like 
innovative permitting processes and labor shortages. 

It is a privilege to host forums such as this and to provide a gathering place for industry 
professionals to engage in productive conversation. This improves communications, promotes 
regional consistency, creates an environment for positive relationships and networking, and helps 
our region to have a stronger built environment. 

On the day of the OBOA Quarterly Business Meeting, representatives from Clark County brought 
their building outreach trailer for all the code officials and Wilsonville City employees to explore. 
The activities in the trailer included an earthquake simulator, a framing skills test, and a trivia 
wall. All the activities were designed to encourage homeowners to “Be a Home Hero” and make 
informed decisions when starting new building safety-related projects. One young girl who came 
into City Hall with her grandma that day toured the trailer and left saying, “That was awesome!” 

Page 261 of 301



 

 

 

November 2019             Page 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Economic Development Division 

Regional Collaboration 

 Economic Development staff are making progress on Employment Lands Site Readiness 
Toolkit, a project with Port of Portland and Greater Portland Inc. to identify tools to move 
challenged industrial employment sites within Urban Growth Boundary to market-readiness, 
such as Coffee Creek. Project is looking at best practices across the country and coming up 
with 32 tools—related to policy, financing, and process—to help industrial site-readiness. 
Wilsonville was one of three jurisdictions selected out of 18 for development of a customized 
site readiness roadmap to look at solutions to site aggregation challenges (i.e. strategies to 
motivate cooperation among property owners as it relates to property acquisition for 
development). 

Town Center Plan Implementation 

 Staff continue outreach efforts to property owners, developers, and investors on key sites in 
Town Center. Work is in progress on implementation activities related to the adopted Town 
Center Plan, including a marketing plan with a Development Opportunity Site analysis, Main 
Street 3D renderings, streetscape plan, infrastructure finance plan, and Transportation System 
Plan amendments.  

Urban Renewal 

 Basalt Creek 

 Development: Developer assessing development options for 42 acre industrial site and 
inquired about infrastructure investments, zoning, and public-private partnership options. 

 Coffee Creek 

 Development: Developer working to aggregate 30 acres of contiguous land for speculative 
industrial development to bring new warehouse/flex product to Wilsonville market. 

 Infrastructure: Garden Acres Road under construction with an estimated completion date 
of November 2020. 

 TIF Zone Program 

 Council has given staff approval to pursue modifications to TIF Zone program to allow for 
added flexibility of site location and program criteria, ideally adaptable to both recession 
and growth economies. Staff are working with consultant to update program criteria and 
share with Urban Renewal Task Force sometime in the first quarter of 2020. 

 

Page 262 of 301



 

 

 

CD Monthly Report               Page 4 

Engineering Division, Capital Projects 

5th Street/Kinsman Road Extension (1139/2099/4201) 

This project involves the design and construction of the extension of 5th Street and Kinsman 
Road between Boones Ferry Road and Wilsonville Road, including water, sewer, storm, franchise 
utility extension, and installation of a portion of the Ice Age Tonquin Trail. Land acquisition is 
underway. Construction is planned to start in the first quarter of 2021. 

Elligsen Well Upgrade and Maintenance (1128) 

This project involves correcting well casing and water chemistry deficiencies in the existing 
Elligsen well to maintain it as a backup supply for emergencies. Capacity analysis of the 
stormwater system downstream of the well house which carries pump-to-waste flows was 
completed in June 2019. The second half of calendar year 2019 will include well column and 
casing inspections, water chemistry analysis, and recommendations for improvements to address 
any discovered deficiencies. The first half of calendar year 2020 will include redevelopment of 
well capacity and implementation of improvements identified previously in the fiscal year.   

French Prairie Bridge (9137) 

This project will determine the final location, alignment, and design type and includes 
preparation of preliminary construction and environmental documents for a new pedestrian, bike, 
and emergency vehicle bridge over the Willamette River in the vicinity of Boones Ferry Road. City 
staff provided Planning Commission with a project update at the November 13 meeting. City staff 
are coordinating with Clackamas County to schedule a resolution supporting the Task Force 
recommendation of the suspension bridge as the preferred bridge before the Clackamas Board of 
County Commissioners. 

French Prairie Road Phase II (2500/4500/7500) 

This project will include paving, storm sewer, and sanitary sewer improvements to French Prairie 
Road in the Charbonneau development. Design is complete and anticipated to be advertised for 
construction bids in early January 2020. 

Garden Acres Road (4201) 

This project involves the design and construction of Garden Acres Road from a rural local access 
road to an urban industrial roadway as part of the Coffee Creek Industrial Area plan and includes 
Willamette Water Supply Program segment PLM_1.2 of the 66” water transmission pipe. PGE, 
Verizon, and Comcast are onsite to underground the overhead utilities. Construction of the 
upsized storm pipe to serve the future Coffee Creek Industrial area is nearly complete on Peters 
Road and will be transitioning onto Ridder Road in the coming weeks. Construction of the 
sanitary sewer pipe extension to serve the future Basalt Creek Area is now underway. 
Construction completion is anticipated for December 2020.  

Gesellschaft Well Facility Rehab and Upgrade (1083) 

This project addresses upgrades and repairs needed to correct deficiencies in the Gesellschaft 
well house, including piping, electrical, and mechanical systems. The City’s Contractor, Stettler 
Supply & Construction, mobilized to the well site in late September. Work in the month of 
November consisted of the installation of conduit for generator power and controls, forming and 
pouring of the concrete generator pad, and the beginning of the interior well house work. Work 
will continue on this project through February 2020. 

I-5 Pedestrian Bridge (4202) 

This project involves the design and preparation of construction documents for a pedestrian and 
bicycle bridge over Interstate 5 from Town Center Loop West to Boones Ferry/Barber Street. A 
professional services agreement with OBEC Consulting Engineers for design of the project went 
before City Council on December 2. Project design work is expected to begin in December.  

Page 263 of 301



 

 

 

November 2019             Page 5 

Engineering Division, Capital Projects 

Memorial Drive Splitter Manhole Replacement (2085) 

This project involves the replacement of an existing sanitary sewer manhole at the intersection of 
Parkway Avenue and Memorial Drive with a new flow diversion manhole. The purpose of the 
project is to maintain equalized flows between two parallel sewer lines under I-5 and to avoid 
potential overflows. Engineering is currently in coordination with private utilities for relocation of 
conduits with the City’s proposed manhole. At this time, a completion date for this project is 
unknown, but the project is to be completed this current fiscal year. 

Memorial Park Pump Station (2065) 

This project involves replacing and relocating the wastewater pump station in Memorial Park. The 
land use application has been deemed complete and is under review. Design is 90% complete and 
should be finalized in January 2020. A Request for Qualifications has been advertised and will be 
used to determine a list of qualified contactors from whom to solicit construction bids, upon 
receipt of land use approval from the Planning Division. 

Street Maintenance Project—Wilsonville Road & Boones Ferry Road (4014/4118/4725) 

This project involves the design and construction of the City’s annual street maintenance 
program involving rehabilitation of the roadway surface to extend the effective service life, 
reduce maintenance costs, and continue a safe, functioning street network. The program also 
includes update of sidewalk curb ramps and traffic signals to comply with current ADA 
requirements and to ensure the City’s public infrastructure is accessible by all ages and abilities.  

 Wilsonville Road & Boones Ferry Road 
Paving and striping work (shown right) is 
complete. The contractor is finishing 
some minor pedestrian signal work and 
the project punch list. Final completion is 
expected by the end of the year. 

 2020 Street Maintenance Planned work 
includes Day Road, Town Center Loop, 
Parkway Avenue, Elligsen Road, and Burns 
Way. A professional services agreement 
with Wallis Engineering for design of the 
project went before City Council at the 
December 2 hearing. Project design work 
is expected to begin in December with 
construction planned for Summer 2020. 

Willamette River Storm Outfalls (7053) 

All construction activities have been completed except for repaving areas affected by the project. 
Paving will be completed by mid-December. 

Water Treatment Plant (WTP) Expansion to 20 MGD (1144) 

This project will expand the WTP capacity to 20 MGD and incorporate related WTP capital 
improvements, including Life Safety Upgrades (1137), Seismic Retrofits (1145), and Repair and 
Replacement (1146) projects. Alternative delivery methods such as progressive design-build are 
being considered. A Request for Qualifications or Request for Proposals will be issued in 
December 2019 or January 2020.  

Water Treatment Plant (WTP) Surge Tank (1111) 

The underground construction and restoration project is complete. The surge tank was delivered 
and installed on November 22. Final project completion is anticipated in December 2019.   

Page 264 of 301



 

 

 

CD Monthly Report            Page 6 

Engineering Division, Capital Projects 

Willamette Water Supply Program (WWSP) Coordination (1127) 

Ongoing coordination efforts continue with the Willamette Water Supply Program. Here are the 
updates on their major elements within Wilsonville.  

 PLM 1.1 Construction permits have been issued by the City for PLM_1.1, a WWSP 66” raw 
water pipeline between Arrowhead Creek Lane and Wilsonville Road. Construction contractor 
has started moving equipment and materials onto the site. Construction of the pipeline is 
expected to begin in December. Completion of this segment of pipeline is expected in the Fall 
2020. 

 PLM 1.2 This is the WWSP 66” raw water pipeline that is included as part of the Garden Acres 
Road (4201) project. Construction of the WWSP pipeline is anticipated to start in April 2020.    

 PLM 1.3 This is the remainder of the WWSP 66” raw water pipeline through Wilsonville, 
including Kinsman Road, Boeckman Road, 95th Avenue, and Ridder Road. Community 
Development staff met in November with the project team to discuss alignment and pipe 
location. WWSP is progressing toward 60% design plans. Construction is scheduled to begin in 
Fall 2020.  

Waste Water Treatment Plant (WWTP) Master Plan (2104) 

This project will evaluate capacity of WWTP processes to accommodate projected growth and 
regulatory changes. A prioritized capital improvement plan and budget will be developed. A 
Request for Proposals was issued in December 2019.  

 

Canyon Creek 2 

This is a five lot subdivision (shown left) on the east side of 
Canyon Creek Road South. The contractor is nearing completion, 
with manhole testing and final punchlist items being addressed.  

Fir Commons 

Ten home condominium development (shown right) near Fir 
Avenue and 4th Street in Old 
Town. The public utilities are in 
place and the primary stormwater 
rain garden is installed and 
functioning, allowing for the 
release of building permits for 
three units. The four street-side 
stormwater planters have been 
poured and are waiting to be 
completed. 

Engineering Division, Private Development 

Page 265 of 301



 

 

 

November 2019             Page 7 

Engineering Division, Private Development 

Frog Pond Meadows 

74-lot subdivision (shown 
right) located north of 
Stafford Meadows and 
adjacent to Stafford Road. 
The contractor (NEI) has 
installed the sanitary 
utilities and roadway base. 
They are currently working 
on the storm system and 
water line.  

Frog Pond—Morgan Farm Phase 2 

42-lot subdivision (shown right) 
located north of Morgan Farm Phase 1. 
The contractor (NEI) is currently 
working on stormwater LIDA facilities 
and pre-check of final items.  

Frog Pond—Stafford Meadows 

The punch list is complete, and the 
project acceptance letter is being 
issued. Project is moving into the 
maintenance phase 

Grace Chapel 

Project involves the remodel and expansion of the south building of the former Pioneer Pacific 
College. The pre-construction meeting took place on October 17, with the project to begin in the 
near future. 

Hilton Garden Inn 

Construction continues on this four-story hotel at Memorial Drive and Parkway Avenue. The 
concrete sidewalk repairs, LIDA facilities, and road repair are some of the final items needed for 
completion. See below for photos. 

Page 266 of 301



 

 

 

CD Monthly Report            Page 8 

Engineering Division, Private Development 

Northstar Contractor Establishment—Clay Street 

No new action since the pre-construction meeting took 
place for this frontage improvement project.  

Parkway Avenue Street Repair 

Century Link was forced to cross Parkway Avenue by way 
of trenching in order to extend services as allowed by their 
Franchise Utility Agreement with the City. The temporary 
asphalt patch (shown right) is currently being replaced 
with a permanent concrete patch as required by our Public 
Works Standards. 

Shredding Systems 

The project involves adding an additional building and 
expanding the sanitary, water, and storm systems. The 
permit is currently under initial plan review. 

 

 

 

 

Boones Ferry Primary Stormwater Project 

In partnership with the school district, City staff are working with fifth grade students at Boones 
Ferry Primary School to create a new landscaping plan for an existing stormwater facility. The 
planting plan will emphasize the use of native, low-maintenance plants, and provide a benefit to 
wildlife. Boones Ferry Primary students will learn about stormwater management through their 
involvement in designing and interpreting the enhanced stormwater facility. 

The project will be completed over the 2019-20 school year and includes the following objectives: 

1. Develop and implement a science-based curriculum about stormwater management.  

2. Engage students in developing a planting plan for the enhanced stormwater facility. A 
charrette was held at the school in early December to gather students input on the design. 

3. Students will participate in the development of an interpretive panel about the project. They 
will provide content and wording for the panel, which will also include their artwork. The 
panel will be manufactured and installed by a graphic design firm.  

4. A planting event is scheduled for March. Students and other volunteers will provide the labor.  

5. Conduct a celebration at the end of the school year, which will include the unveiling of the 
interpretive panel.   

Engineering Division, Natural Resources 

Page 267 of 301



 

 

 

Planning Division, Current 

Administrative Land Use Decisions Issued 
 New roof structure over patio at Charbonneau club house 
 Minor Modification to Old Town Square Master Sign Plan for Kiren Ramen 
 Lot Line Adjustment for industrial property 
 2 Class I Sign Permits 
 2 Type A Tree Permits 
 4 Type B Tree Permits 
 1 Type C Tree Permit 
 2 Zoning Verification Letters 
 New Single-family building permits 

Construction Permit Review, Development Inspections, and Project Management 

In November, Planning staff actively worked with developers and contractors to ensure 
construction of the following projects consistent with Development Review Board and City 
Council approvals: 

 Additional Building at SSI Shredding Systems 
 Hilton Garden Inn 
 Fir Avenue Commons residential development in Old Town 
 Regional Park 7&8 in Villebois 
 Residential subdivisions in Frog Pond West 
 Aspen Meadows and Aspen Meadows II subdivisions on Canyon Creek Road South 

Development Review Board (DRB)  

DRB Panel A did not meet in 
November. 

During their November 25 meeting, 
DRB Panel B approved an updated 
natural resource impacts, site, and 
building design for improvements 
at the Willamette River Treatment 
Plant and adjacent park as well as a 
new electrical building complex 
north of the park related to the 
Willamette Water Supply Project. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

November 2019             Page 9 
Page 268 of 301



 

 

 

Planning Division, Current 

DRB Projects Under Review 

During November, Planning staff actively worked on 
the following major projects in preparation for 
potential public hearings before the Development 
Review Board: 

 Natural resource impacts as well as site and 
building design for improvements at the 
Willamette River Treatment Plant and park 
related to the Willamette Water Supply Project. 

 Coffee drive-thru at Town Center Loop West 
and Park Place. 

 Conversion of northern building of old Pioneer 
Pacific College campus on Parkway Avenue 
into offices for I&E Construction. 

 Review of the design and placement of a new sewer pump station in Memorial Park. 
 Revised Master Sign Plan for Stafford Business Center in North Wilsonville 

Equitable Housing Strategic Plan 

Throughout November, the project team scoped out supplemental outreach opportunities to 
inform the draft Equitable Housing Strategic Plan. These include a targeted renter survey and 

project kiosks at the Wilsonville Public Library. Additional coordinated 
input opportunities will be posted on Let’s Talk, Wilsonville! The project 
team will gather this additional input, along with the prioritized list of 
strategies, to formulate the draft Equitable Housing Strategic Plan, which 
will be presented to Council in early 2020. 

General project information is available on the project website: www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/housing. 

Planning Commission 

During the November 13 Planning Commission meeting, the Commission held a work session to 
discuss the scope of the design work and associated public engagement for the I-5 Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Bridge. Following the work session, staff provided the Commission with updates on the 
French Prairie Bridge project and the upcoming Urban Forest Management Plan. The next Planning 
Commission meeting will be December 13 and will include training on the City’s Significant 
Resource Overlay Zone as well as an informational presentation on House Bills 2001 and 2003—
housing related bills passed by the legislature. 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

CD Monthly Report                        Page 10 

Planning Division, Long Range 

Page 269 of 301



 

 

 

November 2019                                                   Page 11 

Planning Division, Long Range 

Residential Zoning Standards Modernization Project 

Following a number of work sessions with the Planning Commission, staff developed a survey for 
Let’s Talk, Wilsonville! and conducted outreach to stakeholders and interested parties. The focus of 
the project is to update zoning standards primarily pertaining to the Planned Development 
Residential (PDR) zones. Staff will present the results of the outreach and any changes to the 
recommended updates to the Comprehensive Plan and Development Code during a January 
Planning Commission work session. Following the work session staff anticipate moving forward 
with the Planning Commission public hearing.  

Wilsonville Town Center Plan 

During November, staff continued work on the development opportunity site analysis component of 
the upcoming marketing plan, and worked with Clackamas County’s CC3D program to develop 3D 
renderings of the main street to include within the marketing plan. In addition, outreach continued 
with property owners, developers, and investors on key sites in Town Center.  

Planning Director Miranda Bateschell and Economic 
Development Manager Jordan Vance travelled to 
Bellevue, Washington, to meet with ROIC, the owners of 
the Town Center Shopping Center, about potential 
redevelopment of their Town Center property and to 

tour a shopping center (Crossroads Bellevue) that ROIC is redeveloping into a mixed use center. In 
addition, Miranda and Jordan visited with City of Bellevue staff about the experience working with 
ROIC as a redevelopment partner. These activities further the project goal of achieving public-
private development partnerships for Town Center. For additional information about the Town 
Center Plan project, visit the project website www.wilsonvilletowncenter.com. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Crossroads Bellevue is transitioning from  

a strip commercial center, adding multi- 

family housing, office and additional retail  

opportunities.  

At Crossroads, ROIC is adding placemaking and 
community gathering elements, including outdoor 

seating, street facing shops, decorative lighting, and 
artistic signage for existing businesses.  

Page 270 of 301



From the Director: 

Greetings from the Finance Team! 

The Accountant’s Team has been working with the Munis implantation staff throughout the month 
of November. We have completed the first stage in the General Ledger implementation and are 
waiting for our data to be uploaded into the live database. This will be the first opportunity to get 
in and really see how the new system will work. We are also continuing with the Contract 
Management, Purchasing, Project Ledger and Accounts Payable modules implementation. We will 
have the Munis team here twice during the month of December to keep the project moving 
forward. 

Monday, December 2nd, was the opening of the PERS employee investment fund application 
period. Keith Katko was ready to go at the first bell and we have received confirmation that the City 
has indeed been awarded the State’s match of $856,583.25. We will be making our contribution 
payment of $3.4M later in the fiscal year and will begin working with the actuary who will help 
determine the new rates that will go into effect on July 1, 2020. 

Have a safe holiday season! 

-Cathy Rodocker

By the Numbers: 

Finance Statistics for the period of  July 1, 2019-October 30, 2019 

Please Note: Utility Billing is reported with a one month lag-the numbers reported reflect the first month of the new fiscal year. 

November 

Monthly 

Report 

UƟlity Billing: 

Total Monthly Bills    26,816 

New Customers     397 

New Service LocaƟons   55 

Accounts Payable: 

Invoices Processed  2,938 

Payments Processed  2,120 

Municipal Court: 

Total CitaƟons Issued  1,068 

Total Suspensions Issued  55 

Ticket Revenue     $97,024 

Page 271 of 301



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

FY20 Financial Update: 

The General Fund began to see the first of the property tax receipts during the month of 
November. As of 11/30, $2.5M has been received of the $11.7M anticipated. By the end of 
December, we expect to receive approximately 90% of the budgeted revenue. 

The permit and other revenues sources for the Building Fund are just under the anticipated 
percentage estimated for FY2020. It is anticipated that the Building Fund will use a portion of its 
fund balance this fiscal year to cover its expenses.  

One of the primary funding sources of the Community Development Fund are the project 
management fees associated with the Capital Improvement Program. While short staffed, the 
revenues are not coming in as originally anticipated. It is also anticipated that the Community 
Development Fund will use a portion of its fund balance this fiscal year to cover its expenses.  

Transit Fund current revenues received are outpacing the expenses by over $500K so far this 
fiscal year. That gap is expected to narrow once we begin to purchase some of the capital items 
that were approved during the budget process.  

Through the month of November, all of the utility operating funds have recorded revenues and 
expenditures in line with their adopted budgets. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Did you know? 

That in mid-November the police worked with several agencies for an operation inspecting 
unlicensed moving companies working here in Wilsonville? A number of citations were issued for 
driving uninsured, failing to carry proof of insurance, expired registrations and other violations. 
The citations holders are scheduled to appear at our Municipal Court the night of December 17. 

 

 

 

 

 

November 2019             Page 2 
Page 272 of 301



ActivityBudget

CITY OF WILSONVILLE - Fund Summaries - through November, 2019

% Used

 42%Budget Year Elapsed g 

Fund 110  General Fund:
 11,655,250  2,498,220 Taxes  21%

 2,265,804  253,528 Intergovernmental  11%

 177,750  116,486 Licenses and Permits  66%

 747,100  226,548 Charges for Services  30%

 320,000  116,035 Fines  36%

 300,900  201,111 Investment Revenue  67%

 9,569,070  9,049,723 Other Revenues  95%

 3,599,940  1,359,083 Transfers  38%

Total Revenue  48% 28,635,814  13,820,734 

 9,289,445  3,731,818 Personal Services  40%

 18,835,865  11,092,547 Materials and Services  59%

 291,604  15,000 Capital Outlay  5%

 4,003,336  1,083,340 Transfers  27%

Total Expense  49% 32,420,250  15,922,705 

Fund 210  Fleet Fund:
 1,373,975  572,490 Charges for Services  42%

 23,069  11,856 Investment Revenue  51%

Total Revenue  42% 1,397,044  584,346 

 781,630  309,604 Personal Services  40%

 674,521  301,044 Materials and Services  45%

 149,000  19,327 Capital Outlay  13%

 2,400  1,000 Transfers  42%

Total Expense  39% 1,607,551  630,975 

Fund 230  Building Fund:
 548,000  234,698 Licenses and Permits  43%

 254,000  76,285 Licenses and Permits-Villebois  30%

 9,000  2,250 Charges for Services  25%

 70,210  31,517 Investment Revenue  45%

 38,173  15,905 Transfers  42%

Total Revenue  39% 919,383  360,656 

 1,056,480  408,108 Personal Services  39%

 173,553  75,047 Materials and Services  43%

 650,393  311,675 Transfers  48%

Total Expense  42% 1,880,426  794,830 

Fund 235  Community Development Fund:
 0  19,500 Intergovernmental  -%

 352,440  322,558 Licenses and Permits  92%

 203,305  18,398 Licenses and Permits-Villebois  9%

 904,335  121,474 Charges for Services  13%

 55,165  32,595 Investment Revenue  59%

 400  300 Other Revenues  75%

 2,882,543  541,627 Transfers  19%

Total Revenue  24% 4,398,188  1,056,451 

 3,273,480  1,079,394 Personal Services  33%

 629,877  183,032 Materials and Services  29%

 0  2,015 Capital Outlay  -%

 577,223  240,510 Transfers  42%

Total Expense  34% 4,480,580  1,504,951 

Fund 240  Road Operating Fund:
 1,800,100  472,408 Intergovernmental  26%

 25,075  20,041 Investment Revenue  80%

 2,000  53,278 Other Revenues  2,664%

Total Revenue  30% 1,827,175  545,728 

 373,970  162,065 Personal Services  43%

 524,865  131,026 Materials and Services  25%

 82,000  0 Debt Service  -%

 1,279,014  224,715 Transfers  18%

Total Expense  23% 2,259,849  517,806 

Fund 245  Road Maintenance Fund:
 1,899,000  794,345 Charges for Services  42%

 60,180  39,928 Investment Revenue  66%

Total Revenue  43% 1,959,180  834,274 

 1,797,040  1,492,021 Transfers  83%

Total Expense  83% 1,797,040  1,492,021 

Q:\Reports\Finance Dept Rpts\Monthly\Monthly Fund - Income Stmt - Council.rpt Page 1 of 2 Printed on: 12/6/2019

Page 273 of 301



ActivityBudget

CITY OF WILSONVILLE - Fund Summaries - through November, 2019

% Used

 42%Budget Year Elapsed g 

Fund 260  Transit Fund:
 5,151,000  2,222,291 Taxes  43%

 4,217,893  567,023 Intergovernmental  13%

 185,000  66,855 Charges for Services  36%

 55,150  44,076 Investment Revenue  80%

 14,000  0 Other Revenues  -%

Total Revenue  30% 9,623,043  2,900,246 

 4,146,860  1,537,624 Personal Services  37%

 2,284,406  708,432 Materials and Services  31%

 2,451,655  37,063 Capital Outlay  2%

 637,912  236,379 Transfers  37%

Total Expense  26% 9,520,833  2,519,498 

Fund 310  Water Operating Fund:
 0  50,000 Intergovernmental  -%

 9,217,000  5,244,298 Charges for Services  57%

 19,000  7,474 Fines  39%

 270,810  176,944 Investment Revenue  65%

 195,550  4,000 Other Revenues  2%

Total Revenue  57% 9,702,360  5,482,716 

 629,168  211,363 Personal Services  34%

 4,180,454  1,231,132 Materials and Services  29%

 534,000  0 Capital Outlay  -%

 1,870,000  0 Debt Service  -%

 4,321,744  378,438 Transfers  9%

Total Expense  16% 11,535,366  1,820,932 

Fund 320  Sewer Operating Fund:
 8,239,145  3,440,822 Charges for Services  42%

 0  27,738 Fines  -%

 270,810  184,425 Investment Revenue  68%

 18,000  11,247 Other Revenues  62%

 600,000  0 Transfers  -%

Total Revenue  40% 9,127,955  3,664,232 

 402,546  122,108 Personal Services  30%

 3,484,878  1,044,256 Materials and Services  30%

 24,000  0 Capital Outlay  -%

 3,000,000  0 Debt Service  -%

 4,022,036  260,336 Transfers  6%

Total Expense  13% 10,933,460  1,426,700 

Fund 350  Street Lighting Fund:
 545,500  218,462 Charges for Services  40%

 25,075  13,902 Investment Revenue  55%

Total Revenue  41% 570,575  232,363 

 373,843  114,926 Materials and Services  31%

 430,103  0 Transfers  -%

Total Expense  14% 803,946  114,926 

Fund 370  Storm Water Operating Fund:
 3,175,000  1,287,775 Charges for Services  41%

 50,150  26,687 Investment Revenue  53%

Total Revenue  41% 3,225,150  1,314,462 

 274,796  90,874 Personal Services  33%

 527,543  125,041 Materials and Services  24%

 508,000  0 Debt Service  -%

 3,553,189  728,466 Transfers  21%

Total Expense  19% 4,863,528  944,381 

Q:\Reports\Finance Dept Rpts\Monthly\Monthly Fund - Income Stmt - Council.rpt Page 2 of 2 Printed on: 12/6/2019

Page 274 of 301



November 2019 

Monthly 

Report 

Wilsonville Public Library Foundation’s “A Toast to 
Imagination” wine tasting fundraising event on November 9. 

Manager’s Report 
November was busy with the Wilsonville Public Library Foundation’s 
annual wine tasting fundraiser and the installation of Electric Avenue car 
charging stations. The library’s partnership with Wilsonville Stage brought 
local live theater to the library and we saw the return of the weekly 
English class, provided in partnership with Goodwill. 

The October Statistical Report showed a 4% increase in circulation of 
Adult non-fiction books, magazines, and 5% in children’s fiction. The 
meeting rooms continue to see significant use, with a 32% increase over 
last year. Music CDs had a 19% increase in circulation over the same time 
last year. 

The library has started searching for a possible consultants for the 
upcoming strategic planning process. 

Attached is the November edition of the library’s newsletter, “Check Out,” 
which lists programs and events at the library in November.  

-Pat Duke, Library Director

Page 275 of 301



programs for children and 
adults in the library and 
community. The Library 
Foundation is helping the 
Library thrive. 

Join us for an 
enjoyable 
evening of wine 
tasting and 
hearty 
appetizers in a 
relaxed 
atmosphere in 
our Library.  

All wineries will 
offer wine for 
purchase with a 
portion of the 
retail price benefiting the 
Library Foundation. 

This after-hours adults-
only fundraising event 
supports and expands 

Library Foundation wine tasting event on Nov. 9 

 

November 2019 

Wilsonville Public Library news & events  

Library Artists of 

the Month:  

Lake Oswego 

Reads artwork 

To renew items, visit the 
library website and click 
on “My Account”, or call 
our automated phone 
service at 503-659-8634. 

 

www.WilsonvilleLibrary.org 

 

The library will be 
closed the following 
dates in November: 

 
Monday, Nov. 11 
(Veterans Day) 
 
Thursday, Nov. 28 
(Thanksgiving) 
 
Friday, Nov. 29 
(Thanksgiving) 
 

November Library closures 

8200 SW Wilsonville Road 

Wilsonville, OR  97070 

Phone: 503-682-2744 

Fax: 503-682-8685 

E-mail: 

info@wilsonvillelibrary.org 

 

Hours & Days of 

Operation 

Mon.- Thurs.: 10am–8pm 

Fri. - Sat.: 10am–6pm 

Sun.: 1pm–6pm  

 

Library closed 

Monday, Nov. 11 

Thursday, Nov. 28 

Friday, Nov. 29 

Find us online at: 

www.WilsonvilleLibrary.org 

Facebook (WilsonvilleLibrary) 

Twitter (@wvlibrary) 

Tickets are $55 per 
person. Ticket price helps 
fund Dolly Parton’s 
Imagination Library and 
special library programs 
including Science 
Adventure, History Pub, 
school Family Nights, 
community outreach, and 
classes for adults. 

Tickets are 
available online or at the 
Circulation Desk. 

Find out more on the 
Wilsonville Public Library 
Foundation website: 

www.wplf.org 

 

Page 276 of 301



For ages 0-12 months 
Rhymes, songs, and special 
bonding time with your baby.  
 
Friday Mornings 
10:30 am–11:15 am 
(including playtime) 
Oak Room 
No Baby Time Nov. 29 

Youth Programs 

Baby Time 

Did you know? 

The Teen Area has 

new TV screens, 

which are used for a 

variety of activities 

during Teen events: 

 Virtual Reality 

casting (see what’s 

going on in the VR 

headset of the 

user)  

 Movie viewing 

 Video games 

 Instructional 

videos for craft 

events 

  Check Out! 

For ages 1 & 2 
Stories, songs, and puppets with 
your toddler.  
 
Tuesday mornings 
TWO SESSIONS! 
10:00 am–10:30 am 
11:00 am–11:30 am 
Oak Room 
 

Toddler Time 

Family Storytime 

For ages 3 and up 
Bring the whole family for fun 
with books, including creative 
storytelling with songs, puppets, 
and props.  
 
Tues. evenings: 6:30–7:00 pm 
Wed. mornings: 10:30–11:00 am  
Thurs. mornings: 10:30–11:00 am 
No Storytime Nov. 26-28 

For ages 0–6 
Drop in anytime and let the 
kiddos play with a variety of 
toys, as well as socialize with 
the under-6 crowd.  
 
Monday mornings 
10:00 am–11:30 am 
Oak Room 
No Play Group Nov. 11 

Play Group 

Birth to Age 5 

Grades K–5 

K-2 Book Adventures 

Classic stories, books, and 
authors with interactive 
story-telling, puppetry, and 
other fun activities.  
 
Food in Fact & Fiction 
Thursday, Nov. 14 
3:30 pm–4:15 pm 
Oak Room 

International Games Day! 

Celebrate International Games Day with a day 
of gaming at the library! Choose from a variety 
of board and card games, including new games 
just for this event, or bring your own. 
 
For all ages. Children welcome with parent or 
caregiver. 
 
Saturday, Nov. 16 
12:00 pm–4:00 pm 
Oak Room 
Free 

Page 277 of 301



Join us for FREE movies, games, 
food, and more with monthly 
events just for 6th–12th graders. 

 

BOB ROSS-STYLE PAINT NIGHT 
(after hours!) 
Friday, November 22 
6:30 pm–8:30 pm 
Discover your inner artist! 
Learn to paint stunning 
landscapes and take home 
your very own piece of 
artwork. 
 
Space is limited. Sign up online 
starting Nov. 1: 
www.WilsonvilleLibrary.org/teens 

 
For students in grades 6–12 
 

TAB wants you!  
The Teen Advisory Board (TAB) 
is made up of 6th through 12th 

graders like you who meet to: 
 

 Hang out, eat, & have fun 

 Help choose books, music, 
and movies for the library  

 Plan events 
 
If you're interested, send us an 
e-mail or call Brad at 503–570–
1592, or just show up at our 
next meeting. 
 

 

Teen Programs 

Adult Programs 

November 2019 

PROFILE Sunday: 
The Real 
Thanksgiving 
How did a modest 
17th century feast 
transform into the 
most widely 

celebrated American event? 
Find out with Dr. Bill Thierfelder. 
 
Sunday, Nov. 10 
1:30 pm–3:00 pm 
Rose Room 
No Charge 
 
“A Will Is Not Enough in 
Oregon” 
Local attorney Richard 
Schneider shares information 
about wills, living trusts, power 
of attorney, and more. Q&A!  
 
Thursday, Nov. 21 
6:00 pm–7:30 pm 
Oak Room 
No Charge 
 
History Pub 
Monthly programs focusing on 
Oregon’s rich history. 
  
Tuesday, Nov. 27 
6:30 pm–8:00 pm 
Wilsonville McMenamins 
Doors open at 5 pm 
No Charge 

Classes & Lectures 

English class 
Learn English for free. All 
levels welcome. 
Starts Nov. 14 
 
Thursday mornings 
11:00 am–12:30 pm 
No charge 
 
English Conversation 
Group 
Informal practice for non-
native English speakers. 
 
Monday evenings 
6:00 pm–7:30 pm 
No charge 
 
Genealogy Club 
Open to seasoned and 
beginner genealogists. 
 
Monday, Nov. 18 
1:00 pm–2:30 pm 
Oak Room 
No charge 
 
Great Books 
Discussion Group 
Discussion of the great 
Western classic books.  
 
Tuesday, Nov. 12 
6:00 pm–8:00 pm 
Phila Simmons Room 
No charge 

Clubs & Groups 

First Friday Film 
Watch the latest 
releases, free on 
our big screen. 
 
A struggling 
musician 
realizes he's the 

only person on Earth who 
can remember The Beatles 
after waking up in an 
alternate timeline where 
they never existed.  
 
Friday, Nov. 1 
6:00 pm–8:00 pm 
Oak Room 
No charge 

 
Book Notes 
Concert 
Monthly live 
music in the 
library stacks on 
the 2nd 
Saturday of the 
month. 

 
Fireside Social Orchestra 
19th century music on 
original instruments and 
voices.  
Saturday, Nov. 9 
2:00 pm–3:00 pm 
Magazine reading area 
No Charge 

Entertainment 

Grades 6–12 

Teen E-mail List  
Want to come to an event, 
but need a little reminder? 
Enter your email address at 
 
www.WilsonvilleLibrary.org/

subscribe 
 
to get added to our eNotify 
list.  
 
Or become a Facebook friend 
of “Wilsonville Library ” to get 
event updates!  

INTERNATIONAL 
GAMES DAY 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Joni us for a day of gaming 

at the library! 

We will have a variety of 

board and card games 

available, including old 

favorites and some new 

ones. Feel free to bring 

your own! 

For all ages. Children 

welcome with parent or 

caregiver. 

Saturday, Nov. 16 
12:00 pm–4:00 pm 
Oak Room 
No Charge 
 

 
Find out more at 

www.WilsonvilleLibrary. 
org/gaming 

Page 278 of 301



Page 279 of 301



From the Directors Desk:

The month of November ended with FANTASTIC holiday decoraƟons being displayed at the Parks and 

RecreaƟon Office and throughout Town Center Park. It is truly beauƟful, helps get everyone in the holiday 

spirit ,and it is thanks to our unequaled Parks Crew. The City of Wilsonville parks are in great hands with this 

dedicated group of professionals. 

The City’s “new” Dog Park is taking shape as the black vinyl fencing has been installed and the 

permanent restroom will be in place within the next couple months. The goal is to have this area open for the 

pups by May 2020. 

The Toy Drive conƟnues through December 14 at the Parks and RecreaƟon AdministraƟon Building. 

You can provide an unwrapped toy for youngsters to brighten up their holiday season. All the toys donated 

stay within Clackamas County. 

RecreaƟon Coordinator Erica Behler with help from our 

amazing AdministraƟve Assistants, Ahsamon and BriƩany have the 

winter acƟvity guide completed and it will be distributed throughout 

the community before December 15.  

The enƟre department welcomed two new “family” members 

this past year as Brian Stevenson and wife welcomed a healthy baby 

boy and Zack Morse and wife embraced a baby girl on Thanksgiving 

Day. We hope to see both youngsters enjoying our parks soon. 

From the Parks and RecreaƟon Staff wishing everyone a happy 

and healthy holiday season and amazing 2020.  
-Mike McCarty

Page 280 of 301



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Winter/Spring Ac vity Guide Complete! Registra on 
to Open on Dec. 9th! 
  The Winter/Spring AcƟvity Guide, which runs January 

through April is complete! RegistraƟon will open on Monday, 

December 9.  New offerings this season include; Teen Book 

Club, Mama & Baby Yoga, “ConversaƟons that Grow” 

CommunicaƟon Class, Sourdough Baking, Emergency 

Preparedness for Seniors, and much more! This season’s 

large events include, the Community Egg Hunt, The Daddy 

Daughter Dance, and WERK Day.  

 

Community Center Updates 
  The Community Center hosted a special Thanksgiving 

meal on Friday, November 22.  Turkey, mashed potatoes, 

gravy, stuffing, green beans, and pumpkin pie were served 

up for lunch.  

  Bingo on the 3rd  Wednesday of the month conƟnues to be a popular addiƟon to Community 

Center programming, drawing 20+ each month.   

 

New Major Event Sponsor Highlight– OCCU of Wilsonville  
  OCCU of Wilsonville has generously partnered with the Parks and RecreaƟon department to 

sponsor a number of upcoming events including; Main Stage Sponsor for 2019 and 2020 Community Tree 

LighƟng, 2019 Toy Drive, the 2020 Community Egg Hunt, the 2020 Movies in the Park series. It is because 

of generous sponsors like this that we are able to keep our events affordable for the community. Thank 

you OCCU of Wilsonville! 
 

Upcoming Events: 
Community Tree Ligh ng– Wednesday, December 4 Town Center Park 5:30 pm—7:30 pm  

Holiday Toy Drive– New, unwrapped toys for the 6th annual Parks & RecreaƟon Toy Drive will be 

accepted beginning on Monday, November 4 and collected through Friday, December 13 at the Parks and 

RecreaƟon AdministraƟon building Monday through Friday from 8am to 5pm. All toys will go to those in 

need in Clackamas county this Holiday season.  

Daddy Daughter Dance— Friday, February 28 Wilsonville Community Center 7:00 pm—9:00 pm 

November 2019 
Page 281 of 301



 

 

Parks & Rec. Board:  The Board met on November 7 to receive an update regarding the WillameƩe Water 

Supply Program.  This project will have an impact on the Water Treatment Plant Park. The board approved the 

presented plan.  

Wilsonville Community Seniors Inc. (WCSI):  The WCSI is organizing a white elephant giŌ exchange during the 

Community Center’s Holiday Lunch on December 20.  Final details are being worked out for the Emergency Pre-

paredness Workshop on January 18 from 1:30 – 3:30 pm at the Community Center for community members 55 

or older.  This free workshop will help aƩendees create an emergency plan and those in aƩendance will receive 

a free fully-stocked “Go Bag” at the end of the workshop.   

 Aerated the new dog park for beƩer drainage 

 Completed fence install at new dog park 

 GraffiƟ removal 

 Installed Holiday lights 

 ConƟnued seasonal leaf removal 

 Installed new park rules signage  

 Hosted the annual Veterans Day Ceremony on November 11 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

November 2019 

Parks Maintenance Updates: 

Board Updates: 

Page 282 of 301



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

November 2019 

Parks Maintenance Updates: 

Page 283 of 301



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

November 2019 

Parks Maintenance Updates: 

Page 284 of 301



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

November 2019 

Parks Maintenance Updates: 

Page 285 of 301



 

 

 

November 2019 

Parks Maintenance Updates: 

Page 286 of 301



 

 

 

November 2019 

Parks Maintenance Updates: 

Page 287 of 301



 

 

 

November 2019 
Page 288 of 301



NOVEMBER 2019 

Monthly  

Report 

 

From The Director’s Office:   

Inclement Weather PreparaƟon 

With freezing temperatures and forecasts of ice or snow, the Public Works and Parks staff parƟcipated in 

their annual Winter Storm Response Training to prepare for inclement weather events.  Personnel 

reviewed the Snow and Ice Control Plan Revised 11/12/2019 , watched a demonstraƟon on how to 

install Ɵre chains on vehicles, and discussed the operaƟon of snow blades and sanding equipment.  They 

also reviewed the updated plan to become familiar with the applicaƟon of magnesium chloride as a anƟ‐

icing/deicing agent. This is a new capability for the City, which can be a very beneficial tool when used in 

conjuncƟon with other best management pracƟces (BMPs) and methods for snow and ice control.   

MgCl applicaƟon being done 

prior to Thanksgiving Holiday 

weather event. 

Manny Ghiseline, Roads Maintenance Specialist 

describing operaƟon of the sanding equipment  

Preston Langeliers, Roads and Stormwater Supervisor 

explaining the process of the snow plow blade.   

Page 289 of 301



 

 

 

Public Works November 2019           Page 2 

From the Desk of the Director, continued 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Detailing the operaƟon of 

the snow blade on the front 

of the MgCl tank truck. 

DemonstraƟon of the installaƟon of Ɵre 

chains for large vehicles. 

Discussing operaƟon 

of the sanding 

equipment. 

Page 290 of 301



 

 

 

Public Works November 2019           Page 3 

Roads & Storm Water Division 

Street Holiday  DecoraƟons 
 
The Roads crew installed holiday decoraƟons at various locaƟons along City streets to ensure they would 
be ready to be lit the first Monday in December.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Sign Base  
InstallaƟons 

 
Manny Ghiselline, 
Road Maintenance 
Specialist  prepared 
sign bases for  new 
“Stop” signs to be 

placed at the intersec‐
Ɵon of Barber Street 
and Villebois Drive. 

Page 291 of 301



 

 

 

Public Works November 2019           Page 4 

Roads & Storm Water Division 

Hazardous Oak in Wilsonville Meadows 
 
The Roads crew responded to an emergency call‐out when an Oak tree in Wilsonville Meadows 
neighborhood split and  threatened to fall ontwo homes. Public Works staff placed a safety chain around 
the tree to hold it together and cordoned off the area unƟl the contractor could arrived to safely remove 
the tree.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Leaves, Leaves & More 
Leaves!! 
 
Several windstorms blew 
through town last month 
deposiƟng leaves along the 
roadways. The Roads and 
Stormwater staff acƟvely 
worked to collect the leaves 
to assure they did not lead to 
residenƟal or road flooding 
issues.  
 
Roman Kyllo, Road 
Maintenance Specialist drives 
the truck while Randy 
Burnham, Stormwater 
Maintenance Specialist 
operates the leaf vacuum.   

Page 292 of 301



 

 

 

Public Works November 2019           Page 5 

Manhole Raising 
 
Over the years, manholes can become buried as dirt or rock are added to the surrounding area. In order to 

bring the manholes back up to grade to ensure they are not lost or become inaccessible, grade rings are 

added to the manhole structure. This job involves excavaƟng around the manhole, removing the manhole 

frame, adding grade rings and grouƟng in between each ring. The manhole frame is then grouted back into 

place and the excavated area is backfilled.   

Below, Sewer crew members, Chad WhiƟng and Kyle Bean raise a manhole in Memorial Park. 

 

Utilities Division—Sewer 

Page 293 of 301



 

 

 

Public Works November 2019           Page 6 

Looking for Leaks 
 
Every year a leak detecƟon service is contracted to listen for leaks in a predetermined sector of the City. 

This year the focus of the leak detecƟon survey was in Charbonneau. The survey discovered a leaking blow 

off, a hydrant leak, and a leaking 2” lateral. The total water loss of these leaks was esƟmated to be 3.75 

gallons per minute which does not seem like a lot, but when converted to gallons per year this figure 

comes out to 1,971,000. 

The water crew jumped on repairing the leaks immediately. The most significant leak was the 2” lateral in 

Village Greens Circle.  The fix for this repair involved tapping the exisƟng line and installing 2 new service 

lines which entailed excavaƟng a trench to the water main and installing two new corporaƟon valves as 

well as running new copper lines to the meters.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

   

 

 

 

 

     

 

 

 

 

Utilities Division—Water 

Water Technician Sam Kinnaman installing service lines 

Trench for new water line 

Some days are dirƟer than others 

Page 294 of 301



 

 

 

Public Works November 2019           Page 7 

Winter Wonderland at City Hall 
 

The FaciliƟes Division finished installing the usual holiday decoraƟons to five of the City’s faciliƟes, but the 
sixth building received something a liƩle different this year. Crews decided to forgo the usual hanging of 
the Holiday wreathes from the roof top of City Hall and instead aƩempted to create the appearance of a 
winter wonderland. Two 12’ foot tall trees were safely mounted and secured to the Eastern and Western 
entrance rooŌops. The trees were then decorated with silver and blue, shaƩer proof decoraƟons and 
white lights. To 
complete the display, 
blue and white icicle 
lights were then hung 
around the perimeter 
of the rooŌops. The 
change of décor was 
brought on by two 
main factors. The first 
was safety driven, 
each year crews 
would have to hoist 
several five foot 
diameter wreaths 
hand over hand to the 
top of the thirty foot 
tall building exposing 
themselves to an 
awkward liŌing 
posiƟon. The other 
had to do with the 
wear and tear of the 
parapet wall flashings 
caused by the metal 
brackets used to hang 
the wreathes. AŌer 
several years of 
decoraƟng, the 
brackets have begun 
to wear off the paint 
and primer from the 
metal flashing, 
requiring the need for 
repainƟng.  

Facilities Division 

Page 295 of 301



 

 

 

Public Works November 2019           Page 8 

City FaciliƟes Holiday DecoraƟons 

 

 

   

 

Facilities Division 

Page 296 of 301



The month of November eerily rolled in like the 

London fog. Inch by inch making its way across 

the landscape in an effort to cover us like our 

least favorite blanket. ProtecƟng us from nothing 

but the blue sky and/or the starlit galaxies above. 

Yes, the grey days of November are here.  

So what exactly is this thing called grey? Well, 

Merriam‐Webster defines it as, “dull in color; 

lacking cheer or brightness, in mood, outlook, 

style or flavor.” Somewhere I read that grey is 

actually a neutral color or achromaƟc color, 

meaning literally that it is a color “without color.” 

Henry Wadsworth Longfellow and Dr. MarƟn 

Luther King, Jr. provided similar thoughts on how 

we should approach grey days. Longfellow wrote, 

and I paraphrase, “Be sƟll sad heart, and cease 

repining; behind the clouds is the sun sƟll 

shinning; thy fate is a common fate of all, into 

each life some grey must fall.” Dr. King, however, 

took a less dreary approach when he wrote, and I 

again paraphrase, “Only when it is grey enough 

can we see the stars.”  

November may indeed be grey, but it is always 

sunny in SMARTville.  

Dwight Brashear 
Transit Director 

November 2019 Report 

A Note from the Director 

Page 297 of 301



 

 

An ongoing IGA between the City of Wilsonville and 
Ride ConnecƟon affords SMART a grant‐funded mobility  
specialist who provides travel training to seniors and 
people with disabiliƟes of any age. 
 
The following is an excerpt from the NaƟonal Rural 
Transit Assistance Program website, May 2015 
Travel Training Best PracƟces 
It's no secret that transit systems can seem complicated 
and inƟmidaƟng to new customers. Riders may have 
trouble understanding and navigaƟng system route  
maps and schedules, and may be overwhelmed by  
transit opƟons. According to a 2009 study in the  
TransportaƟon Research Record, only 5% of seniors  
use public transit. The 
study also found that the 
main reason for this lack of 
use was a widespread  un‐
familiarity with public 
transit, and a lack of confi‐
dence in using its  
services.  
 
Travel training is one meth‐
od that transit agencies  
have used successfully to 
bridge the learning gap for  
new riders, especially seniors and persons with  
disabiliƟes. Travel training can give new riders the  
skills to: 
 Understand trip planning soŌware 
 Read route maps and schedules 
 Locate bus and train stops 
 Flag down buses 
 Calculate and pay fares 
 Obtain and use transit passes 
 See when the desired stop has been reached 
 Indicate to the bus driver to stop 
 Obtain service updates 
 Use mobility devices safely on vehicles 
 Tell if a bus accommodates mobility devices 
 
The hope is that by engaging inexperienced riders in  
using transit systems, they can become more  
comfortable and eventually use transit independently. 
This can generate more acƟve lifestyles for riders,  
and allow them to funcƟon fully as part of their commu‐
niƟes. One innovaƟve use of travel training is teaching  

persons with disabiliƟes who would otherwise use 
costly paratransit service to use fixed‐route service.  
Two studies conducted by Easter Seals Project ACTION  
in 2012 found that travel training services had the po‐
tenƟal to provide hundreds of thousands of dollars in 
net savings to transit agencies.  
 
No maƩer how a travel training program is structured 
or carried out, the key to success depends on how well 
the program responds to community needs. "The secret 
to the success to the Metro Bus Travel Training program 
is the strong community outreach component," said 
Berta HarƟg, MarkeƟng and CommunicaƟons Manager 
for the St. Cloud Metro Bus of St. Cloud, Minnesota. 

"Metro Bus has de‐
veloped mutually 
beneficial relaƟon‐
ships within the 
network of care 
providers, senior 
living faciliƟes, so‐
cial service agencies 
and organizaƟons 
that support people 
with disabiliƟes and 
seniors. Because 
these agencies un‐

derstand the benefit to the individual,  agency and the 
overall community, and have seen the success individu‐
als have in learning how to ride and become more inde‐
pendent, they conƟnue to refer people to our pro‐
gram." 
 

With the myriad ways that travel training can be 
achieved, there is no reason for anyone to be excluded 
from their community because of an unfamiliarity with 
using transit.  As the US populaƟon ages, travel training 
programs will be vital in giving people the independ‐
ence they need to live full lives, and the versaƟlity of 
travel training programs means that every transit agen‐
cy can respond to their community's needs, whether by 
using volunteers, technology, or community organiza‐
Ɵons to best reach out to potenƟal new customers.  
 
Mobility Specialist John Garland can be reached at 
SMART or by email at:  

jgarland@rideconnecƟon.org 

Transit /Fleet             Page 2 

Grants and Programs - Elli Work  
Grants and Programs Manager  

Page 298 of 301



 

 

  
1X 

Salem 
2X 

TualaƟn 
2X Sat 

TualaƟn 
3X 

Canby 

4 
Wilson-

ville 

4 Sat 
Wilson-

ville 

5 
95th &  
Com-
merce 

6 
Argyle 

Sq 

7 
Villebois 

V 
Villebois 
ShuƩle 

V Sat 
Villebois 
ShuƩle 

C 
Charbon-

neau 
ShuƩle 

Total 

Oct 
2019 

3,965  6,343  386  1,500  10,538  512  1,003  1,844  425  1,560  109  223  28,408 

Oct 
2018 

3,842  7,156  195  1,026  10,883  426  1,259  1,840  190  2,097  ‐  133  29,047 

Diff  123  -813  191  474  -345  86  -256  4  235  -537  -  90  -639 

% 
Change 

3.10%  -12.82%  49.48%  31.60%  -3.27%  16.80%  -25.52%  0.22%  55.29%  -34.42%  -  40.36%  -2.25% 

Overall ridership is down 2.25% compared to  
September 2018 and up 15.81% compared to last 
month (September 2019). The Route 2X and 4  
Saturday services saw a large increase over last  
year. This is most likely due to the increased  
frequency that began on September 23.This is the 
first full month of ridership for the Villebois Shopper 
ShuƩle on Saturday, so we will be monitoring it  
closely in the coming months. The 7 saw another 
large increase and will be monitored closely since the 
new route changes have taken effect. A large de‐

crease occurred on Route 2X and 7 as compared to 
last year. Last October’s ridership for both routes are 
outliers as compared to surrounding months and this 
October’s ridership is closer to the average monthly 
ridership. 

Operations - Eric Loomis  
Operations Manager 

Transit /Fleet             Page 3 

Page 299 of 301



 

 

Fall and winter for Safe Routes to School is the 
Ɵme for planning 
for spring, summer 
and early fall when 
the weather is 
beƩer for acƟve 
transportaƟon.  
SMART is in the 
process of 
planning acƟviƟes 
for the beƩer 
weather. We are 
planning Learn To 
Ride Clinics at 
primary and 
middle Schools and working with school 

administrators and teachers to present safety 
informaƟon 
to student 
classes. Now 
is the Ɵme to 
plan for 
acƟviƟes 
leading up to 
the May 6 

Bike to 
School Day, 
providing 
safety 
educaƟon 
and support 

to  encourage more walking and biking to school.   

Commuter modeling her new safety wear. 

Commuter picking up some safety gear during morning commute 

Learn to ride clinics for Spring. 

Safe Routes to School - Sheilagh Griffin  
TDM Technician 

Be Seen Be SMART campaign was hosted Monday 
November 4. SMART staff greet commuters at 
both the morning and evening commute Ɵme of 
the Wilsonville Transit Center with free safety 
lights and reflecƟve bands. Commuters 
commented on how much they enjoyed receiving 

these lights each year and they 
truly do put them to good 
use. They are also available 
the first part of December 
at City Hall, Charbonneau 
Country Club, and at the 
Community Center, while 
supplies last. 

Transportation Options - Michelle Marston   
Program Coordinator   

Transit /Fleet             Page 3 

Be Seen.  Be SMART.  

Page 300 of 301



 

 

When vehicles and equipment reach the end of their 

useful life,  the City must follow disposal procedures 

ensuring open compeƟƟon and transparency, with 

guidelines similar to public purchasing procedure.  

Currently, most of these assets are sold at public 

online aucƟon, via www.publicsurplus.com.  

The website operates similar to eBay, although there 

are some differences:  

 All sellers are public enƟƟes. 

 There is no cost to the sellers. The aucƟon site 

generates revenue by charging successful  

bidders a 10% buyer’s premium. 

 While the aucƟons have an end date and Ɵme,  

if bids are received in the closing minutes of an 

aucƟon, the aucƟon extends unƟl bidding stops, 

allowing the sales price to increase unƟl compeƟ‐

Ɵon amongst bidders is exhausted. 

 The website handles all financial aspects of the 

transacƟon on our behalf. Buyers pay the aucƟon 

site directly, and the aucƟon site mails the City a 

check at the end of each month.  

Sale prices have been very favorable. As an example, 

we recently aucƟoned a 2000 Chevrolet minivan. Blue 

book value was esƟmated at $2,500. The final sales 

price for the aucƟon was $3,700. For the calendar 

year 2019, seven vehicles were aucƟoned in this man‐

ner. The total proceeds of those sales totaled 

$63,925. Sales proceeds are placed in the City’s fleet 

replacement fund, helping offset future vehicle pur‐

chase costs.   

Fleet Services - Scott Simonton 
Fleet Services Manager 

Transit /Fleet             Page 4 

Public Surplus AucƟon website 

Page 301 of 301


	Cover
	Agenda
	Water Rate Discussion Staff Report
	Willamette Falls Locks Commission Update Packet
	Willamette Falls Locks Commission Update Staff Report
	Willamette Falls Locks Commission Update - Exhibit A
	Willamette Falls Locks Commission Update - Exhibit B
	Willamette Falls Locks Commission Update - Exhibit C
	Willamette Falls Locks Commission Update - Exhibit D
	Willamette Falls Locks Commission Update - Exhibit E
	Template for Letter of Support from the City of Wilsonville  to the Willamette Falls Locks Commission
	Template for Letter of Support from the City of Wilsonville  to the Oregon Legislature Joint Committee on Ways and Means


	Bylaws of the Sister City Advisory Board Packet
	Bylaws of the Sister City Advisory Board
	Bylaws of the Sister City Advisory Board - 2019 Delegation Expenses
	Bylaws of the Sister City Advisory Board- Future Budget Planning

	Rolling Schedule
	Resolution No. 2778 Packet
	Resolution No. 2778 Staff Report
	Resolution No. 2778

	Resolution No. 2781 Packet
	a. Resolution No. 2781 Staff Report
	b. Resolution No. 2781 
	c. Resolution No. 2781 - Exhibit 1

	Resolution No. 2775 Packet
	Resolution No. 2775 Staff Report
	Resolution No. 2775
	Resolution No. 2775 Exhibit A - Wilsonville Solid Waste Rate Report Amended Dec. 2019
	Resolution No. 2775 Exhibit B - City-Republic Services Agreement

	Resolution No. 2776 Packet
	Resolution No. 2776 Staff Report
	Resolution No. 2776
	Resolution No. 2776 - Exhibit 1
	Resolution No. 2776 - Attachment B

	Resolution Nos. 2779 & 2780 Packet
	Resolution Nos. 2779 & 2780 Staff Report
	Resolution No. 2779
	Resolution No. 2780 
	Resolution Nos. 2779 & 2780 - Attachment C 

	Resolution No. 2783
	Ordinance No. 839 Packet
	Ordinance No. 839 Staff Report
	Ordinance No. 839
	Ordinance No. 839 - Attachment B

	City Manager Reports
	Community Development November 2019
	Finance November 2019
	Library November 2019
	Parks & Recreation November 2019
	Public Works November 2019
	SMART November 2019




